Duplication of Alcohol Dehydrogenases Unlocks the Chemical Diversity of the Medicinal Plant *Catharanthus roseus*

Anna Katerina Stavrinides

This thesis is submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of East Anglia

Department of Biological Chemistry

John Innes Centre

Norwich

September 2016

© This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that no quotation from the thesis, or information derived thereof, may be published without the author's prior written consent.

Abstract

This thesis details the discovery and characterisation of biosynthetic enzymes implicated in the monoterpene indole alkaloid (MIA) pathway of the medicinal plant *Catharanthus roseus*. The MIA pathway is characterised by a plethora of different carbon skeletons, which are derived from the central pathway intermediate strictosidine aglycon. Given the biological importance of these compounds, there is great interest in identifying the enzymes that catalyse the formation of these different carbon skeletons, as well as understanding the mechanistic basis for how the pathway is controlled at this critical step in the pathway.

The discovery of the first enzyme capable of reducing the reactive aglycon intermediate to a heteroyohimbine-type MIA (tetrahydroalstonine) opened the door to discovery of many other heteroyohimbine synthases (HYS, Chapter 2). These enzymes share a degree of sequence identity and are all members of the Medium-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductases. Interestingly, these HYSs catalysed the formation of different ratios of several heteroyohimbine stereoisomers. A detailed mutation screen, together with protein crystallography, deuterium labelling, and *in silico* docking enabled us to propose a catalytic mechanism for these enzymes and how the ratio of products is controlled (Chapter 3). An investigation into a different family of reductases, the Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductases, revealed another enzyme capable of reducing the reactive strictosidine aglycon intermediate (Chapter 4). After extensive NMR characterisation, the enzymatic product was found to possess an unusual carbon skeleton different to that of the heteroyohimbines.

Characterisation of the phylogeny of these enzymes revealed that they have undergone numerous duplication events (Chapter 5). The HYSs appear to have undergone multiple duplications and neofunctionalisation that has given rise to at least one other biosynthetic enzyme which acts in one of the downstream MIA pathway branches. A study of a large reductase duplication locus provides evidence that pathway clustering in plants arises through translocation of biosynthetic genes.

The discovery of these reductases has provided us with an unprecedented opportunity to study the dynamics of the branch-point of the MIA pathway. These discoveries constitute an important step towards the elucidation of the MIA pathway in *C. roseus* and in the many related MIA producing plants.

Acknowledgements

This PhD has been one of the hardest things I have ever done. Although I sometimes asked myself why I put myself through this ordeal, in the end I hope it has been worth it. The last four years have been a journey of discovery, and I am not the same person as I was when I began, professionally and personally.

I have met some great people, made some amazing friends, and learned a lot about science and life. The Biological Chemistry department, and the whole John Innes Centre, has been an inspiring place to work in. There are so many brilliant people who are doing great science and who have fascinating stories to tell. I wish I had more time to talk with and learn from everyone.

I owe this success to the excellent supervision that Sarah O'Connor offered over the years. She has been a great mentor, and she allowed me to follow through with my ideas and let me work independently. It would not have been possible without the support and help from Lorenzo Caputi and Evangelos Tatsis. Lorenzo has been a great friend over the years and has always been there to offer his help and expertise. He has also been the level-headed advisor in times of need and he was a real blessing to me and the team as a whole. Evangelos was indispensable for my education in the chemistry aspects of this PhD. He is a great lab partner and his work ethic never ceases to impress me. I am very grateful to have worked with him.

My time in the group would not have been the same without Dorota Jakubczyk. She is a great friend and could always lend me a shoulder to cry on when necessary. Thuy Dang is a very kind and inspiring person and I'm happy I had the chance to get to know her better over the years. Omar Kamileen will always hold a special place in my heart, his easy-going and cheerful personality brightens up the lab and always made my days a bit more manageable.

I would also like to thank the past group member Weslee Glenn for being welcoming and for passing on his enzymes at the end of his PhD. Weslee taught me not to take things too seriously, and at the hardest times I made an effort to remember this lesson. Hajo Kries was also a great group member who encouraged me with my crazy projects and shared my enthusiasm when many others did not. Thank you to current members Don Nguyen, Benjy Lichman, and Scott Farrow with whom I had many interesting conversations.

Throughout my PhD one person has really stood out and supported me more than anyone else, even though he was miles away. I owe my sanity to my loving partner, Alex, who has never ceased to encourage me and was always there to hear my rants. He brought a breath of fresh air to my time as a PhD student and really helped me put things back into perspective when I lost sight of the path. I can't express how grateful I am to have him in my life.

I owe a lot to my mother, Aileen, who has always been a role model to me. I admire her for her outgoing and happy personality and general optimism. She can always sense when I am down and is always there for me with kind words. She has been my crutch since my teenage years, and I would not have got this far without her love and support.

My father, Stavros, encouraged me to follow my passions and trusted my decisions. I know he would have been very proud of me and I wish he were here to share this moment with me. This thesis is dedicated to his memory.

Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	xi
List of Figures	xi
List of Abbreviations	xvii
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Chemical diversity of medicinal plants	1
1.2 Indole alkaloids	2
1.3 Strictosidine Synthase	3
1.4 Deglycosylation of strictosidine	4
1.5 Spatiotemporal localisation	6
1.6 Structural rearrangements unlock chemical diversity in MIA	8
1.7 Dehydrogenases	14
1.8 The Medium-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family	14
1.9 The Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family	16
1.10 Stereoselectivity of Dehydrogenases/Reductases	17
1.11 Scope of this thesis	19
1.12 References	20
Chapter 2 Discovery and characterisation of heteroyohimbine synthases of <i>Catharanthus roseus</i>	25
2.1 Introduction	25
2.1.1 The heteroyohimbines	25
2.1.2 Heteroyohimbine biosynthesis in C. roseus	25
2.1.3 Known reduction steps in MIA biosynthesis	27
2.1.4 Discovery of the heteroyohimbine synthases	28
2.2 Results	29
2.2.1 Identification and sequence analysis of THAS1	29
2.2.2 Initial functional characterisation of THAS1	32
2.2.3 Characterisation of THAS1 product	35
2.2.4 Screening for similar enzymes with THAS activity	37
2.2.5 pH and temperature optima	42
2.2.6 Kinetics of THAS1 with strictosidine aglycon	44
2.2.7 ITC	45
2.2.8 Pull-down of THAS1 with SGD	46

2.3 Discussion	47
2.3.1 Heteroyohimbines in C. roseus	47
2.3.2 THAS1 discovery and characterisation	48
2.3.3 Discovery of other HYS	49
2.3.4 Interaction with upstream enzymes	50
2.4 Conclusion	50
2.5 Materials and Methods	51
2.5.1 RNA extraction from C. roseus and cDNA synthesis	51
2.5.2 Identification of candidate gene	51
2.5.3 Polymerase chain reaction	51
2.5.4 Vectors	52
2.5.5 Cloning THAS1	52
2.5.6 Cloning of other candidate MDRs showing homology to THAS1	52
2.5.7 THAS1 protein expression and purification	54
2.5.8 Small scale protein expression and purification	54
2.5.9 Enzyme assays	55
2.5.10 Steady state kinetics for THAS1	55
2.5.11 Isothermic Titration Calorimetry	56
2.5.12 Secologanin purification from Symphoricarpos albus	56
2.5.13 Strictosidine synthase production	57
2.5.14 Production and purification of strictosidine	57
2.5.15 Determination of pH optimum of THAS1	57
2.5.16 Determination of temperature optimum of THAS1	58
2.5.17 Analysis of pH and temperature optima experiments	58
2.5.18 Determination of pH optimum of HYS	59
2.5.19 LC-MS measurements	59
2.5.20 Large-scale THAS1 reaction and product purification	60
2.5.21 Pull down of THAS1 with SGD	61
2.5.22 Alignment of protein sequences	62
2.6 References	62
Chapter 3 Achieving Stereoselectivity in Heteroyohimbine Synthases	65
3.1 Introduction	65
3.2 Results	66
3.2.1 Crystallisation of THAS1	66
3.2.2 Crystallisation of HYS	66
3.2.3 Comparison of crystal structures	71
3.2.4 Enzymatic labelling of products with ² H	78
3.2.5 pH effect on product profile	80
3.2.6 Docking of cathenamine into THAS1 active site	81
3.2.7 Mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS	82
3.2.8 Loop swaps and mutations to HYS loop2	86

3.2.9 Point mutations of HYS	87
3.2.10 Mechanism proposal for tetrahydroalstonine biosynthesis in THAS enzymes	88
3.2.11 Mechanism proposal for ajmalicine biosynthesis in HYS	89
3.2.12 Removal of zinc and functional assays	90
3.3 Discussion	92
3.3.1 Protein crystal structures	92
3.3.2 Steric course of hydrogen transfer	94
3.3.3 Effect of pH on product profile	94
3.3.4 Mutations to THAS1	95
3.3.5 Loop swaps between THAS1 and HYS	96
3.3.6 Reduction mechanism of HYSs	97
3.4 Conclusions	100
3.5 Materials and Methods	100
3.5.1 Site directed mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS	100
3.5.2 Loop swap mutants	101
3.5.3 Expression of mutant THAS1 and HYS	102
3.5.4 SGD expression and purification	102
3.5.5 Expression and crystallisation of THAS1	102
3.5.6 Expression and crystallisation of HYS	103
3.5.7 Data collection	104
3.5.8 UPLC-MS and NMR analysis	104
3.5.9 ² H labelling experiments	105
3.5.10 pH effect on product profile	106
3.5.11 CD spectra and analysis	106
3.5.12 Docking of cathenamine in THAS1 holo structure	107
3.5.13 Testing of Zinc-apo THAS1 and HYS	107
3.6 References	108
Chapter 4 Discovery and characterisation of a Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase	
capable of reducing strictosidine aglycon	111
4.1 Introduction	111
4.1.1 Short-chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family	111
4.1.2 SDRs in <i>C. roseus</i>	111
4.2 Results	112
4.2.1 ADH10 cloning	112
4.2.2 Heterologous expression	113
4.2.3 pH assay with ADH10	114
4.2.4 Kinetic studies of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon	115
4.2.5 High resolution Mass-spectrometry and fragmentation	116
4.2.6 NMR characterisation of the ADH10 product	117
4.2.7 Results of deuterium labelling	123

	4.2.8 Crystallisation	124
	4.2.9 Crystal structure of ADH10	126
	4.2.10 Comparison to Salutaridine Reductase	130
	4.2.11 Mutations to ADH10 active site	133
	4.2.12 Proposed mechanism for ADH10 product formation	136
	4.2.13 Abundance of the pro-vitrosamine substrate in solution	136
	4.3 Discussion	138
	4.3.1 Vallesiachotamine-type alkaloids	138
	4.3.2 Characterisation of ADH10	139
	4.3.3 Comparison to heteroyohimbine biosynthesis	140
	4.3.4 Mechanism of ADH10 product formation	141
	4.3.5 Comparison to HYSs of <i>C. roseus</i>	143
	4.3.6 Similarities of ADH10 and Salutaridine Reductase	144
	4.3.7 Precedence for SDR imine reductases	144
	4.4 Conclusions	148
	4.5 Materials and Methods	149
	4.5.1 General molecular biology techniques used	149
	4.5.2 Cloning of ADH10	149
	4.5.3 ADH10 expression assay	150
	4.5.4 ADH10 large-scale expression and purification	150
	4.5.5 Crystallisation and data collection	151
	4.5.6 Accurate mass and fragment determination	151
	4.5.7 Large scale reaction with deglycosylated strictosidine and product purification	152
	4.5.8 Deuterium labelling of ADH10 product	152
	4.5.9 pH assays of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon	153
	4.5.10 Spectroscopic assays	153
	4.5.11 Combination of ADH10 and THAS1	154
	4.5.12 Active site mutations	154
	4.6 References	155
Ch	apter 5 Gene duplication in <i>C. roseus</i> has allowed the development of	450
	MIA chemical diversity through neofunctionalisation	159
	5.1 Introduction	159
	5.1.1 The birth of new enzymes through gene duplication	160
	5.1.2 Gene duplication and heteroyohimbine biosynthesis	162
	5.1.3 Overview of this chapter 5.2 Results	163 163
	5.2.1 Genomic organisation of the <i>C. roseus</i> ADHs	163 166
	5.2.2 Analysis of the ortholog groups present in the MDRs and SDRs of <i>C. roseus</i>	
	5.2.3 Phylogeny of the <i>C. roseus</i> MDRs	168
	5.2.4 Phylogenetic analysis of the <i>C. roseus</i> SDRs	173

5.2.5	Comparison of <i>C. roseus</i> duplication blocks to other plant genomes	176
5.2.6	5 Phylogenetic analysis of syntenic blocks	178
5.3 Dis	cussion	181
5.3.1	Genomic context of MDRs and SDRs in C. roseus	181
5.3.2	2 Ortholog groups in MDRs and SDRs	182
5.3.3	B Phylogeny of MDRs in <i>C. roseus</i>	182
5.3.4	Phylogeny of SDRs in <i>C. roseus</i>	182
5.3.5	MDR duplication blocks in other plant genomes	183
5.4 Cor	nclusions	183
5.5 N	Naterials and Methods	185
5.5.1	L Reductase sequences	185
5.5.2	2 MDR phylogenetic analysis	185
5.5.3	3 SDR phylogenetic analysis	186
5.5.4	Phylogenetic analysis of syntenic blocks	187
5.6 Ref	erences	188
Chapter 6	o Conclusions	193
6.1 Het	eroyohimbine synthases	193
6.2 Enz	ymatic generation of the vallesiachotaman skeleton	193
6.3 Phy	logenetics reveals evolution dynamics in the HYSs	194
6.4 Fut	ure directions	194
6.5 Per	spectives and outlook	195
6.6 Ref	erences	197
Appendix	1	199
Appendix	2	211
Appendix	3	221
Appendix	4	223
Appendix	5	237
Appendix	6	247
Annex 1	Stavrinides et al. 2015. Unlocking the Diversity of Alkaloids in <i>Catharanthus ros</i> Nuclear Localization Suggests Metabolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism	
Annex 2	Stavrinides et al. 2016 Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloidsynt reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity	hesis 271

dsynt

List of Tables

Chapter 2			
Table 1: Results of Zinc coordinating amino acids prediction of THAS1	31		
Table 2: Percentage of amino acid sequence identity between MDR candidates cloned	39		
Table 3: Results of enzyme assay analysis by LC-MS of MDRs that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity	42		
Table 4: pH assay of HYS product formation	44		
Table 5: Primers used for cloning the MDR candidates into the expression vector pOPINF	53		
Table 6: Multiple Reactions Monitoring conditions	60		
Chapter 3			
Table 7: List of THAS1 mutants that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon	84		
Table 8: List of THAS1 and HYS loop swap mutants screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon	87		
Table 9: List of HYS point mutants that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon	88		
Table 10: List of primer pairs for mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS	101		
Table 11: Multiple Reactions Monitoring conditions	105		
Chapter 4			
Table 12: ADH10 product formed in different pH buffers in endpoint assays	115		
Table 13: Crystallisation hit conditions used in optimisation screens	124		
Chapter 5	Chapter 5		
Table 14: Catharanthus roseus Whole Genome contigs containing an ADH gene	163		
Table 15: COG of MDRs from <i>C. roseus</i>	166		
Table 16: COG of SDRs from <i>C. roseus</i>	167		
Table 17: Plant species used in cluster duplication analysis	177		

List of Figures

Chapter 1	
Figure 1: Selected indole alkaloids with medicinal uses.	2
Figure 2: Chemical condensation of tryptamine and secologanin.	3
Figure 3: Strictosidine biosynthesis from tryptamine and secologanin.	3
Figure 4: Aglycon formation from strictosidine, dhurrin, and DIMBOAGIc.	5
Figure 5: <i>C. roseus</i> general MIA pathway.	6
Figure 6: Strictosidine aglycon numbering.	9
Figure 7: Strictosidine aglycon and its structural rearrangements.	10
Figure 8: Heteroyohimbine alkaloids of <i>C. roseus</i> .	11
Figure 9: Pathway of <i>C. roseus</i> up to the heteroyohimbine alkaloids.	12
Figure 10: Proposed pathway of <i>C. roseus</i> from the strictosidine dialdehyde onwards.	13

	Figure 11: Oxidation and reduction reactions.	14
	Figure 12: Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH).	15
	Figure 13: Reaction catalysed by Sinapyl and Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenases.	15
	Figure 14: Reduction of vomilenine by RsVR2.	16
	Figure 15: Reactions catalysed by SalR and SanR, SDR enzymes of the BIA pathway.	17
	Figure 16: Menthol biosynthesis pathway from the cyclised terpene limonene.	17
	Figure 17: Stereoselective reduction of (–)-isopiperitenone to produce (+)-cis-isopulegone. Proposed reduction mechanism of Isopiperitenone Reductase (IPR) redrawn from (Lygidakis et al., 2016).	, 18
C	hapter 2	
	Figure 17: Stereoselective reduction of (–)-isopiperitenone to produce (+)-cis-isopulego Proposed reduction mechanism of Isopiperitenone Reductase (IPR), redrawn from (Lygidakis et al., 2016).	ne. 25
	Figure 18: The eight heteroyohimbines. The top row (with S stereochemistry at C-3) are derived from strictosidine, and the bottom row (with R stereochemistry at C-3) are derived from the strictosidine isomer, vincoside.	
	Figure 19: Proposed mechanism of biosynthesis of heteroyohimbines from dehydrogeissoschizine.	26
	Figure 20: The MIA geissoschizine.	26
	Figure 21: Reaction catalysed by 10-Hydroxygeraniol-Oxidoreductase (10HGO).	28
	Figure 22: Conversion of the <i>C. roseus</i> MIA tabersonine into 3-hydroxy-2,3- dihydrotabersonine by the action of a cytochrome P450 followed by reduction by T3R.	28
	Figure 23: Expression profile of THAS1 in <i>C. roseus</i> tissues.	30
	Figure 24: Reduction of sinapaldehyde to sinapyl alcohol, catalysed by	50
	Sinapyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (SAD).	31
	Figure 25: SAD reduction mechanism.	32
	Figure 26: Gel filtration trace and LC-MS assays of THAS1 with dimer isozyme and monomer isozyme labelled.	33
	Figure 27: Chromatograms of THAS1 reaction along with controls.	34
	Figure 28: LC-MS trace of THAS1 reaction with THA and NADP ⁺ as substrate.	34
	Figure 29: TLC of THAS1 large scale reaction.	35
	Figure 30: LC-MS trace of the TLC band corresponding to AJM.	36
	Figure 31: NMR traces of an authentic standard of THA and the purified major product of the large-scale THAS1 reaction.	36
	Figure 32: Expression level of the MDRs cloned in the initial HYS screen plotted against various tissues.	37
	Figure 33: Protein alignment of candidate MDRs.	40
	Figure 34: LC-MS traces of product formed after reaction of strictosidine aglycon with the HYSs.	41
	Figure 35: pH optimum of THAS1.	42
	Figure 36: Temperature optimum of THAS1.	43
	Figure 37: Michaelis-Menten plot of THAS1 with varying concentrations of strictosidine aglycon.	44

Figure 38: Michaelis-Menten plot of THAS1 with varying concentrations of NADPH.	45
Figure 39: Isothermic titration calorimetry for NADPH binding to THAS1.	46
Figure 40: Cleavage or 6 x His tag of THAS1 and pull down with SGD.	47
Figure 41: Tetrahydroalstonine.	48
Chapter 3	
Figure 42: Deglycosylation of strictosidine and equilibration into cathenamine and generation of the iminium form through tautomerization.	65
Figure 43: Equilibration of cathenamine and the iminium form of cathenamine.	66
Figure 44: Images of a typical SDS-PAGE gel analysis of purified HYS after only His-trap purification (left) and after both His-trap and size exclusion gel-filtration (right).	67
Figure 45: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.2 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG sizes and concentrations.	67
Figure 46: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.2 mM Sodium Nitrate with varying PEG sizes and concentrations.	68
Figure 47: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer with varying pH and PEG concentrations.	68
Figure 48: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG sizes and concentrations.	68
Figure 49: Optimisation seeding screen for HYS holo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG concentrations.	69
Figure 50: Thermofluor assay of HYS with addition of ethylene glycol, glycerol, or PEG at differing concentrations.	t 70
Figure 51: Thermofluor result with HYS and cofactor at varying concentrations.	70
Figure 52: NADP ⁺ depicted in the electron density (turquoise mesh) which was experimentally phased after solving the structure and before any further refinement.	72
Figure 53: Crystal structure of THAS1 holo (top) and apo (bottom).	72
Figure 54: Overview of THAS1 active site.	73
Figure 55: 2-D figure of coordination of NADP ⁺ in THAS1 chain A.	74
Figure 56: Interactions between NADP ⁺ and THAS1.	75
Figure 57: Sequence alignment of C. roseus THAS1, THAS2, HYS, and P. tremuloides SAD	. 75
Figure 58: Overview of THAS1 (top) and HYS (bottom) crystal structures.	77
Figure 59: Zinc coordination spheres of THAS1 (upper panels) and HYS (lower panels).	78
Figure 60: ¹ H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -THAS1 and HYS products.	79
Figure 61: ¹ H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -ajmalicine from large-scale HYS reaction.	79
Figure 62: ¹ H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -19-epiajmalicine from large-scale HYS reaction.	80
Figure 63: Heteroyohimbines with deuterium at α -position on carbon 21.	80
Figure 64: Product profile of THAS1, HYS, and NaBH4 dependence on pH from 5 to 8.	81
Figure 65: Cathenamine docked in the active site of THAS1.	82
Figure 66: Selected representative traces of THAS1 mutants with interesting effect on the product profile of the enzyme.	83
Figure 67: Mutations to THAS1 active site.	85
Figure 68: Product profile of THAS1 and HYS loop swap mutants.	86

Figure 69: Circular dichroism of THAS1, HYS, and the corresponding loop swap mutants.	87
Figure 70: Results of point mutations on HYS active site amino acids.	88
Figure 71: Reduction mechanism of Tetrahydroalstonine Synthases and Heteroyohimbine Synthase for production of tetrahydroalstonine.	89
Figure 72: Reduction mechanism of Heteroyohimbine Synthase for production of ajmalicine.	90
Figure 73: Photos of zinc detection assay conducted on Zn-apo and Zn-holo THA and HYS.	S1 91
Figure 74: Circular dichroism spectra of non-treated (red) and zinc-apo (blue) THAS1 (A) and HYS (B).	91
Figure 75: LC-MS chromatogram traces of THAS1-Zn-apo and HYS-Zn-apo protei	n
assays compared to untreated control reactions.	92
Figure 76: Crystal structures of THAS1, THAS2, and HYS with the loop2 sections highlighted.	93
Figure 77: Mechanism proposal for reduction and production of tetrahydroalsto (top row) and ajmalicine (bottom row).	onine 98
Figure 78: Mechanism of cinnamaldehyde reduction by AtCAD, redrawn from Youn et al. (2006).	99
Chapter 4	
Figure 79: Reactions catalysed by Iridoid synthase and Progesterone-5 β -reducta	se. 111
Figure 80: Expression profile of ADH10 (in red) and other ADH's on the same whole genome contig (WGC 27).	113
Figure 81: Alignment of predicted protein sequence of Cro013448 and the amin sequence of ADH10.	o acid 113
Figure 82: SDS-PAGE gel of expression trial of ADH10 with different temperature and IPTG concentrations stained with Coomasie Blue.	es 114
Figure 83: SDS-PAGE gel of ADH10 large-scale purification.	114
Figure 84: Activity assay of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon. 116	
Figure 85: High-resolution MS-MS of the ADH10 product.	117
Figure 86: Large-scale purification of ADH10 product.	118
Figure 87: 1H-NMR of ADH10 product.	118
Figure 88: ROESY spectra of ADH10 product.	119
Figure 89: Deformyl-E-geissoschizine conformation.	120
Figure 90: Correlations between carbons and hydrogens of the ADH10 product, as measured by NMR in CDCl ₃ .	120
Figure 91: HMBC correlations between carbons and hydrogens of the ADH10 pro as measured by NMR in CDCl ₃ .	oduct, 121
Figure 92: HMBC of ADH10 product.	122
Figure 93: Vallesiachotamine	123
Figure 94: NMR spectra of deuterated ADH10 product (top) compared to non-deuterated ADH10 product (bottom).	124
Figure 95: Optimisation screen using condition 1 and 2 from table 13.	125
Figure 96: First crystallisation optimisation screen using condition 3 from table 1	13. 125

	Figure 97: Second crystallisation optimisation screen using condition 3 from table 13.	125
	Figure 98: PsSalR reduction reaction on salutaridine.	126
	Figure 99: Overview of crystal structure of ADH10.	127
	Figure 100: Electron density in the active site of ADH10.	128
	Figure 101: Network of ADH10 residues holding the NADP(H) cofactor in place.	129
	Figure 102: Electrostatic potential map of the surface of ADH10.	130
	Figure 103: Alignment of ADH10 and PsSalR with secondary structures annotated.	131
	Figure 104: Comparison of SalR and ADH10 superimposed crystal structures.	132
	Figure 105: SDS-PAGE analysis of ADH10 mutants expression.	133
	Figure 106: LC-MS trace of ADH10 and its mutants.	134
	Figure 107: LC-MS trace of enzyme assays with ADH10 and its mutants compared to a HYS reaction.	135
	Figure 108: Mechanism proposal for reduction of strictosidine aglycon by ADH10.	136
	Figure 109: Spectra of absorbance at 340 nm of THAS1 and ADH10 reaction at pH 7 wi strictosidine aglycon at 100 $\mu M.$	th 137
	Figure 111: Vitrosamine compared to the MIA vallesiachotamine and antirhine.	138
	Figure 112: Proposed generation of vallesiachotamine from geissoschizine.	139
	Figure 113: Backbone rearrangement of strictosidine aglycon.	141
	Figure 114: Hypothetical mechanism for generation of the ADH10 product from strictosidine.	142
	Figure 115: Vallesiachotamine.	142
	Figure 116: Reduction parallels between ADH10 reaction (1), the proposed (enzyme no discovered) 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine reduction (2), and the HYS reaction (3).	ot yet 143
	Figure 117: Proposed mechanism of salutaridine reduction by PsSalR.	144
	Figure 118: Comparison of orientation and position of hydride in ADH10 and (R)-IRED products.	145
	Figure 119: Reduction catalysed by SanR.	146
	Figure 120: Proposed mechanism of SanR. Redrawn from Vogel et al. (2010).	156
	Figure 121: Double reduction of dihydrofolate by PTR1.	148
C	hapter 5	
	Figure 122: Strictosidine and SGD have a different subcellular localisation.	159
	Figure 123: Abundance of reductases in the MIA biosynthetic pathways of <i>C. roseus</i> .	160
	Figure 124: Two proteins are said to be paralogous if they are derived from a duplication event and orthologous if they are derived from a speciation event.	on 161
	Figure 125: Example section of MDR ClustalOmega alignment.	168
	Figure 126: Bayesian phylogenetic tree of MDRs.	171
	Figure 127: Maximum Likelihood phylogenetic tree of MDRs.	172
	Figure 128: Phylogenetic tree of MDRs in <i>C. roseus</i> in radiating representation.	173
	Figure 129: Phylogenetic tree of the SDR superfamily in <i>C. roseus</i> .	175
	Figure 130: MDR cluster arrangement on WGC 126.	176
	Figure 131: Syntenic regions between <i>A. thaliana</i> and other plant genomes at the Cr21 homolog locus on chromosome 4.	141 178

Figure 132: Phylogenetic tree of cluster MDRs from plant genomes.	180
Chapter 6	
Figure 133: The heteroyohimbines of <i>C. roseus</i> and vitrosamine.	194

Thesis Abbreviations Used

10HGO	10- hydroxygeraniol-oxidoreductase	
19-EA	19-epiajmalicine	
7-DLGT	7-deoxyloganetic acid-O-glucosyl transferase	
7-DLH	7-deoxyloganic acid hydroxylase	
ACN	Acetonitrile	
ADH	Alcohol Dehydrogenase	
AJM	Ajmalicine	
AKR	Aldo-keto reductase	
AS	Anthranilate synthase	
BIA	Benzylisoquinoline alkaloid	
BPF	box P-binding factor	
CAD	Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase	
COSY	Homonuclear correlation spectroscopy	
CPR	Cytochrome P450 reductase	
D4H	Desacetoxyvindoline 4-hydroxylase	
DAT	Deacetylvindoline acetyltransferase	
DMAPP	Dimethylallyl pyrophosphate	
DXR	1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate reductoisomerase	
DXS	1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate synthase	
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	
EtOAc	Ethyl acetate	
FA	Formic acid	
G10H	Geraniol 10-hydroxylase	
GBF	G-box binding factor	
H2BC	Heteronuclear multiple-bond correlation over two bonds spectroscopy	
HMBC	Heteronuclear multiple-bond correlation spectroscopy	
HSQC	Heteronuclear single quantum correlation	
HYS	Heteroyohimbine Synthase	
Ю	Iridoid oxidase	
IPP	Isopentenyl pyrophosphate	
IPTG	Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside	

ISY	Iridoid synthase
LAMT	Loganic acid methyltrasferase
MAT	Minovincine 19-hydroxy-O-acetyltransferase
MDR	Medium chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase
MeJa	Methyl Jasmonate
MeOH	Methanol
MEP	2-C-Methyl-D-erythritol 4-phosphate
MIA	Monoterpene Indole Alkaloid
MYC2	MYC2 transcription factor
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
NMT	N-methyltransferase
ORCA3	octadecanoid responsive Catharanthus AP2-domain protein
P450	Cytochrome P450
PAGE	Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
Prx1	peroxidase
ROESY	Rotatin frame nuclear Overhauser effect spectroscopy
SAD	Sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase
SDR	Short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate
SGD	Strictosidine beta-glucosidase
SLS	Secologanin synthase
STR	Strictosidine synthase
T16H	Tabersonine 16-hydroxylase
T160MT	16-hydroxytabersonine-O-methyltransferase
T19H	Tabersonine 19-hydroxylase
Т3О	Tabersonine-3-oxygenase
T3R	Tabersonine-3-reductase
TCEP	Tris(2-carboxyethyl)phosphine
TDC	Tryptophan decarboxylase
TEA	Triethylamine
TFA	Trifluoroacetic acid
THA	Tetrahydroalstonine
THAS	Tetrahydroalstonine Synthase
xvi	

xvi

TIA	Terpene indole alkaloid
TLC	Thin-layer chromatography
WGC	Whole genome contig
WRKY1	WRKY transcription factor 1
ZCT	Transcription factor IIIA-type zinc finger family

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Chemical diversity of medicinal plants

Plants, as sedentary beings preyed upon by many herbivores, have had to evolve methods of defence. Often this defence can come in the form of the plant's secondary metabolism. A well-studied example is found in the brassicas, which produce glucosinolates that are unpalatable to many animals (Giamoustaris and Mithen, 1995, Hopkins et al., 2009). Another large group of plant secondary metabolites are the alkaloids. These compounds are characterised by a bitter taste and therefore can serve as a deterrent or antifeedant. Many alkaloids have been linked to animal toxicity. Many also have neurological effects, acting as antagonists to neurotransmitters; most alkaloids are derived from amino acids and are structurally similar to neurotransmitters, which are also made from amino acids (Wink and Schimmer, 2010, Strauss et al., 2002). Plants have been extensively studied for centuries to isolate, identify and understand these bioactive components that are the products of secondary metabolism.

Contrary to primary metabolism, which is shared among large groups of living organisms, secondary metabolism can be delimited to only one or a small group of related organisms (Dewick, 2011). Studying the secondary metabolome of plants has led to the discovery of different compounds with novel structural components, some of which have been used in the clinic (Saklani and Kutty, 2008, Cushnie et al., 2014). Many fundamental studies of plant extracts have been published and show that the field is very active and prolific (for example Google Scholar lists 30 000+ publications between 2006 and 2016 under the search term "medicinal plant antimicrobial screening"). Despite all these efforts, most plant species on earth have never been analysed for their chemical constituents and even fewer have been tested for biological activity (Mahesh and Satish, 2008). The potential of discovery of new compounds with medical benefits to humans from plants is certain.

However, discovery of bioactive compounds alone is not enough to translate to efficient use in the clinic. These natural products are often present in only trace amounts in the host tissues and chemical synthesis can be prohibitively long and expensive. A deeper understanding of the biosynthesis of those compounds will provide the scientific community with the knowledge necessary to engineer production of those beneficial compounds in large amounts. This could come about through many different ways: 1) improved breeding of plants using marker assisted selection for varieties expressing the biosynthetic genes at higher levels; 2) genetically modified plants, for example expression of the pathway in a tissue that is faster growing or more easily harvested; 3) genetic engineering of microorganisms such as baker's yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) which can attain higher mass faster and is compatible with current fermenter technologies. Furthermore, a better understanding of the enzyme mechanisms and the enzymatic specificity can facilitate enzyme engineering for production of unnatural products.

Some plant families present extraordinary richness in their secondary metabolism. Of notable mention is the Ranunculales clade which comprises many species with medicinally important secondary metabolites. Perhaps the best known example in this clade is the opium poppy (*Papaver somniferum*), which has been used by humans throughout history for its medicinal properties. The order Gentianales (of the Asterid clade) also comprises many species rich in secondary metabolites used by humans throughout history. The Gentianales family Apocynaceae has been well studied in large part due to two economically-important medicinal plants: *Rauvolfia serpentina* and *Catharanthus roseus*. The bioactive components of these plants are alkaloids, a class of natural products that contain at least one atom of nitrogen in a heterocycle. This thesis will focus on these tryptophan-derived indole alkaloids and how their chemical diversity is generated in *C. roseus*.

1.2 Indole alkaloids

The Indole alkaloids are a very large and diverse family of more than 2000 natural products (O'Connor and Maresh, 2006). The structural diversity of the indole alkaloids is mirrored in their wide clinical use from anti-tumour to antimalarial agents (fig. 1).



Figure 1: Selected indole alkaloids with medicinal uses. Indole alkaloids currently used as treatments in the clinic, including the plant from which they were first identified.

A major subclass of indole alkaloids, the monoterpene indole alkaloids (MIA), are derived from tryptamine (produced by decarboxylation of the amino acid tryptophan) and one molecule of terpene in the form of secologanin (fig. 2) (Szabó, 2008). Tryptamine and secologanin are condensed to form the central intermediate of the pathway. During chemical condensation of these two moieties, two isomers are produced with opposite stereochemistry at C-3: vincoside

(3-R) and strictosidine (3-S) (Battersby et al., 1969)(fig. 2). However when these compounds are condensed enzymatically only the strictosidine isomer is produced (fig. 3). Initial confusion about the precursor of the terpene indole alkaloids was dispelled by Stöckigt and Zenk (1977) who showed that proteins crudely purified from indole alkaloid-producing plants produce only the strictosidine diastereomer, with 3-(*S*) configuration. Feeding with [3-³H]-labelled strictosidine indicated that the 3-(*S*) diastereomer is the precursor to all monoterpene indole alkaloids, including those with 3-(*R*) configuration (Rueffer et al., 1978)(fig. 3). Therefore strictosidine is the universal precursor to thousands of monoterpene indole alkaloids found in numerous plant species.



Figure 2: Chemical condensation of tryptamine and secologanin. This reaction yields vincoside and strictosidine, the two diastereomers at C-3. Only strictosidine is produced enzymatically.

1.3 Strictosidine Synthase

The enzyme responsible for this stereoselective condensation is Strictosidine Synthase (STR, EC 4.3.3.2). It was first discovered in *C. roseus* in 1977 (Stöckigt and Zenk, 1977, Treimer and Zenk, 1979) and was cloned for the first time from *Rauvolfia serpentina* in 1988 (Kutchan et al., 1988). STR produces strictosidine through a Pictet-Spengler condensation (Stöckigt et al., 2011) of secologanin and tryptamine. This enzyme catalyses the first committed step in MIA biosynthesis and has been extensively studied.



Figure 3: Strictosidine biosynthesis from tryptamine and secologanin.

STR has strict product stereospecificity; it only produces the 3-(*S*) diastereomer. It also has limited substrate specificity and it does not accept other amines such as histamine, tyramine or tryptophan and it does not tolerate substitutions to the C-5 and C-6 positions of the tryptamine indole ring (McCoy et al., 2006). Furthermore, the catalytic efficiency of the enzyme is not affected by the presence of downstream alkaloids such as ajmalicine (AJM), catharanthine, or vindoline (Mizukami et al., 1979), which signifies that these downstream alkaloids do not bind to the enzyme active site. Possibly negative feedback loops occur at other points in the pathway but are not necessary at the step of strictosidine formation.

Crystal structures of STR were used to understand the mechanism of this enzymatic transformation and to design mutations to broaden its substrate specificity (Loris et al., 2007, Chen et al., 2006). The broad-specificity engineered STR with the point mutation in the active site cavity (V214M) was transformed into *C. roseus* hairy root lines (Runguphan and O'Connor, 2009). These lines were fed commercially available tryptamine analogs and the resulting alkaloids were purified and characterised. It was found that the substituted tryptamines were accepted by the mutated STR and a variety of MIAs was found to have incorporated the analog. AJM and serpentine had incorporated all three analogs tested (chlorinated, methylated or brominated at position 10 of tryptamine) whereas tabersonine and catharanthine had not incorporated the brominated analog. This demonstrates how crystallisation of an enzyme can point to the amino acids which help control substrate specificity. Furthermore, these experiments illustrate the potential flexibility of the biosynthetic enzymes of this pathway and highlight there is room for manipulation of the substrate specificity in order to expand the chemical diversity.

1.4 Deglycosylation of strictosidine

Strictosidine β -D-glycosidase (SGD) is a key enzyme in the biosynthetic pathways of plants that produce monoterpene indole alkaloids. SGD cleaves the glucose moiety of strictosidine, thus releasing a reactive intermediate which can rearrange to form the precursor to the downstream alkaloids such as AJM, catharanthine and vindoline (fig. 5). This reactive intermediate however also has another role, that of defence. The dialdehyde form of the intermediate is able to react with free amines, such as those found on proteins, and is also able to crosslink DNA, making strictosidine aglycon a formidable defence compound (Guirimand et al., 2010). Interestingly, strictosidine is stored in the vacuole of the cell and SGD is present in the nucleus (Guirimand et al., 2010). The spatial segregation of these two signifies that strictosidine can be classified as a phytoanticipin molecule (Morant et al., 2008). This segregation has been reported before for many combinations of β -glucosidases and their substrates in plants (Morant et al., 2008). An example of this is the dhurrin cyanogenic glycoside from *Sorghum bicolor* which is used as a defence compound (Tattersall et al., 2001)(fig. 4).



Figure 4: Aglycon formation from strictosidine, dhurrin, and DIMBOAGIc. Redrawn from Morant et al. (2008).

The biological role of strictosidine in the plant is not well understood. Efforts to elucidate the effect on pathogens and insects have been few. A study conducted recently found that compounds with tetrahydro-beta-carboline moieties (such as strictosidine) have a slight retardant effect on the growth of the generalist herbivore *Spodoptera littoralis* (Sudžuković et al., 2016), but that did not affect the lifecycle of this insect. Strictosidine had an inhibitory effect on the growth of fungal plant pathogens such as *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Cladosporium cucumerinum*. But when strictosidine was incubated in the presence of SGD, the inhibitory effect was stronger (Luijendijk et al., 1996). This suggests strictosidine could be involved in plant defence, particularly when coupled with SGD which can release the reactive intermediate. Wounded leaves would release the reactive intermediate thus preventing more fungal growth or acting as an antifeedant for insect herbivores (Guirimand et al., 2010).



Figure 5: *C. roseus* general MIA pathway. The upstream part of the pathway that generates the monoterpene precursor is shown in lilac; tryptophan decarboxylation in green; generation of strictosidine and the central intermediate strictosidine aglycon in red; vindoline biosynthesis in gray; catharanthine in blue; AJM biosynthesis in orange. The star represents the central intermediate strictosidine aglycon, and question marks indicate pathway steps not characterised at the onset of this thesis. Enzymes: G10H: geraniol-10-hydroxylase; 10HGO: 10-hydroxygeraniol-oxidoreductase; ISY: iridoid synthase; IO: iridoid oxidase; 7-DLGT: 7-deoxyloganetic acid glucosyl transferase; 7-DLH: 7-deoxyloganic acid hydroxylase; LAMT: loganic acid O-methyltransferase; SLS: secologanin synthase; TDC: tryptophan decarboxylase; STR: strictosidine synthase; SGD: strictosidine glucosidase; T16H: tabersonine-16-hydroxylase; T16OMT: 16-hydroxytabersonine-O-methyltransferase; T3O: tabersonine-3-oxygenase; T3R: tabersonine-3-reductase; NMT: N-methyltransferase; D4H: desacetoxyvindoline-4-hydroxylase; DAT: deacetylvindoline-4-O-acetlytransferase.

Contrary to the limited substrate promiscuity of STR, SGD tolerates a wide range of substitutions to the indole moiety of strictosidine, but is not very active against strictosidine analogs with substitutions on the secologanin moiety (Yerkes et al., 2008). *C. roseus* SGD also deglycosylates the strictosidine isomer vincoside. Therefore, SGD appears to be more permissive of unnatural substrates.

1.5 Spatiotemporal localisation

As with many plant processes, secondary metabolic pathways can be induced upon elicitation. Adaptive responses to the environment or to an aggressor can help the plant regulate its use of resources. For that reason secondary metabolites can fluctuate in concentration both in response to the seasons, and in response to pathogen or herbivore attack. Targeted induction can also provide a way to produce a secondary metabolite only in the tissues where it is needed, for example the roots, the bark, or the leaves.

The plant hormone methyl jasmonate (MeJa) has an elicitation effect on the expression of some parts of the pathway, but appears to act in different ways for upstream (tryptophan decarboxylase, TDC) or downstream enzymes (desacetoxyvindoline-4-hydroxylase, D4H) (Vázquez-Flotaand and De Luca, 1998). The metabolic flux through the early part of the pathway seems to be very tightly regulated. During efforts to engineer the production of 'unnatural' natural products in *C. roseus* hairy root lines, Glenn et al. (2011) attempted to overexpress TDC to increase the flux from the indole pathway of primary metabolism into the indole alkaloid secondary metabolism. The authors attempted to overexpress TDC in a constitutive manner in hairy roots which

unfortunately was lethal, even when the hairy roots were grown on media supplemented with 500 μ M of L-tryptophan. The tight regulation by MeJa of the upstream pathway is further evidenced by the successful use of transcriptomes of MeJa-elicited *C. roseus* tissues for discovery of genes in that part of the pathway (Miettinen et al., 2014, Geu-Flores et al., 2012).

Further studies were focused on discovering the transcription factors of the pathway in C. roseus. This is of importance as genetically engineered plants or cell cultures overexpressing the pathway biosynthetic enzymes could produce more downstream metabolites, thus reducing the cost of the valuable end-product, such as the anti-cancer agents vinblastine and vincristine. Hairy root lines were developed by Sun and Peebles (2015) to overexpress the ORCA3 transcription factor which has been shown to control the expression of multiple pathway genes (van der Fits and Memelink, 2000). They discovered that in this line, compared to the same line without induction of ORCA3 expression, many genes in the pathway (both upstream and downstream) were upregulated, but this did not produce a statistically significant increase in any strictosidine-derived alkaloid they measured (serpentine, AJM, catharanthine, hörhammericine) with the exception of lochnericine (56% increase, p<0.05). However, the authors noticed a statistically significant decrease in tabersonine (-97%, p<0.05) and also a slight decrease in SGD mRNA levels based on RT-qPCR. Interestingly, in this ORCA3 overexpressing line, they noted that many negative transcription factors (ZCT1, ZCT2, ZCT3, GBF1, GBF2, GBF3) were upregulated. To counter the SGD downregulation, Sun and Peebles (2015) developed another hairy root line which overexpressed both ORCA3 and SGD under the control of an inducible promoter. In this line they achieved a ten-fold overexpression of SGD and they observed a statistically significant increase in all the alkaloids they measured. These results indicate that the regulation of the pathway is not controlled by a single transcription factor, but is instead more complex and involves multiple positive and negative regulators. SGD is not under the control of the ORCA3 transcription factor, and is in fact downregulated when ORCA3 is upregulated. SGD appears to be a rate limiting step at this part of the pathway, at least in hairy roots, based on the increase of MIAs observed when SGD is upregulated.

The MIA biosynthetic pathway in *C. roseus* has been the subject of many studies relating to its spatiotemporal localisation. The various MIA it produces can be found in different tissues (van der Heijden et al., 2004, McCoy and O'Connor, 2006, Laflamme et al., 2001). This clearly suggests one of two scenarios are possible; either the enzymes responsible for the different products are expressed differentially in different tissues, or the different MIA are actively transported for sequestration in different tissues. There is strong evidence that the first scenario is more likely, based on the expression of the pathway biosynthetic enzymes in different tissues and cell types (Guirimand et al., 2011b, Verma et al., 2012, Murata et al., 2008). However, these results also point to the fact that there must be transport of metabolic intermediates between cell types in order for the final products to be produced (St-Pierre et al., 1999).

Furthermore, it was discovered that even when parts of the pathway are all expressed in the same tissue (leaves for example) certain enzymes are expressed in different cell types. The pathway involves at least 4 different cell types in the leaves (Courdavault et al., 2014). The internal phloem associated parenchyma cells are the location of the upstream part of the pathway, from geraniol to loganic acid biosynthesis (fig. 9). The latter is transported, through an unknown transporter, to the leaf epidermis cells where the central part of the biosynthesis takes place, namely the synthesis of secologanin, strictosidine, and downstream to catharanthine and 16-methoxytabersonine (fig. 9 and 10). Finally, vindoline biosynthesis occurs in the laticifers and idioblasts (Courdavault et al., 2014, De Luca et al., 2014).

Adding an additional layer of complexity, many enzymes of the pathway are localised to intracellular compartments. The upstream part of the pathway occurs in the plastid until geraniol is released to the cytosol. Many enzymes downstream from geraniol are soluble in the cytosol or are anchored to the ER membrane (cytochrome P450 enzymes) (Courdavault et al., 2014, Guirimand et al., 2011a, Guirimand et al., 2011b). Interestingly though, STR, along with its product strictosidine, is localised to the vacuole and the next biosynthetic enzyme, SGD, is localised to the nucleus (Guirimand et al., 2010). This spatial separation of STR from the cytosol and of SGD from the strictosidine pool has implications on the substrate availability for each of the enzymes. It is apparent that transport of secologanin and tryptamine, the substrates of STR, must occur in order for strictosidine to be produced. Similarly, transport of strictosidine out of the vacuole must be controlled by a transporter in order for SGD to access its substrate and produce substrates for the downstream parts of the pathway. The flow of strictosidine out of the vacuole is could be one of the bottlenecks in this pathway and understanding how it is controlled will be a breakthrough in engineering higher vinblastine-producing plants.

1.6 Structural rearrangements unlock chemical diversity in MIA

When strictosidine is deglycosylated it produces a reactive and unstable intermediate (Brown and Chapple, 1974, Husson et al., 1977, Kan-Fan and Husson, 1979). Early studies using ¹⁴C-labelled tryptophan feeding with *C. roseus* seedlings helped establish the sequence of reactions leading to the downstream alkaloids from strictosidine onwards (fig. 6)(Scott et al., 1971). It is clear from these early experiments that the deglycosylation of strictosidine unlocks its potential to rearrange and form new carbon skeletons. It was also noted that strictosidine can non-enzymatically lose its glucose moiety which then can lead to the rearrangement of the backbone through reaction of the N4 with a free aldehyde (Smith, 1968).



Figure 6: Strictosidine aglycon numbering.

Rearrangement of strictosidine aglycon occurs due to the reactive aldehyde groups on carbon 17 and 21. As illustrated in fig. 7 either of these aldehydes can attack the nitrogen to produce a cyclised molecule. This occurs after rotation of the molecule around either the C-14-C-15 bond or the C-15-C-20 bond (blue or pink arrow). Rotation around the C-14-C-15 bond results in cyclisation through the C-17 whereas rotation around the C-15-C-20 bond results in cyclisation through the C-21. In the first case this leads to generation of the vallesiachotaman skeleton, and the second to the corynanthean skeleton. The second scenario further leads to the generation of chemical diversity which arises through equilibration and/or cyclisation of the final ring. This cyclisation can either occur through attack of the C-17 onto C-19 (which leads to cathenamine alkaloids) or through attack of the hydroxyl of C-17 onto C-19 (which leads to cathenamine and the heteroyohimbine alkaloids). Finally, if reduction of the C-21-N bond occurs before cyclisation then a different mode cyclisation can take place. This involves the intermediate geissoschizine which can undergo rearrangements to produce preakuammicine. This undergoes further rearrangements (through enzymatic catalysis on dehydrosecodine) to yield the products catharanthine and tabersonine.



Figure 7: Strictosidine aglycon and its structural rearrangements. Steps illustrated with blue arrows must occur through enzymatic catalysis. Pink and blue arrows indicate the rotation of the molecule around the C-15 and C-20 bond and the C-14 and C-15 bond.

During experiments using cell-free crude enzyme assays Stöckigt et al. (1977) identified a compound that accumulated when tryptamine and secologanin were supplied as substrates. This compound was identified as 20,21-didehydroajmalicine which was given the trivial name cathenamine (fig. 7). The authors then went on to demonstrate that it is the direct precursor to the ajmalicine-type alkaloids, the heteroyohimbines (fig. 8). Cathenamine was also purified from leaves of *Guettarda eximia* (Rubiaceae) by Husson et al. (1977) and it was noted that the compound was not stable and was confirmed to be a precursor to the heteroyohimbine tetrahydroalstonine (THA) by reduction with $NaBH_4$. Therefore, it was clear the precursor molecule to the heteroyohimbines was an unstable intermediate.



Figure 8: Heteroyohimbine alkaloids of *C. roseus*. The alkaloids ajmalicine (AJM), 19-epiajmalicine (19-EA), and tetrahydroalstonine (THA) differ by the conformation at carbons 20 and 19.

Assays involving crude protein extracts from *C. roseus* (callus, leaves, and stems) indicated that soluble proteins were able to convert tryptamine and secologanin into primarily AJM and geissoschizine (Scott and Lee, 1975). Early studies involving reduction of cathenamine with *C. roseus* cell suspension culture crude cell protein extract indicated that some cell lines of *C. roseus* produced different ratios of the three heteroyohimbines (AJM:19-epiajmalicine (19-EA):THA) (Zenk, 1980). It was also demonstrated that the heteroyohimbine synthases are reductases which utilise NADPH to reduce the aglycon. The existence of some cell lines which could produce only one (or different ratios) of the three heteroyohimbines points to the existence, in *C. roseus*, of discreet reductases with different product stereospecificities.



Figure 9: Pathway of C. roseus up to the heteroyohimbine alkaloids. The arrow from the dialdehyde leads to the figure below, where the downstream part of ISY: iridoid synthase; IO: iridoid oxidase; 7-DLGT: 7-deoxyloganetic acid glucosyl transferase; 7-DLH: 7-deoxyloganic acid hydroxylase; LAMT: loganic acid the pathway continues. The enzymes which were known are detailed. Enzymes: G10H: geraniol-10-hydroxylase; 10HGO: 10-hydroxygeraniol-oxidoreductase; O-methyltransferase; SLS: secologanin synthase; TDC: tryptophan decarboxylase; STR: strictosidine synthase; SGD: strictosidine glucosidase.



T160MT: 16-hydroxytabersonine-O-methyltransferase; T3O: tabersonine-3-oxygenase; T3R: tabersonine-3-reductase; NMT: N-methyltransferase; D4H: Figure 10: Proposed pathway of C. roseus from the strictosidine dialdehyde onwards. Figure continued from fig. 9. Dashed arrows represent steps for which biosynthetic enzymes have not been discovered. Vindoline and catharanthine are combined to form vinblastine. Enzymes: T16H: tabersonine-16-hydroxylase; desacetoxyvindoline-4-hydroxylase; DAT: deacetylvindoline-4-0-acetlytransferase; MAT: minovincine-0-acetyltransferase.

1.7 Dehydrogenases

Dehydrogenases are able to remove two hydrogen atoms from one substrate and pass them onto another substrate, thus oxidizing the donor and reducing the acceptor (fig. 11)(Dewick, 2011, Persson et al., 2008). A pyridine nucleotide, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) or nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADP⁺) is often used as one substrate as cofactor. Usually NAD⁺ is used in oxidation reactions and NADPH in reduction reactions. One of the hydrogens involved either originates from or is passed onto the cofactor, and the other hydrogen (a proton) is from the solvent or an acidic amino acid residue.



Figure 11: Oxidation and reduction reactions. A: general reaction scheme for reduction of a carbonoxygen double bond (top row), and a general reaction scheme for oxidation of a carbon-nitrogen bond (bottom row). B: a general reaction scheme for oxidation-reduction reaction involving the cofactor NADP(H) with the R group representing the adenine dinucleotide phosphate moiety of the cofactor. Reactions redrawn from Dewick (2011).

The Rossmann protein fold is responsible for the NAD(P) cofactor binding in dehydrogenases (Rossmann et al., 1974). It is made up of a twisted parallel β -sheet core flanked on either side by α -helices. The Rossmann fold has been found to be one of the most common protein folds due to the functional versatility of reductase enzymes (Kavanagh et al., 2008, Kallberg and Persson, 2006). Enzymes with a Rossmann fold are present in every kingdom of life and carry out a large variety of oxidoreductions (Jörnvall et al., 2010). These enzymes appear to share a common ancestor which, after duplications and diversification over the course of evolution, still retain the same basic Rossmann fold but have evolved modified structures and extra domains (Jörnvall et al., 2010, Kavanagh et al., 2008, Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003). The major families within the Rossmann-fold enzyme superfamily are the Short-chain (SDR) and the Medium-chain dehydrogenase/reductases (MDR) (Kavanagh et al., 2008, Jörnvall et al., 1999).

1.8 The Medium-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family

The MDR enzymes typically consist of a Rossmann fold/nucleotide binding domain, and a substrate binding domain. These enzymes usually are about 350 amino acids long which differentiate them from the SDRs which are usually about 250 amino acids long. The Alcohol Dehydrogenases (ADH) were first discovered from yeast and were the subject of many detailed kinetic analyses. The classic liver alcohol dehydrogenase can reduce or oxidise carbon-oxygen bonds of various alcohols (Dalziel and Dickinson, 1966). These enzymes usually catalyse the transfer of the pro-*R*-hydride of the NAD(P)H cofactor to the substrate (fig. 12).


Figure 12: Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). The pro-*S* and pro-*R* hydrides are illustrated.

The MDRs in plants have undergone a large expansion, especially in the cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) family (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003). A plant-specific branch of the CADs has evolved in plants, the elicitor-inducible defense-related proteins (ELI3, Logemann et al. (1997)). These are specifically upregulated by pathogen elicitors and wounds (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003).

The CAD enzyme group is one of the better studied group of plant MDRs. CAD and its closely related paralog Sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase (SAD) have been purified and studied from many different plant species (Knight et al., 1992, O'Malley et al., 1992, Sarni et al., 1984, Wyrambik and Grisebach, 1979, Wyrambik and Grisebach, 1975, Mansell et al., 1974). These enzymes are of direct importance to the pulping and paper industry as well as forage crop agriculture as they are critical players in the lignification of plant tissues (fig. 13, (Halpin et al., 1994)).



Figure 13: Reaction catalysed by Sinapyl and Cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenases. The monolignol units coniferyl alcohol and sinapyl alcohol are polymerised to yield guaiacyl-syringyl lignin.

In *C. roseus* two MDRs have been discovered, outside of this thesis work, to participate in the MIA biosynthetic pathway. Upstream, the 10-hydroxygeraniol oxidoreductase (10HGO, (Miettinen et al., 2014)) oxidises both hydroxyl groups of 10-hydroxygeraniol to give rise to the dialdehyde 9,10-dioxogeranial (fig. 9). The second MDR member in the *C. roseus* MIA biosynthetic pathway

is the recently discovered tabersonine-3-reductase (T3R, Qu et al. (2015)) which acts in concert with a P450 enzyme (T3O) to hydroxylate a late-stage biosynthetic intermediate to produce 16-methoxy-2,3-dihydro-3-hydroxytabersonine (fig. 10).

A similar MDR was recently discovered in the related medicinal plant *Rauvolfia serpentina*, which also produces MIAs. This enzyme, vomilenine reductase (RsVR2, Geissler et al. (2015)) reduces the carbon-carbon double bond of the substrate vomilenine and produces 19,20-dihydrovomilenine (fig. 14). Based on homology to CAD and SAD enzymes, RsVR2 probably originated from evolution from a duplication of a CAD or SAD enzyme in *R. serpentina* (Geissler et al., 2015).



Figure 14: Reduction of vomilenine by RsVR2. Reduction occurs at the 19-20 double bond.

1.9 The Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family

The SDRs are functionally and structurally very diverse (Jörnvall et al., 1995). One of the first SDRs to be characterised as such was the *Drosophila melanogaster* alcohol dehydrogenase (Winberg and McKinleymckee, 1994, Winberg and McKinleymckee, 1988) which was originally thought to be similar to liver alcohol dehydrogenase, an MDR. Soon though it was understood that the two enzymes differ structurally (SDRs do not contain Zinc ions as most MDRs) and they catalyse the transfer of the pro-*S* hydride of NAD(P)H to the substrate. SDRs are usually characterised by a conserved motif in the active site (YxxxK), which is part of the typical catalytic triad Ser-Tyr-Lys (Filling et al., 2002).

The SDRs have been reported to be present in very high numbers in the genomes of plants compared to animals, fungi, and prokaryotes (Moummou et al., 2012). It was found that in plants this family has undergone significant diversification, with some SDR subfamilies emerging after the separation of vascular plants from Bryophytes. Interestingly, the more diverged subfamilies are involved in the plant secondary metabolism or in developmental processes, and not so much in primary metabolism which claims more conserved SDRs (Moummou et al., 2012).

Many examples of SDRs in secondary plant metabolism exist. A well-known pathway is that of the benzylisoquinoline alkaloids (BIA), which are based on the amino acid tyrosine as opposed to tryptophan that is used for MIA production. The lengthy BIA pathway contains many branch pathways found in different plants. One SDR of great pharmaceutical importance is salutaridine reductase (SaIR) from opium poppy (*Papaver somnifeum*, (Ziegler et al., 2006)) which acts upstream during the biosynthesis of morphine, a widely used analgesic (fig. 15 left). Another example of an SDR from BIA biosynthesis is sanguinarine reductase (SaR) from

the California poppy (*Eschscholzia californica*) (Weiss et al., 2006) which is implicated in the benzophenanthridine alkaloid branch of BIA (fig. 15 right).



Figure 15: Reactions catalysed by SalR and SanR, SDR enzymes of the BIA pathway. The reduction carried out by SalR (left) and the reduction carried out by SanR (right).

In *C. roseus* one critical step of iridoid biosynthesis is known to be carried out by a member of the SDR family. The iridoid synthase (ISY, Geu-Flores et al. (2012)) reduces the substrate, 10-oxogeranial, which then undergoes cyclisation to yield the cyclised product nepetalactol (iridodial, fig. 9). This enzyme is critical for the formation of MIA as it produces the first cyclised intermediate in the pathway towards the monoterpene secologanin (fig. 9). It is expected that similar enzymes carrying out the same reaction exist in all plants which produce iridoids, and in fact a similar enzyme has been discovered in Olive (*Olea europaea*) (Alagna et al., 2016).

1.10 Stereoselectivity of Dehydrogenases/Reductases

Reductions carried out by dehydrogenases with NADPH are often stereoselective (Dewick, 2011). However, there exist examples of enzymes which can reduce two different isomers (substrate promiscuity) or produce two isomers (product promiscuity). An example of both can be found in the biosynthetic pathway of menthol. The eight-step biosynthetic pathway for menthol production from the well-studied and economically important plant *Mentha x piperita* contains multiple dehydrogenation steps (Croteau et al., 2005). Three of the steps are carried out by members of the SDR family, and one by a member of the MDR family (fig. 16). This last enzyme is not stereoselective and produces both (-)-menthone and (+)-isomenthone (fig. 16).



Figure 16: Menthol biosynthesis pathway from the cyclised terpene limonene. The enzymes responsible are indicated as well as the family each enzyme belongs to. In order they are: L3OH: limonene-3-hydroxylase (a P450 family member); iPD: *trans*-isopoperitenol dehydrogenase (an SDR); iPR: isopiperitenone reductase (SDR); iPI: isopiperitenone isomerase (a Ketosteroid Isomerase, KSI); PR: pulegone reductase (an MDR); MMR: menthone-to-menthol reductase (SDR).

Interestingly, the reduction carried out by iPR is stereoselective and produces only (+)-pulegone. The reduction mechanism and an explanation for this stereoselectivity were given by Lygidakis et al. (2016) after crystallisation of the enzyme in presence of the cofactor. The mechanism proposed includes an important amino acid in the active site of this enzyme which is an acidic glutamate rather than the usual tyrosine of the catalytic tetrad of SDRs. Lygidakis et al. (2016) argue that this causes the substrate to bind in a different manner which allows the alkene to be the acceptor of the cofactor hydride rather than the carbonyl (fig. 17). When the glutamate was mutated to a tyrosine iPR lost its isopiperitenone reductase ability and instead became a ketoreductase. This confirms the plasticity of the active site amino acids and demonstrates the chemical flexibility that is possible given even a single mutation to a biosynthetic enzyme.



Figure 17: Stereoselective reduction of (–)-isopiperitenone to produce (+)-*cis*-isopulegone. Proposed reduction mechanism of Isopiperitenone Reductase (IPR), redrawn from (Lygidakis et al., 2016). The cofactor is illustrated in green, water molecules in blue, enzyme residues in red and the substrate and product in black. The generated stereocentre is indicated with an asterisk.

From a biocatalytic perspective, the stereoselectivity of these reductases is very interesting. Efforts have been made to produce enzymes with the opposite stereoselectivity for the product. Such optically-pure compounds can form the building blocks for further chemical synthesis. Mutations to the active site of a stereospecific MDR from *Candida parapsilosis* were attempted in order to switch the stereoselectivity (Wang et al., 2014). These mutations were able to cause the substrate (an aryl ketone) to flip orientation in the active site, resulting in a product with the opposite stereochemistry. Remarkably the product was changed from primarily (*R*) to mostly (*S*) (>99.9 enantioselectivity in both cases). This work highlighted how the variable active site residues, which might not be taking part in catalysis, can have a large effect on the binding orientation of the substrate and therefore the stereoselectivity of the enzyme.

The study of these biosynthetic enzymes can enrich our understanding of the enzymatic mechanisms governing the chemical diversity found in the natural world. This added knowledge can be applied to enzyme engineering to improve existing enzyme catalytic functions or for enzymatic synthesis of valuable compounds.

1.11 Scope of this thesis

The large chemical diversity found in the MIA biosynthetic pathways is generated from the unstable intermediate strictosidine aglycon. Despite many years of effort, and a reasonable understanding of the enzymatic steps involved in the pathway, no biosynthetic gene immediately following deglycosylation of strictosidine had been elucidated at the onset of this project. To elucidate the genes responsible for the enzymatic reactions, we relied on data generated previously by Zenk (1980) and the newly sequenced *C. roseus* transcriptome (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012). A screen of candidate clones from *C. roseus* was carried out by functional expression in *E. coli* followed by *in vitro* assay, as described in Chapter 2. During the course of this thesis, a number of MDRs displaying activity against deglycosylated strictosidine were characterised in further detail, particularly to determine the mechanism of reduction. These enzymes have been named heteroyohimbine synthases.

As reported in Chapter 3, the discovery of the heteroyohimbine synthases with different product profiles provides a unique system to study the structure-function relationship controlling the product specificity among this family of enzymes. In addition, as described in Chapter 4, the discovery of an enzyme (ADH10) from a different family of reductases, the SDR family, with a very different product but a similar reduction mechanism has allowed us to probe the dynamics of the unstable strictosidine aglycon substrate. This comparison has given us an unprecedented first look into why the chemical diversity of the MIA is so large.

Finally, an in-depth comparison of the identified enzyme families (Chapter 5) indicated that the HYSs discovered are probably derived from primary metabolism enzymes of plants and more specifically from CAD enzymes. The origins of ADH10 however are murkier, in part because of the complexity of the SDR family in plants. Gene duplications appear to be the driving force behind the expansion of the chemical diversity as they provide the primary material for diversification and neofunctionalisation.

The discovery of the HYS and ADH10 in *C. roseus* constitutes the first discovery of enzymes acting directly downstream of SGD. This is an important step forwards in the elucidation of biosynthetic pathways in many plants which rely on strictosidine aglycon to produce the chemical diversity of their secondary metabolism. Understanding the dynamics of this complicated system at a more detailed level can provide insight to the evolution and the generation of chemical diversity, not only for plant but also for any organism with a rich secondary metabolism. The enzymes discovered here can give clues to the nature of the enzymes implicated in similar steps in other plants and can also expand the enzymatic toolbox for biocatalysis applications.

1.12 References

- ALAGNA, F., GEU-FLORES, F., KRIES, H., PANARA, F., BALDONI, L., O'CONNOR, S. E. & OSBOURN, A.
 2016. Identification and Characterization of the Iridoid Synthase Involved in Oleuropein Biosynthesis in Olive (Olea europaea) Fruits. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 291, 5542-5554.
- BATTERSBY, A., BURNETT, A. & PARSONS, P. 1969. Alkaloid biosynthesis. Part XV. Partial synthesis and isolation of vincoside and isovincoside: biosynthesis of the three major classes of indole alkaloids from vincoside. Journal of the Chemical Society C: Organic, 1193-1200.
- BROWN, R. T. & CHAPPLE, C. L. 1974. Biomimetic conversion of vincoside into heteroyohimbine alkaloids. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 0, 740-742.
- CHEN, S., GALAN, M. C., COLTHARP, C. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2006. Redesign of a Central Enzyme in Alkaloid Biosynthesis. *Chemistry & Biology*, 13, 1137-1141.
- COURDAVAULT, V., PAPON, N., CLASTRE, M., GIGLIOLI-GUIVARC'H, N., ST-PIERRE, B. & BURLAT, V. 2014. A look inside an alkaloid multisite plant: the Catharanthus logistics. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 19, 43-50.
- CROTEAU, R. B., DAVIS, E. M., RINGER, K. L. & WILDUNG, M. R. 2005. (–)-Menthol biosynthesis and molecular genetics. *Naturwissenschaften*, 92, 562-577.
- CUSHNIE, T. T., CUSHNIE, B. & LAMB, A. J. 2014. Alkaloids: An overview of their antibacterial, antibiotic-enhancing and antivirulence activities. *International journal of antimicrobial agents*, 44, 377-386.
- DALZIEL, K. & DICKINSON, F. M. 1966. The kinetics and mechanism of liver alcohol dehydrogenase with primary and secondary alcohols as substrates. *Biochem*. J., 100, 34-46.
- DE LUCA, V., SALIM, V., THAMM, A., MASADA, S. A. & YU, F. 2014. Making iridoids/secoiridoids and monoterpenoid indole alkaloids: progress on pathway elucidation. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 19, 35-42.
- DEWICK, P. M. 2011. Medicinal Natural Products: A Biosynthetic Approach, John Wiley & Sons.
- FILLING, C., BERNDT, K. D., BENACH, J., KNAPP, S., PROZOROVSKI, T., NORDLING, E., LADENSTEIN, R., JÖRNVALL, H. & OPPERMANN, U. 2002. Critical residues for structure and catalysis in short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 25677-25684.
- GEISSLER, M., BURGHARD, M., VOLK, J., STANIEK, A. & WARZECHA, H. 2015. A novel cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD)-like reductase contributes to the structural diversity of monoterpenoid indole alkaloids in Rauvolfia. *Planta*, 1-12.
- GEU-FLORES, F., SHERDEN, N. H., COURDAVAULT, V., BURLAT, V., GLENN, W. S., WU, C., NIMS, E., CUI, Y. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2012. An alternative route to cyclic terpenes by reductive cyclization in iridoid biosynthesis. *Nature*, 492, 138-142.
- GIAMOUSTARIS, A. & MITHEN, R. 1995. The effect of modifying the glucosinolate content of leaves of oilseed rape (Brassica napus ssp. oleifera) on its interaction with specialist and generalist pests. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 126, 347-363.
- GLENN, W. S., NIMS, E. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2011. Reengineering a Tryptophan Halogenase To Preferentially Chlorinate a Direct Alkaloid Precursor. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 133, 19346-19349.
- GÓNGORA-CASTILLO, E., CHILDS, K. L., FEDEWA, G., HAMILTON, J. P., LISCOMBE, D. K., MAGALLANES-LUNDBACK, M., MANDADI, K. K., NIMS, E., RUNGUPHAN, W., VAILLANCOURT, B., VARBANOVA-HERDE, M., DELLAPENNA, D., MCKNIGHT, T. D., O'CONNOR, S. & BUELL, C.
 R. 2012. Development of Transcriptomic Resources for Interrogating the Biosynthesis of Monoterpene Indole Alkaloids in Medicinal Plant Species. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e52506.
- GUIRIMAND, G., COURDAVAULT, V., LANOUE, A., MAHROUG, S., GUIHUR, A., BLANC, N., GIGLIOLI-GUIVARC'H, N., ST-PIERRE, B. & BURLAT, V. 2010. Strictosidine activation in Apocynaceae: towards a "nuclear time bomb"? *Bmc Plant Biology*, 10.
- GUIRIMAND, G., GUIHUR, A., GINIS, O., POUTRAIN, P., HERICOURT, F., OUDIN, A., LANOUE, A., ST-PIERRE, B., BURLAT, V. & COURDAVAULT, V. 2011a. The subcellular organization of

strictosidine biosynthesis in *Catharanthus roseus* epidermis highlights several transtonoplast translocations of intermediate metabolites. *Febs Journal*, 278, 749-763.

- GUIRIMAND, G., GUIHUR, A., POUTRAIN, P., HERICOURT, F., MAHROUG, S., ST-PIERRE, B., BURLAT,
 V. & COURDAVAULT, V. 2011b. Spatial organization of the vindoline biosynthetic pathway in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 168, 549-557.
- HALPIN, C., KNIGHT, M. E., FOXON, G. A., CAMPBELL, M. M., BOUDET, A. M., BOON, J. J., CHABBERT,
 B., TOLLIER, M.-T. & SCHUCH, W. 1994. Manipulation of lignin quality by downregulation of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *The Plant Journal*, 6, 339-350.
- HOPKINS, R. J., VAN DAM, N. M. & VAN LOON, J. J. 2009. Role of glucosinolates in insect-plant relationships and multitrophic interactions. *Annual review of entomology*, 54, 57-83.
- HUSSON, H.-P., KAN-FAN, C., SÉVENET, T. & VIDAL, J.-P. 1977. Structure de la cathénamine intermédiaire clé de la biosynthèse des alcaloides indoliques. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 18, 1889-1891.
- JÖRNVALL, H., HEDLUND, J., BERGMAN, T., OPPERMANN, U. & PERSSON, B. 2010. Superfamilies SDR and MDR: From early ancestry to present forms. Emergence of three lines, a Zn-metalloenzyme, and distinct variabilities. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 396, 125-130.
- JÖRNVALL, H., HÖÖG, J.-O. & PERSSON, B. 1999. SDR and MDR: completed genome sequences show these protein families to be large, of old origin, and of complex nature. *FEBS Letters*, 445, 261-264.
- JÖRNVALL, H., PERSSON, B., KROOK, M., ATRIAN, S., GONZALEZ-DUARTE, R., JEFFERY, J. & GHOSH, D. 1995. Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR). *Biochemistry*, 34, 6003-6013.
- KALLBERG, Y. & PERSSON, B. 2006. Prediction of coenzyme specificity in dehydrogenases/ reductases. *FEBS Journal*, 273, 1177-1184.
- KAN-FAN, C. & HUSSON, H.-P. 1979. Isolation and biomimetic conversion of 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 1015-1016.
- KAVANAGH, K. L., JÖRNVALL, H., PERSSON, B. & OPPERMANN, U. 2008. Medium- and short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase gene and protein families: The SDR superfamily: functional and structural diversity within a family of metabolic and regulatory enzymes. *Cellular* and Molecular Life Sciences, 65, 3895-3906.
- KNIGHT, M. E., HALPIN, C. & SCHUCH, W. 1992. Identification and characterisation of cDNA clones encoding cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase from tobacco. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 19, 793-801.
- KUTCHAN, T. M., HAMPP, N., LOTTSPEICH, F., BEYREUTHER, K. & ZENK, M. H. 1988. The CDNA clone for strictosidine synthase from Rauvolfia-serpentina - DNA-sequence determination and expression in Escherichia-coli. *Febs Letters*, 237, 40-44.
- LAFLAMME, P., ST-PIERRE, B. & DE LUCA, V. 2001. Molecular and Biochemical Analysis of a Madagascar Periwinkle Root-Specific Minovincinine-19-Hydroxy-O-Acetyltransferase. *Plant Physiology*, 125, 189-198.
- LOGEMANN, E., REINOLD, S., SOMSSICH, I. E. & HAHLBROCK, K. 1997. A novel type of pathogen defense-related cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Biological chemistry*, 378, 909-914.
- LORIS, E. A., PANJIKAR, S., RUPPERT, M., BARLEBEN, L., UNGER, M., SCHÜBEL, H. & STÖCKIGT, J. 2007. Structure-Based Engineering of Strictosidine Synthase: Auxiliary for Alkaloid Libraries. *Chemistry & Biology*, 14, 979-985.
- LUIJENDIJK, T. J. C., VAN DER MEIJDEN, E. & VERPOORTE, R. 1996. Involvement of strictosidine as a defensive chemical in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 22, 1355-1366.
- LYGIDAKIS, A., KARUPPIAH, V., HOEVEN, R., NÍ CHEALLAIGH, A., LEYS, D., GARDINER, J. M., TOOGOOD, H. S. & SCRUTTON, N. S. 2016. Pinpointing a Mechanistic Switch Between Ketoreduction and "Ene" Reduction in Short-Chain Dehydrogenases/Reductases. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 55, 9596-9600.
- MAHESH, B. & SATISH, S. 2008. Antimicrobial activity of some important medicinal plant against

plant and human pathogens. World journal of agricultural sciences, 4, 839-843.

- MANSELL, R. L., GROSS, G. G., STÖCKIGT, J., FRANKE, H. & ZENK, M. H. 1974. Purification and properties of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase from higher plants involved in lignin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry*, 13, 2427-2435.
- MCCOY, E., GALAN, M. C. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2006. Substrate specificity of strictosidine synthase. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 16, 2475-2478.
- MCCOY, E. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2006. Directed biosynthesis of alkaloid analogs in the medicinal plant *Catharanthus roseus*. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 128, 14276-14277.
- MIETTINEN, K., DONG, L., NAVROT, N., SCHNEIDER, T., BURLAT, V., POLLIER, J., WOITTIEZ, L., VAN DER KROL, S., LUGAN, R., ILC, T., VERPOORTE, R., OKSMAN-CALDENTEY, K.-M., MARTINOIA, E., BOUWMEESTER, H., GOOSSENS, A., MEMELINK, J. & WERCK-REICHHART, D. 2014. The seco-iridoid pathway from *Catharanthus roseus*. *Nature Communications*, 5, 3606.
- MIZUKAMI, H., NORDLOV, H., LEE, S.-L. & SCOTT, A. I. 1979. Purification and properties of strictosidine synthetase (an enzyme condensing tryptamine and secologanin) from *Catharanthus roseus* cultured cells. *Biochemistry*, 18, 3760-3763.
- MORANT, A. V., JORGENSEN, K., JORGENSEN, C., PAQUETTE, S. M., SANCHEZ-PEREZ, R., MOLLER, B. L. & BAK, S. 2008. beta-glucosidases as detonators of plant chemical defense. *Phytochemistry*, 69, 1795-1813.
- MOUMMOU, H., KALLBERG, Y., TONFACK, L., PERSSON, B. & REST, B. 2012. The Plant Short-Chain Dehydrogenase (SDR) superfamily: genome-wide inventory and diversification patterns. *BMC Plant Biology*, 12, 1-17.
- MURATA, J., ROEPKE, J., GORDON, H. & DE LUCA, V. 2008. The leaf epidermome of *Catharanthus roseus* reveals its biochemical specialization. *Plant Cell*, 20, 524-542.
- O'CONNOR, S. E. & MARESH, J. J. 2006. Chemistry and biology of monoterpene indole alkaloid biosynthesis. *Natural Product Reports*, 23, 532-547.
- O'MALLEY, D. M., PORTER, S. & SEDEROFF, R. R. 1992. Purification, Characterization, and Cloning of Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase in Loblolly Pine (Pinus taeda L.). *Plant Physiology*, 98, 1364-1371.
- PERSSON, B., HEDLUND, J. & JÖRNVALL, H. 2008. Medium- and short-chain dehydrogenase/ reductase gene and protein families. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65, 3879-3894.
- QU, Y., EASSON, M. L. A. E., FROESE, J., SIMIONESCU, R., HUDLICKY, T. & DE LUCA, V. 2015. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabersonine to the anticancer drug precursor vindoline and its assembly in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 6224-6229.
- RIVEROS-ROSAS, H., JULIÁN-SÁNCHEZ, A., VILLALOBOS-MOLINA, R., PARDO, J. P. & PIÑA, E. 2003. Diversity, taxonomy and evolution of medium-chain dehydrogenase/reductase superfamily. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 270, 3309-3334.
- ROSSMANN, M. G., MORAS, D. & OLSEN, K. W. 1974. Chemical and biological evolution of nucleotide-binding protein. *Nature*, 250, 194-199.
- RUEFFER, M., NAGAKURA, N. & ZENK, M. H. 1978. Strictosidine, the common precursor for monoterpenoid indole alkaloids with 3 α and 3 β configuration. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 19, 1593-1596.
- RUNGUPHAN, W. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2009. Metabolic reprogramming of periwinkle plant culture. *Nat Chem Biol*, 5, 151-153.
- SAKLANI, A. & KUTTY, S. K. 2008. Plant-derived compounds in clinical trials. *Drug discovery today*, 13, 161-171.
- SARNI, F., GRAND, C. & BOUDET, A. M. 1984. Purification and properties of cinnamoyl-CoA reductase and cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase from poplar stems (Populus X euramericana). *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 139, 259-265.
- SCOTT, A. I. & LEE, S.-L. 1975. Biosynthesis of the indole alkaloid. Cell-free system from *Catharanthus roseus. Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 97, 6906-6908.
- SCOTT, A. I., REICHARDT, P. B., SLAYTOR, M. B. & SWEENY, J. G. 1971. Mechanisms of indole alkaloid

biosynthesis. Recognition of intermediacy and sequence by short-term incubation. *Bioorganic Chemistry*, 1, 157-173.

- SMITH, G. N. 1968. Strictosidine: a key intermediate in the biogenesis of indole alkaloids. *Chemical Communications* (London), 912-914.
- ST-PIERRE, B., VAZQUEZ-FLOTA, F. A. & DE LUCA, V. 1999. Multicellular compartmentation of *Catharanthus roseus* alkaloid biosynthesis predicts intercellular translocation of a pathway intermediate. *The Plant Cell*, 11, 887-900.
- STÖCKIGT, J., ANTONCHICK, A. P., WU, F. & WALDMANN, H. 2011. The Pictet–Spengler Reaction in Nature and in Organic Chemistry. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 50, 8538-8564.
- STÖCKIGT, J., HUSSON, H., KAN-FAN, C. & ZENK, M. 1977. Cathenamine, a central intermediate in the cell free biosynthesis of ajmalicine and related indole alkaloids. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 164-166.
- STÖCKIGT, J. & ZENK, M. H. 1977. Isovincoside (strictosidine), the key intermediate in the enzymatic formation of indole alkaloids. *FEBS Letters*, 79, 233-237.
- STRAUSS, S. Y., RUDGERS, J. A., LAU, J. A. & IRWIN, R. E. 2002. Direct and ecological costs of resistance to herbivory. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 17, 278-285.
- SUDŽUKOVIĆ, N., SCHINNERL, J. & BRECKER, L. 2016. Phytochemical meanings of tetrahydroβ-carboline moiety in strictosidine derivatives. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 24, 588-595.
- SUN, J. & PEEBLES, C. A. M. 2015. Engineering overexpression of ORCA3 and strictosidine glucosidase in *Catharanthus roseus* hairy roots increases alkaloid production. *Protoplasma*, 1-10.
- SZABÓ, L. 2008. Rigorous Biogenetic Network for a Group of Indole Alkaloids Derived from Strictosidine. *Molecules*, 13, 1875.
- TATTERSALL, D. B., BAK, S., JONES, P. R., OLSEN, C. E., NIELSEN, J. K., HANSEN, M. L., HØJ, P. B. & MØLLER, B. L. 2001. Resistance to an herbivore through engineered cyanogenic glucoside synthesis. *Science*, 293, 1826-1828.
- TREIMER, J. F. & ZENK, M. H. 1979. Purification and Properties of Strictosidine Synthase, the Key Enzyme in Indole Alkaloid Formation. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 101, 225-233.
- VAN DER FITS, L. & MEMELINK, J. 2000. ORCA3, a jasmonate-responsive transcriptional regulator of plant primary and secondary metabolism. *Science*, 289, 295-297.
- VAN DER HEIJDEN, R., JACOBS, D. I., SNOEIJER, W., HALLARED, D. & VERPOORTE, R. 2004. The Catharanthus alkaloids: Pharmacognosy and biotechnology. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 11, 607-628.
- VÁZQUEZ-FLOTAAND, F. A. & DE LUCA, V. 1998. Jasmonate modulates development-and lightregulated alkaloid biosynthesis in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Phytochemistry*, 49, 395-402.
- VERMA, P., MATHUR, A. K., SRIVASTAVA, A. & MATHUR, A. 2012. Emerging trends in research on spatial and temporal organization of terpenoid indole alkaloid pathway in *Catharanthus roseus*: a literature update. *Protoplasma*, 249, 255-268.
- WANG, S. S., NIE, Y., XU, Y., ZHANG, R. Z., KO, T. P., HUANG, C. H., CHAN, H. C., GUO, R. T. & XIAO, R. 2014. Unconserved substrate-binding sites direct the stereoselectivity of medium-chain alcohol dehydrogenase. *Chemical Communications*, 50, 7770-7772.
- WEISS, D., BAUMERT, A., VOGEL, M. & ROOS, W. 2006. Sanguinarine reductase, a key enzyme of benzophenanthridine detoxification. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 29, 291-302.
- WINBERG, J. O. & MCKINLEYMCKEE, J. S. 1988. THE ADHS ALLELOENZYME OF ALCOHOL-DEHYDROGENASE FROM DROSOPHILA-MELANOGASTER - VARIATION OF KINETIC-PARAMETERS WITH PH. *Biochemical Journal*, 255, 589-599.
- WINBERG, J. O. & MCKINLEYMCKEE, J. S. 1994. DROSOPHILA-MELANOGASTER ALCOHOL-DEHYDROGENASE - PRODUCT-INHIBITION STUDIES. *Biochemical Journal*, 301, 901-909.
- WINK, M. & SCHIMMER, O. 2010. Molecular modes of action of defensive secondary metabolites. Functions and biotechnology of plant secondary metabolites, 39, 21-161.
- WYRAMBIK, D. & GRISEBACH, H. 1975. Purification and Properties of Isoenzymes of Cinnamyl-

Alcohol Dehydrogenase from Soybean-Cell-Suspension Cultures. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 59, 9-15.

- WYRAMBIK, D. & GRISEBACH, H. 1979. Enzymic Synthesis of Lignin Precursors. *European Journal* of Biochemistry, 97, 503-509.
- YERKES, N., WU, J. X., MCCOY, E., GALAN, M. C., CHEN, S. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2008. Substrate specificity and diastereoselectivity of strictosidine glucosidase, a key enzyme in monoterpene indole alkaloid biosynthesis. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 18, 3095-8.
- ZENK, M. H. 1980. Enzymatic Synthesis of Ajmalicine and Related Indole Alkaloids. *Journal of Natural Products*, 43, 438-451.
- ZIEGLER, J., VOIGTLANDER, S., SCHMIDT, J., KRAMELL, R., MIERSCH, O., AMMER, C., GESELL, A. & KUTCHAN, T. M. 2006. Comparative transcript and alkaloid profiling in Papaver species identifies a short chain dehydrogenase/reductase involved in morphine biosynthesis. *Plant Journal*, 48, 177-192.

Chapter 2

Discovery and characterisation of heteroyohimbine synthases of Catharanthus roseus

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 The heteroyohimbines

The heteroyohimbine alkaloids belong to the group of corynanthean MIAs. They differ at the configuration of the hydrogens and methyl of carbons 3, 20, and 19 (fig. 18). Some members of this group display biological activity and have been used in the clinic. For example, 19-epiajmalicine (19-EA) can bind to benzodiazepine receptors in the brain of rats (Ai et al., 1997) and ajmalicine (AJM) is an α 1-adrenergic receptor antagonist (Roquebert and Demichel, 1984, Li et al., 2004). Furthermore, alstonine, an oxidised form of tetrahydroalstonine (THA) displays anxiolytic and antipsychotic activity (Costa-Campos et al., 2004, Elisabetsky and Costa-Campos, 2006).



Figure 18: The eight heteroyohimbines. The top row (with (*S*) stereochemistry at C-3) are derived from strictosidine, and the bottom row (with (*R*) stereochemistry at C-3) are derived from the strictosidine isomer, vincoside. The three heteroyohimbines marked with an asterisk have been reported to be found in *C. roseus*. All molecules are stereoisomers and have the same predicted mass, 352.178.

2.1.2 Heteroyohimbine biosynthesis in C. roseus

C. roseus produces three heteroyohombine diastereomers,¹ AJM, 19-EA, and THA, with AJM being the most abundant. Heteroyohimbine alkaloids are derived from strictosidine after

¹ The fourth strictosidine-derived heteroyohimbine, rauniticine, is mentioned to be found in *C. roseus* only by Stöckigt et al. (1976) but the authors do not provide a reference to the claim. Whole alkaloid extracts of the leaves or roots of *C. roseus* performed in our lab contain multiple peaks with *m*/*z* of 353, the largest of which co-elutes with an authentic standard of AJM. As no other reference can be found for the presence of this alkaloid in *C. roseus* other than the passing mention made by Stöckigt et al. (1976), and the absence of an authentic standard to compare to our plant extracts, for the remainder of this thesis I will assume it is not found in this plant.

it is deglycosylated by SGD. Studies done by Stöckigt et al. (1980) using deuterated solvent and cofactors illustrated how AJM, 19-EA, and THA can be formed directly from an isomer of strictosidine aglycon, dehydrogeissoschizine, when supplied to a *C. roseus* cell suspension culture protein extract. These workers illustrated that dehydrogeissoschizine can isomerise in solution into cathenamine and 19-epicathenamine, which can then both isomerise into the iminium tautomers (fig. 19). They proposed that these iminium forms are then acted upon by NADPH-dependent reductases which produce AJM, 19-EA, and THA (fig. 19).



Figure 19: Proposed mechanism of biosynthesis of heteroyohimbines from dehydrogeissoschizine. Adapted from Stöckigt et al. (1980). Dehydrogeissoschizine equilibrates in solution to the two isomers 19(R)-cathenamine and 19(S)-cathenamine. This in turn can equilibrate into the iminium form by protonation at C-20.

During efforts to elucidate how the MIA pathway progresses through secologanin and tryptamine Stöckigt et al. (1976) showed that AJM, 19-EA, and THA can all be produced simultaneously in vitro using crude protein extracts of C. roseus. The authors prepared a crude protein extract from cell suspension cultures of *C. roseus* and incubated it with tryptamine, secologanin and various cofactors. The resulting alkaloid mixture was subjected to purification by TLC and it was shown that in presence of NADPH or NADH, three heteroyohimbines are formed, AJM, 19-EA, and THA. In absence of a suitable reduced cofactor another alkaloid accumulated, which if purified and incubated with the crude enzyme preparation and NADPH, was converted into AJM and 19-EA. The authors identified this compound as the intermediate in the reaction but could not identify its structure. Given the knowledge we now have about the pathway, the authors were generating strictosidine from secologanin and tryptamine with STR present in the crude protein mixture, and subsequently deglycosylating strictosidine with SGD also present in the crude enzyme preparation. When Stöckigt et al. (1976) repeated this in vitro experiment with [2-14C]labelled tryptamine they calculated that 26% of the labelled tryptamine was converted into these heteroyohimbines. Furthermore, they mention that although rauniticine (see footnote 1) and geissoschizine (fig. 20) are found in C. roseus plants, these compounds were not produced in these in vitro experiments.



Figure 20: The MIA geissoschizine.

Later experiments attempted to purify the enzyme or enzymes responsible for these reactions. An enzyme displaying tetrahydroalstonine synthase activity was purified from cell suspension cultures of different Apocynaceae plants including *C. roseus*, *C. ovalis*, *Picralima nitida*, *Rhazya stricta* and *Vinca herbacea* (probably *Vinca minor*), all of which are known THA producers (Hemscheidt and Zenk, 1985). The *C. roseus* cell suspension culture that was used is an unpublished cell-line the authors claimed produced only THA and no other heteroyohimbine alkaloids. This fact indicates that there exist some enzymes which specifically produce one heteroyohimbine and not the others. The presence of tetrahydroalstonine synthase (THAS) activity was compared between these plants and also with enzymes purified from control tissues from *Beta vulgaris* (Chenopodiaceae), *Malus domestica* (Rosaceae), and *Solanum marginatum* (Solanaceae), plants that do not produce heteroyohimbine alkaloids. The authors found that the tissue of the cell suspension line of *C. roseus* had the most active enzyme (0.98 pkat/mg protein), and the second-best producer was *R. stricta* (0.64 pkat/mg protein). Different levels of activity were recorded for the enzymes purified from the heteroyohimbine-producing plants but no activity was recorded in the reactions using the control plants.

To characterise the enzyme purified from *C. roseus* the authors determined its molecular weight based on a gel filtration column against commercially available protein standards and found that it was 81 ± 2.4 KDa. They observed that the enzyme could only turnover the strictosidine aglycon isomer cathenamine when supplied with NADPH and not with NADH. Kinetic studies found that the enzyme had a K_m for cathenamine of 62 μ M (pH 6.6, 30 °C). Hemscheidt and Zenk (1985) also purified similar enzymes from another cell suspension line of *C. roseus*. The purified enzymes from this line could turnover cathenamine and produce AJM and 19-EA, which led these researchers to hypothesise that there exist different enzymes in *Catharanthus* which are responsible for the production of different ratios of heteroyohimbines found in *C. roseus*.

Given this information, it is clear that multiple enzymes in *C. roseus* must be able to produce heteroyohimbines with different stereocentres. The heteroyohimbine biosynthetic enzymes appear to be soluble, NADPH-dependent reductases, and approximately 80 KDa. *C. roseus* expresses multiple NADPH-dependent reductases, both short-chain and medium-chain.

2.1.3 Known reduction steps in MIA biosynthesis

Medium-chain Dehydrogenase/Reductases (MDRs) are a type of Alcohol Dehydrogenase (ADH) enzyme. They are a very ancient and diverse protein superfamily which was already found in the last universal common ancestor of all life on earth (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003). An in-depth study of the diversity and evolution of this superfamily (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003) revealed that there are three macrofamilies of MDRs, each further split into separate Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COGs) (Tatusov et al., 1997).

According to macrofamily delimitation the authors suggested Cinnamyl Alcohol Dehydrogenases (CAD) and Elicitor-inducible defence-related proteins (ELI3) belong to the COG1064 along with Yeast-ADHs (Y-ADH) (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003). CAD are found in plants, fungi, protista, and bacteria. Conversely, ELI3 are only found in plants. Y-ADHs are not found in plants, but can be found in fungi, animals, archaea, and bacteria. An unrooted tree produced by Riveros-Rosas et al. (2003) placed the CAD and ELI3 families as sister groups, and it seems apparent that the ELI3s evolved from an ancient duplication of a CAD specifically in plants.

The MIA biosynthetic pathways are predicted to contain numerous reduction steps. Recent work on the elucidation of these pathways has revealed roles for both short-chain dehydrogenases and medium-chain dehydrogenases. An MDR has been discovered to act upstream in the pathway, at the oxidation of 10-hydroxygeraniol to 10-oxogeranial. This involves a two-step oxidation of the substrate involving NAD⁺ as cofactor. This reaction is catalysed by 10-hydroxygeraniol-oxidoreductase (10HGO, fig. 21, (Miettinen et al., 2014)).



Figure 21: Reaction catalysed by 10-Hydroxygeraniol-Oxidoreductase (10HGO).

Additionally, an MDR from *C. roseus* was recently demonstrated to have activity further downstream at the tabersonine-to-vindoline branch of the vinblastine biosynthetic pathway (Qu et al., 2015). This enzyme, in concert with a cytochrome P450, is capable of reducing tabersonine into 3-hydroxy-2,3-dihydrotabersonine (fig. 22). This enzyme was named T3R and is referenced as such throughout this thesis.



Figure 22: Conversion of the *C. roseus* MIA tabersonine into 3-hydroxy-2,3-dihydrotabersonine by the action of a cytochrome P450 followed by reduction by T3R.

2.1.4 Discovery of the heteroyohimbine synthases

Synthesis of heteroyohimbines also constitutes a reduction step in the MIA pathway, though at the start of this work, the identity of the enzymes that catalysed the formation of these structures was not known. In this chapter, I describe the discovery of the genes that encode heteroyohimbine synthases. Based on the preliminary work of Zenk and Stockigt described above, the most obvious candidate for the heteroyohimbine synthases would be an MDR. The transcriptome of *C. roseus* was indispensable for querying which MDRs could be responsible

for heteroyohimbine biosynthesis. During a screening of MDRs from *C. roseus* which are highly induced by application of MeJa at the seedling stage, an MDR was identified which could reduce cathenamine and produce primarily THA. This enzyme was named Tetrahydroalstonine Synthase 1 (THAS1). This initial success was further used to identify more candidates from the transcriptome based on sequence similarity to THAS1. This approach was successful and resulted in the identification of multiple heteroyohimbine synthases (HYSs), most of which are specific for THA production (THAS2-4), and one of which was capable of producing all 3 *C. roseus* heteroyohimbines (HYS). The enzymes discovered are described as hetetroyohimbine synthases (HYSs) to simplify discussion.

Discovery of these HYSs concludes the biosynthetic pathway from geraniol to the heteroyohimbines of *C. roseus*. This is the first report of genes that encode enzymes that act on the reactive intermediate strictosidine aglycon. These results provide insights into how the chemical diversity of the alkaloids is generated at this crucial branchpoint in MIA biosynthesis.

2.2 Results

2.2.1 Identification and sequence analysis of THAS1

Seedlings of *C. roseus* have been shown to actively synthesize the MIA whereas shoots, and in general older plant material, does not present such active biosynthesis (Scott et al., 1971). Therefore, expression profiles of biosynthetic enzymes at different plant growth stages are critical to the discovery of new enzymes taking part in this pathway. The transcriptomic dataset generated by Góngora-Castillo et al. (2012) was used as the basis for the work described in this chapter.

Hierarchical clustering analysis performed previously on this transcriptomic database (Geu-Flores et al., 2012) revealed multiple gene candidates that seemed to be co-regulated with other genes in the monoterpene indole alkaloid pathway. One of these genes (Cr024553), named THAS1 for reasons detailed later in this chapter, was of particular interest as it is physically present on the genome (WG contig v.2.A 371, Buell and Kim, in preparation) in close proximity to an SLS homolog (Cr024556). This gene is expressed in sterile seedlings and induced approximately two-fold at both five and twelve hours after the application of methyl-jasmonate (fig. 23). It is also expressed in immature and mature leaves (6.5 and 2.2 fpkm respectively) and also highly expressed in steri tissue (58.3 fpkm). Together, the expression profile and genome location pointed to a role in MIA biosynthesis.



Figure 23: Expression profile of THAS1 in *C. roseus* tissues. The expression level (fpkm) is plotted against the various tissues including flowers, sterile seedlings, sterile seedlings 5 days after metyljasmonate application, sterile seedlings 12 days after MeJa application, mature and immature leaf, primary stem, and roots.

The gene cloned from cDNA was 1071 bp in length and coded for a member of the ADH family, specifically the Medium-chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase (MDR) subfamily (Appendix 1 for cDNA and protein sequences). When submitted to BLAST against the NCBI protein database the closest characterised homolog was a Sinapyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (SAD (Bomati and Noel, 2005)) from the economically important tree species *Populus tremuloides* (PDB accession code: 1YQD). The two sequences have 64% identity at the amino acid level. THAS1 was also found to share 63% amino acid identity with the *C. roseus* biosynthetic enzyme Cr10HGO, which catalyses the conversion of 10-hydroxygeraniol to 10-oxogeranial early in the alkaloid pathway (fig. 9, NCBI accession code: Q6V4HO, (Miettinen et al., 2014)).

PtSAD, which is implicated in lignin biosynthesis (Li et al., 2001), catalyses the reduction of the aldehyde group on sinapaldehyde to an alcohol group, and has been crystallised to 2 Å resolution (Bomati and Noel, 2005). PtSAD has been shown to be active as a homodimer, utilises NADPH as cofactor, and binds two Zn²⁺ ions per subunit (Bomati and Noel, 2005). Initial characterisations of a similar enzyme CAD isolated from plant material indicated that zinc was necessary for catalysis (Wyrambik and Grisebach, 1979). Many MDRs contain two zinc ions, one coordinated in the enzyme active site (catalytic zinc) and one positioned near the surface of the protein (structural zinc).



Figure 24: Reduction of sinapaldehyde to sinapyl alcohol, catalysed by Sinapyl Alcohol Dehydrogenase (SAD).

The protein product of the cloned THAS1 gene was predicted to be a dimeric zinc-binding metalloprotein, consistent with other MDRs which usually contain two zinc ions, one near the active site, termed "catalytic zinc" and one in a lobe at the surface of the enzyme, termed "structural zinc". When analysed with zinc-prediction software (PredZinc (Shu et al., 2008), and ZincExplorer (Chen et al., 2013)) the residues C54, H76, C107, C110, and C113 were predicted to form a zinc coordination sphere in both servers (table 1). Some predicted Zinc coordinating residues were not predicted in both servers.

Table 1: results of Zinc coordinating amino acids prediction of THAS1 residues using ZincExplorer online server. The score reflects the confidence of the prediction (most confident prediction gives a score of 1)

Zinc atom	Residue	Score
Zinc atom 1	Cysteine 54	0.889883
	Histidine 76	0.739041
	Cysteine 162	0.700843
Zinc atom 2	Cysteine 107	0.815173
	Cysteine 110	0.768885
	Cysteine 113	0.718252
	Cysteine 121	0.737481

These cysteines of THAS1 align to cysteines on the amino acid sequence of PtSAD. However, not all these cysteines take part in Zn²⁺ binding, as shown by the crystal structure of SAD (Bomati and Noel, 2005) in which it was shown that the catalytic Zn²⁺ binding residues are Cys50, His72, Cys166 and a water molecule which is coordinated with Ser52 (fig. 25). The crystal structure of PtSAD indicates that Ser52 is implicated in the catalysis of sinapaldehyde reduction and His55 is coordinated to the ribose of the cofactor (Bomati and Noel, 2005). Alignment of PtSAD with THAS1 indicates that a glutamate (Glu59) is equivalent to His55 of SAD and a tyrosine (Tyr56) is equivalent to Ser52. Tyrosine is not easily ionisable and glutamate has an opposite charge to histidine; this raises some interesting questions about the active site of THAS1 and the catalysis mechanism.



Figure 25: SAD reduction mechanism. Sinapaldehyde (substrate, in black) is reduced through hydride attack from the cofactor, NADPH (in red). The catalytic Zn²⁺ ion activates the carbon-oxygen bond. The active site serine provides the second hydrogen during the reduction and an electron transport chain is achieved through the hydrogen-binding network, via the cofactor ribose, and the coordinating histidine and finally into the bulk solvent.

Interestingly, the THAS1 protein sequence was found to contain a Class 5 nuclear localisation signal which is plant-specific (Kosugi et al., 2009). The amino acids 214-KKKR-217 are likely responsible for transport of this protein into the nucleus.

2.2.2 Initial functional characterisation of THAS1

The THAS1 gene was cloned into the *E. coli* IPTG-inducible expression vector pOPINF which contains an N-terminal His₆-tag for purification with a nickel column. Expression was better and higher protein yields were achieved when a richer medium was used, such as Terrific Broth or 2x YT media, and high amounts of protein (4 mg/L of culture) was achieved when IPTG between 1 mM and 0.01 mM were used. Concentration of the protein was possible up to approximately 20 mg/mL but beyond that it precipitated out of solution. The purified protein was aliquoted in 5 – 10 μ L aliquots in sterile Eppendorf tubes. It was discovered that THAS1 lost activity after freezing and thawing and therefore was stored in small single-use aliquots. Inclusion of glycerol in the storage buffer did not improve the stability after thawing. Freezing of the aliquots in liquid nitrogen before storage at – 20 °C was necessary to retain activity; aliquots placed at – 20 °C without snap freezing were found to be inactive upon thawing. All purified ADH proteins reported in this thesis were snap frozen and stored in the same manner after discovering this fact.

Gel filtration chromatography revealed that in a typical preparation the enzyme was usually present in two isoforms, a monomer and a dimer (fig. 26, left panel). This has been observed for similar enzymes in the past (Wyrambik and Grisebach, 1975). Both isoforms were active (fig. 26, right panel), but only the fractions containing the dimer was stored for future use as the dimer forms of ADH are reported to keep their activity longer (Wyrambik and Grisebach, 1975).



Figure 26: Gel filtration trace and LC-MS assays of THAS1 with dimer isozyme and monomer isozyme labelled. Left panel: Gel filtration trace of eluate from nickel column purification, the early bump constitutes high-molecular weight contaminants. The largest peak corresponds to the dimer form of THAS1 (approx. 65 KDa) and the last peak corresponds to the monomer form of THAS1 (approx. 42 KDa). Right panel: LC-MS chromatogram traces of the product of THAS1 assays in presence of strictosidine aglycon and NADPH.

Enzyme reactions were initially monitored by LC-MS. LC-MS measurements of the enzyme reactions were performed using targeted methods (Multiple Reaction Monitoring- MRM). Such targeted techniques allow better resolution of peaks as the detector selectively monitors the ions for the specified parent mass and also the specified fragmentation pattern. Thus each trace for the specified ion is free of all other contaminating ions. This method allows use of low concentrations of substrate and product and can also distinguish between ions which co-elute. Here, an MRM specifically developed from a heteroyohimbine authentic standard was used with reactions using purified strictosidine and also using a fresh enzymatic reaction of strictosidine aglycon.

Purified THAS1 was tested with deglycosylated strictosidine *in vitro*. The enzyme was able to reduce this substrate in the presence of the cofactor NADPH and produced a compound of mass 353 m/z (fig. 27 trace a). In absence of SGD, THAS1, substrate or reduced cofactor no product was formed (fig. 27, traces c to g). THAS1 was able to utilise NADH as well but produced lower amounts of product compared to the reaction utilising NADPH after 30 minutes incubation. The assays were also done in the presence or absence of the metal chelating agent ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA, fig. 27, inset). There did not appear to be any significant reduction in activity of THAS1 with 5 mM of EDTA. While this suggests that metal is not required for THAS activity, the complete removal of the metal was not verified spectroscopically.



Figure 27: Chromatograms of THAS1 reaction along with controls. Enzyme reactions were performed at 25 °C for 30 minutes. Total ion chromatogram for heteroyohimbines m/z 353. Trace a: THAS1 (50 nM), SGD (6 nM), strictosidine (200 μ M), NADPH (200 μ M); b: NADPH replaced with NADH; c: boiled THAS1; d: no THAS1; e: no strictosidine; f: no SGD; g: no SGD, no THAS1. Inset: Assay with EDTA (black, 5 mM) and without EDTA (red).

THAS1 was also tested for activity in the reverse reaction, by supplying 300 μ M THA as substrate together with NADP⁺ as cofactor. This reaction did not yield significant amounts of cathenamine (fig. 28). The trace of 351 is of low intensity signal, and most probably corresponds to the normal variation in sensitivity of the MS detector or contamination of the authentic standard of THA. However, it is not possible to rule out the possibility that THAS1 does oxidise THA in the reverse reaction, but it is clear that the K_m is very low compared to its K_m for the normal reduction.



Figure 28: LC-MS trace of THAS1 reaction with THA and NADP+ as substrate. The substrate (top panel, 353 m/z), and the product trace (bottom panel, 351 m/z).

2.2.3 Characterisation of THAS1 product

There are multiple alkaloids reported to be found in *C. roseus* which have a mass of 353 *m/z* and it was not possible to determine the identity of the product based on mass alone. Authentic standards for AJM and THA were available, but unfortunately when tested using standard LC-MS conditions ("fast method" described in the Materials and Methods section below) these stereoisomers co-eluted. Even after development of LC conditions that could effectively separate these stereoisomers ("separation method"), as one of the potential heteroyohimbine diastereomers (rauniticine) is unavailable commercially, it is not possible to rule out the possibility it could co-elute with one of the others. To unambiguously identify which product(s) THAS1 produced, an NMR characterisation was necessary. A large-scale reaction using the purified enzyme and deglycosylated strictosidine was separated using silica thin layer chromatography (TLC) (fig. 29).



Figure 29: TLC of THAS1 large scale reaction. The loading areas of the various extracts are indicated on the figure; Ethyl acetate: the ethyl acetate extract of the water fraction after the MeOH extraction; Methanol: the methanol fraction; H_2O fraction: what was left over after both MeOH and ethyl acetate extraction. The authentic standards were loaded to the right of the plate in the order AJM, serpentine (SER), and THA. M indicates the migration front; P indicates the migration of the major product; B indicates the unknown by-products of the reaction.

Extraction of the dried reaction by MeOH appears to have extracted most constituents; only trace amounts of the major product and the lowest by-product can be seen in the lane with the ethyl acetate extract (fig. 29). The water fraction does not appear to contain any visible traces of heteroyohimbines. AJM and THA migrated and separated very well on silica and the THA standard migrated higher than the AJM and corresponded to the major product of the reaction. The serpentine authentic standard did not migrate in these conditions and appeared bluish under this UV illumination. There appears to be a slight band of product visible at the same R_f as AJM in the MeOH extract but ¹H NMR of this product was not of high enough signal to allow identification of that alkaloid. However, LC-MS measurement of the extract from that band confirmed that it is a heteroyohimbine (fig. 30). Other minor products were visible on

the TLC but unfortunately were not in high enough amounts for NMR. TLC purification of the major product yielded approximately 500 µg of material which was enough to obtain an NMR measurement in deuterated chloroform. Comparison of the proton shifts with published shifts of the heteroyohimbine alkaloids (Lounasmaa and Kan, 1980) indicated that the major purified product is THA (fig. 31).



Figure 30: LC-MS trace of the TLC band corresponding to AJM. Targeted MRM trace of the heteroyohimbine isolated from the AJM band from the large-scale TLC purification of THAS1 reaction.



Figure 31: NMR traces of an authentic standard of THA and the purified major product of the large-scale THAS1 reaction. The structure of THA is included for reference.

2.2.4 Screening for similar enzymes with THAS activity

The discovery of an MDR from *C. roseus* which produces a heteroyohimbine alkaloid allowed a first positive hit from which to continue the search for other MDRs which could reduce deglycosylated strictosidine. The DNA sequence of THAS1 was BLASTed against the *C. roseus* transcriptome and resulted in only a few hits. However, BLASTing of the protein sequence with tblastn gave more results. Most hits had a predicted 45-55% identity with the THAS1 amino acid sequence, but there were some transcripts which showed higher identity, above 65%. The hits selected are Cr021691 (THAS2), Cr010119 (THAS3), Cr032583 (THAS4 and HYS, see section below), Cr017994, Cr021541 (T3R), and Cr027234 (amino acid sequence percent identities are displayed in table 2).

SAD from *P. tremuloides* was also BLASTed against the same database in order to provide negative controls as the hits from THAS1 BLAST search are biased towards high identity with THAS1. Various hits were retrieved when PtSAD was BLASTed and seven of them were picked due to the predicted presence of a serine or a threonine in the active site at the equivalent position to the catalytic serine of PtSAD. These hits selected were the transcripts Cr011702, Cr030442, Cr006840, Cr022770, Cr033537, Cr033062, and Cr2141 (amino acid sequence percent identities are displayed in table 2).



Figure 32: Expression level of the MDRs cloned in the initial HYS screen plotted against various tissues (HYS and THAS4 are not displayed, see below and Chapter 5 for discussion of this). The MDRs which were similar to CAD and SAD enzymes (i.e. with Ser or Thr in the active site) are illustrated in shades of blue. The MDRs with other residues in the predicted active site are illustrated in shades of orange and brown. THAS1 is displayed in red. For clarity the highest expression points (Cr2141 in the two MeJa application conditions, 1042 and 886 fpkm respectively, and T3R in immature leaf, 889 fpkm) are not displayed.

All the MDRs cloned display some expression in leaf tissues (fig. 32). By far the most highly expressed transcript is that of T3R, which contrary to almost all other transcripts is not expressed

in the stem. Cr2141 is the highest expressed MDR overall, including leaf tissue, where it is surpassed only by T3R. Cr2141 is also very highly induced by MeJa application at the seedling stage, which indicates it could be under the control of a MeJa-responsive promoter.

Sequencing of two Cr032583 (THAS4 and HYS) clones revealed that at least two very similar (96.2% identity) MDR genes were cloned. Interestingly, the differences were mostly present in the substrate binding domain of the enzyme, with the cofactor binding domain largely unchanged. The two clones have 14 synonymous (dS) substitutions between them and 20 non-synonymous (dN) substitutions. This results in a dN/dS ratio of 1.42 which suggests positive selection has been acting at this locus, however it is not possible to determine which gene the selection is acting on with only two sequences for comparison. These genes have likely arisen from a duplication, but which gene is experiencing the positive selection cannot be investigated without more information about the duplication, or sequencing of other examples of this duplication. The evolutionary origin of the MDR duplications will be discussed in detail in Chapter 5.

Alignment of the candidate MDR sequences revealed that most of each protein is similar in sequence (fig. 33). This is in agreement with the pairwise identities (table 2). However there appears to be a relatively large gap in the alignment that does not have identity in any of the proteins. The region between position 140 and 170 appears to have low identity in all these candidates. Most importantly there appear to be numerous indels in this section of the sequences. THAS2 and THAS3 have more amino acids in this section of the protein than all the others (24 and 21 more amino acids for THAS3 and THAS2 respectively compared to the THAS1 sequence). The sequence of candidate Cr017994 does not align well up to position 93 and this suggests the cloning of this candidate might not have been correct. This candidate also did not express when heterologously expressed in *E. coli*. The enzymes most similar to each other are THAS4 and HYS which share almost 94% identity at the amino acid level (fig. 33). The lowest identity (38.1%) is shared between Cr011702 and THAS3. THAS1 is most similar to HYS and THAS4 (76.3 and 75.7% respectively).

ies	
lentities	
ow ic	
ed and low	
red	
swith	
ntitie	
h ide	
e high	
es th	
: illustrates the	
Ħ	
Heatplo	
MDR candidates cloned. Heat	
s clor	
ididates clo	
cano	
MDR	
veen	
/ bet/	
entity	
nce id	
equer	
icid s	
nino a	
of an	
ble 2: Percentage of amino acid sequence identity bet	
ercer	Ň.
ible 2: Perce	yello
Tabl	with

Cr027234	54.9	47.9	50.5	53.6	53.0	48.2	39.7	44.1	50.4	53.2	47.3	47.5	52.2	47.4	
T3R	67.4	50.4	51.8	65.6	65.4	50.1	43.7	45.9	48.6	54.6	48.9	50.0	49.6		47.4
Cr2141	58.3	51.7	53.1	57.3	57.6	59.3	47.6	53.8	62.5	63.2	60.8	58.3		49.6	52.2
Cr033062	54.0	49.7	50.8	53.0	53.8	49.6	45.0	43.3	53.5	63.0	75.9		58.3	50.0	47.5
Cr033537	53.7	51.1	51.3	51.9	51.6	51.5	43.1	44.7	56.0	65.8		75.9	60.8	48.9	47.3
Cr022770	58.6	52.5	53.6	55.4	55.4	56.3	46.3	45.3	58.3		65.8	63.0	63.2	54.6	53.2
Cr006840	54.3	48.9	49.1	51.7	53.3	60.3	50.4	55.6		58.3	56.0	53.5	62.5	48.6	50.4
Cr030442	46.3	42.4	44.1	45.3	45.3	48.4	43.4		55.6	45.3	44.7	43.3	53.8	45.9	44.1
Cr011702	44.3	38.1	39.5	43.8	43.8	46.0		43.4	50.4	46.3	43.1	45.0	47.6	43.7	39.7
Cr017994	52.7	48.3	48.8	52.9	53.4		46.0	48.4	60.3	56.3	51.5	49.6	59.3	50.1	48.2
НΥS	76.3	52.5	56.6	93.9		53.4	43.8	45.3	53.3	55.4	51.6	53.8	57.6	65.4	53.0
THAS4	75.7	53.1	56.3		93.9	52.9	43.8	45.3	51.7	55.4	51.9	53.0	57.3	65.6	53.6
THAS2	54.3	63.9		56.3	56.6	48.8	39.5	44.1	49.1	53.6	51.3	50.8	53.1	51.8	50.5
THAS3	52.6		63.9	53.1	52.5	48.3	38.1	42.4	48.9	52.5	51.1	49.7	51.7	50.4	47.9
THAS1		52.6	54.3	75.7	76.3	52.7	44.3	46.3	54.3	58.6	53.7	54.0	58.3	67.4	54.9
	THAS1	THAS3	THAS2	THAS4	HYS	Cr017994	Cr011702	Cr030442	Cr006840	Cr022770	Cr033537	Cr033062	Cr2141	T3R	Cr027234

1_THAS1 2_THAS3 3_THAS2 4_THAS4 5_ETS 6_Cr017994 7_Cr017994 7_Cr01702 8_Cr030442 9_Cr006400 10_Cr02277 11_Cr03353 12_Cr03306 13_Cr2141 14_T3R 15_Cr02723		E CALEFON E STORE SEVENCE SUVERIE ENDERNE SUMMERSEN SERVER FOR EN VN ATTEN EVENCOMMENTERSENDER EN STREED SEVENDER SEN ATTEN VN ATTEN EVENOMENTERSENDER EN STREED SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN EVENOMENTERSENDATEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN EVENOMENTERSENDATEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN EVENTERSENDATEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN EN ATTEN VN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN ATTEN ATTEN VN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN SUMEREN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN ATTEN A
1_THAS1 2_THAS3 3_THAS2 4_THAS4 5_BT3 6_Cr017994 7_Cr011702 8_Cr030442 9_Cr006840 10_Cr02277 11_Cr03353 12_Cr0306 13_Cr03365 13_Cr02723		GVINNESKVESTDGWFGNNFGCCEIMS DLANYGRMILTINGVYNEG
1_THAS1 2_THAS3 3_THAS2 4_THAS4 5_HT3 6_Cr017994 7_Cr011702 8_Cr030442 9_Cr006840 10_Cr02277 11_Cr03303 12_Cr03303 13_Cr2141 14_T3R 15_Cr02723	ISINFY TON PERLECICS VIELCAGE ALSOMRAY DI	230 240 250 240 260 260 260 260 270
1_THAS1 2_THAS3 3_THAS2 4_THAS2 4_THAS4 5_ETS 6_Cr017994 7_Cr011702 8_Cr030442 9_Cr006440 10_Cr02277 11_Cr03353 12_Cr03306 13_Cr2141 14_T3R 15_Cr02723	SPEV BESPEER GEACTLOOT I DT I GN - SLEPTLA LEBE GRULENTEPOLOGATIN PRESIVETY FIVE PITLOLINITE RELINEEPOLOGATIN PRESIVETY FIVE PITLOLINITE RELINEEPICE GRUG TION FIVE VA - STVEPLALLED SPELNSPECE GEAGE GRUG TION VA - STVEPLALLED SPEVER FILLES FILLEN FILLEN SPEVER GRUG FILLEN I DTVEAV - TLPMINS LEVE SPEVER GRUG FILLEN I DTVEAV - TLPMINS LEVE SPEVER GRUG FILLEN I DTVEAV - TLPMINS LEVE GRUE SOPERA AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE SPEVER GRUG FILLEN I DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE GRUE SOPERA AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE SPEVER FILLEN I GRUE AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE SPEVER FILLEN I GRUE AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE GRUE SOPERA AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE SPEVER AND TLOUI DTVEAV - PILLEN LEVE	1320 330 340 340 359 360 RETITION SEMPLEMENT OF STORE OF MARKING SERVICE SEARCH STORE AS A STORE AND STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE AS A STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE OF STORE STORE OF STORE
13_Cx2141 14_T3R	370 380 390 400 370 380 390 400 370 380 390 400 80 390 500 400 80 390 400 80 390 400 80 80 390 400 80 80 80 390 400 80 80 80 500 80 500 80 80 80 80 600 80 600 80 80 80 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 600 80 80 600 80 80 600 80 80 600 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80 80	MDRs. Identical sites are coloured red and sites with more than 65% identity are coloured orange. The predicted active site equivalent amino acid to the SAD/CAD serine or threonine is at position 73 and is not conserved among these enzymes. The Rossman fold GXGXXG motif is conserved among all the candidates and starts at

After heterologous expression in *E. coli*, all candidates were tested in triplicate for production of heteroyohimbines. Cr017994 could not be expressed in *E. coli* and was not tested. Quantification of products was done using the "separation method" by LC-MS (fig. 34). THAS2, 3, and 4 all produce primarily THA, with THAS2 being the most promiscuous of all the THAS. HYS produced the three heteroyohimbines and is named Heteroyohimbine Synthase to reflect this promiscuity.



Figure 34: LC-MS traces of product formed after reaction of strictosidine aglycon with the HYSs. The trace in black is a mixture of the authentic standards for AJM, 19-EA, and THA. THAS1 is illustrated in red.

All other MDRs tested converted less than 1% of the initial strictosidine substrate into a heteroyohimbine, with Cr033062 being the best producer among them with 0.45% conversion. This enzyme is not very specific but the extremely low activity strongly suggests it is not a HYS. T3R and Cr033537 were initially chosen because they lack the serine or threonine active site amino acid that the classic SAD/CAD enzymes have (position 73 in alignment fig. 33), but did not show any significant HYS activity (table 3). A detailed mutational study of the active site will be described in Chapter 3.

Table 3: Results of enzyme assay analysis by LC-MS of MDRs that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity. The total conversion refers to the yield compared to the starting concentration of strictosidine aglycon. The measured concentrations of the three identified heteroroyohimbines (AJM, 19-EA, THA) define the product ratio; values are rounded up for clarity. The conversion of all enzymes was compared to conversion of THAS1.

			Conversion		
	Total				compared to
MDRs	conversion	Ajmalicine	19-epiajmalicine	Tetrahydroalstonine	THAS1
THAS1	19%	2%	2%	97%	100%
THAS3	23%	0.5%	12%	88%	123%
THAS2	19%	2%	12%	87%	29%
THAS4	11%	1%	10%	89%	57%
HYS	22%	35%	15%	50%	115%
Cr011072	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr030442	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr006840	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr022770	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr033537	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr033062	0.5%	17%	5%	78%	2%
Cr2141	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
T3R	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%
Cr027234	0%	0%	0%	100%	0%

2.2.5 pH and temperature optima

Analysis of the pH optimum of THAS1 was done by calculating the rate of the reaction by taking three timepoints for a single pH into account. All regressions had a high correlation, the minimum was R²=0.97. The rate of each replicate was averaged and the standard deviation calculated. Results are displayed in figure 35.



Figure 35: pH optimum of THAS1. The rate of product formation of THA (red) is plotted against the pH of the reaction. Error bars represent the standard deviation of the triplicate.

It appears the rate of product formation increases with decreasing pH, and THAS1 performed better at the lowest pH assayed, pH 5.5. The average of pH 5.5 is higher than that at pH 6.0

but the difference is not statistically significant (Student's one-tailed t-test t-statistic = 1.35). However there was a significant difference between the rate at pH 5.5 and at 6.5 (Student's one-tailed t-test t-statistic = 3.52).

The temperature optimum was assayed by varying the temperature of the assay by increments of 5 °C. The rate of reaction was calculated and plotted for the two replicates; results are displayed in figure 36. The data suggest that higher temperatures increase the rate of THA formation for THAS1. After these first results were obtained (fig. 36 left panel) another assay was done with a temperature range between 40 and 65 °C but unfortunately the variation among the replicates did not allow for any meaningful analysis of the data. Nevertheless, the temperatures above 55 °C showed low product formation at 3 minutes (fig. 36, right panel). Product formation seems to not be possible above 55 °C, which indicates the enzyme is not stable above that temperature.



Figure 36: Temperature optimum of THAS1. Left panel: Rate of product formation is plotted according to temperature, triangles and dots represent two replicates. Right panel: Mean product formed in assay conditions after 3 minutes incubation at each temperature (mean of 3 replicates). Error bars represent the standard deviation.

The product formation with HYS at different pH values was assessed after running the samples on the LC-MS using the "fast method". The reaction in HEPES pH 7.5 produced a large amount of product at timepoint 1 minute. HYS appears to be very active and therefore comparison between the 1 and the 2-minute timepoints was not meaningful. This was exaggerated by the appearance of double peaks, which are perhaps the stereoisomers presenting some separation in some of the runs. Integration of the response area was done for both peaks where they were separated and the values were combined (table 4). It appears HEPES buffer at pH 7.5 resulted in the largest amount of product formed. It is not clear why the response area for the 2 minute timepoints is lower than that at 1 minute. Comparisons between 1 minute and 2 minutes are therefore not meaningful, especially because at 1 minute the products in the high-activity assays were close to saturation of the detector (above 1.0 e⁸). Table 4: pH assay of HYS product formation.

	Peak response area			
Buffer used	1 min	2 min		
MES pH 5.5	635443	850858		
Phosphate pH 6.0	2860224	2399075		
Citrate pH 6.0	2183272	1097576		
MES pH 6.5	1713416	900544		
HEPES pH 7.0	3973651	1970816		
Phosphate pH 7.0	18810523	15516128		
HEPES pH 7.5	22848140	21184542		
Phosphate pH 7.5	18346649	14730331		

2.2.6 Kinetics of THAS1 with strictosidine aglycon

To determine the steady state kinetic constants of THAS1 for strictosidine aglycon and NADPH, kinetics were attempted by monitoring the rate of product formation at different initial concentrations of strictosidine aglycon by LC-MS. Monitoring the consumption of the substrate is not possible because strictosidine aglycon is present in solution in multiple forms and can interconvert between the forms. It is not known which isomers of strictosidine aglycon are available to THAS1 for reduction.

After optimisation of THAS1 concentration and the assay timepoints the results were analysed using the software SigmaPlot. The data were plotted in a Michaelis-Menten plot (fig. 37 and 38) and the K_m was calculated both for strictosidine aglycon and for the cofactor, NADPH.



Figure 37: Michaelis-Menten plot of THAS1 with varying concentrations of strictosidine aglycon. Product formation rate (μ mol/min) is plotted against the initial concentration of strictosidine aglycon (μ M). The concentration of NADPH was kept constant at 500 μ M.

Assays with varying amounts of strictosidine aglycon were not straightforward; the product precipitates in the assay conditions above approximately 50 μ M and this is reflected in the errors associated with the different measurements by LC-MS (fig. 37). For reasons that are not clear the kinetics done with strictosidine aglycon seem to follow a sigmoidal pattern at low concentrations. This would suggest a threshold of substrate concentration needs to be passed before THAS1 can achieve a certain rate of product formation. However, given that the substrate can equilibrate into multiple isoforms this phenomenon could also be produced if at low concentrations. Because of the doubt surrounding the actual THAS1 substrate concentration the sigmoidal character of the measured product formation rate is not taken into account. Despite these caveats the THAS1 K_m for strictosidine aglycon was calculated to be 58.29 ± 20.7 μ M.



Figure 38: Michaelis-Menten plot of THAS1 with varying concentrations of NADPH. Product formation rate (μ mol/min) is plotted against the initial concentration of NADPH (μ M). The concentration of strictosidine aglycon was kept constant at 300 μ M.

Kinetics done with varying NADPH concentration also displayed large error. The K_m for NADPH is calculated to be 4.84 ± 2.5 μ M.

2.2.7 ITC

Isothermic titration calorimetry of THAS1 with NADPH and deglycosylated strictosidine was carried out at constant temperature to determine the order of substrate binding and dissociation constants (k_d). It was discovered that the NADPH cofactor binds first with a k_d of 1.5 ± 0.1 μ M (Δ H (cal/mol) 2310 ± 123.2; Δ S (cal/mol/deg) 34.2 ± 0.3, fig. 39) which is consistent with reported values for other MDRs (Lee et al., 2013). Titration assays with deglycosylated strictosidine and THAS1 in the absence of any cofactor did not give any signal, indicating that deglycosylated

strictosidine does not bind to the active site in the absence of NADPH. Titration with deglycosylated strictosidine was also attempted on THAS1-NADPH complex in order to measure the k_d for the second substrate. However, when the substrate concentration reached approximately 50 μ M precipitation was observed and this caused aberrant signals which could not be processed.



Figure 39: Isothermic titration calorimetry for NADPH binding to THAS1. Titration with NADPH indicates that binding of the cofactor to the enzyme is an exothermic process and THAS1 has a k_d of 1.5 ± 0.1 μ M. Bottom panel illustrates the molar ratio between the injectant (NADPH) and the target (THAS1) is 2.0, i.e. approx. 2 moles of NADPH bind per dimer of THAS1.

2.2.8 Pull-down of THAS1 with SGD

Collaborators have demonstrated that THAS1 localises to the same compartment as SGD (the nucleus) suggesting there might be a biological role for this common localisation (Stavrinides et al., 2015). To test if there is a protein-protein interaction between SGD and THAS1, SGD was used as bait in a pull-down assay of THAS1. His_6 -tagged SGD was loaded onto a nickel-column and an untagged preparation of THAS1 (fig. 40 A) was loaded onto the column. Aliquots of the different steps were analysed by SDS-PAGE (fig. 40). Although most of the loaded THAS1 appears to have not been retained by the column (fig 40 B lanes 8 to 12) a small amount was retained and eluted

together with SGD (fig 40 B lanes 14 to 16). These results were suggestive of an interaction between SGD and THAS1, but not conclusive. However, BiMFC experiments performed by a collaborator confirmed the interaction *in vivo*.



Figure 40: Cleavage of His_6 -tag of THAS1 and pull down with SGD. A: SDS-PAGE analysis of His_6 -tag cleavage by 3C protease, lane 1: Protein ladder; lane 2: Un-cleaved His_6 -THAS1; lane 3: His_6 -tag cleaved THAS1 and 3C protease. B: Pull down of THAS1 with SGD. Lane 1: Protein ladded; lane 2-3: SGD loading onto nickel column; lane 4-7: washes; lane 8-9: THAS1 loading onto nickel column; lane 10-11: washes; lane 14-16: elution of bound SGD and THAS1.

2.3 Discussion

2.3.1 Heteroyohimbines in C. roseus

Tetrahydroalstonine (fig. 41) is a heteroyohimbine alkaloid derived from the reduction of deglycosylated strictosidine. Deglycosylated strictosidine is a reactive compound which can undergo multiple rearrangements to generate different backbones (see fig. 7, Chapter 1). There are four possible heteroyohimbine stereoisomers that can be produced from deglycosylated strictosidine, three of which have been reported to be found in *C. roseus*. These heteroyohimbines differ at the stereochemistry at the C-20 and at C-19. When the ring D closes to form the five member ring system of deglycosylated strictosidine, the methyl group (C-18) can be either in (R) or (S) configuration to yield cathenamine and epi-cathenamine, respectively (fig. 19). Cathenamine can give rise to THA or AJM, presumably resulting from the stereochemistry of the iminium tautomer at C-20. It is hypothesized that this iminium is then reduced to form either THA or AJM. Ring closure of the strictosidine aglycon to yield 19-epicathenamine analogously gives rise to the heteroyohimbines 19-EA and rauniticine (which is not reported to be found in *C. roseus*). It is unclear why there is not an equal distribution of all four heteroyohimbines in C. roseus. The enzymatic redundancy described here indicates there could be more undiscovered HYSs that could account for the product distribution observed in the plant. There could also be enzymes of different eductase enzyme families acting as HYSs. The function of the heteroyohimbines in planta is not understood, and without a better understanding it is not possible to draw conclusions about the significance of these product ratios. The mechanism of reduction will be detailed in Chapter 3.



Tetrahydroalstonine

Figure 41: Tetrahydroalstonine

2.3.2 THAS1 discovery and characterisation

Previously reported hierarchical clustering of the transcriptome of *C. roseus* identified several genes annotated as ADHs which appeared to be co-regulated with previously characterised upstream pathway genes. An MDR from this list was cloned from leaf cDNA of *C. roseus* and expressed heterologously in *E. coli*. This enzyme, when incubated in the presence of NADPH and strictosidine aglycon, produces primarily THA, as verified by NMR, with small amounts of AJM and 19-EA also produced. THAS1 is also able to utilise NADH, though at rates too low to be accurately quantified.

An attempt was made to determine the K_m of THAS1 for the strictosidine aglycon/cathenamine and NADPH substrate. Efforts to accurately measure the steady-state kinetics of this enzyme were complicated by several factors. First, strictosidine aglycon reacts with nucleophiles, opening the possibility that the substrate, especially at higher concentrations, reacts with components in the reaction or with amines present on the surface of the enzyme. Furthermore, strictosidine aglycon exists as several isomers that presumably interconvert. If only one of these isomers is the correct substrate for the ADH, then estimating the concentration of the actual substrate in the reaction will be a challenge. Measuring equilibration rates in vitro would likely have limited relevance *in vivo*. Nevertheless, given these caveats, we obtained estimated K_m and k_{cat} values. Unfortunately the measurement error was very large for strictosidine at concentrations above 50 μ M and therefore the final K_m calculation has a large error associated with it. Despite these complications the K_m for strictosidine aglycon was calculated to be 58.29 ± 20.7 μ M. Interestingly, for concentrations of strictosidine below 50 µM the rate of product formation appears to follow a sigmoidal pattern. It is not clear why this phenomenon is observed, but sigmoidal curves are usually interpreted as representing an allosteric enzymatic activity. This behaviour in the case of strictosidine aglycon could be due to the substrate interconversion between different forms; at low concentrations of strictosidine aglycon the substrate of THAS1, cathenamine, might not be present at high enough concentrations. THAS1 was calculated to have a K_m for NADPH of 4.84 ± 2.5 μ M. The binding constant was also calculated for the cofactor, NADPH, using ITC (k_d of 1.5 ± $0.1 \,\mu$ M), and was discovered that two molecules of NADPH can bind to the THAS1 dimer. These values for NADPH are comparable to values obtained for similar characterised enzymes (Lee et al., 2013).

Assays to determine the pH optimum of the enzyme revealed that THAS1 has a faster rate at lower pH values. Assays to determine the temperature optimum were not as straightforward as the pH optimum assays and the results are not as reproducible, but the enzyme appears to perform best between 45 and 55 °C; this is in line with results found for other similar MDRs (Mansell et al., 1974). It is not clear if this increase in catalytic efficiency is only due to facilitation of the enzymatic catalysis or whether substrate equilibration or solubility plays a large part in this effect. Similarly, it is not clear if the increase in activity at lower pH is solely due to the enzyme catalysis becoming more efficient or rather the solubility or equilibration of the substrate speeding up. For these reasons and because of limited substrate availability temperature and pH optima were not determined for all the HYSs.

2.3.3 Discovery of other HYS

The initial discovery of THAS1 prompted a more in-depth study of other *C. roseus* MDRs. By submitting the protein sequence of THAS1 to a BLAST against the *C. roseus* transcriptome it was possible to identify similar MDRs. The genes for these other candidates were cloned and expressed in *E. coli* in the same way as THAS1. Surprisingly one transcript, Cr032583, when cloned resulted in two distinct genes with identity at the cDNA level of 96%. This level of variation is too high to be explained by allelic variation and therefore the two versions of the gene were considered as two independent but similar genes. It is not clear why the transcriptome assembly was not able to differentiate between the two genes.

Four other MDRs were identified which produce primarily THA, based on LC-MS assays and coelution with authentic standards. They yield varying amounts of product ratios with THA: AJM: 19-EA from 50:35:15 (HYS) to 96:2:2 (THAS1 table 3). These other HYSs, although of the same enzyme family as THAS1, are quite diverged. Pairwise alignment between the protein sequences reveals the highest homology is between THAS4 and HYS, which appear to be recently-diverged copies. Interestingly, these two clones were found to have strikingly different product profiles, with THAS4 being selective for THA production and HYS presenting a more promiscuous product profile. The next highest homologies are between THAS2, HYS, and THAS1. Perhaps more interesting is the fact that THAS2 and THAS3 share only approx. 53% identity with THAS1 but are still tetrahydroalstonine synthases. This reveals the large flexibility of the enzyme scaffold for production of heteroyohimbines.

All the MDRs cloned code for proteins of approximately 350 amino acids. The HYS discovered converted varying amounts of the initial strictosidine aglycon substrate, but none converted more than 23.2% (fig. 34). This is a comparable conversion to the 26% conversion described by Stöckigt et al. (1976) and it is possible one of the enzymes described here was the one purified by Hemscheidt and Zenk (1985). The enzymes are of similar size and catalyse the same reaction, but it is not possible to say with certainty which enzyme(s) Hemscheidt and Zenk (1985) had purified.

2.3.4 Interaction with upstream enzymes

A class 5 nuclear localisation signal (Kosugi et al., 2009) was discovered in the protein sequence of THAS1. Strictosidine biosynthesis is carried out in the vacuole of *C. roseus* cells (McKnight et al., 1990), and the following step, deglycosylation by SGD is done in the nucleus (Guirimand et al., 2010). The spatial organisation of the pathway is of great importance and the possibility that THAS1 is also present in the nucleus in close proximity to SGD is very intriguing. To test whether THAS1 and SGD have a protein-protein interaction between them a pull-down was done using His-tagged SGD and non-tagged THAS1.

The results of the pull-down of THAS1 with SGD suggests that these two successive enzymes have protein-protein interactions but the interaction seems to be weak given the small amount of THAS1 that co-eluted with SGD. It is not possible to comment on the specificity of the interactions from this experiment. The nuclear localisation signal is present in the closest paralogs of THAS1, THAS4 and HYS, and this suggests these enzymes might too interact with SGD in the nucleus. Indeed, fluorescently-tagged THAS1 and HYS are localised to the nucleus of transformed *C. roseus* protoplasts as demonstrated by collaborators (Stavrinides et al., 2015, Stavrinides et al., 2016). These collaborators have also been able to show that these enzymes interact with SGD in the nucleus of transformed *C. roseus* protoplasts which suggests the localisation serves a role.

2.4 Conclusion

The discovery of these heteroyohimbine synthases in *C. roseus* completes the biosynthetic pathway of the heteroyohimbines. Much of the MIA structural diversity is thought to be generated in the first few steps after the deglycosylation of strictosidine. Discovery of the HYSs is the culmination of many decades of research and constitutes an important step of the branching of the pathway after strictosidine deglycosylation by SGD. The HYSs discovered allow an unprecedented opportunity to study how enzymes achieve stereochemical control of reactive intermediates.

Equilibration of strictosidine aglycon in solution in theory could lead to AJM, 19-EA, THA, and rauniticine. THAS1 could potentially be selectively reducing only the pro-THA iminium form of the substrate pool in solution, or could actively be catalysing the cathenamine-to-pro-THA iminium equilibration in its active site. Likewise, HYS could be promiscuous and could accept all three iminum precursors into the active site for catalysis. In order to answer these questions and to better understand the reduction mechanism a more detailed investigation of the structure/ function relationship of the enzymes and the catalysis mechanism is necessary. This is discussed in Chapter 3.

Most of the results described in this chapter are published in Stavrinides et al. (2015) (Annex 1).
2.5 Materials and Methods

2.5.1 RNA extraction from C. roseus and cDNA synthesis

Young leaf material (40 mg) of *C. roseus* cv. SunStorm[®] Apricot was ground in a mortar and pestle and RNA was extracted using the RNEasy plant mini kit (Qiagen, UK) according to manufacturer's instructions. The genomic DNA was degraded using RNase-free DNase (Roche Diagnostics, UK) according to manufacturer's instructions. The RNA quality was verified by running an aliquot on a 1% agarose gel at 100 V for 30 min and checking for presence of the Ribosomal RNA bands and absence of a smear that would indicated carry-over of genomic DNA. Good-quality RNA was subjected to reverse-transcription for synthesis of the first cDNA strand using the SuperScript III Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo-Fisher Scientific, UK), according to manufacturer's instructions using poly-A primers to specifically amplify expressed gene transcripts. The produced cDNA was used fresh or aliquoted in 4 μ L volumes and stored at -20 °C until use.

2.5.2 Identification of candidate gene

The *C. roseus* transcriptome (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012) was analysed for highly-expressed Alcohol Dehydrogenase/Reductase genes that were expressed at non-negligible levels (>1 fragments per kilobase of transcript per million mapped reads, fpkm) in young and fully developed leaves and were also upregulated by Methyl-jasmonate at the seedling stage.

In parallel the ADHs identified from the transcriptome were located in the whole genome assembly of *C. roseus* (Kellner et al., 2015) in order to determine their genomic context. THAS1 (transcript Cr024553) was found in close genomic proximity to a paralog of the Secologanin Synthase gene (SLS3, Cr024556).

2.5.3 Polymerase chain reaction

Cloning from cDNA was routinely performed using 1 μ L of cDNA, 0.5 μ M of each primer and the high-fidelity DNA polymerase KOD Hot Start (Merck Millipore, Herfordshire, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions for 30 cycles. The annealing temperature was set at 2-3 °C lower than the lowest melting temperature of the primer pair used. Screening of positive colonies was done as follows: Four to eight colonies were picked using a sterile toothpick and placed in single wells of a 96-well sterile plate containing 150 μ L of LB media supplemented with appropriate antibiotics. The cultures were placed at 37 °C for 3-4 hours, or until they became cloudy. PCR was done using 1 μ L of the culture, 0.5 μ M of each primer, and the HotStart Taq polymerase according to manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, UK). The first step of the colony PCR was a minimum of 5 min at 92 °C to break open the *E. coli* cells, and the annealing temperature was set to at least 2-3 °C lower than the lowest melting temperature of the primer pair used.

2.5.4 Vectors

For expression of proteins the InFusion system was used; mainly the vectors pOPINF (high-copy, AmpR, N-terminal His6-tag), and pOPINA (low-copy, KanR, C-terminal His6-tag). These vectors are designed for directional cloning and possess a T7 promoter and a T7 terminator. For simple cloning of PCR fragments the vector system pJET (high-copy, AmpR, CloneJet PCR cloning kit, Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used. This does not have directional cloning and does not require the manufacturer's kit but rather any T4 ligase can be used.

2.5.5 Cloning THAS1

The gene coding THAS1 was amplified from *C. roseus* leaf cDNA using primers designed based on the expression sequence reads alignment. The open reading frame of the gene was amplified using the primer pair detailed in table 5 which contain overhangs for directional InFusion cloning (Berrow et al., 2007). PCR was performed as detailed above and the amplified gene fragment was gel-purified from 1% agarose gel (Promega, UK) and cloned into the *E. coli* expression vector pOPINF (Berrow et al., 2007) following the manufacturer's instructions for ligation. Vectors were transformed into chemically competent *E. coli* Top10 cells by heat shock at 42°C for 30 seconds and then spread-plated onto LB+agar plates supplemented with carbenicillin (100 μ g/ mL). After a night of growth at 37 °C positive clones were identified by PCR using the genespecific primers above and the HotStart Taq polymerase (Qiagen, UK). Positive colonies were grown overnight in 4 mL of LB media supplemented with the appropriate antibiotics at 37 °C. The following day plasmids were isolated from the cultures using a miniprep kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. Vectors were verified visually by running on a 1% agarose gel at 100 V and the identity of the inserted sequence was confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

2.5.6 Cloning of other candidate MDRs showing homology to THAS1

The protein sequence of THAS1 was blasted against the transcriptome of *C. roseus* (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012). The hits which were represented by a full-length gene were considered as good candidates only if their expression levels were acceptable (>1fpkm) in leaves. In order to have representative MDRs which were not likely to function as heteroyohimbine synthases the protein sequence of *Populus tremuloides* SAD was also blasted against the *C. roseus* transcriptome and the top 5 hits of this search were also included in the screen. Furthermore, some *C. roseus* MDR candidates which had been uploaded to NCBI but had not been functionally characterised were also included in this screen.

Primers were designed based on the open reading frame of transcripts after manually verifying that the predicted ORF was full length by submitting the predicted amino acid sequence to BLAST against the NCBI protein database using blastp and checking that the protein was not truncated on either end. Primers used are detailed in table 5. PCR was carried out as described above and

the resulting PCR product was gel purified and cloned into pJET according to manufacturer's instructions (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The resulting vector was transformed into *E. coli* Top10 competent cells by heat shock at 42 °C for 30 seconds. Cells were spread plated onto LB plates containing carbenicillin (100 μ g/mL) and grown overnight at 37 °C. Multiple colonies were verified by colony PCR and two positive clones were verified by sequencing. After verification that the PCR fragment cloned coded for a full-length MDR (by Sanger sequencing) the PCR fragment with the InFusion overhangs was cloned into pOPINF for expression. Positive inserts were verified in two ways, first by miniprep and analysis of the purified plasmid by gel electrophoresis, and secondly by PCR by using the vector specific T7 forward primer and the gene-specific reverse primer.

Medium Chain Reductases	Forward primer	Reverse primer
THAS1 Cr024553	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCG GCAATGGCTTCAAA	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAATT TGATTTCAGAGTGTTC
THAS2 Cr021691	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGTCTTCAA AATCAGCAAAACCA	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAGCAGATTTCAAT GTGTTTTCTATGTC
THAS3 Cr010119	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCAGTTCC ATCGGCAGAAACAG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAACAGATCCCAAA GAATTTTCTATATC
THAS4 Cr032583a	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTGCAAA GTCACCTGAAAATG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAGAAAGATGGGGAT TTGAGAGTGTTTCCTACG
HYS Cr032583b	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTGCAAA GTCACCTGAAAATG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAGAAAGATGGGGAT TTGAGAGTGTTTCCTACG
Cr027234	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTGGA GAAACAAC	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTATTCCTCAAATTTCA ATGTATT
Cr033062	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCCAGA AAATCACCAGAAGATGAAC	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTACACCTCTGATGGA AGAGTGAGAG
Cr017994	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTCATA AGAATTGCTTGAATTTTCTT	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAGATTATGCATTCTT TCTTGAGAGTGTTC
Cr011702	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGGGAGC TTGGAAGAAGCAG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAGTGGTCAACAAGA AGGTTGCTGCC
Cr022770	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTGGG AAATCACCAGAAG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAGACTCCGGTGGA GGAGTTAAAGTG
Cr030442	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTCAAA CAACTCCAAACCATAC	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAAGATTAGATGAT TTGGAAGCTATATCGATC
Cr006840	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCAAAG ACACCAGAAACAGAGC	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTATGGACTGGATAAT GAGTTCGCC
Cr033537	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCCGGA AAATCAGCAGAAGAAGAA	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTATAACTCTGACGGA GGAGTCAAGGTATT
Cr2141	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCCGGA AAATCACCAGAAGAG	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAGGAGCTTTCAAG GTCTTTGCAACG
T3R	AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCTGCAA AGTCAGTGAAGGC	ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTAAAAATAGATAGGG TGATTTGAAAGTGTTTCC

Table 5: Primers used for cloning the MDR candidates into the expression vector pOPINF

2.5.7 THAS1 protein expression and purification

The THAS1 gene was expressed in Rosetta 2 pLysS E. coli cells (Novagen®, Merck Millipore, Massachusetts, USA). A starter culture was grown overnight at 37 °C with 200 rpm shaking in 20 mL of LB media supplemented with carbenicillin and chloramphenicol (100 μ g/mL and 34 μ g/ mL respectively). The culture was diluted 1:100 in fresh LB media supplemented with antibiotics and was grown at 37 °C until an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6. The cultures were cooled on ice and then induced by addition of 0.1 mM of IPTG and placed at 18 °C with 200 rpm shaking and allowed to express the protein for 16 h. The cells were then collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 50 mL of Buffer A (50mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 20 mM imidazole) containing a tablet of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche Diagnostics Ltd) and lysozyme (0.2 mg/ mL). Cells were lysed by sonication on ice with an effective sonication time of 3 minutes with 2 seconds ON and 3 seconds OFF. The cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 17 x 1000g at 4 °C. All purification steps were performed at 4 °C on an ÄKTAxpress purifier (GE Healthcare). A HisTrap FF 5 mL column (GE Healthcare) column was equilibrated with Buffer A and the lysate was loaded at a flow rate of 4 mL/min and step-eluted with Buffer B (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 500mM imidazole). The eluate was further purified on a Superdex Hiload 26/60 S75 gel filtration column (GE Healthcare) at a flow rate of 3.2 mL/min using Buffer C (20 mM Hepes pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl). The fractions were analysed by SDS-PAGE and those containing only THAS1 were pooled and concentrated in a 10 KDa cutoff Millipore filter (Merck Millipore) and the concentration was measured using a BCA assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., USA).

2.5.8 Small scale protein expression and purification

The pOPINF vectors harbouring the WT genes were transformed into SoluBL21 E. coli cells for expression (Novagen®, Merck Millipore, Massachusetts, USA). Positive clones were identified by PCR using the gene specific primers (Table 5). A starter culture was grown overnight at 37°C in 50 mL of LB media supplemented with the antibiotic carbenicillin (100 μ g/mL), and was then diluted 1:100 in 100 mL of fresh 2x YT media supplemented with carbenicillin and allowed to grow to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6 before induction of expression with 0.1 mM IPTG. The cultures were grown at 18 °C for 16 h, with 200rpm shaking. Cells were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 10 mL Buffer A (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 20 mM imidazole) containing a tablet of protease inhibitor (Roche Diagnostics Ltd) and lysozyme (0.2 mg/mL). Cells were lysed on ice using sonication for an effective time of 1.5 minutes with 2s pulse ON and 3s pulse OFF. Cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 17 x 1000g and the supernatant was incubated for 1 h at 4 °C with 200 µL of Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen GmbH, Germany) pre-equilibrated with Buffer A. The total was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 1 minute to pellet the Ni-NTA agarose and the supernatant was discarded. The Ni-NTA agarose was washed three times with 500 μ L of Buffer A to remove non-specifically bound proteins, each time centrifuging for 1 min at 1000 rpm to pellet the Ni-NTA agarose. Elution was done by incubating the Ni-NTA with two volumes of 300 μ L of Buffer B (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 500 mM imidazole) and centrifuging for 1 min at 1000 rpm.

The eluates were transferred to a Durapore centrifugal filter (PVDF 0.1 μ m, Merck Millipore) to remove any residual Ni-NTA agarose. An aliquot of eluates was analysed by SDS-PAGE to verify the purity and the molecular weight of the purified proteins. Protein-containing eluates were concentrated to approximately 250 μ L and buffer exchanged to Buffer D (50 mM Phosphate pH 7.6, 100 mM NaCl) in a 30 KDa cutoff membrane filter Millipore filter (Merck Millipore). Protein concentration was measured with Bradford reagent (Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified proteins were aliquoted in 20 μ L aliquots and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before being stored at -20 °C.

2.5.9 Enzyme assays

Purified candidate proteins and purified SGD were used in all assays. Strictosidine aglycon was generated in situ prior to addition of reductases by incubation of strictosidine (production is described below in section 2.5.14) and SGD at room temperature in the appropriate solution for ten minutes, at which time strictosidine was completely converted to the aglycon. Strictosidine was routinely used at 300 μ M and NADPH at 500 μ M. During initial screening the candidate MDRs were used at a concentration of 1 μ M. For ease of pipetting and to minimise error all constituents of the reaction, including strictosidine, were mixed as a Master Mix and allowed to incubate at room temperature for at least 10 minutes before aliquoting the appropriate volume and adding the reductases and NADPH. SGD has been shown to have a pH optimum between 6 and 8.5 (Luijendijk et al., 1998), therefore in enzyme assays with a pH between these values strictosidine was deglycosylated by SGD before addition of the buffer to ensure SGD was functional.

2.5.10 Steady state kinetics for THAS1

Purified THAS1, SGD, and strictosidine were used for all enzymatic assays. Strictosidine was deglycosylated in situ prior to the addition of the reductase enzyme by incubating strictosidine with SGD as described above. Steady state kinetics were performed in 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5), with 6 nM SGD, 50 nM of THAS1, 200 μ M NADPH (Sigma Aldrich), and 50 μ M of the internal standard (caffeine).

The kinetics were done as follows: varying concentrations of strictosidine was placed in the wells of a 96-well plate with 50 mM of phosphate buffer, followed by addition of 6 nM of SGD and the necessary volume of MilliQ water to standardize the volume and caffeine (50 μ M) was added to this mix as an internal standard. Another set of wells were prepared which contained pre-mixed solutions of 50 nM of THAS and 200 μ M of NADPH. At ten minutes the strictosidine mix was added to the THAS+NADPH mix and mixed by pipetting several times. At 0.5 minutes, one minute and two minutes, a 10 μ L aliquot of the reaction was placed in 80 μ L of H₂O + 0.1% formic acid premixed with 10 μ L of methanol, for a 10-fold final dilution of the sample. The presence of 10% methanol was required to keep the THAS product soluble. The 96-well plate was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes to pellet the enzymes and then analysed by LC-MS. A similar setup was used for determination of the K_m for NADPH, using 300 μ M strictosidine and varying the NADPH concentration. The initial rate of the reaction (V₀) was calculated by fitting a linear regression through the points of product formation plotted against time. Michaelis-Menten plots were done using SigmaPlot (Systat Software Inc.).

2.5.11 Isothermic Titration Calorimetry

Isothermic titration calorimetry on a MicroCal iTC200 System (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) was used to determine the binding constant (K_d) for the cofactor, NADPH. For determination of the dissociation constant of THAS1 and NADPH, the purified THAS1 was dialysed overnight against 2 L of Buffer C (20 mM Hepes pH 6.8, 100 mM NaCl). The protein concentration was adjusted with dialysis buffer before the experiment to 40 μ M of dimer (80 μ M of monomer). Titration was carried out by injecting 2 μ L of titrant (1 mM NADPH, dissolved in dialysis buffer) at 750 rpm with a propeller stirrer at intervals of 110 seconds. The first injection was 0.5 μ L and was not used for data analysis. Titrations were carried out in triplicate and a control titration was carried out in which Buffer C was injected into the cell containing THAS1 in order to determine the background dilution and mixing heat. This background was then subtracted from the analysis of the NADPH titrations. Data analysis was done using Origin 7.0 software (MicroCal) by fitting a single site model to the data obtained. The dissociation constant (K_d), binding enthalpy (Δ H), and entropy (Δ S) were determined for each replicate.

Titration was also attempted in triplicate for determination of the K_d for cathenamine. THAS1 was premixed with 1 mM of NADPH and prepared cathenamine reaction (1 mM, prepared in Buffer C) was injected using same conditions as above for NADPH injection. Unfortunately substrate or product precipitation interfered with the calorimetry and therefore did not yield any meaningful data. Titration was attempted with cathenamine only (no NADPH cofactor) but did not give any significant binding heat.

2.5.12 Secologanin purification from Symphoricarpos albus

Berries of *S. albus* were picked in the autumn when ripe and frozen at -20 °C until use. One kilogram of berries was ground using a mortar and pestle in liquid nitrogen until a fine powder. The powder was transferred to a 1 L bottle and 500 mL of MeOH was added and the solution was sonicated for 15 minutes in a water bath and then filtered into a round bottom flask. The berry debris was replaced in the bottle and another 500 mL of MeOH was added and sonication and filtration was repeated twice. The combined methanolic solution was concentrated on a rotary evaporator until reduced to a volume of approximately 10 mL.

The resulting syrupy concentrate was diluted 1:1 in MeOH and injected on a prep-HPLC for secologanin purification. This was performed on a Dionex Ultimate 3000 (Thermo Scientific) preparative HPLC coupled to a multiwavelenth UV-vis detector. Separation was performed on a Phenomenex Luna C18 column (250 x 30 mm) with 5 μ m particles. The flowrate was set to 24 mL/ minute and started with 99 % Solvent A (H₂O + 0.1 % TFA) and 1 % Solvent B (100% ACN). Solvent

B gradually increased to 40 % at 12 minutes, followed by a rapid increase to 100% at 14 minutes, holding there for 2 minutes and then decreasing to 1 % again at 17 minutes. Column equilibration was done for a further 6 minutes, until 23 minutes, at 1 % Solvent B. The fractions containing secologanin were verified by LC-MS as described above and were combined and concentrated on a rotary evaporator. The concentrate was rediluted in a small volume of H_2O (2-5 mL) and freeze dried overnight and the dry powder was stored at -20 °C. The purified secologanin was also verified by ¹H-NMR on a Bruker Avance III 400 NMR spectrometer, operating at 400 MHz for ¹H and 100 MHz for 13C.

2.5.13 Strictosidine synthase production

The gene coding Strictosidine synthase (STR) was cloned from C. roseus leaf cDNA into the expression vector pOPINA (Berrow et al., 2007) using the primers forward 5'AGGAGATATACCATGTCACCAATTTTGAAAAAGATTTTTATTGAAAGCCC and reverse 5'-GTGGTGGTGGTGTTTGCTAGAAACATAAGAATTTCCC. Primers were designed in order to exclude the first 93 bp of the STR gene which constitute a signal peptide for vacuolar localisation of the WT CrSTR. Vectors were transformed into competent *E. coli* Top10 cells by heat shock at 42 °C for 30 seconds and then incubated in SOC media for 1h before spread-plating onto LB+agar plates containing Kanamycin (kan) and placing them at 37 °C overnight. Colonies were screened by colony PCR using the gene-specific primer pair detailed above. Vectors were verified for correct insertion by sequencing. For expression, the pOPINA construct harbouring STR was transformed into *E. coli* SoluBL21 cells by heat shock as described above. An LB overnight starter culture of 50 mL, supplemented with Kan was placed at 37 °C with 200 rpm shaking. This culture was diluted 1:100 in fresh 2x YT media supplemented with Kan and was grown with shaking and allowed to grow to an OD₆₀₀ of 0.6 before induction of expression with 0.1 mM IPTG. Purification of STR was done as described above for THAS1.

2.5.14 Production and purification of strictosidine

Purified secologanin (2 mM) was incubated with tryptamine (2.5mM, Sigma Aldrich) in 50mM Phosphate Buffer (pH 7) and purified STR (the precise amount of STR was not determined). The reaction was placed in a conical flask and placed on a rotary shaker overnight at 30 °C. The reaction was stopped by addition of 1 volume of MeOH and the total was concentrated on a rotary evaporator to a syrupy consistency. After filtration through a 0.2 μ m pore filter the sample was injected in 2 mL volumes on a preparative HP-LC and purified as described above for secologanin, but collecting the strictosidine elution fractions.

2.5.15 Determination of pH optimum of THAS1

To determine the pH optimum for THAS1 the rate of the reaction in presence of different pH was measured. Phosphate buffer (100 mM) was varied from 5.5 to 8.0 in 1/2 pH increments. All assays were done in triplicate and to minimise the error due to pipetting Master Mixes were used everywhere possible. To stabilise the ionic charge 200 mM NaCl was also included in all

assays. Purified SGD (12 nM) was incubated with strictosidine (200 μ M final concentration) in a 50 mM pH 7 buffer solution to deglycosylated strictosidine before the addition of THAS1. This was incubated at 25 °C for 30 minutes before aliquoting into clean tubes. The new buffer was added to each (100 mM of the new pH buffer to counter the pH 7 buffer in the SGD incubation pre-mix), as well as the NaCl solution, and the NADPH (200 μ M). Purified THAS1 (10 nM) was added and mixed immediately by pipetting. Aliquots were taken at 1, 2, and 3 minutes and prepared for LC-MS measurement as described above.

2.5.16 Determination of temperature optimum of THAS1

Rate of product formation was done using a thermocycler (AB Applied Biosystems Verity 96well Thermal Cycler) with the capability to adjust to different temperatures across the heating block. The strips were used at 25, 30, 35, 40, 45, and 50 °C. Strictosidine (50 μ M) was incubated with purified SGD (6 nM) in Phosphate buffer (pH 7.5, 50 mM) at 37 °C for 10 minutes, and then was aliquoted into sterile tubes for assaying. Purified THAS1 (10 nM) was pre-mixed in another set of tubes with NADPH (200 μ M). After the 10 minutes incubation of the substrate the thermocycler was adjusted at 15 °C for 30 sec and the enzyme/cofactor mix was added and mixed. The thermocycler was then brought to the necessary temperature and incubated for 5 minutes. An aliquot of each assay was taken at 2 and at 3 minutes and prepared for LC-MS measurement as described above. This assay was done in duplicate.

As the 50 °C assay had a higher rate of activity than the others. Therefore the assay was repeated another day in triplicate with the temperature range set from 40 to 65 °C with 5 °C increments. LC-MS analysis and quantification was done as described in the section "LC-MS measurement".

2.5.17 Analysis of pH and temperature optima experiments

To determine the best condition for THAS1 activity the assays in which pH or temperature was varied were analysed in Microsoft Excel. The quantified THA concentrations were corrected for dilution (multiplied by the dilution factor, 10). For the temperature optimum the rate of the reaction was calculated by comparing the product formed at 2 minutes with that measured for 3 minutes. The equation used is

where y1 and y2 are the amounts of THA measured for timepoints 2 and 3 minutes respectively, and x1 and x2 correspond to the timepoints 2 and 3 minutes respectively.

For the pH optimum the rate of the reaction was calculated by plotting all three measurements (timepoints 1, 2, and 3 minutes) and calculating a linear regression through the three points using the equation

where y is the THA produced, a is the slope of the correlation, x is the timepoint, and b is a constant.

The rates were plotted against pH or temperature to determine the best conditions for THAS1. Student's t-test was used to determine if two measurement means were statistically different from each other.

2.5.18 Determination of pH optimum of HYS

To determine the optimum pH/buffer combination for use during HYS reactions, a small panel of buffers was assayed. Strictosidine (500μ M) was incubated with purified SGD in deionised water for 15 minutes at room temperature. Then the reaction was split into eight tubes containing different buffers. The buffers used are (in order of increasing pH): MES pH 5.5, Phosphate pH 6.0, Citrate pH 6.0, MES pH 6.5, Phosphate pH 7.0, HEPES pH 7.0, Phosphate pH 7.5, and HEPES pH 7.5. All buffers were used at a concentration of 50 mM. NADPH (1 mM) was added, followed by 50 nM of purified His-tag cleaved HYS. The reactions were mixed and an aliquot was taken at 1 minutes and at 2 minutes and prepared as usual for analysis by LC-MS.

2.5.19 LC-MS measurements

All measurements were done on an AQUITY UPLC with a Xevo TQ-S Mass-spec equipped with a BEH Sheild RP18 1.7 μ m column (Waters). Two different methods were employed for analysis of the samples. The first was a quick method (5 minutes) which allowed separation of strictosidine, strictosidine aglycon and heteroyohimbines, but did not provide separation of the different heteroyohimbine diastereomers. The second LC-MS method was developed to separate the diastereomers but was only used for assays where it was necessary to determine the ratios of the products as this method was substantially longer (23 minutes).

For the first "fast method" the solvents used were Water + 0.1% Formic Acid as solvent A1 and 100% Acetonitrile as solvent B1, with a flow rate of 0.6 mL/minute and the column was held at 35 °C. Two μ L of the sample was injected on a gradient starting with 5% solvent B1 increasing to 35% for 3.5 minutes, changing to 100% at 3.75 minutes, held for 1 minute to wash the column, then back to 5% solvent B1 for 1 minute to re-equilibrate the column.

For the second "separation method", developed based on the method in Sun et al. (2011), the solvent A2 was Water + 0.1% NH₄OH and solvent B2 was 0.1% NH₄OH in acetonitrile. A linear gradient from 0% to 65% B2 in 17.5 minutes was applied for separation of the compounds followed by an increase to 100% B2 at 18 minutes, a 2-minute wash step and a re-equilibration at 0% B2 for 3 minutes before the next injection. The column was held at 60 °C throughout the analysis and the flow rate was 0.6 ml/minute.

All MS detections were done in positive ESI mode. Capillary voltage was 3.0 kV; the source was kept at 150 °C; desolvation temperature was 500 °C; cone gas flow, 50 L h-1 and desolvation

gas flow, 800 L h-1. Unit resolution was applied to each quadrupole. Targeted methods for each compound were developed using commercial standards (caffeine, AJM (Sigma-Aldrich Co Ltd, Dorset, UK)) or enzymatically produced compounds (strictosidine and strictosidine aglycon, Table 6). Multiple Reaction Monitoring (MRM) signals were used for detection and quantification of the heteroyohimbine alkaloids (table 6).

Molecule	Parent ion	Daughter ion	Cone Voltage	Collision Voltage
Strictosidine	351	170.22	28	22
aglycone	351	144.16	28	24
Strictosidine	531	352.25	32	24
Heteroyohimbines	353	117.19	50	40
Heteroyonimbines	353	144.16	50	26

Table 6: Multiple Reactions Monitoring conditions

For each compound the parent ion was surveyed and fragmented using cone voltages and collision voltages optimised for the standards. Quantification of product formed was done using TargetLynx software by integrating the detected peak after two iterations of Savitzky-Golay smoothing (MassLynx[™], Waters).

2.5.20 Large-scale THAS1 reaction and product purification

For NMR characterisation of the THAS1 product a large scale reaction was setup to produce enough purified product. Strictosidine (4.3 mg) was diluted in 20 mL of distilled water to give a final concentration of 400 μ M and the pH was adjusted to 7.5 with 50 mM phosphate buffer. Purified SGD (3 nM), 500 μ M of NADPH, and 100 nM of THAS1 were added to the solution. An NADPH regeneration system was employed by addition of 20 units of Glucose-6-Phosphate Dehydrogenase (Roche Diagnostics) together with 1 mM of glucose-6-phosphate. The reaction was incubated with gentle shaking at room temperature and the reaction progress was followed by subjecting aliquots to LC-MS analysis in order to verify strictosidine aglycon was consumed.

The reaction was deemed complete after 5 hours and was quenched by addition of two volumes of MeOH. The total was concentrated by evaporating to dryness under vacuum with the help of a rotary evaporator. The dry precipitate was extracted with MeOH and the supernatant was transferred to a clean round-bottom flask. This was repeated multiple times to yield an approximate volume of MeOH of 15 mL. The remaining precipitate was re-extracted by addition of 2 mL of distilled water, followed by addition of 2 mL of ethyl acetate (HPLC grade). The two phases were mixed gently and then allowed to separate. The organic fraction was transferred to a clean round-bottom flask and the extraction of the water phase was repeated 5 times with ethyl acetate. The ethyl acetate and MeOH fractions were dried under vacuum and were each resuspended in 50 μ L of ethyl acetate. A preparative silica TLC plate (UNIPLATE, AnaltechTM) was pre-soaked with trimethylamine (TEA). The extracts were loaded onto the TLC plate and the plate was developed in ethyl acetate : hexanes : TEA (24 : 75 : 1), twice, allowing the plate to air dry between runs. The bands were visualised using UV (254 nm). Aliquots of commercially available standards of AJM, THA, and serpentine were also loaded on the TLC as reference.

The major product of the reaction was excised from the TLC plate using a scalpel and the silica was extracted by crushing in ethyl acetate multiple times (for a total volume of approx. 20 mL). The ethyl acetate was filtered into a clean round-bottom flask through a millipore filter to remove the silica. The extract was evaporated to dryness under vacuum and the product was resuspended in 200 μ L of fresh ethyl acetate and passed through an SPE column that was pre-equilibrated with hexanes (HPLC grade). The product was eluted using increasing amounts of ethyl acetate in hexanes and the first three elution fractions (corresponding to 25 – 75 % ethyl acetate) were pooled and dried under vacuum. The product was dried overnight on a high-vacuum pump and was resuspended in 300 μ L of CDCl₃ (Sigma) and transferred to a Shigemi tube. NMR spectra (¹H NMR, ¹³C NMR) were acquired using a Bruker Avance III 400 NMR spectrometer, operating at 400 MHz for ¹H and 100 MHz for ¹³C. The residual ¹H- and ¹³C NMR signals of CD₃Cl (δ 7.26 for ¹H and δ 77.36 for ¹³C) were used as internal chemical shift references.

The minor products were purified in the same manner as detailed above, but there was not sufficient signal in the ¹H NMR spectra to determine the nature of the isolated compounds.

2.5.21 Pull down of THAS1 with SGD

Purified THAS1 was prepared for pull-down assay by cleaving the His-tag using 3C protease. THAS1 (200 μ g) was incubated with 3C protease (1 μ g) overnight at 4 °C, then with an additional 1 μ g of fresh 3C protease was added and the reaction was allowed to progress for another thirty minutes at room temperature.

To purify the cleaved THAS1 the reaction was passed through a 0.5 mL Ni-NTi Agarose slurry (Qiagen Ltd., Manchester, UK) pre-equilibrated with Buffer E (20 mM Hepes, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl). The flow-through was collected and an aliquot was analysed by SDS-page gel to verify the shift in molecular weight. This cleaved THAS1 was concentrated using a Millipore filter unit with a 10 KDa cutoff and its concentration measured using a BCA assay (Thermo-Fisher). A glass chromatography column (0.5 cm x 10 cm) was loaded with 0.5 mL of Ni-NTi Agarose slurry (Qiagen) which was washed and equilibrated with 15 mL of Buffer E. His-tagged SGD (380 μ g) was loaded onto the column and 1 mL fractions were collected. The column was then washed with 5 mL of Buffer C, followed by loading of 100 μ g of THAS1 which was premixed with 0.5 mM of NADPH. The column was washed with 5 mL of Buffer E, and then elution was carried out with 3 mL of Buffer F (20 mM Hepes pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 250 mM imidazole). A 20 μ L aliquot of each fraction was analysed by SDS-page gel and stained using InstantBlue (Expedeon Ltd, Cambridgeshire, UK).

2.5.22 Alignment of protein sequences

The amino acid sequence of the cloned candidates were aligned using the program Seaview (PRABI-Doua, (Gouy et al., 2010)) using the ClustalOmega algorithm (Sievers et al., 2011). The alignment was visualised using BioEdit software (Hall, 2011).

2.6 References

- AI, J., DEKERMENDJIAN, K., NIELSEN, M. & WITT, M. R. 1997. The heteroyohimbine mayumbine binds with high affinity to rat brain benzodiazepine receptors *in vitro*. *Natural Product Letters*, 11, 73-76.
- BERROW, N. S., ALDERTON, D., SAINSBURY, S., NETTLESHIP, J., ASSENBERG, R., RAHMAN, N., STUART, D. I. & OWENS, R. J. 2007. A versatile ligation-independent cloning method suitable for high-throughput expression screening applications. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35.
- BOMATI, E. K. & NOEL, J. P. 2005. Structural and kinetic basis for substrate selectivity in Populus tremuloides sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Plant Cell*, 17, 1598-1611.
- CHEN, Z., WANG, Y., ZHAI, Y. F., SONG, J. & ZHANG, Z. 2013. ZincExplorer: an accurate hybrid method to improve the prediction of zinc-binding sites from protein sequences. *Mol Biosyst*, 9, 2213-22.
- COSTA-CAMPOS, L., DASSOLER, S. C., RIGO, A. P., IWU, M. & ELISABETSKY, E. 2004. Anxiolytic properties of the antipsychotic alkaloid alstonine. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 77, 481-489.
- ELISABETSKY, E. & COSTA-CAMPOS, L. 2006. The alkaloid alstonine: A review of its pharmacological properties. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 3, 39-48.
- GEU-FLORES, F., SHERDEN, N. H., COURDAVAULT, V., BURLAT, V., GLENN, W. S., WU, C., NIMS, E., CUI, Y. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2012. An alternative route to cyclic terpenes by reductive cyclization in iridoid biosynthesis. *Nature*, 492, 138-142.
- GÓNGORA-CASTILLO, E., CHILDS, K. L., FEDEWA, G., HAMILTON, J. P., LISCOMBE, D. K., MAGALLANES-LUNDBACK, M., MANDADI, K. K., NIMS, E., RUNGUPHAN, W., VAILLANCOURT, B., VARBANOVA-HERDE, M., DELLAPENNA, D., MCKNIGHT, T. D., O'CONNOR, S. & BUELL, C.
 R. 2012. Development of Transcriptomic Resources for Interrogating the Biosynthesis of Monoterpene Indole Alkaloids in Medicinal Plant Species. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e52506.
- GOUY, M., GUINDON, S. & GASCUEL, O. 2010. SeaView Version 4: A Multiplatform Graphical User Interface for Sequence Alignment and Phylogenetic Tree Building. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 27, 221-224.
- GUIRIMAND, G., COURDAVAULT, V., LANOUE, A., MAHROUG, S., GUIHUR, A., BLANC, N., GIGLIOLI-GUIVARC'H, N., ST-PIERRE, B. & BURLAT, V. 2010. Strictosidine activation in Apocynaceae: towards a "nuclear time bomb"? *Bmc Plant Biology*, 10.
- HALL, T. 2011. BioEdit: an important software for molecular biology. *GERF Bull Biosci*, 2, 6.
- HEMSCHEIDT, T. & ZENK, M. H. 1985. Partial purification and characterization of a NADPH dependent tetrahydroalstonine synthase from *Catharanthus roseus* cell suspension cultures. *Plant Cell Reports*, 4, 216-219.
- KELLNER, F., KIM, J., CLAVIJO, B. J., HAMILTON, J. P., CHILDS, K. L., VAILLANCOURT, B., CEPELA, J., HABERMANN, M., STEUERNAGEL, B., CLISSOLD, L., MCLAY, K., BUELL, C. R. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2015. Genome-guided investigation of plant natural product biosynthesis. *The Plant Journal*, 82, 680-692.
- KOSUGI, S., HASEBE, M., MATSUMURA, N., TAKASHIMA, H., MIYAMOTO-SATO, E., TOMITA, M.
 & YANAGAWA, H. 2009. Six Classes of Nuclear Localization Signals Specific to Different Binding Grooves of Importin alpha. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284, 478-485.
- LEE, C., BEDGAR, D. L., DAVIN, L. B. & LEWIS, N. G. 2013. Assessment of a putative proton relay in Arabidopsis cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase catalysis. *Organic & Biomolecular*

Chemistry, 11, 1127-1134.

- LI, L. G., CHENG, X. F., LESHKEVICH, J., UMEZAWA, T., HARDING, S. A. & CHIANG, V. L. 2001. The last step of syringyl monolignol biosynthesis in angiosperms is regulated by a novel gene encoding sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Plant Cell*, 13, 1567-1585.
- LI, S., LONG, J., MA, Z., XU, Z., LI, J. & ZHANG, Z. 2004. Assessment of the therapeutic activity of a combination of almitrine and raubasine on functional rehabilitation following ischaemic stroke. *Current medical research and opinion*, 20, 409-415.
- LOUNASMAA, M. & KAN, S.-K. 1980. A 400 mhz ¹H NMR study of the eight basic heteroyohimbine alkaloids. *Tetrahedron*, 36, 1607-1611.
- LUIJENDIJK, T. J. C., STEVENS, L. H. & VERPOORTE, R. 1998. Purification and characterisation of strictosidine beta-D-glucosidase from *Catharanthus roseus* cell suspension cultures. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 36, 419-425.
- MANSELL, R. L., GROSS, G. G., STÖCKIGT, J., FRANKE, H. & ZENK, M. H. 1974. Purification and properties of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase from higher plants involved in lignin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry*, 13, 2427-2435.
- MCKNIGHT, T. D., ROESSNER, C. A., DEVAGUPTA, R., SCOTT, A. I. & NESSLER, C. L. 1990. NUCLEOTIDE-SEQUENCE OF A CDNA-ENCODING THE VACUOLAR PROTEIN STRICTOSIDINE SYNTHASE FROM *CATHARANTHUS-ROSEUS*. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 18, 4939-4939.
- MIETTINEN, K., DONG, L., NAVROT, N., SCHNEIDER, T., BURLAT, V., POLLIER, J., WOITTIEZ, L., VAN DER KROL, S., LUGAN, R., ILC, T., VERPOORTE, R., OKSMAN-CALDENTEY, K.-M., MARTINOIA, E., BOUWMEESTER, H., GOOSSENS, A., MEMELINK, J. & WERCK-REICHHART, D. 2014. The seco-iridoid pathway from *Catharanthus roseus*. *Nature Communications*, 5, 3606.
- QU, Y., EASSON, M. L. A. E., FROESE, J., SIMIONESCU, R., HUDLICKY, T. & DE LUCA, V. 2015. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabersonine to the anticancer drug precursor vindoline and its assembly in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 6224-6229.
- RIVEROS-ROSAS, H., JULIÁN-SÁNCHEZ, A., VILLALOBOS-MOLINA, R., PARDO, J. P. & PIÑA, E. 2003. Diversity, taxonomy and evolution of medium-chain dehydrogenase/reductase superfamily. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 270, 3309-3334.
- ROQUEBERT, J. & DEMICHEL, P. 1984. Inhibition of the α 1-and α 2-adrenoceptor-mediated pressor response in pithed rats by raubasine, tetrahydroalstonine and akuammigine. *European journal of pharmacology*, 106, 203-205.
- SCOTT, A. I., REICHARDT, P. B., SLAYTOR, M. B. & SWEENY, J. G. 1971. Mechanisms of indole alkaloid biosynthesis. Recognition of intermediacy and sequence by short-term incubation. *Bioorganic Chemistry*, 1, 157-173.
- SHU, N., ZHOU, T. & HOVMÖLLER, S. 2008. Prediction of zinc-binding sites in proteins from sequence. *Bioinformatics*, 24, 775-782.
- SIEVERS, F., WILM, A., DINEEN, D., GIBSON, T. J., KARPLUS, K., LI, W., LOPEZ, R., MCWILLIAM, H., REMMERT, M., SÖDING, J., THOMPSON, J. D. & HIGGINS, D. G. 2011. Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 7, 539-539.
- STAVRINIDES, A., TATSIS, E. C., CAPUTI, L., FOUREAU, E., STEVENSON, C. E. M., LAWSON, D. M., COURDAVAULT, V. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2016. Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloid synthesis reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity. *Nat Commun*, 7.
- STAVRINIDES, A., TATSIS, EVANGELOS C., FOUREAU, E., CAPUTI, L., KELLNER, F., COURDAVAULT, V. & O'CONNOR, SARAH E. 2015. Unlocking the Diversity of Alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus*: Nuclear Localization Suggests Metabolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism. *Chemistry & Biology*.
- STÖCKIGT, J., HÖFLE, G. & PFITZNER, A. 1980. Mechanism of the biosynthetic conversion of geissoschizine to 19-epi-ajmalicine in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 21, 1925-1926.

- STÖCKIGT, J., TREIMER, J. & ZENK, M. H. 1976. Synthesis of ajmalicine and related indole alkaloids by cell free extracts of *Catharanthus roseus* cell suspension cultures. *FEBS Letters*, 70, 267-270.
- SUN, J., BAKER, A. & CHEN, P. 2011. Profiling the indole alkaloids in yohimbe bark with ultraperformance liquid chromatography coupled with ion mobility quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 25, 2591-2602.
- TATUSOV, R. L., KOONIN, E. V. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1997. A Genomic Perspective on Protein Families. *Science*, 278, 631-637.
- WYRAMBIK, D. & GRISEBACH, H. 1975. Purification and Properties of Isoenzymes of Cinnamyl-Alcohol Dehydrogenase from Soybean-Cell-Suspension Cultures. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 59, 9-15.
- WYRAMBIK, D. & GRISEBACH, H. 1979. Enzymic Synthesis of Lignin Precursors. *European Journal* of Biochemistry, 97, 503-509.

Chapter 3

Achieving Stereoselectivity in Heteroyohimbine Synthases

3.1 Introduction

The remarkable chemical diversity found in many Apocynaceae plant species, including *C. roseus*, is due to the reactivity and instability of strictosidine aglycon, a key biosynthetic intermediate for many alkaloid natural products. The heteroyohimbine family of these alkaloids can form after the ring E closure (fig. 42) and reduction of the double bond of ring D. Although theoretically all sixteen stereoisomers (derived both from strictosidine with 3-(*S*) and vincoside with 3-(*R*)) are possible, only three have been reported to be found in the plant *C. roseus*, all derived from strictosidine: ajmalicine [AJM, 19(*S*), 20(*R*)], tetrahydroalstonine [THA, 19(*S*), 20(*S*)], and 19-epiajmalicine [19-EA, 19(*R*), 20(*R*)].



Figure 42: Deglycosylation of strictosidine and equilibration into cathenamine (and its isomer 19-epicathenamine) and generation of the iminium form through tautomerization. The rings formed are indicated in red A-E.

In Chapter 2 I described the discovery of 5 HYSs. Some of the enzymes (THAS1-4) displayed a specific THA-producing profile, but one enzyme, HYS, appeared to be promiscuous and was capable of producing all three heteroyohimbines found in *C. roseus*. Although the enzymes were found by similarity to THAS1 they are quite diverged, except for THAS4 and HYS that share approximately 94 % identity at the amino acid level. The mechanism of reduction would in theory be similar for all five, but the numerous differences in the active site and the loop sections near the predicted active site complicate interpretation of the protein alignment.

The discovery of the heteroyohimbine synthases described in Chapter 2 has demonstrated that the MDR family of ADH enzymes is capable of evolving an imine-reducing activity. However, it is not yet clear if these enzymes are truly imine reducing or if they reduce the carbon-carbon double

bond of the enamine (cathenamine) (fig. 43), but we believe the iminium would be the most likely substrate. Furthermore, the mechanism by which the enzymes control this stereoselective reduction remains unclear.



Figure 43: Equilibration of cathenamine and the iminium form of cathenamine in water.

A better understanding of the mechanism of enzymatic stereoselectivity at this key biosynthetic pathway branchpoint is necessary to understand how the other scaffolds stemming from strictosidine might be generated. To this end mechanistic studies have been carried out using deuterium labelling, and mutations to the active site of THAS1 and HYS. Crystal structures of these two enzymes, as well as of THAS2 (done by collaborators) were also obtained to aid in understanding the active site of the enzymes and for *in silico* docking of the substrate.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Crystallisation of THAS1

THAS1 protein for crystallisation was purified by nickel resin and by gel-filtration chromatography (see fig. 40 A for representative SDS-PAGE gel). Crystallisation screens were initially set up using commercially available screens (PEG, JCSG+, and PACT) using both apo protein and protein premixed with the cofactor NADP⁺. Initial screening resulted in crystals forming under a number of different conditions, many of which were sent for X-ray crystallography to the Diamond Light Source synchrotron. The best quality holo crystal was obtained from a solution containing 0.2 M potassium/sodium tartrate with 20 % w/v PEG 3350. THAS1 apo crystals lacking the NADP⁺ cofactor did not diffract to below 2 Å resolution, and therefore an optimisation screen was set up using the best conditions identified in the initial screens. THAS1 without the His₆-tag was also crystallised in case this produced better quality crystals. THAS1 apo crystals were obtained from a condition containing 0.1 M MES buffer, pH 6.5, with 15 % w/v PEG 2000.

3.2.2 Crystallisation of HYS

Heterologous expression of HYS produced a dimer enzyme with approximately 38 kDa molecular weight for each subunit (as analysed on SDS-PAGE). Purification only on His-trap was not sufficient to produce protein of high enough purity for crystallisation assays (fig. 44, left). Therefore further purification by size exclusion gel filtration was needed, and resulted in a higher purity protein (fig. 44, right). However, some contaminants are still visible by SDS-PAGE. To remove these last

contaminants anion exchange was attempted, but was largely unsuccessful due to the neutral PI of HYS (7.38) and therefore was not attempted again.



Figure 44: Images of a typical SDS-PAGE gel analysis of purified HYS after only His-trap purification (left) and after both His-trap and size exclusion gel-filtration (right).

The His₆-tag was removed before crystallisation and the protein was further cleaned by passing through a nickel column once again, resulting in a higher purity protein. Crystallisation of HYS was attempted as done for THAS1, using commercially available screens in 96-well sitting drop format but crystallisation of this enzyme proved challenging. Multiple attempts resulted in low quality crystal structures lacking the resolution necessary to clearly define some flexible loop sections, in particular the loop (loop2) over the active site. Crystallisation of the protein in presence of NADP⁺ was difficult; the few crystals that did form had very low resolution and did not result in any useful dataset. A condition in one of the screens which gave apo crystals was selected for optimisation (fig. 45-48). The MMT Buffer is not available commercially and was prepared according to the recipe used by Molecular Dimensions.

			1 2/ (
PEG %	12%	14%	16%	18%	20%	22%	PEG
er							1500
nM Buff 5.0	*	*					3350
0.2 MT pH							4000
Σ							6000

PLATE 1

Figure 45: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.2 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG sizes and concentrations. Asterisks mark the wells with the best crystals.

PLATE 2								
PEG %	10%	15%	17.5%	20%	25%	30%	PEG	
							400	
.2 mM odium Vitrate							1500	
0.2 r Sodi Nitr							3550	
•							6000	

Figure 46: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.2 mM Sodium Nitrate with varying PEG sizes and concentrations. No usable crystals formed on this plate.

PLATE 3

PEG 1500 %	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	pН
							4
nM /T fer							6
).1 r MN Buf							7
0							8

Figure 47: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer with varying pH and PEG concentrations. No usable crystals formed on this plate.

PLATE 4

			, .	· = ·			
PEG %	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%	PEG
0.1 mM MT Buffer pH 5.0							400
							1500
		*	*				3550
Σ							6000

Figure 48: Optimisation screen for HYS apo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG sizes and concentrations. Asterisks mark the wells with the best crystals.

The crystals that resulted from this optimisation were analysed at Diamond Light Source and the best dataset was obtained from a crystal grown in plate 4 (fig. 48) 0.1 M MMT buffer, pH 5, with 15% PEG 3350. No crystals of good quality were obtained in conditions with NADP⁺. Due to the low quality of the crystal nucleation, seeding was attempted using crystals from conditions which crystallised more readily. Drops containing NADP⁺ microcrystals and also drops with left over high-quality apo crystals were used. Optimisation screens were setup using seeds from a total of 6 different conditions using the best condition as precipitant (0.1 mM MMT buffer pH 5.0, PEG 3350). Optimisation screens were setup using 1 mL 24-well plates which were setup manually.

PLATE 5								
Seed:	1	2	3	4	5	6	PEG 3350	
							%	
		*	*				8%	
L		*	*					
0.1 mM MMT Buffer		*						
Σ Σ								
0.1 m								
0								
							20%	

Figure 49: Optimisation seeding screen for HYS holo crystals with 0.1 mM MMT Buffer (pH 5.0) with varying PEG concentrations. Asterisks mark the wells with the best crystals.

The seeding optimisation for HYS holo crystals (fig. 49) appeared to be successful, generating multiple drops with crystals in presence of NADP⁺. Unfortunately, these crystals were revealed to be made up of apo HYS after solving the X-ray diffraction and none of the datasets obtained showed any density for the cofactor in the active site. It appears although the crystals formed, they did not form with the cofactor bound. Therefore attempting to crystallise HYS in presence of the cofactor was not re-attempted.

After multiple failed attempts to improve the resolution, an aliquot of HYS was sent for analysis by thermofluor. This technique uses the temperature-mediated unfolding of the protein to quantify its stability in various buffers or in presence of different additives or ligands.

HYS was tested against a panel of additives, buffers, pH conditions, detergents, and also cofactors. All results of the screens are found in Appendices 2-4. Dissociating reagents, such as UREA and DMSO, appear to destabilise the protein in a concentration-dependent manner. Addition of salts, such as Na₂SO₄, did not have an effect on the protein stability. However, the addition of multivalent and metal ions had a destabilising effect, most notably the addition of 1 mM ZnCl₂ which caused the Tm to shift from 61 °C to 45 °C. Reducing agents, such as DTT and TCEP had a destabilising effect which was concentration dependent. Various crowding agents had a stabilising effect on the protein, notably the addition of glycerol (5-20% w/v) increased the Tm to 64 °C (fig. 50). PEG addition did not have the same effect. Interestingly, the addition of imidazole had a detrimental effect on the Tm of HYS in a concentration-dependent manner. The same concentration of imidazole (500 mM) used in Buffer B for protein elution from the Ni-NTA column reduced the Tm by nearly 30 °C reducing it to just under 35 °C. Some amino acids (L-Arg and L-His) destabilised the protein to some degree, but detergents such as CHAPS did not have an effect. Some cofactors (ATP, NADH, cAMP, etc) were also tested for their effect on HYS but none showed any significant effect on the Tm.



Figure 50: Thermofluor assay of HYS with addition of ethylene glycol, glycerol, or PEG at differing concentrations.

The cofactors included in the general screen did not include NADPH or NADP⁺ and for that reason an extra screen was requested in order to understand the effect of the cofactor. HYS appeared to have a melting temperature of 60.3 °C in 50 mM HEPES buffer pH 7.5 in the absence of any cofactor (fig. 51). After the addition of NADP⁺ (2 or 5 mM) the melting temperature increased slightly to about 63 °C. However, after addition of NADPH (2 or 5 mM) the melting temperature increased by almost 10 °C to 70 °C. Therefore it is evident this enzyme is greatly stabilised by the addition of NADPH but not by NADP⁺. This effect probably reflects the effect the cofactor binding has on the tertiary structure of the enzyme.



Figure 51: Thermofluor result with HYS and cofactor at varying concentrations. Protein was used at approximately 25 μ M.

HYS showed slight variation of stability at different pH values, when tested against a range of different pH buffers (succinic acid/phosphate/glycine 2:7:7) it appeared to be unfolded at pH below 5.0 and above 9.0 (Appendix 2). At pH between 5.6 and 9.0 its Tm was between 57

and 62 °C. The concentration of the buffers HEPES, NaPO₄, and Tris were tested between 10 to 250 mM at pH 7.5 (8.0 for Tris) but did not seem to have any effect, negative or positive on the stability of the protein. The addition of NaCl however seemed to increase the stability of the protein in HEPES buffer (50 mM, pH 7.5) and in Tris buffer (50 mM, pH 8.0); this increase was seen even at concentrations of 1000 mM NaCl.

Based on the results of the thermofluor assay HYS was stored in a buffer designed for maximum stability (HEPES 50 mM, NaCl 150 mM, glycerol 10%, TCEP 0.5 mM, pH 7.06). The crystallisation was reattempted with HYS purified in optimal conditions with included TCEP, but no crystals could be grown of better quality than the ones identified in the previous screen.

3.2.3 Comparison of crystal structures

The crystal structure for the THAS1-holo enzyme was solved using the strong anomalous signal of the four Zn²⁺ ions contained in each enzyme dimer. After data collection a structure solution was automatically obtained by single wavelength anomalous dispersion phasing and the initial density map obtained was already of sufficient quality (fig. 52) and completeness to contain 94% of the residues expected in the dimer enzyme. The refined structure of THAS1-holo was used to solve the corresponding apo structure and also the apo structure of HYS. THAS1-holo was solved to a resolution of 1.05 Å and the apo structure was solved at 2.25 Å; HYS-apo was solved at 2.25 Å (fig. 53 and 58).

All structures have a similar tertiary organisation, with 13 α -helices and 18 β -sheets. The enzyme is an elongated homodimer with two sections to each monomer: a substrate-binding and a cofactor-binding domain. The dimerization is achieved through the β -sheets 15 and 16 in the cofactor-binding domain (fig. 57). RMSD values between apo and holo THAS1 structures are 1.21 Å and 1.54 Å for the monomer and dimer respectively. Between HYS apo and THAS1 apo the RMSD are 0.72 Å and 1.48 Å for the monomer and dimer respectively. These structures are similar to the crystal structure of the similar MDRs PtSAD (PDB accession codes 1YQX and 1YQD) and also to AtCAD (PDB accession codes 2CF5 and 2CF6) (Bomati and Noel, 2005, Youn et al., 2006). These enzymes are implicated in the lignin biosynthesis of poplar and Arabidopsis respectively (see Chapter 1 for a more detailed description).



Figure 52: NADP⁺ depicted in the electron density (turquoise mesh) which was experimentally phased after solving the structure and before any further refinement. Surrounding water molecules are illustrated as red spheres and the THAS1 chain A and B backbones are illustrated in light blue and lilac cartoon representation (Chain B and A respectively).



Figure 53: Crystal structure of THAS1 holo (top) and apo (bottom). Views from the side and from the front (left and right respectively). Each chain is coloured differently; zinc atoms are illustrated as dark blue spheres. The NADP⁺ is illustrated with green carbons in the holo structure.



Figure 54: Overview of THAS1 active site. A: Electrostatic map of THAS1, focused on the active site; B: Zoomed in section of area in grey box of panel A, with the right, left, and bottom walls of the active site cavity illustrated; C: Same section as B in cartoon representation with loop1 and loop2 drawn in dark and light blue respectively. The NADP⁺ is illustrated with green carbons and the Zn^{2+} ion is illustrated as a blue sphere in panel C.

The active site cavity of THAS1 is framed on the left wall by the helix $\alpha 2$, the "catalytic" zinc coordination sphere towards the back, and loop 1 towards the entrance and loop 2 above the active site (fig. 54). The bottom of the active site is responsible for the co-factor binding and the right wall of the active site consists mainly of turns between α -helices and β -sheets.

The NADP⁺ is held in position by a network of hydrogen bonds with water molecules and residue side chains and backbone amide and carbonyl groups (fig. 55 and 56). Residues from both the catalytic domain of the protein (Met1 residue to Leu152 and Ala299 to Asn356) and the nucleotide binding domain (Pro153 residue to Thr298) take part in this network. The nicotinamide ring of NADP⁺ is positioned towards the floor of the central cavity which forms the active site of the enzyme. Above this ring there is space which in this crystal structure is occupied by multiple water molecules (3) with more water molecules towards the entrance of the active site. The Tyr56 of THAS1 is positioned above the nicotinamide ring with approximately 6 Å distance between the side chain ring and the cofactor. The ribose hydroxyl groups interact with the carboxylic acid of Glu59 in THAS1-holo; this amino acid is conserved in HYS. Glu59 probably plays a similar role to that played by His55 in PtSAD although in PtSAD His55 interacts with the 3' OH of the NADPH cofactor only.



Figure 55: 2-D figure of coordination of NADP⁺ in THAS1 chain A. Black dashed lines represent hydrogen bonds; green lines represent hydrophobic interactions. Image produced with the software PoseView (Stierand and Rarey, 2010).



Figure 56: Interactions between NADP⁺ and THAS1. NADP⁺ is illustrated as cylinders with green carbons; THAS1 chain B is illustrated in cartoon with gray carbons and chain A is coloured lilac. The residues interacting with NADP⁺ are illustrated either only as the backbone if the interaction is achieved through the backbone oxygen or nitrogen, or illustrated only with the side chain if the interaction is only achieved through the side chain functional groups. The "active site" zinc ion is illustrated as a blue sphere and water molecules within 4 Å of NADP⁺ are illustrated as red spheres.



Figure 57: Sequence alignment of *C. roseus* THAS1, THAS2, HYS, and *P. tremuloides* SAD. Numbering corresponds to HYS. Identical and similar amino acids are highlighted in red and yellow, respectively. Secondary structure elements of the HYS apo crystal structure are displayed. THAS1- and HYS-active site amino acids (Tyr56/53 and Glu59/56) are indicated by blue dots, and THAS2 active site amino acids (Tyr120 and Asp49) are indicated by green dots. Ligands for catalytic and structural zinc ions are highlighted by black and grey dots, respectively. The nuclear localization signal of (THAS1 and HYS) and loops 1 and 2, respectively, are indicated in red. A

non-proline cis-peptide bond that is observed in THAS1 holo, in one subunit of THAS1 apo, in HYS apo, and not at all in THAS2 is indicated with an orange dot. The substrate-binding domain and the cofactor-binding domain are indicated by blue and purple bars, respectively.

The HYS active site cavity is in general very similar to that of THAS1 (fig. 56) with the exception of some amino acid differences on loop1 and the extended loop2 which drapes over the active site. Loop1 in THAS1 has two phenylalanines which project into the active site in the crystal structure, one of which does not have enough electron density to model confidently. These phenylalanines (Phe65 and Phe67) could be involved in substrate binding by interacting with its indole moiety. HYS also has a phenylalanine at the equivalent position to Phe65 (Phe62) but has a methionine rather than a phenylalanine at the second position (Met64). Like in the THAS1 structure this residue does not have enough electron density to model confidently.

HYS and THAS1 present a very similar tertiary structure (fig. 58). Alignment of the apo HYS with apo THAS1 gave an RMSD value of just 1.48. However, HYS has many active site differences to THAS1, most notably the loop2 over the active site is extended in HYS (D125-GHFGNN-F132) compared to THAS1 (D128-SN-Y131). This loop2 in the crystal structure of HYS appears to dip down and frame the active site from above, but the loop in THAS1 is shorter and therefore does not drape down into the active site.

AJM is a minor byproduct of the THAS enzymes discovered thus far. Extensive mutagenesis has not been attempted on any THAS homolog with the exception of THAS1. Mutations to the active site of THAS1 did not result in a significant AJM production with the exception of the E59 mutants (see section 3.2.7). Mutation of the E59 could result in the cofactor binding in a slightly different orientation in the active site resulting in more flexibility in the iminium formed (fig. 67).



Figure 58: Overview of THAS1 (top) and HYS (bottom) crystal structures.

Two Zn²⁺ ions are found in each subunit of the enzymes, one above the active site termed "active site" zinc, and one more distal to the active site that is a "structural" zinc (fig. 59). In both THAS1 and HYS the active site zinc is coordinated by two cysteines, one histidine, and one glutamate. The structural zinc is coordinated in both structures by four cysteine residues.



Figure 59: Zinc coordination spheres of THAS1 (upper panels) and HYS (lower panels). The amino acids coordination the "active site" and the "structural" zinc ions are illustrated as cylinders and labelled. Zinc ions are illustrated in blue for THAS1 and in coral for HYS.

3.2.4 Enzymatic labelling of products with ²H

To investigate the mechanism of THAS1 and HYS, a pro-*R*-NADPD (deuterated NADPH) was used in large-scale reactions with the strictosidine aglycon substrate. The reaction products (AJM, THA, and 19-EA from the HYS reaction and THA from the THAS1 reaction) were purified by preparative TLC and analysed by ¹H-NMR and compared to the spectra obtained for authentic standards (fig. 60-62). In all cases one hydrogen atom was replaced by a deuterium and the effect was evident on both the spectra of H-21 β and on the spectra of H-20. All the purified products lacked a signal for the H-21 α consistent with this being deuterated (fig. 63). 1 H-NMR [21 α - 2 H]-tetrahydroalstonine



Figure 60: ¹H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -THAS1 and HYS products. H-21 and H-20 are boxed in pink and green, respectively, for clarity.



Figure 61: ¹H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -ajmalicine from large-scale HYS reaction. H-21 and H-20 are boxed in pink and green, respectively, for clarity.



Figure 62: ¹H-NMR spectra of $[21\alpha^{-2}H]$ -19-epiajmalicine from large-scale HYS reaction. H-21 and H-20 are boxed in pink and green, respectively, for clarity.



Figure 63: Heteroyohimbines with deuterium at α -position on carbon 21.

Deuterium labelling has shown that the hydrogen from NADPH is transferred to the α -position of all the substrates' C-21. This is in agreement with the hydride transfer described using crude enzyme purifications from *C. roseus* (Stoeckigt et al., 1983). Therefore the substrate must orient itself in the same general manner in the active site of both enzymes.

3.2.5 pH effect on product profile

A small panel of different pH buffers was used to test whether it is possible to modify the product profile of HYS and THAS1 in a pH-dependent manner. The enzyme profiles were compared to the product profile of chemical reduction with NaBH4 (fig. 64). Enzyme profiles were monitored by a highly optimised LCMS method that separated all diastereomers. The results indicate that chemical reduction at all four pH values produces primarily THA, and only trace amounts

(< 0.5 μ g) of AJM and 19-EA (fig. 64, panels A, B, C, F). THAS1 has a product profile similar to that of chemical reduction. Both THAS1 and chemical reduction were able to produce larger amounts of THA at the lower pH values. HYS however was able to produce more AJM at all the pH values tested and produced a maximum of 2.5 μ g of AJM at pH 6. HYS was also able to produce larger amounts of 19-EA than the other methods but the 19-EA amounts produced were lower than for the other compounds.



Figure 64: Product profile of THAS1, HYS, and NaBH₄ dependence on pH from 5 to 8. Top row: Ajmalicine (A), 19-epiajmalicine (B), and tetrahydroalstonine (C) produced by THAS1 (red), HYS (blue), or NaBH₄ (green) per 15.9 µg of strictosidine in 10 min. Bottom row: 3D graph of products of THAS1 (D), HYS (E), and NaBH4 (F). Error bars are the standard error of the mean of three replicates.

It is interesting that HYS is capable of producing a larger amount of AJM than other compounds at pH 6 (fig. 64, panel E). This suggests an amino acid in the active site of HYS is in the catalyticallyactive conformation at pH 6. His127 on loop2 has a pKa near the AJM-producing maximum of HYS (pH 6), however in the absence of detailed pH dependent kinetics it is not possible to assign with certainty that His127 is responsible for the increased AJM activity at this pH.

3.2.6 Docking of cathenamine into THAS1 active site

Co-crystallisation of THAS1 with THA had been attempted, but no crystals were ever obtained in those conditions. Soaking of some crystals with deglycosylated strictosidine had been attempted but those crystals did not show any density in the active site that would suggest the substrate had entered. Therefore, molecular *in silico* docking was used to visualise the position of strictosidine aglycon in THAS1. Cathenamine was used for the docking as collaborators identified that as the predominant strictosidine aglycon isomer in solution by using ¹⁵N-strictosidine aglycon and ¹⁵N-HMBC NMR as described in Stavrinides et al. (2016).

Docking was done using the THAS1-holo structure with 100 runs. This resulted in just two distinct docking clusters, which constituted 98% and 2% of the resultant poses, respectively. The latter

cluster placed the indole moiety such that the N1 atom was closest to the cofactor. This cluster was eliminated since it was inconsistent with the results of the deuterium labelling experiments (fig. 63). The poses contained within the major cluster were all deemed to be "productive" since they placed the indole moiety of cathenamine towards the entrance of the active site and the C-20 and C-21 3.3 Å above the nicotinamide C-4 atom (fig. 65). The indole moiety in this second cluster was positioned near the entrance to the active site. The top ranked pose had an estimated free energy of binding = -8.76 kcal mol-1, and is used in the structures illustrated here.



Figure 65: Cathenamine docked in the active site of THAS1. THAS1 is illustrated as cartoon with the amino acids Y56, E59, and F65 illustrated as cylinders; NADP⁺ is illustrated as cylinders with green carbons; cathenamine is illustrated as cylinders with blue carbons; the Zn²⁺ ions are illustrated as dark blue spheres.

The substrate is positioned in the space between the nicotinamide ring and the active site Tyr56. This orientation is consistent with the labelling studies using NADPD which showed that the hydride from C-4 of the nicotinamide ring of the cofactor is transferred to the bottom face of the C-21 of the substrate to generate the final reduced product. In this orientation of the substrate it is reasonable to suggest that Phe65 or Phe67 could interact with the indole moiety of the substrate and aid in correct orientation in the active site. In HYS the substrate is expected to dock in the same manner, although in silico docking with HYS was not attempted as we were not able to obtain a HYS structure with the cofactor bound. Tyr56 and Phe65 are conserved in HYS, while Phe67 is replaced by a methionine. The role of this residue is not clear but both methionine and phenylalanine are hydrophobic, so this residue may play a similar role in both THAS1 and HYS.

3.2.7 Mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS

Mutations to the active site of THAS1 were carried out to probe the role of the residues in catalysis of the reduction. Based on sequence homology with PtSAD the equivalent active site amino acids Tyr56 and Glu59 were chosen for mutation. Amino acids which were predicted to frame the active site, Phe65 and Phe67, were also chosen for mutation due to their possible ability of interacting with the hydrophobic indole ring of the substrate. Such an interaction is seen in STR where two aromatic residue side chains sandwich the indole and help in the correct

orientation in the active site (Loris et al., 2007). The amino acid Ser102 was also mutated due its possible equivalence with the PtSAD active site serine.



Figure 66: Selected representative traces of THAS1 mutants with interesting effect on the product profile of the enzyme.

Mutant THAS1 were compared by LC-MS analysis both with the "fast method" and with the "separation method" to determine the product ratio. In the fast method, where the heteroyohimbine diastereomers do not separate, the overall activity of the enzyme mutants was measured. The separation method was then used to determine whether the ratio of products had been altered by the mutation (fig. 66). Most mutations did not abolish activity of THAS1, reflecting the resilience and plasticity of the active site (table 7). Some mutations, such as Tyr56 mutated to Phe, resulted in an increase of AJM and 19-EA, but this mutant showed very little total conversion compared to the WT enzyme (0.72%). Mutating Tyr56 to Ser did not impact the total

conversion very substantially (21.86% conversion compared to WT) which demonstrates that an enzyme with an active site more similar to that of PtSAD which has a Ser in place of Tyr could still carry out this reaction. Interestingly, mutating Tyr56 to Ala did not abolish activity though mutation of Tyr56 to Phe did (fig. 66); although the two mutations are aliphatic the smaller residue was much better supported than the larger, more sterically similar Phe. Mutating Tyr56 to Glu resulted in a large reduction in conversion which may be the result of the introduction of a negative charge in the active site cavity.

Ser102, which is positioned in the active site and may be implicated in the mechanism (fig. 67), was mutated as well. Most mutations to this residue (Ala, Tyr, Thr) did not impact the amount of substrate conversion compared to the WT enzyme and did not have any significant effect on the product profile either (table 7). However, mutating Ser102 to Asp resulted in a reduced conversion (2.84%) and an increased promiscuity for AJM production (13.73% of total product formed). Ser102 therefore does not appear to be an important amino acid for the reduction of the substrate but the introduction of a negative charge in the active site disrupted the activity.

Table 7: List of THAS1 mutants that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon. The total conversion refers to the yield of reduction compared to the starting concentration of strictosidine aglycon. The measured concentrations of the three identified heteroroyohimbines (ajmalicine, 19-epi-ajmalicine, tetrahydroasltonine) define the product ratio; values are rounded to the nearest integer. The activity of all enzymes was compared to activity of THAS1 wild type.

Mutants	Total conversion		Conversion compared to		
		AJM	19-EA	THA	— wild type
THAS1 Y56A	2%	4%	5%	92%	12%
THAS1 Y56E	0%	0%	29%	71%	0.3%
THAS1 Y56T	1%	8%	8%	84%	5%
THAS1 Y56S	4%	2%	6%	92%	22%
THAS1 Y56F	0%	54%	11%	35%	1%
THAS1 E59A	21%	4%	11%	85%	113%
THAS1 S102A	12%	1%	2%	97%	65%
THAS1 S102Y	6%	2%	2%	96%	29%
THAS1 S102T	13%	2%	1%	97%	68%
THAS1 S102D	1%	14%	4%	82%	3%
THAS1 T166S	1%	13%	5%	82%	3%
THAS1 T166V	0%	24%	7%	69%	2%
THAS1 F67V	19%	6%	6%	87%	100%

Mutating the Glu59 (which coordinates with the ribose OH groups of the cofactor, fig. 67) to alanine does not abolish activity, but slightly affects it (fig. 66). An increase in 19-EA biosynthesis is observed with this mutant compared to WT THAS1.



Figure 67: Mutations to THAS1 active site. Crystal structure of THAS1 with side chains of mutated residues illustrated in grey carbons and NADP⁺ in green carbons. The side chain of Phe67 is not resolved well in the crystal structure beyond C β . The active site Zn²⁺ is pictured as a blue sphere and the hydrogen bonds of Glu59 illustrated by dashed lines.

Thr166 is positioned towards the back wall of the active site cavity, below the plane of the nicotinamide ring (fig. 67). This residue could potentially coordinate a water molecule which could serve as a source of protons for protonation of C-20 of cathenamine. This residue was mutated to valine and serine to probe its role in the catalysis. Both mutations reduced activity and increased the promiscuity. Notably, Thr166 to valine increased the amount of AJM and 19-EA produced compared to WT, suggesting that this residue could be coordinating a water molecule in the right position to carry out the protonation of cathenamine. However, drawing firm conclusions would only be possible after thorough investigation of the kinetic properties of this mutant, which was not done due to the complexities of this two-enzyme system, as described in Chapter 2.

The phenylalanine residues (Phe65 and Phe67, fig. 67) on loop1 were both mutated to valine. Only Phe67 is listed in table 7 as the Phe65 to valine mutant did not express well and precipitated during purification. The Phe67Val mutant had poor expression as well but remained soluble and was therefore possible to assay. Mutating Phe67 to valine did not have a negative effect on activity but did slightly increase the product promiscuity of THAS1. This could be either because of modification of the secondary structure of the loop1, but could also signify that Phe67 may play only a minor role in correct orientation of the substrate into the active site.

3.2.8 Loop swaps and mutations to HYS loop2

The major structural difference between THAS1 and HYS is the extended loop over the HYS active site, loop2 (fig. 68). Loop1, which is near the active site and frames the entrance to the active site on the left side, also exhibits some differences between the two enzymes (THAS1: Lys62-NKFGFT-Ser69; HYS: Thr59-NKFGMT-Lys66). To investigate whether either of these loops control product stereoselectivity, and whether it is possible to switch stereoselectivity between THAS1 and HYS, the loops 1 and 2 were swapped between these two enzymes.

When THAS1 loop1 was replaced with loop1 from HYS, the resulting mutant was not expressed as well as wild type enzymes. The same was observed when Phe67 on loop1 was mutated individually in THAS1. This indicates that mutations to this section of THAS1 are not very well tolerated. When the loop2 from HYS was inserted into THAS1, the resulting mutant did not show an increase in AJM production and neither did the double loop (loop1 + loop2) swap mutant. HYS with the THAS1 loop1 swap did not show a difference in product profile, but its activity was negatively impacted. Conversely, when the loop2 of HYS was replaced with the short loop2 found in THAS1, the resulting mutant HYS enzyme produced a product profile resembling that of THAS enzymes (fig 68, table 8).



Figure 68: Product profile of THAS1 and HYS loop swap mutants. A: Crystal structure of THAS1 chain A illustrated in gold cartoon representation with Y56, E59 and F65 illustrated as sticks for reference. THAS1 and HYS loops 1 (blue or red) and loops 2 (light blue or purple) are illustrated for clarity. B: UPLC-MS chromatograms of THAS1 loop swap mutants; C: chromatograms of HYS loop swap mutants. Legend for colours used is inset in panel B.

The striking result of the loop2 swap in HYS indicates that loop2 is responsible for the increase in promiscuity of HYS. Circular dichroism of the WT enzymes and the loop swap mutants was done to verify that the swaps did not cause a significant modification of the tertiary structure of the enzymes (fig. 69). The CD spectra of all enzymes have a similar profile, however there are some
slight modifications to the THAS1 structure, but there do not appear to be major changes to the structure as a result of the loop swaps.



Figure 69: Circular dichroism of THAS1, HYS, and the corresponding loop swap mutants. A. WT and loop swap mutants of THAS1. B. WT and loop swap mutants of HYS. Wild-type enzymes are plotted in red, loop 1 swap mutants in green, loop 2 swap mutants are in blue and the double loop 1 and 2 swap mutants are in yellow. The secondary structure of the mutants is not substantially different from that of the wild type proteins.

Table 8: List of THAS1 and HYS loop swap mutants screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon. The total conversion refers to the yield of reduction compared to the starting concentration of strictosidine aglycon. The measured concentrations of the three identified heteroroyohimbines (AJM, 19-EA, THA) define the product ratio; values are rounded to the nearest integer. The activity of all enzymes was compared to activity of the corresponding wild type.

Mutants	Total con- version –	Product ratio			Conversion compared to
	version =	AJM	19-EA	THA	wild type
THAS1 loop1 swap	11%	4%	5%	91%	59%
THAS1 loop2 swap	0.5%	19%	9%	72%	2%
THAS1 loop1 + loop2 swap	1%	12%	8%	80%	3%
HYS loop1 swap	2%	26%	33%	41%	9%
HYS loop2 swap	10%	2%	5%	93%	43%
HYS loop1 + loop2	1%	20%	58%	22%	3%
swap					

3.2.9 Point mutations of HYS

Mutations were made to His127 to investigate its role in reduction of cathenamine, an isomer of strictosidine aglycon. Phe128 was also mutated to investigate whether this amino acid could be responsible for promoting a different binding mode of the substrate to the active site which would give rise to the pro-ajmalicine iminium species. However, this seemed unlikely, since deuterium labelling studies described above suggest that the substrate binds in the same position and is

labeled at the same carbon regardless of whether the THA or the AJM product is formed. The Phe128Ala and Phe128Tyr mutants did not show a modified product profile but rather showed a decrease in product formed. The His127Ala and His127Asn mutants both displayed a product profile that resembles that of THAS (fig. 70, table 9) which supports the hypothesis that AJM is formed due to the presence of this histidine on loop2.



Figure 70: Results of point mutations on HYS active site amino acids. A: crystal structure of HYS chain B, active site cavity with H127 and F128 drawn in stick representation and the active site tyrosine (Y53) for reference (green carbons). Loop 2 is illustrated in purple, grey sphere is the "active site" zinc. B: UPLC-MS chromatograms of the point mutations of HYS (all traces are 1.16e8). Ajmalicine elutes at 10.99 min, 19-epi ajmalicine at 11.36, and tetrahydroalstonine at 12.87.

Table 9: List of HYS point mutants that were screened for heteroyohimbine synthase activity against strictosidine aglycon. The total conversion refers to the yield of reduction compared to the starting concentration of strictosidine aglycon. The measured concentrations of the three identified heteroroyohimbines (ajmalicine, 19-epi-ajmalicine, tetrahydroalstonine) define the product ratio; values are rounded to the nearest integer. The activity of all enzymes was compared to activity of HYS wild type.

Mutants	Total conversion		Product ratio		
		AJM	19-EA	THA	wild type
HYS H127A	1%	3%	4%	93%	4%
HYS H127N	2%	1%	1%	98%	11%
HYS F128A	0%	34%	8%	57%	0.5%
HYS F128Y	0.5%	48%	6%	46%	3%

3.2.10 Mechanism proposal for tetrahydroalstonine biosynthesis in THAS enzymes

The cathenamine substrate most likely binds into the active site with the indole moiety oriented towards the phenylalanine residues on loop1 and above the NADPH nicotinamide ring (fig. 65). We propose equilibration to the iminium species is achieved by a proton addition at C-20 from

a water molecule positioned behind and below the molecule. This produces an (*S*) orientation at C-20. The crystal structure of THAS1 displays many water molecules in the active site (fig. 56); therefore it is not unlikely that a water molecule coordinated in the active site could be responsible for the iminium generation. The only amino acid residue that is positioned to possibly perform this protonation is Thr166, which is positioned towards the back wall of the active site cavity, in proximity to the location of the substrate C-20. Mutation of Thr166 to a valine did not show any significant reduction effect to the product profile. Therefore it is likely that a water molecule and not Thr166 could be responsible for providing the proton.

Once the pro-THA iminium is formed, the hydride from the pro-*R* face of NADPH attacks the C-21 to produce THA. The active site tyrosine can stabilise the transition state through the N-4 (fig. 71). Mutation of the THAS1 Tyr56 to a phenylalanine resulted in a much reduced activity which supports this hypothesis.



Figure 71: Reduction mechanism of Tetrahydroalstonine Synthases and Heteroyohimbine Synthase for production of tetrahydroalstonine. The substrate, cathenamine, is shown with the indole moiety truncated for clarity. The cofactor and the hydride originating from it are illustrated in red and the hydride originating from water (on C-20) is illustrated in blue.

3.2.11 Mechanism proposal for ajmalicine biosynthesis in HYS

Based on the deuterium labelling results cathenamine binds to HYS with the C-20 to C-21 bond in proximity to the NADPH cofactor, in the same orientation as it does for THA production. I hypothesize that generation of the pro-AJM iminium form of the substrate is achieved by abstraction of an exchangeable proton of the His127 side chain by C-20 at the pro-*R* position and corresponding tautomerisation to the iminium. His127 is coordinated in the crystal structure by the active site Tyr53 phenolic group. Once the pro-AJM iminium is formed the reaction proceeds in the same fashion as THAS. The NADPH hydride attacks the C-21 at the pro-*R* position and the transition state is stabilised by the Tyr53 hydroxyl (fig. 72).



 R_1 : COOCH₃ R_2 : adenine dinucleotide phosphate

Figure 72: Reduction mechanism of Heteroyohimbine Synthase for production of ajmalicine. The substrate, cathenamine, is shown with the indole moiety truncated for clarity. The active site His127 and the hydride originating from it are illustrated in green. The cofactor is illustrated in red and the hydride originating from water (on C-20) is illustrated in blue.

3.2.12 Removal of zinc and functional assays

MDRs usually contain two zinc ions per subunit (Auld and Bergman, 2008), one "structural", found in a flexible loop area near the surface of the MDRs, and one "active site" zinc found near the active site cavity. The latter is implicated in the catalytic mechanism in some MDRs and is therefore termed "catalytic" in those MDRs. However, in the HYSs there is no evidence that the zinc is necessary for catalysis and is therefore termed simply "active site" zinc in this thesis. The "structural" zinc is coordinated by four cysteine residues and the "active site" zinc in most MDRs is coordinated by two cysteines and one histidine with the fourth position usually occupied by a water molecule. In the case of the crystallised heteroyohimbine synthases, THAS1, THAS2 (performed by a collaborator and not described in this thesis), and HYS, the "active site" zinc is positioned further back in the active site and is coordinated in the fourth position by a glutamate residue (fig. 59).

To determine whether zinc is required for HYS activity, THAS1 and HYS were subjected to treatment with the chelator EDTA. THAS1 and HYS did not degrade after the overnight dialysis against EDTA-containing buffer, based on SDS-PAGE analysis which showed the expected molecular weight. However, after the second overnight dialysis to remove the EDTA most of THAS1 had precipitated. HYS did not show any degradation. The smell of sulfur was noted when the dialysis container was opened after the EDTA dialysis, as noticed by Hoagstrom et al. (1969). The removal of the zinc was verified visually by reacting an aliquot of Zn-holo and Zn-apo protein with a commercial zinc detection kit. The assay did not show any difference when the proteins were incubated "as is" and therefore the enzymes were boiled and pelleted before assaying again (fig. 73). The results were clearer with the boiled protein; visual inspection showed that there were very low levels of Zinc in the Zn-apo conditions, confirming that the EDTA dialysis was successful.



Figure 73: Photos of zinc detection assay conducted on Zn-apo and Zn-holo THAS1 and HYS. The Zinc detection assay was done after boiling of the protein. The pellets of protein in the +Zn conditions show strong pink colouring whereas the pellets in the –Zn conditions are not pink.



Figure 74: Circular dichroism spectra of non-treated (red) and zinc-apo (blue) THAS1 (A) and HYS (B). The secondary structure of the Zn-apo proteins is not significantly different from that of the Zn-holo proteins.

After recuperating the soluble fraction of each protein an SDS-PAGE gel analysis did not indicate degradation in either protein. CD-spectra analysis of both proteins did not suggest the soluble proteins had substantially changed in structure (fig 74). This suggests that the zinc ions are not necessary for conservation of the tertiary or quaternary structure of these enzymes.

Analysis of protein assays by UPLC-MS using the "fast method" showed that the Zn-apo enzymes were able to catalyse the reaction (fig. 75). However, the slight decrease of conversion in the THAS1-Zn-apo assays means the result of this experiment is not clear-cut. It is not possible to exclude the presence of trace amounts of "active site" zinc left over in some active sites of THAS1. It is also not possible to rule out the possibility that the EDTA treatment of THAS1 resulted in a slightly misfolded protein (as evidenced by the high protein precipitation after overnight dialysis) which possibly was not as catalytically active.



Figure 75: LC-MS chromatogram traces of THAS1-Zn-apo and HYS-Zn-apo protein assays compared to untreated control reactions.

Although these results strongly suggest that the "active site" zinc does not play a role in the mechanism detailed here, the catalytic role of zinc cannot be definitively eliminated. The distance of the zinc from the bound cofactor in the active site (NADP⁺) is not a clear indication of its role in catalysis, as indicated by studies done on other members of the MDR family. For example, crystallisation of a Glucose Dehydrogenase from an archaeon with different combinations of substrates and products revealed that the zinc atom could swap ligands and could be displaced by as much as 1.4 Å within the active site cavity (Baker et al., 2009).

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Protein crystal structures

Crystallisation of THAS1 and HYS was carried out to gain a better understanding of the structure of the proteins and in particular of the active site. THAS1 crystallised well in the holo form and quite readily in the apo form. As with many other MDR enzymes, crystals in the holo form were of better resolution than the apo crystals, perhaps indicating some inherent instability of the apo enzymes, which present a more open structure between the substrate-binding and the cofactor-

binding domains. This is consistent with the Isothermic Titration Calorimetry (ITC) results for THAS1 (Chapter 2, Results 2.2.6) which indicated that the binding of the cofactor to the active site of THAS1 is exothermic.

The crystal structure of the THAS1-holo enzyme was initially going to be solved by using molecular replacement with the crystal structure of PtSAD (PDB: 1YQD (Bomati and Noel, 2005)). However, due to the very strong signal by the 4 Zn²⁺ ions contained in each enzyme dimer the anomalous signal was used successfully to generate an experimentally phased density map. The high resolution of the crystal electron density allowed for a high resolution and high confidence protein structure to be built in it.

Although the thermofluor analysis of HYS showed it was a relatively stable enzyme with a high melting temperature, especially in the presence of NADPH, it proved difficult to crystallise. An apo structure of HYS was obtained which provided the necessary resolution and details to compare it directly to the crystal structures of THAS1, along with another THAS homologue solved by a collaborator, THAS2. A holo crystal of HYS with NADP⁺ could not be obtained.

The structures of these *C. roseus* enzymes are similar, and also similar to the structures of other MDRs. The most notable differences between them are the loop2 sections above the active sites. These loops are variable in length between THAS1 and HYS and other THAS homologues (fig. 76).



Figure 76: Crystal structures of THAS1, THAS2, and HYS with the loop2 sections highlighted. A: apo THAS1, THAS2, and HYS displayed in cartoon, with the loop2 section inset in black box.B: holo THAS1 and THAS2 displayed in cartoon, with the loop2 section inset in black box.

THAS1 possesses a very short loop2, HYS an intermediate length, and THAS2 a very long loop2 which covers the active site entrance. The crystal structures confirmed that a tyrosine is positioned in the active site in an equivalent position to the serine or threonine that is necessary for SAD or CAD enzymes to catalyse reduction of their substrate.

3.3.2 Steric course of hydrogen transfer

Strictosidine aglycon is present as a mixture of isomers in solution due to its reactive nature and inherent instability (see fig. 7 in Chapter 1). In solution the predominant species is cathenamine, as illustrated by collaborators, which is an enamine containing a double bond between C-20 and C-21. Enzymatic labelling of the products of these enzymes was the most reliable technique to identify which hydrogen is originating from the cofactor.

Deuterium labelling with NADPD and subsequent characterisation of the enzymatic products showed that in all cases the hydride from NADPH is transferred to C-21 from the bottom face of the substrate to yield the product. Labelling studies using NADPD conducted by Stöckigt et al. (1980) and Stoeckigt et al. (1983) with crude protein extracts from *C. roseus* cell suspension cultures indicated that the hydride from the cofactor is transferred onto the α -position at C-21 of the substrate, which is in agreement with the results obtained here. In their experiments, the workers used a crude enzyme preparation from an unpublished cell suspension line; therefore it is not possible to verify which heteroyohimbine synthases these authors were working with. It is also possible that the heteroyohimbine synthases described here were not expressed in the cell line that was used.

This experiment illustrates that the substrate(s) must be oriented in the same manner in both THAS1 and HYS and therefore the enzymes must follow a similar catalytic mechanism. The increased AJM production of HYS cannot be explained simply as the substrate orienting itself differently in the active site. There is no reason to suspect that orientation in other HYSs would be any different to the results presented here for these two enzymes.

In silico docking done using cathenamine and the holo crystal structure of THAS1 were consistent with the deuterium labelling experiments. The cathenamine was docked in the active site cavity in an orientation that brings the C-20-C-21 bond very close to the cofactor C-4 (which carries the hydride used in reduction). Furthermore, cathenamine was docked in an orientation which would result in the hydride being added on the bottom face of the substrate resulting in the same pattern observed with deuterium labelling. We assume that the cofactor reduces the iminium form of the substrate, which is formed by equilibration of cathenamine by addition of a proton to the C-20.

3.3.3 Effect of pH on product profile

The pH of a solution can of course have a large effect on the enzymatic reaction (as seen in Chapter 2, section 2.2.4). On the other hand, the pH could have an effect on the equilibration of strictosidine aglycon to the different isomer heteroyohimbines substrates. Stöckigt et al. (1977) chemically reduced strictosidine aglycon with NaBH4 in MeOH and demonstrated that the major isomer in solution is cathenamine which then gives rise to THA. These conditions did not lead to AJM or 19-EA, suggesting they are not favoured in the non-enzymatic reaction. When, instead, the workers reduced the strictosidine aglycon with a crude enzyme preparation from *C. roseus*

they found AJM and 19-EA being produced as well. They propose the synthesis of AJM and 19-EA is entirely enzyme dependent, perhaps relying on an enzyme-driven isomerisation of cathenamine to 19-epicathenamine for generation of the correct stereocentre at C-19 for 19-EA. To investigate if the pH has an effect on the product profile of HYSs, THAS1 and HYS were tested on a small panel of buffers with different pH values.

The results of the experiment indicated that in total greater amounts of heteroyohimbines can be produced at lower pH (fig. 64). Both the enzyme assays and the control reaction using the chemical reducing agent NaBH4 displayed an increase of heteroyohimbines which was pH dependent. The product profile of THAS1 and of the chemical reduction looked very similar, with predominantly THA being produced. Interestingly, HYS responded differently to the varying pH and produced an increasing amount of AJM at lower pH at the expense of THA. The pH at which this enzyme produced the maximum amount of AJM was pH 6.0.

The absence of this effect in the chemical reduction of strictosidine aglycon suggests this increase in AJM is not due to a modification of the properties or equilibration of the substrates with the change in pH. Instead it suggests that the pH has a significant effect on the enzyme activity and allows HYS to carry out the reduction, or equilibration into pro-AJM iminium, more easily.

3.3.4 Mutations to THAS1

A better understanding of the role of the active site amino acids in THAS1 is needed to propose a reduction mechanism for generation of heteroyohimbines. The crystal structures, as well as alignments to other characterised MDRs, indicated the likely active site of THAS1. The conserved Ser or Thr of most SADs and CADs was not present in the HYSs discovered from *C. roseus*, and instead were replaced by other, often hydrophobic, residues. In THAS1 the active site residue in this position is Tyr56. A serine is present in the active site of THAS1 but it is positioned on the opposite side of the active site compared to Tyr56 or the SAD and CAD serine or threonine catalytic residues. Another notable difference between the SAD/CADs and HYSs is the histidine in SAD/CAD that is coordinated to the cofactor ribose and responsible for the electron transfer during catalysis. This residue in HYSs is replaced by an acidic amino acid, such as glutamate in THAS1 and HYS and aspartate in THAS2. The entrance of the active site also has two hydrophobic residues in THAS1 (Phe65 and Phe67) which were intriguing given the hydrophobic nature of the substrate and the product.

Mutating Tyr56 has some effect on THAS1 activity. Mutating it to Phe greatly reduces the activity and the stereoselectivity indicating that the hydroxyl group of Tyr could be implicated in the reduction mechanism. Introduction of Phe in the active site pocket, assuming the enzyme achieves correct folding and adopts the correct tertiary structure, would increase the hydrophobicity of the environment which could inhibit or modify the correct orientation of the substrate. Mutation of Tyr56 to Ala did not have the same effect on enzyme activity, perhaps due to the less disruptive size of Ala. Its small size would not increase the hydrophobicity of the active site as much as Phe would. By the same logic Y56T or Y56S would favour a more hydrophilic pocket, thus allowing the substrate to orient and dock correctly, or allowing any water molecules necessary for activity to take up their ideal positions. The activity of these latter two mutants is relatively high, thereby confirming the important role of the hydroxyl group in the THAS1 active site. Mutating Tyr56 to Glu seems to have greatly reduced activity, most probably due to the introduction of a negative charge in the active site. This reduction in activity could also be because the α 2 helix which carries both Tyr56 and Glu59 is not anchored in place (in fact it can move out of place in the absence of the cofactor as evidenced by the differences between the holo and apo structures) and the mutated residue could be competing with Glu59 for binding of the cofactor.

Mutating THAS1 Glu59 (which is coordinating with the ribose OH groups of the cofactor, fig. 67) to alanine does not abolish activity, but decreases it and also causes the product profile to be less specific. This could be because the cofactor does not dock correctly into the structure when this is mutated to alanine. A residue further back on the helix, Asp55, might compensate, but in so doing this might have an effect on the general structure of the area.

Mutating Ser102 (which lies on the right wall of the active site pocket) affects the activity slightly but does not affect stereoselectivity. Mutating Ser102 to Tyr surprisingly does not have a large effect on the enzyme; this could be due to the fact that there is enough space for such a large residue to swing out of the way of the active site cavity and not interfere with the reaction.

Mutations to the loop1 phenylalanines had detrimental effects on protein stability; one mutant (Phe65 to valine) was not stable in solution and precipitated over the course of 3-4 hours. This residue is conserved in HYS and could be important for the stability of the loop1 section of these enzymes.

Finally, Thr166 is a conserved residue in these HYSs, which is positioned at the bottom of the active site cavity. This residue seems ideally situated to coordinate a water molecule which could be the source for the proton needed during equilibration of cathenamine to the iminium forms. Mutations to this residue did affect the enzyme product profile slightly, but not enough to clearly distinguish the role of this amino acid in catalysis. Detailed kinetic studies would be needed to determine what its role is, but these are not feasible because of the two-enzyme system and the inherent instability and reactivity of strictosidine aglycon.

Although all mutations to the THAS1 active site had some slight effect on the enzyme's product profile and end-point conversion only Tyr56 appears to have a very significant effect. Therefore this residue is proposed to be taking part in the reduction of cathenamine to yield the heteroyohimbines as illustrated in figure 71.

3.3.5 Loop swaps between THAS1 and HYS

Gaining or losing the ability to synthesise one diastereomer is a difficult matter in enzyme engineering. THAS1 and HYS presented an excellent opportunity to attempt to switch stereoselectivities of two enzymes. THAS1, which has a short loop2 over the active site cavity,

produces a simple product profile of primarily THA and only trace amounts of AJM and 19-EA. HYS, however, is able to produce three heteroyohimbines. HYS and THAS1 are very similar enzymes (76.3% identity), but present a large difference in their loop2 sections. To test whether this loop could be the key to unlocking the potential of HYS to producing AJM and 19-EA, the loops were swapped between the two enzymes. Removal of the loop2 from HYS and its replacement with the loop2 of THAS1 resulted in a product profile resembling that of THAS. Unfortunately, replacing the short loops of THAS1 with the loop2 from HYS did not allow THAS1 to produce a product profile like that of HYS. Nevertheless, from these results it is apparent that the loop2 section of HYS is promoting the functional promiscuity of HYS.

Point mutations to HYS loop2 were also carried out and tested enzymatically. HYS possesses one ionisable amino acid on the loop2, His127. This could be providing a proton during equilibration of cathenamine to the pro-AJM or pro-19-EA iminium. Mutating this amino acid, and the phenylalanine next to it, confirmed the results obtained with the loop swaps and demonstrated that His127 is necessary for HYS to produce AJM and 19-EA.

3.3.6 Reduction mechanism of HYSs

The results obtained with the mutational screening and the deuterium labelling, as well as the in silico docking of cathenamine, have allowed us to propose a reduction mechanism for generation of heteroyohimbines by *C. roseus* HYSs. Cathenamine, the most abundant strictosidine aglycon isomer present in solution, enters the active site and stacks above the nicotinamide ring with the indole moiety pointing outwards towards the solvent. The cathenamine equilibrates into the iminium form in one of two ways. The first leads to the pro-THA iminium by protonation of C-20 from a water molecule to generate a tertiary carbon with S stereochemistry (fig. 77 top row). The second way to equilibration involves protonation of C-20 from the other face of the substrate from His127 to generate the tertiary carbon with R stereochemistry (fig. 77 bottom row). Depending on the orientation of the C-18 methyl group the substrate is either cathenamine (leading to AJM and THA) or 19-epicathenamine (leading to 19-EA and rauniticine). There is no evidence that any of the HYS produce rauniticine, therefore it is reasonable to hypothesise that these enzymes are not capable of protonating 19-epicathenamine from the bottom face. Whether or not cathenamine can equilibrate, through ring opening and re-closing, into 19-epicathenamine in the active site of the enzyme is still an open question.



Figure 77: Mechanism proposal for reduction and production of tetrahydroalstonine (top row) and ajmalicine (bottom row). NADPH is illustrated in red; water and the hydrogens originating from it are illustrated in blue; the loop2 histidine residue of HYS and the hydrogen originating

from it are illustrated in green.

After the generation of the iminium with the appropriate stereochemistry at C-20, the two reduction mechanisms are carried out in the same manner (fig. 77). The pro-*R*-hydride from the cofactor attacks the C-21 from the bottom face to generate a secondary carbon. The transition state during movement of the electron pair onto the N-4 is stabilised by the partial charges network facilitate by the active site tyrosine. The product thus formed can exit the active site before the enzyme also dissociates with the cofactor.



Figure 78: Mechanism of cinnamaldehyde reduction by AtCAD, redrawn from Youn et al. (2006). The substrate is illustrated in black; NADPH in red; enzyme residues in green; and Zn²⁺ and water molecule in blue.

The mechanism proposed here for HYSs differs to the mechanism proposed for SAD and CAD enzymes during reduction of their aldehyde substrates. The mechanisms proposed for those enzymes rely on the presence of the "active site" zinc to activate the carbon-oxygen double bond of the substrate (fig. 78). Once the bond is activated the carbon atom can receive the NADPH hydride and the oxygen can abstract a proton from the active site threonine (or serine in PtSAD) (Youn et al., 2006, Bomati and Noel, 2005). Based on the orientation of the residues in the active sites of AtCAD and PtSAD the electron transfer during reduction is proposed to be shuttled to the solvent through the active site threonine (or serine in the case of PtSAD) and then onto the hydroxyl groups of the NADPH ribose, following transfer onto the active site histidine before being transferred to the neighbouring aspartate and finally onto a water molecule (fig. 78).

A major difference is the role of the "active site" zinc in HYSs. Chelation studies suggest that zinc is not essential for catalysis, and there may be no need for activation of the carbon-nitrogen bond as it is easily reduced. Although the "active site" zinc might not be necessary for catalysis in HYSs it could still be carrying out a structural role. The coordinating amino acids are conserved among all the HYS from *C. roseus*. Notably, zinc is absent from certain MDRs and are apparently not necessary for their activity. For example, the quinone oxidoreductase (QOR, PDB accession code: 1QOR) from *E. coli* has lost both the structural and the "active site" zinc (Edwards et al., 1996). The "active site" zinc coordination sphere has been replaced by amino acids incapable of coordinating zinc (such as leucine and asparagine) and the loop section which is responsible for binding the structural zinc is entirely absent from the sequence. The need to boil THAS1 and HYS to successfully carry out a zinc detection assay suggests that the Zn²⁺ ions are very tightly bound to the protein and not easily accessed by other reagents. This raises the question of whether the structural zinc has a function in MDRs and could these MDRs evolve or be engineered to lose the zinc binding loop without compromising protein stability and function?

3.4 Conclusions

Crystallisation of these heteroyohimbine synthases has facilitated the study of the mechanism of heteroyohimbine synthesis from strictosidine aglycon. Extensive mutagenesis and deuterium labelling has allowed the proposal of a catalytic mechanism. Some aspects of the mechanism are not entirely clear: for example how cathenamine and 19-epicathenamine equilibrate. However, not all mechanistic aspects could be investigated in this enzymatic system.

These enzymes have revealed the potential of biosynthetic machinery to generate stereochemical variation. Even similar enzymes, such as THAS1 and HYS (76.3 % amino acid similarity), can display different stereoselectivity. Flexible loop regions can be the key to unlocking chemical diversity. As demonstrated here, mutating the extended loop2 over the HYS active site (fig. 68) impacts stereochemical outcome. The MDRs discovered from *C. roseus* show large variability in this section of their sequence. This active site loop of the MDRs could potentially be harnessed in protein engineering efforts to generate novel catalytic activity.

The existence of four (at least) redundant, and highly diverged, THAS enzymes in *C. roseus* indicates firstly that this branch of the pathway is relatively ancient and secondly that this reaction is possible with many different variations of the active site. Whether or not there is selective pressure to maintain or eliminate the promiscuous HYS enzyme remains to be determined. The function of the various heteroyohimbine stereoisomers *in planta* still remains cryptic.

The results detailed in the chapter have been published in Stavrinides et al. (2016).

3.5 Materials and Methods

3.5.1 Site directed mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS

THAS1 mutants were generated by overlap extension PCR. Briefly, the codon to be mutated was selected and two primers, one reverse and one forward (table 10), were designed to overlap and introduce the mutation. Two PCR steps were necessary to create the mutations. A first PCR was carried out using the reverse mutant primer and the 5' forward gene-specific primer (Chapter 2 table 5), thus generating the 5' half of the gene carrying the mutation. In parallel, the 3' half of the mutated gene was generated by PCR using the forward mutant primer and the 3' reverse gene-specific primer (Chapter 2 table 5). The PCR products were gel purified and used for the second PCR overlap reaction for generation of the full-length mutated gene. To do this the 5' and 3' halves of the mutated genes were mixed in a PCR reaction in equimolar amounts (approx. 100 ng per fragment) and 5 cycles of PCR were carried out without including primers in order for the fragments to act as primers for each other. After 5 overlap PCR cycles the forward and reverse gene-specific primers were added to the mix and a further 30 cycles were gel purified, ligated into pOPINF expression vector and transformed into competent *E. coli* Stellar strain cells (Clontech Takara) as described in the Chapter 2 methods section. Due to repeated issues with

generating the HYS point mutants, these were instead obtained as gene fragments (Integrated DNA Technologies, Belgium) with the H127 or F128 codons mutated (H127A CAT -> GCA; H127N CAT -> AAC; F128A TTT -> GCT; F128Y TTT -> TAC) and the pOPINF overhangs included at the 3' and 5' extremities.

3.5.2 Loop swap mutants

.

Loop swap forward and reverse primers were designed by removing the codons for the loop amino acids and substituting those for the loop of the other enzyme (table 10). First the loop1 mutants were generated by overlap extension PCR following the same procedure detailed above for the point mutants and then the second loop2 swap was introduced. Mutant constructs were sequenced by Sanger sequencing to verify the mutant gene sequence and correct insertion.

.

Mutant	Forward primer	Reverse primer
THAS1 mutants		
Y56A	GGACTTGCCAA <u>GCT</u> GACAGGGAAATG AGCAAAAACAAATTTGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCATTTCCCTGTC <u>AGC</u> TT GGCAAGTCC
Y56E	GACAGGGAAATGAGCAAAAACAAATT TGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCATTTCCCTGTC <u>TTC</u> T TGGCAAGTCCC
Y56T	GACAGGGAAATGAGCAAAAACAAATT TGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCATTTCCCTGTC <u>AGT</u> T TGGCAAGTCCC
Y56S	GACAGGGAAATGAGCAAAAACAAATT TGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCATTTCCCTGTC <u>ACT</u> T TGGCAAGTCCC
Y56F	GACAGGGAAATGAGCAAAAACAAATT TGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCATTTCCCTGTC <u>AAA</u> T TGGCAAGTCCC
E59A	GGACTTGCCAATATGACAGG <u>GCA</u> ATG AGCAAAAACAAATTTGG	CCAAATTTGTTTTTGCTCAT <u>TGC</u> CCTGTCATAT TGGCAAGTCC
S102A	CGGGGACAAAGTGGGCGTAGCA <u>GCC</u> ATAATTGAAACTTGTGG	GCTACGCCCACTTTGTCCCCG
S102Y	CGGGGACAAAGTGGGCGTAGCA <u>TAC</u> A TAATTGAAACTTGTGG	GCTACGCCCACTTTGTCCCCG
S102T	CGGGGACAAAGTGGGCGTAGCA <u>ACC</u> A TAATTGAAACTTGTGG	GCTACGCCCACTTTGTCCCCG
S102D	CGGGGACAAAGTGGGCGTAGCA <u>GAC</u> ATAATTGAAACTTGTGG	GCTACGCCCACTTTGTCCCCG
T166S	GCAGGAATCTCGGCTTATAGTCCC	GGGACTATAAGCCGAGATTCCTGC
T166V	GCAGGAATCGTGGCTTATAGTCCC	GGGACTATAAGCCACGATTCCTGC
F67V	CAAGCTATCCTTATGTTTTAGGGC	GCCCTAAAACATAAGGATAGCTTGT <u>AAC</u> TCC AAATTTGTTTTTGC
THAS1 loop swaps		
loop1 swap	<u>CACAAACAAATTTGGGATGACAAAG</u> T ATCCTTATGTTTTAGGGC	CTTTGTCATCCCAAATTTGTTTGT TCCCTGTCATATTGG
loop2 swap	<u>GATGGCCATTTTGGAAATAATTTC</u> GGG GCATGTTCAAATATAGC	GAAATTATTTCCAAAATGGCCATCTATTGATC CTGCTTCTGGACAG
HYS loop swaps		

Table 10: List of primer pairs for mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS.

Table 10 (cont.)

Mutant	Forward primer	Reverse primer
loop1 swap	AAGAACAAATTTGGATTTACAAGCTATC CTTTTGTTATAGGGC	GCTTGTAAATCCAAATTTGTTCTT AAGTCATAGTTGC
loop2 swap	GAATCAACA <u>GACAGCAATTAC</u> GGTGG ATGTTGTAATATAATGG	CATCCACC <u>GTAATTGCTGTC</u> TGTTGATTCTACTT TTGAACAG

The mutated codons are underlined.

3.5.3 Expression of mutant THAS1 and HYS

The pOPINF vectors harbouring the gene constructs were transformed into SoluBL21 (DE3) E. coli cells. A starting culture was grown overnight at 37°C in 50 or 100 mL of LB media supplemented with carbenicillin (100 μ g/mL) and was then diluted 1:100 in 100mL 2xYT media supplemented with carbenicillin (100 $\mu g/mL)$ and allowed to grow to an $OD_{_{600}}$ between 0.8 and 1 before induction with 0.1 IPTG. The cultures were grown at 18°C for 16h with 200 rpm shaking. Cells were collected by centrifugation and resuspended in 6 mL Buffer A (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 20 mM imidazole) along with EDTA-free protease inhibitor (Roche Diagnostics Ltd.). Cells were lysed using sonication for 4 minutes on ice using 2 s pulses with a 5-minute pause after 2 minutes on ice. Cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 17 x 1000 g and the supernatant was incubated for 1h at 4°C with 200 μ L of Ni-NTA agarose beads (Qiagen GmbH, Germany) pre-equilibrated with Buffer A. The total was centrifuged at 1000rpm for 1minute to pellet the Ni-NTA agarose and the supernatant was discarded. The Ni-NTA agarose was washed three times with 500 µL of Buffer A to remove non-specifically bound proteins, each time centrifuging for 1min at 1000 rpm to pellet the Ni-NTA agarose. Elution was done by washing the Ni-NTA with two volumes of 300 µL of Buffer B (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 500 mM imidazole). The eluates were transferred to a Durapore centrifugal filter (PVDF 0.1 µm, Merck Millipore) to remove any residual Ni-NTA agarose. An aliquot of eluates was analysed by SDS-PAGE to verify the purity and the molecular weight of the purified proteins. Protein containing eluates were concentrated to approximately 250 μ L and buffer exchanged to Buffer C (50 mM Phosphate pH 7.6, 100 mM NaCl) in a 30 KDa membrane filter Millipore filter (Merck Millipore). Protein concentration was measured with Bradford reagent (Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Purified proteins were aliquoted in 20 μ L aliquots and fast-frozen in liquid nitrogen before being stored at -20°C.

3.5.4 SGD expression and purification

SGD expression and purification was done in large scale as described for THAS1 above using the expression system as described previously (Yerkes et al., 2008).

3.5.5 Expression and crystallisation of THAS1

Cultures of SoluBL21 *E. coli* expressing THAS1 (2L of 2xYT) were prepared as described above for small-scale purification. The cell pellet was resuspended in 50 mL of Buffer A and sonication

was done as described above and the cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 17 x 1000 g for 20 min. All large-scale purification steps were done at 4°C on an ÄKTAxpress purifier (GE Healthcare). His-tagged THAS1 was purified using a HisTrap FF 5 mL column (GE Healthcare) equilibrated with Buffer A. The sample was loaded at a flow rate of 4 mL/min and step-eluted using Buffer B. Eluted protein was subjected to further purification on a Superdex Hiload 26/60 S75 gel filtration column (GE Healthcare) at a flow rate of 3.2 mL/min using Buffer D (20 mM Hepes, pH 7.5 150 mM NaCl) and collected by a fractionator into 8 mL fractions. The fractions were analysed by SDS-PAGE and those containing no traces of other contaminating proteins were pooled and concentrated in a 10 KDa cutoff Millipore filter (Merck Millipore) and concentration was measured using a BCA assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc, USA). A fraction of the purified THAS1 was subjected to His₆-tag cleavage. Purified THAS1 was incubated overnight at 4 °C with 3C protease. The sample was then incubated with 1 mL of pre-equilibrated Ni-NTA column and then the total mixture was filtered and the flow-through was checked visually on SDS-PAGE for purity.

Crystallization screens were set up with purified protein in sitting-drop vapor diffusion in MRC2 96-well crystallization plates (Swissci) with a mixture of 0.3 μ l well solution from the PEGs (Qiagen), PACT (Qiagen) and JCSG (Molecular Dimensions) suites and 0.3 μ l protein solution. NADP⁺ (Sigma Aldrich) was added to a final concentration of 1 mM for co-crystallization studies. Solutions were dispensed by an OryxNano (Douglas Instruments). THAS1 NADP⁺ crystals were obtained from a solution containing 0.2 M potassium/sodium tartrate with 20% w/v PEG 3350, and THAS1 apo crystals were obtained from His₆-tag cleaved THAS1 (3C protease) in a solution containing 0.1 M MES, pH 6.5, 15% w/v PEG 2000.

3.5.6 Expression and crystallisation of HYS

Protein for crystallisation was expressed and purified as detailed above, but with the addition of 1 mM DTT to all purification buffers. The His_6 -tag was cleaved as described above for THAS1. HYS was concentrated using a 30 KDa cutoff filter (Millipore) and was buffer exchanged into Buffer E (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.06, 150 mM NaCl, 10% (w/v) glycerol, 0.5 mM TCEP) for storage and crystallisation.

Crystals were grown from a hanging drop containing an optimised condition (0.1 M MMT buffer, pH 5 and 15% PEG 3350). Purified HYS (10.75 mg/mL) was mixed in a 1:1 ratio with the precipitant and incubated at 19°C for two weeks before harvesting of crystals. Crystals were cryo-protected with well solution containing 25% ethylene glycol for 1 minute and frozen in liquid nitrogen.

Seeding experiments were carried out using droplets containing crystals which were pipetted repeatedly to crush up the crystals and then diluted 1:30 in well solution and then briefly vortexing the sample. A 48-well plate was setup by mixing protein and seeding solution in a ratio of 3:1:2 with the precipitant. NADP⁺ was premixed with the protein for a final concentration of 1 mM. To determine the best storage and buffer conditions for HYS a thermofluor assay was done at the SPC facility (EMBL, Hamburg, Germany).

3.5.7 Data collection

X-ray datasets were recorded on one of three beamlines at the Diamond Light Source (Oxfordshire, UK) (5FI3, I04; 5FI5, I03; 5H83, I04-1) at wavelengths of 0.9000-0.976 Å (5FI3, 0.900 Å; 5FI5, 0.976 Å; 5H83, 0.920 Å) using either a Pilatus 6M or 2M detector (Dectris) with the crystals maintained at 100 K by a Cryojet cryocooler (Oxford Instruments). Diffraction data were integrated using XDS (Kabsch, 2010) and scaled and merged using AIMLESS (Evans, 2006) via the XIA2 expert system (Winter, 2010); data collection statistics are summarized in Stavrinides et al. (2016). Initially the THAS1 NADP⁺ dataset was automatically processed at the beamline by fast dp45 to 1.12 Å resolution and a structure solution was automatically obtained by single wavelength anomalous dispersion phasing using the SHELX suite (Sheldrick, 2008) via the fast_ep pipeline (Winter, manuscript in preparation). Despite being collected at a wavelength somewhat remote from the zinc K X-ray absorption edge (theoretical wavelength 1.284 Å) the anomalous signal was sufficient for fast_ep to locate four zinc sites and calculate a very clear experimentally phased electron density map (fig. 52). This was available to view at the beamline in the ISPyB database (Delagenière et al., 2011) via the SynchWeb interface (Fisher et al., 2015) within a few minutes of completing the data collection. The map was of sufficient quality to enable 94% of the residues expected for a THAS1 homodimer to be automatically fitted using BUCCANEER (Cowtan, 2006). The model was finalised by manual rebuilding in COOT (Emsley et al., 2010) and restrained refinement using anisotropic thermal parameters in REFMAC5 (Winn et al., 2003) against the same dataset reprocessed to a resolution of 1.05 Å as described above, and contained 97% of the expected residues, with one NADP⁺ molecule and two zinc ions per subunit. All the remaining structures were solved by molecular replacement using PHASER (McCoy et al., 2007). In each case, the asymmetric unit corresponded to the biological dimer and the preliminary models were obtained by searching for two copies of a monomer template. For THAS1 apo and HYS apo a THAS1 NADP⁺ protein only monomer model was used as the basis for the template, although in the latter two cases a homology model of the target structure was generated from the THAS1 template using the Phyre2 server (Kelley et al., 2015) (http://www. sbg.bio.ic.ac.uk/~phyre2) before running PHASER. In contrast to THAS1 NADP⁺, the THAS1 apo and HYS structures were refined in REFMAC5 with isotropic thermal parameters and TLS group definitions obtained from the TLS-MD server (Painter and Merritt, 2006). Model geometries were validated with the MOLPROBITY (Chen et al., 2010) tool before submission to the PDB. The statistics of the final models are summarized in Stavrinides et al. (2016) in Annex 2. Additional statistics for Rpim: 5FI3, 0.020 (0.517); 5FI5, 0.038 (0.600); 5H83, 0.068 (0.664) and CC½: 5FI3, 0.999 (0.510); 5FI5, 0.999 (0.523); 5H83, 0.996 (0.510) (where values in parentheses are for highest-resolution shell) were also noted. Ramachandran statistics (favored/allowed/outlier (%)) are 5FI3, 96.8/3.2/0.0; 5FI5, 96.0/4.0/0.0; 5H83, 96.6/3.1/0.3. All structural figures were prepared using CCP4mg (McNicholas et al., 2011).

3.5.8 UPLC-MS and NMR analysis

UPLC-MS analysis was carried out on a UPLC (Waters) equipped with an Acquity BEH C18 1.7 μ m 2.1 x 50 mm column connected to Xevo TQS (Waters). For fast dereplication of active enzymes

and mutants, a linear gradient method ("fast method") was used at a flow rate of 0.6 ml min-1 using a binary solvent system in which solvent A1 was 0.1% formic acid in water and solvent B1 was acetonitrile. The gradient profile was: 0 min, 5% B1; from 0 to 3.5 min, linear gradient to 35% B1; from 3.5 to 3.75 min, linear gradient to 100% B1; from 3.75 to 4 min, wash at 100% B1; back to the initial conditions of 5% B1 and equilibration for 1 min before the next injection. Column temperature was held at 30 °C. The injection volume for both the solutions of standard compounds and the samples was 1 μ l. Samples were kept at 10 °C during the analysis.

For separation of the different heteroyohimbines, a different chromatographic method was applied that was adapted from the work of Sun J. et al. (Sun et al., 2011). In this method (Method 2) solvent A2 was 0.1% NH₄OH and solvent B2 was 0.1% NH₄OH in acetonitrile. A linear gradient from 0% to 65% B2 in 17.5 min was applied for separation of the compounds followed by an increase to 100% B2 at 18 min, a 2 min wash step and a re-equilibration at 0% B2 for 3 min before the next injection. The column was kept at 60 °C throughout the analysis and the flow rate was 0.6 ml min-1.

MS detection was performed in positive ESI. Capillary voltage was 3.0 kV; the source was kept at 150 °C; desolvation temperature was 500 °C; cone gas flow, 50 L h-1 and desolvation gas flow, 800 L h-1. Unit resolution was applied to each quadrupole. Multiple Reactions Monitoring (MRM) signals were used for detection and quantification of the compounds of interest (details of conditions in table 11).

Molecule	Parent ion	Daughter ion	Cone Voltage	Collision Voltage
Strictosidine aglycon	351	170.22	28	22
	351	144.16	28	24
Strictosidine	531	352.25	32	24
Heteroyohimbines	353	117.19	50	40
	353	144.16	50	26

Table 11: Multiple Reactions Monitoring conditions

NMR spectra were acquired using a Bruker Advance NMR instrument operating at 400 MHz for ¹H equipped with a BBFO plus 5 mm probe.

3.5.9 ²H labelling experiments

Deuterated pro-*R*-NADPD was regenerated in solution by *Thermoanaerobacter brockii* alcohol dehydrogenase (50 units, Sigma) using 400 μ M NADP⁺ and 1% v/v [²H6]-isopropanol (CIL). The NADPD regeneration was monitored by UV spectroscopy at 340 nm. Strictosidine (19.9 mg)

was incubated with 1.27 nM SGD in 94 ml of 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 6.5). THAS1 enzyme was added to the reaction (final concentration of 1.65 μ M) and the mixture was incubated at 35 °C with shaking. The reaction was monitored for completeness by LC-MS and after 5 h no strictosidine or deglycosylated strictosidine was observed. The reaction was stopped by addition of 100 ml of methanol and reaction mixture was concentrated to dryness. The dried reaction mixture was resuspended in 15 ml H₂O and extracted with 3 x 15 ml of ethyl acetate and the EtOAc fraction was dried. [21 α -²H1]-THA was isolated by preparative TLC separation on a nanosilica plate (Sigma-Aldrich), as described in Chapter 2. The band of [21 α -²H1]-THA was excised from the plate, silica was crushed to powder and THA was extracted with EtOAc multiple times, (total volume 40 ml). The EtOAc fraction was filtered and dried using a high-vacuum pump overnight. The [21 α -²H1]-THA was dissolved in 600 μ l of CDCl₃ and ¹H-NMR was measured.

Strictosidine (39.3 mg) was incubated with 1 nM of SGD and 500 μ M NADP⁺ with 50 units of *T. brockii* ADH and 1% v/v [²H6]-isopropanol in a total volume of 148 ml of 50 mM HEPES buffer (pH 7.5). HYS was added (final concentration 1.71 μ M) and the reaction was incubated at 37 °C with shaking and monitored for completeness by LC-MS. After 6 h the reaction was complete and was stopped by addition of 150 ml of methanol. The reaction mixture was concentrated to dryness and then was resuspended in 50 ml H₂O, basified with 2 ml triethylamine and extracted with 5 x 20 ml of ethyl acetate. [21 α -²H1]-THA, [21 α -²H1]-AJM and [21 α -²H1]-19EA were isolated by preparative TLC and ¹H-NMR spectra measured as described above. ¹H-NMR spectra of deuterated compounds were compared with those of corresponding standards dissolved in the same solvent.

3.5.10 pH effect on product profile

Strictosidine was deglycosylated using purified SGD for 25 minutes at room temperature using assay conditions as described above. Strictosidine aglycon was then incubated at a final concentration of 300 μ M at pH 5, 6, 7 and 8 in a buffer mix to avoid buffer ingredient effect on activity (50 mM Phosphate buffer, 50 mM citric acid, 50 mM HEPES, adjusted with NaOH or HCl).

At time zero the enzyme, either THAS1 or HYS (1 μ M final concentration), premixed with NADPH (500 μ M) was added to the substrate solution. In parallel, a chemical reducing agent, NaBH4 (3 mM final concentration), was added to deglycosylated strictosidine as a control reaction. All reactions were carried out in triplicate. An end-point sample (10 μ I) was taken from each assay and prepared for UPLC-MS analysis by addition of 10 μ I of 100% MeOH to stop the reaction, and then diluted 1 in 5 with H₂O, and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 4000 rpm. UPLC-MS and data collection and quantification were performed as described above using the "separation method".

3.5.11 CD spectra and analysis

Far ultraviolet (UV) CD spectra of the wild-type enzymes THAS1 and HYS, as well as the loop mutants of THAS1 and HYS were recorded on a Chirascan Plus spectropolarimeter (Applied Photophysics) at 20°C in 10 mM potassium phosphate buffer pH 7.0. Samples were analysed from

180 nm to 260 nm using a 0.5 nm step at a speed of 1 s per step. Four replicate measurements were performed on each sample and baseline correction was applied to all data. Spectra are presented as the CD absorption coefficient calculated on a mean residue ellipticity (MRE) basis.

Melting curves of HYS and the HYS loop2 swap mutant were also acquired by CD. The samples were subjected to temperature ramping at the rate of 1°C min-1 from 20 °C to 90 °C. Data collection was done from 260 nm to 201 nm using a 1 nm step and 0.75 s time per point. Data were analysed using the Global 3 software. HYS melting point was measured as 61.0 ± 0.1 °C; enthalpy 351.5 ± 3.6 KJ/mol. HYS loop2 swap melting point was measured at 62.0 ± 0.1 °C; enthalpy 535.8 ± 4.5 KJ/mol.

3.5.12 Docking of cathenamine in THAS1 holo structure

Cathenamine was docked into the THAS1-NADP⁺ crystal structure using Autodock 4.2 (Morris, 2009). The ligand (cathenamine) was prepared with 2 torsions at the C16, the rest of the molecule being rigid, and the receptor consisted of the desolvated high-resolution crystal structure. The search space was defined by a 40x40x40 Å box with a 0.375 Å grid spacing, centred between the nicotinamide ring and the side chain of Tyr56, and encompassed the entire active site cavity. Searches were performed using the Lamarckian Genetic Algorithm, consisting of 100 runs with a population size of 150 and 2,500,000 energy evaluations. A total of 27,000 generations were analysed and clustered with an RMS tolerance of 2 Å per cluster. Results were visualised using the Autodock 4.2 user interface.

3.5.13 Testing of Zinc-apo THAS1 and HYS

Zinc was removed from THAS and HYS by dialysis against EDTA for 24h at 4°C following a published protocol (Hoagstrom et al., 1969). EDTA was removed by overnight dialysis at 4°C using the same buffer without the addition of EDTA. THAS1 had heavy precipitate following the second dialysis and only the soluble fraction was used for subsequent assays. Protein aliquots were analysed by SDS-PAGE to verify that there was no degradation. The activity against deglycosylated strictosidine and the product profile was determined using the same conditions detailed in enzyme reaction testing.

Zinc removal was verified by following the manufacturer's instructions using the Zinc analysis kit (Sigma Aldrich). Boiling for 10 min was necessary to denature the proteins in order for the reagent to access the zinc.

3.6 References

- AULD, D. S. & BERGMAN, T. 2008. The role of zinc for alcohol dehydrogenase structure and function. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65, 3961-3970.
- BAKER, P. J., BRITTON, K. L., FISHER, M., ESCLAPEZ, J., PIRE, C., BONETE, M. J., FERRER, J. & RICE, D. W. 2009. Active site dynamics in the zinc-dependent medium chain alcohol dehydrogenase superfamily. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106, 779-784.
- BOMATI, E. K. & NOEL, J. P. 2005. Structural and kinetic basis for substrate selectivity in Populus tremuloides sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Plant Cell*, 17, 1598-1611.
- CHEN, V. B., ARENDALL, W. B., HEADD, J. J., KEEDY, D. A., IMMORMINO, R. M., KAPRAL, G. J., MURRAY, L. W., RICHARDSON, J. S. & RICHARDSON, D. C. 2010. MolProbity: all-atom structure validation for macromolecular crystallography. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 66, 12-21.
- COWTAN, K. 2006. The Buccaneer software for automated model building. 1. Tracing protein chains. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 62, 1002-1011.
- DELAGENIÈRE, S., BRENCHEREAU, P., LAUNER, L., ASHTON, A. W., LEAL, R., VEYRIER, S., GABADINHO, J., GORDON, E. J., JONES, S. D. & LEVIK, K. E. 2011. ISPyB: an information management system for synchrotron macromolecular crystallography. *Bioinformatics*, 27, 3186-3192.
- EDWARDS, K. J., BARTON, J. D., ROSSJOHN, J., THORN, J. M., TAYLOR, G. L. & OLLIS, D. L. 1996. Structural and Sequence Comparisons of Quinone Oxidoreductase, ζ-Crystallin, and Glucose and Alcohol Dehydrogenases. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 328, 173-183.
- EMSLEY, P., LOHKAMP, B., SCOTT, W. G. & COWTAN, K. 2010. Features and development of Coot. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 66, 486-501.
- EVANS, P. 2006. Scaling and assessment of data quality. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 62, 72-82.
- FISHER, S., LEVIK, K., WILLIAMS, M., ASHTON, A. & MCAULEY, K. 2015. SynchWeb: a modern interface for ISPyB. *Journal of applied crystallography*, 48, 927-932.
- HOAGSTROM, C. W., IWEIBO, I. & WEINER, H. 1969. Interaction of Coenzyme with Differently Prepared Zinc-free (apo) Horse Liver Alcohol Dehydrogenases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 244, 5967-&.
- KABSCH, W. 2010. Xds. Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography, 66, 125-132.
- KELLEY, L. A., MEZULIS, S., YATES, C. M., WASS, M. N. & STERNBERG, M. J. E. 2015. The Phyre2 web portal for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. *Nat. Protocols*, 10, 845-858.
- LORIS, E. A., PANJIKAR, S., RUPPERT, M., BARLEBEN, L., UNGER, M., SCHÜBEL, H. & STÖCKIGT, J. 2007. Structure-Based Engineering of Strictosidine Synthase: Auxiliary for Alkaloid Libraries. *Chemistry & Biology*, 14, 979-985.
- MCCOY, A. J., GROSSE-KUNSTLEVE, R. W., ADAMS, P. D., WINN, M. D., STORONI, L. C. & READ, R. J. 2007. Phaser crystallographic software. *Journal of applied crystallography*, 40, 658-674.
- MCNICHOLAS, S., POTTERTON, E., WILSON, K. & NOBLE, M. 2011. Presenting your structures: the CCP4mg molecular-graphics software. *Acta Crystallographica Section D: Biological Crystallography*, 67, 386-394.
- MORRIS, G. M. E. A. 2009. Autodock4 and autodocktools4: Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. *J. Comput. Chem.*, 30, 2785-2791.
- PAINTER, J. & MERRITT, E. A. 2006. TLSMD web server for the generation of multi-group TLS models. *Journal of Applied Crystallography*, 39, 109-111.
- SHELDRICK, G. M. 2008. A short history of SHELX. Acta Crystallographica Section A: Foundations of Crystallography, 64, 112-122.
- STAVRINIDES, A., TATSIS, E. C., CAPUTI, L., FOUREAU, E., STEVENSON, C. E. M., LAWSON, D. M., COURDAVAULT, V. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2016. Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloid synthesis reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity. *Nat*

Commun, 7.

- STIERAND, K. & RAREY, M. 2010. Drawing the PDB: Protein–Ligand Complexes in Two Dimensions. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 1, 540-545.
- STÖCKIGT, J., HÖFLE, G. & PFITZNER, A. 1980. Mechanism of the biosynthetic conversion of geissoschizine to 19-epi-ajmalicine in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 21, 1925-1926.
- STÖCKIGT, J., HUSSON, H., KAN-FAN, C. & ZENK, M. 1977. Cathenamine, a central intermediate in the cell free biosynthesis of ajmalicine and related indole alkaloids. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 164-166.
- STOECKIGT, J., HEMSCHEIDT, T., HOEFLE, G., HEINSTEIN, P. & FORMACEK, V. 1983. Steric course of hydrogen transfer during enzymatic formation of 3.alpha.-heteroyohimbine alkaloids. *Biochemistry*, 22, 3448-3452.
- SUN, J., BAKER, A. & CHEN, P. 2011. Profiling the indole alkaloids in yohimbe bark with ultraperformance liquid chromatography coupled with ion mobility quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.*, 25, 2591-2602.
- WINN, M. D., MURSHUDOV, G. N. & PAPIZ, M. Z. 2003. Macromolecular TLS refinement in REFMAC at moderate resolutions. *Methods in enzymology*, 374, 300-321.
- WINTER, G. 2010. xia2: an expert system for macromolecular crystallography data reduction. *Journal of applied crystallography*, 43, 186-190.
- YOUN, B., CAMACHO, R., MOINUDDIN, S. G. A., LEE, C., DAVIN, L. B., LEWIS, N. G. & KANG, C. 2006. Crystal structures and catalytic mechanism of the Arabidopsis cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenases AtCAD5 and AtCAD4. Organic & Biomolecular Chemistry, 4, 1687-1697.

Chapter 4

Discovery and characterisation of a Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase capable of reducing strictosidine aglycon

4.1 Introduction

4.1.1 Short-chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase family

The Short Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase (SDR) family is a member of the Alcohol Dehydrogenase Superfamily, like the MDRs described in Chapters 2 and 3. These enzymes, as their name suggests, are usually shorter in length than the MDRs (Jörnvall et al., 1999) but, just like the MDRs, they have a Rossmann fold for NAD(P) binding. This enzyme family is of very old origin, and it is found throughout the kingdoms of life, even in viruses (Jörnvall et al., 1999, Kavanagh et al., 2008, Jörnvall et al., 2010), and are found in large numbers in plants (Moummou et al., 2012). In fact SDRs are thought to be the progenitors of the MDRs as they typically display earlier diversification than the MDRs (Strommer, 2011). The active site is characterised by a conserved catalytic tyrosine, which is usually accompanied by a lysine to give the conserved motif YxxxK (Jörnvall et al., 1995). The first characterised SDRs from plants were the tropinone reductases I and II from *Datura stramonium* (Portsteffen et al., 1992).

4.1.2 SDRs in C. roseus

The terpene moiety in the MIA pathway of *C. roseus* is cyclised and modified to yield secologanin, which is used to produce strictosidine. During the biosynthesis of secologanin, 10-oxogeranial undergoes a reductive cyclisation to yield nepetalactol and the enzyme responsible for the cyclisation is not a terpene synthase as would normally be expected, but instead is a member of the SDR family (Iridoid Synthase, ISY, Geu-Flores et al. (2012)). This enzyme is similar to the progesterone-5 β -reductases which reduce the carbon-carbon double bond of progesterone (Gavidia et al., 2007)(fig. 79). *C. roseus* contains 5 ISY homologs, three of which have also been shown to reduce the ISY substrate, 10-oxogeranial (Munkert et al., 2015). It was demonstrated that many members of the progesterone-5 β -reductase family have the ability to reduce and cyclise 10-oxogeranial even though the plants they are found in do not produce iridoids (Munkert et al., 2015).



Figure 79: Reactions catalysed by Iridoid synthase and Progesterone-5β-reductase.

The identification of one SDR that catalyses a critical step in MIA biosynthesis in *C. roseus* suggests there may be other SDRs participating in the pathway. Just as there are multiple MDRs in *C. roseus* which catalyse reactions in MIA biosynthesis (10HGO, HYSs, T3R) there may also be more than one SDR involved in this pathway. To investigate this hypothesis, gene candidates that were coregulated with known MIA biosynthetic genes were selected for screening in *in vitro* biochemical assays with various pathway intermediates as substrates. One candidate, Cro013448, was tested against 10-oxogeranial and was shown to have low activity against this substrate (the activity was not detectable by TLC whereas the activity of other candidates was detectable by TLC (Glenn, 2013)). This SDR enzyme is not a member of the progesterone-5β-reductase family and was therefore intriguing. The low activity against this 10-oxogeranial terpene moiety indicated it is probably not its native substrate. This enzyme was tested against deglycosylated strictosidine, which is the central intermediate of the MIA pathway, and showed high activity, producing a molecule of unknown structure, which did not correspond to any MIA present in *C. roseus* leaf extracts. This chapter details the characterisation of this enzyme and its product and attempts to explain its role in the plant.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 ADH10 cloning

As part of a screen to explore the activity of highly MeJa-upregulated reductases against the central MIA biosynthetic intermediate, strictosidine aglycon, the *C. roseus* transcriptome was searched for SDRs with high expression in MeJa-treated tissues. The gene coding for ADH10 was found to be relatively highly expressed in the *C. roseus* tissues analysed (fig. 80). It is located on a large whole genome contig (WGC), along with eight other SDRs or SDR fragments (Cr030915, Cr022958, Cr022957, Cr030568, Cr003140, Cr016747, Cr016749, Cr013447, and ADH10 Cr013448). Interestingly there are multiple predicted cytochrome P450s from various families on this same contig (Cr028046, Cr023307, Cr013485, Cr003361, Cr016728, and Cr016743) as well as two 2-oxoglutarate and Fe(II)-dependent oxygenase superfamily proteins (Cr019418 and Cr027425), an alpha-beta hydrolase superfamily protein (Cr010307), and an SAM-dependent methyltransferase superfamily protein (Cr016723).



Figure 80: Expression profile of ADH10 (in red) and other ADH's on the same whole genome contig (WGC 27). In blue is illustrated the expression profile of Cr003140, another highly expressed SDR found on the same contig.

ADH10 appears to be very highly expressed in MeJa-induced seedlings (>100 fpkm) and has a higher expression in roots and stem than it does in leaves or flowers. The SDR that is next to it on the genome has a very low expression in all tissues (maximum 9.7 fpkm in the stem). All other SDRs on this contig have low expression except one, Cr003140, which has an expression profile considerably different to that of ADH10.

The ADH10 gene cloned from cDNA differed from that predicted for transcript Cr013448. The predicted protein consisted of 312 amino acids whereas the ORF cloned from cDNA coded for 299 amino acids. There were some discrepancies in the amino acid sequence of the predicted protein sequences (fig. 81). This resulted in an amino acid identity of only 80 %. It is not clear if these differences are due to problems with the assembly or because a different cultivar of *C. roseus* was used for cloning.



Figure 81: Alignment of predicted protein sequence of Cro013448 and the amino acid sequence of ADH10. Sequence 1: Cro013448; 2: ADH10.

4.2.2 Heterologous expression

ADH10 was expressed as a His₆-tagged fusion protein in *E. coli*. Expression was tested for ADH10 at various expression temperatures and also with various IPTG concentrations (fig. 82). After expression, the cells were lysed using the BugBuster kit and the soluble fraction was analysed by SDS-PAGE and visualised by staining with Coomasie Blue. The results indicate that expression of ADH10 is higher at 37 °C and very low at 10 °C. The concentration of IPTG used does not appear to have any significant effect.



Figure 82: SDS-PAGE gel of expression trial of ADH10 with different temperatures and IPTG concentrations stained with Coomasie Blue. SoluBL21 *E. coli* cells harbouring ADH10 are induced with various concentrations of IPTG (0.1 to 1 mM) and allowed to express the protein at different temperatures (18: lanes 2-4, 10: lanes 5-7, and 37 °C: lanes 8-9). Lane one contains a protein molecular marker.

Large scale expression was done at 37 °C as that condition appeared to produce relatively high levels of protein. After purification by nickel column followed by gel filtration the protein was relatively pure (fig. 83). This was stored in Buffer D supplemented with the reducing agent TCEP and was used both for protein crystallisation and enzymatic assays.



Figure 83: SDS-PAGE gel of ADH10 large-scale purification. Lane 1: Protein molecular marker; lanes 2-10: elution fractions after 2D purification by His-trap and gel-filtration of ADH10 expressed in *E. coli*.

4.2.3 pH assay with ADH10

ADH10 reactions with strictosidine aglycon were carried out at different pH values to test the effect of the pH on the reaction. Strictosidine was deglycosylated *in situ* and then the cofactor, NADPH, and an aliquot of ADH10 was added to the reaction. A small panel of different buffers was used to test the activity of ADH10 by LC-MS. The reaction was sampled at 1 minute and 10 minutes (table 12). The results of this assay suggest a larger quantity of product is formed when using citrate buffer at pH 6.0. All assays above pH 6.0 performed worse than all assays below

pH 6.0 in this endpoint assay, suggesting a lower pH is conductive for more product formation. As with the HYSs it is unclear if the increased product formation at low pH is due to the enzyme becoming more active or due to the increase in product equilibration into the isomer available for reduction by the enzyme, as described in Chapter 3.

Table 12: ADH10 product formed in different pH buffers in endpoint assays. The highest performance was recorded in Citrate pH 6.0 buffer, highlighted in red.

	Peak response area		
Buffer used	1 min	10 min	
Phosphate pH 5.0	300048	546515	
MES pH 5.5	213559	425088	
Phosphate pH 6.0	251409	540379	
Citrate pH 6.0	391654	651093	
MES pH 6.5	178430	410661	
Phosphate pH 7.0	111245	329108	
Phosphate pH 8.0	52270	144047	
HEPES pH 8.0	39150	131662	

4.2.4 Kinetic studies of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon

Spectrophotometric assays using a strictosidine concentration above 100 μ M is not feasible as strictosidine aglycon is insoluble in water and forms precipitates which interfere with the absorbance reading. Therefore ADH10 could not be tested with starting concentrations of strictosidine above 100 μ M. The initial velocity was highest at a substrate concentration of 100 μ M and decreased with the lower concentrations tested (fig. 84, A). As with many enzymes that use the reactive strictosidine aglycon as a substrate, large fluctuation and variability was observed during these assays and therefore no concrete conclusions were drawn from these experiments and results in triplicate are not reported. ADH10 (50 nM) was also tested at different pH values (6.0 to 7.5) with 100 μ M of substrate (fig. 84, B). The results resembled those obtained when product formed was monitored by LC-MS (table 12) with the assay at pH 6.0 performing better than the reactions at higher pH.



Figure 84: Activity assay of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon. Consumption of NADPH was followed spectrophotometrically at 340 nm at four different concentrations of strictosidine. A: activity of ADH10 at different concentrations of substrate; B: activity of ADH10 at different pH with 100 μ M substrate.

4.2.5 High resolution Mass-spectrometry and fragmentation

The LC-MS chromatogram of the enzymatic product did not correspond to authentic standards of any available MIAs. The purified reaction product was initially analysed by high-resolution MS to determine its exact mass and molecular formula (fig. 85). It was determined the product had a mass of 371.1967 m/z. This mass is very close (0.5 ppm error) to the calculated mass of $353 + H_2O$ (371.1965 m/z). The fragmentation pattern of the 371 product indicated that it is an indole with the classic 144 fragment observed for other indole alkaloids (Sagi et al., 2015). The other abundant fragments are 353, and 342. The removal of hydroxyl group as water is responsible for the fragmentation into 353. The 342 fragment could potentially arise from the loss of a CH_2O functional group.



Figure 85: High-resolution MS-MS of the ADH10 product. The fragmentation of the product produces the fragments 353, 342, 324, and 144.

4.2.6 NMR characterisation of the ADH10 product

A large-scale reaction and NMR characterisation was necessary for determining the structure of the ADH10 product. Purification was carried out by TLC as opposed to preparative HPLC chromatography because the product was discovered to be unstable in the acidic chromatography conditions used in HPLC. The product mixture purified from the reaction presented multiple bands when analysed on TLC (fig. 86). The largest bands were initially tested using MS to determine which was the major product observed in the enzyme assays. It was found that the uppermost band (most hydrophobic) corresponded to the ADH10 product based on elution time and fragmentation pattern. Although there were some contaminants they were very low in concentration and therefore it was not necessary to further purify the product.



Figure 86: Large-scale purification of ADH10 product. The EtOAc-soluble compounds were spotted on the left and the MeOH-soluble compounds were spotted on the right. An old sample of purified ADH10 product which had degraded was also ran for comparison.



Figure 87: ¹H-NMR of ADH10 product. Peaks determined to be due to contaminants are shaded teal. Numbering is done following strictosidine and vallesiachotamine numbering. $18-CH_3$ (at 1.36 ppm) is not included in this figure. The ring D is indicated on the proposed chemical structure.

The ADH10 product was dissolved in CDCl₃ and analysed exhaustively by different NMR methods including ¹H-NMR (fig. 87), COSY, HMBC (fig. 92), H2BC, and ROESY (fig. 88). The combination of

these measurements allowed the assignment of the hydrogens to the corresponding carbons and also the assignment of the stereochemistry at all the carbons. Correlations between carbons and hydrogens are illustrated in figures 90 and 91.



Figure 88: ROESY spectra of ADH10 product. The H-21 is picked out and the correlations with 18-CH₃ and the two H-5 are illustrated in dotted line.

ROESY is able to detect correlations in space up to 5 Å of distance. Interestingly, the ROESY indicates that the conformation of the ADH10 product brings the H-21 into proximity with the C-5 hydrogens. Therefore the C-18-19-20-21 group must be positioned below the ring D of the molecule. This is reminiscent of the proposed orientation of the predominant conformation of deformyl-E-geissoschizine in which the two H-16 are in close spatial proximity to the H β -6 (Jokela et al., 1993) (fig. 89) and therefore there is precedence for such a correlation between distantly connected hydrogens.



Figure 89: Deformyl-E-geissoschizine conformation. 6-C hydrogens are illustrated in blue and the 16-C hydrogens are in red. The electron doublet of N-4 is also illustrated.



Figure 90: Correlations between carbons and hydrogens of the ADH10 product, as measured by NMR in CDCl_3 .





Figure 91: HMBC correlations between carbons and hydrogens of the ADH10 product, as measured by NMR in CDCl_3 .



Figure 92: HMBC of ADH10 product. Display is only of the aromatic region, including H-21. The satellite peaks of carbons are illustrated in grey for clarity. The carbons with correlations to the hydrogens are each coloured differently.

Correlations between the indole moiety and the remainder of the molecule were apparent through the C-2 and the C-7. By decreasing the contour level in the HMBC we observe a cross-peak between H-21 and C-2 which is also correlated with the NH, thus confirming the two parts of the molecule are connected through the C-2 and C-7 (fig. 92).

Overall the correlations for this product suggest a structure that is similar to the natural MIA products vallesiachotamine and antirhine (fig. 93). Vallesiachotamine differs from the ADH10 product at the C-21 and C-19 positions; C-21 of vallesiachotamine has an aldehyde and has a vinyl function at position C-19. Furthermore, vallesiachotamine is oxidised at the C-17-C-16 bond whereas the ADH10 product is reduced. Antirhine, although it is reduced, lacks the COOCH₃ function on C-16. The ADH10 product is α - β unsaturated at position C-20-C-19 and has a hydroxyl on C-19. The ADH10 product was given the name 19,21-dihydro-17-dehydrovallesiachotamine, and the trivial name vitrosamine. Neither vallesiachotamine or antirhine are available commercially to compare spectra. As mentioned earlier the product does not seem to correspond to any product found in *C. roseus* leaf extracts, and has not been reported to have been isolated from any *C. roseus* tissue. The ADH10 product may be further derivatised by other enzymes, which is why it is not observable in *C. roseus*.


Vallesiachotamine

Figure 93: Vallesiachotamine

4.2.7 Results of deuterium labelling

Given the product structure it was apparent there were multiple bonds which could have been reduced by the action of ADH10. To pinpoint which bond was reduced, deuterium labelling was carried out using pro-*S* deuterium labelled NADPD. ADH10 is a member of the SDR family of ADHs; these typically transfer the pro-*S* hydride of the cofactor. The ADH10 product generated with this labelled cofactor was determined by LC-MS to have a mass of 372 (*m*/*z*) which corresponds to one hydrogen atom being replaced by a deuterium atom. This excludes the possibility that ADH10 could be performing a second reaction on the substrate by reducing an aldehyde moiety to produce a hydroxyl. The ¹H-NMR analysis indicated that the H-17β (3.55) had disappeared and the *J* coupling constants of H-17 α (10.9) shifted to 7.1 (fig. 94). COSY analysis of the product showed only a cross peak at 4.11 and the cross peak at 3.55 was missing. Taken together these data indicate that the cofactor hydride is added to the C-17 at the β position (above the ring D).



Figure 94: NMR spectra of deuterated ADH10 product (top) compared to non-deuterated ADH10 product (bottom). Signal from contaminants is coloured grey.

4.2.8 Crystallisation

Crystallisation of the enzyme was attempted using commercially available screens and also with optimised solutions. ADH10 produced crystals overnight in certain conditions of the JCSG+ suite. These first hits were collected and analysed at the Diamond Light Source Synchrotron but unfortunately none diffracted to good resolution (below 2.5 Å). Therefore optimisation screens were setup with sitting drop in MRC 2-drop 96-well plates (fig. 95-97). Various conditions were tested and constituents of those conditions are detailed in table 13. It appears PEG is necessary for ADH10 crystallisation as well as a slightly acidic pH.

Table 13: Crystallisation hit conditions	used in optimisation screens
------------------------------------------	------------------------------

Condition	Buffer	рН	Salt	Precipitant
1	0.1 M MMT	4.0	-	25% PEG 1500
2	0.1 M MES	6.5	-	25% PEG 8000
3	0.1 M Bis-tris	5.5	0.1 M MgCl2	25% PEG 3350

PEG %	PEG	400	PEG 1500		PEG 3350		PEG 1500		PEG 3350		PEG 8000	
30%					a +	а			+	Н		
					a +		+		а			
					+							
					+							
15%												
	0.1 M MMT buffer pH 4.0				0.1 M MES buffer pH 6.5							

Figure 95: Optimisation screen using condition 1 and 2 from table 13. Columns containing drops with apo or NADP⁺ protein are indicated in gray. Columns containing drops with apo or NADPH protein are indicated in white. The PEG used in each column is indicated above the columns and the percentage of that PEG is indicated at the left of the figure. The buffer content is indicated below the column at the bottom of the figure. a : crystals in apo drops; + : crystals in NADP⁺ containing drops.



Figure 96: First crystallisation optimisation screen using condition 3 from table 13. Rows shaded in gray and pink contain 0.1 M and 0.2 M MgCl2 respectively. PEG 3350 is used throughout the screen. a : crystals in apo drops.



Figure 97: Second crystallisation optimisation screen using condition 3 from table 13. A pH gradient was generated by mixing 1 M Bis-tris at pH 5.5 with 1 M Bis-tris propane at pH 8.5 in different amounts for a final concentration of 0.1 M buffer. Each well contained 0.2 M MgCl2 and PEG 3350 at different concentrations. a : crystals in apo drops; H : crystals in NADPH-containing drops. The wells shaded in gray contained showers of microcrystals.

The highest resolution crystal was obtained from the MMT buffer optimised screen (table 13) in 0.1 M MMT with 24 % PEG 3350 (fig. 95). Unfortunately, the crystals that appeared in the NADPH-containing drops were very fragile and appeared to deflate when touched with a loop. The few crystals that were successfully mounted did not diffract to high resolution and were not analysed further. Interestingly, the apo crystals which diffracted were found to have a high occupancy of NADP⁺. This indicates that ADH10 is purified from *E. coli* already bound to NADP⁺ or

NADPH. For this reason, and because of the low resolution obtained with true apo crystals, the effort to produce better resolution apo crystals was abandoned.

4.2.9 Crystal structure of ADH10

ADH10 is not a metalloenzyme and it was not soaked with heavy metals, therefore molecular replacement was used to phase the crystal structure. When submitted to Swiss Model (Arnold et al., 2006, Guex et al., 2009, Kiefer et al., 2009) the closest match is the opium poppy enzyme Salutaridine reductase (PsSalR, fig. 98, Higashi et al. (2011)). PsSalR has only 53.2 % identity with ADH10 and therefore it is not an ideal model for this enzyme. However, at the time of dataset collection all other characterised and crystallised proteins had lower similarity to ADH10.



Figure 98: PsSalR reduction reaction on salutaridine.

ADH10 crystallised as a globular dimer in the asymmetric unit. In solution ADH10 is present as a monomer (determined during gel filtration purification for crystallisation, results not shown). The structure is characterised by a core of seven parallel β -sheets framed on either side by α -helices. The active site cavities face each other and are framed by the flexible loop extending over the active site, here called "lid". This lid extends from residue 100 to residue 128 (100-VITDVEAVKKLNPAEDPADVDFSKIYKET-128) and is largely disordered in the crystal structure (fig. 99). The electron density in the lid area is too diffuse for accurate model building of the lid in this crystal structure. A lid reconstruction was attempted to coax more information from the data but extra density was not recovered after subsequent refinement using Refmac. Therefore, the lid section was truncated to the last residues which presented sufficient electron density (Val104 and Ala117). A version of the protein with the maximum amount of residues built into the density is used for illustration purposes here. The lid appears to wrap itself around the lid of the other monomer of ADH10 in the asymmetric unit in a head-to-head orientation (fig. 99). This brings the two active sites in proximity, across from each other (distance between the two NADP⁺ C4 is 17.2 Å).



Figure 99: Overview of crystal structure of ADH10. Chain A is displayed in light blue and teal, chain B is displayed in gold and coral (body of the enzyme and lid, respectively). A and C: front view of the two chains in ribbon representation and space-filling respectively; B and D: top view of the two chains in ribbon representation and space-filling respectively. The NADP⁺ is visible as cylinders with green bonds in the ribbon representations.

An extensive network of amino acid side chains and backbone amides holds the cofactor in place in the enzyme active site (fig. 100). The residues Ile20, Val68, Asn94, and Ala254 interact either with the carbonyl oxygen and/or nitrogen on the protein backbone. There are also a large number of water molecules coordinated to the cofactor and to the residue network holding the cofactor in place (fig. 101). The predicted active site residues, Tyr223 and Lys227, coordinate the ribose hydroxyls of the cofactor through hydrogen bonding. These residues are predicted to be part of the classic SDR catalytic triad Ser-Tyr-Lys (Filling et al., 2002, Jörnvall et al., 1995).



Figure 100: Electron density in the active site of ADH10. A: electron density around the cofactor, contoured at 0.55 Å of distance, the loop which lies over the cofactor is indicated; B: electron density around the water molecules within 2.5 Å of the cofactor, the water molecule coordinated to the active site tyrosine is indicated.



Figure 101: Network of ADH10 residues holding the NADP(H) cofactor in place. The image is calculated using Poseview (Stierand and Rarey, 2010). The active site residues Tyr223 and Lys227 also interact with the cofactor ribose moiety (bottom left). Hydrophobic interactions are illustrated as green lines; hydrogen bonds are illustrated as dashed black lines.

The active site appears to be easily accessible to the bulk solvent but appears to be largely hydrophobic as evidenced by the electrostatic potential map of the proteins' surface (fig. 102). This hydrophobic nature of the active site could be assisting the correct orientation of the substrate in preparation for catalysis. The aglycon substrate iminium would likely occupy the space occupied by the Tyr23-coordinated water molecule.



Figure 102: Electrostatic potential map of the surface of ADH10. The NADP⁺ is illustrated as cylinders with green carbons and the Tyr223-coordinated water molecule is illustrated as a red sphere. The active site cavity is indicated by a red line.

4.2.10 Comparison to Salutaridine Reductase

One of the top hits when subjecting the ADH10 amino acid sequence to SwissModel (Kiefer et al., 2009) is the BIA biosynthetic enzyme PsSalR (Higashi et al., 2011). The other two top hits are the recently published crystal structures of menthone neomenthol reductase and isopiperitenone reductase (MMR and IPR, described in Chapter 1) from *Mentha piperita* (Lygidakis et al., 2016), but these enzymes act on a smaller, non-alkaloid, substrate. Furthermore, MMR is not stereoselective for one product, which is different to both ADH10 and PsSalR which are both stereoselective, and IPR does not have a classic catalytic triad, it instead has a glutamate in place of the tyrosine. For these reasons the ADH10 crystal structure and active site are compared here to PsSalR. Pairwise sequence alignment of ADH10 and PsSalR protein sequences were done with ClustalW in Geneious v8 using a BLOSUM matrix. The two proteins share 53.2 % identity and the identity is spread out over the entire sequence (fig. 103).



Figure 103: Alignment of ADH10 and PsSalR with secondary structures annotated. Sequence numbering is based on ADH10. Identical sites are illustrated in red and similar sites in yellow. The secondary structure is shown as arrows for the β -sheets and as helices for the α -helices. A disulphide bond in PsSalR is shown by a green '1'. The lid sections do not share very many similarities (residue 100 to 128 in ADH10).

An alignment of the ADH10 crystal structure and of PsSalR (PDB accession code: 3O26, Higashi et al. (2011)) from opium poppy (*Papaver somniferum*) was carried out in PyMol (v 1.1, DeLano Scientific LLC). The two structures are globally very similar with an overall RMSD of 0.618 Å (221 residues aligned). The main differences were found in the lid sections of the two proteins (fig. 104): in PsSalR the lid is mainly composed of α -helices and folds over the active site, whereas in ADH10 it appears disordered and interacts with the other monomer lid. PsSalR was crystallised as a monomer and therefore the lid is not interacting with another monomer. The lid of PsSalR has adopted a helical structure which folds over the active site (fig. 104, panel A). Given the high

structural similarity of ADH10 and PsSalR the lid of ADH10 could also adopt a helical conformation when in monomer form, similar to that seen in PsSalR.

The catalytic triad (Ser-Tyr-Lys) is positioned in nearly identical orientation in PsSalR and in ADH10. Therefore the substrate specificity must arise from the substrate binding in the active site. Amino acids which are different in ADH10 compared to PsSalR are Asn98 (Ala102 in PsSalR), Met169 (PsSalR: Thr182), Phe253 (PsSalR: Leu266), and Leu258 (PsSalR: Met271) (fig. 104). The water molecule coordinated to the active site tyrosine is present in both structures at the same location. As in PsSalR ADH10 has a loop which lies over the cofactor in the active site (265-279 in PsSalR, 252-266 in ADH10, fig. 104, panel A). This loop in fact carries both the Phe253 and the Leu258 of ADH10 which are Leu and Met in PsSalR.

Interestingly, the cofactor is quite buried in both these proteins, as evidenced by the space-filling model (fig. 104, panels C and D). As suggested by Higashi et al. (2011), the mobility of the lid could be for easy loading and release of the cofactor during catalysis. Concerted conformational changes could be responsible for the binding and release of the cofactor and those would involve movement of the lid and also the loop section.



Figure 104: Comparison of SalR and ADH10 superimposed crystal structures. ADH10 is illustrated in light gray and SalR is illustrated in gold in all panels. A: general overview of crystal structures, NADP⁺ is visible in the active site cleft; B: catalytic triad in the enzymes active sites illustrated as cylidners; C: ADH10 active site with catalytic triad (Ser167, Tyr223, and Lys227) and amino aicds which differ (Asn98, Met169, Phe253, and Leu258) illustrated as cylinders; D: PsSalR active

site with catalytic triad (Ser180, Tyr236, and Lys240) and different amino acids (Ala102, Thr182, Leu226, and Met271) illustrated as cylinders.

4.2.11 Mutations to ADH10 active site

Mutations to PsSalR Met271 and Asn272 had a detrimental effect to the activity of PsSalR. Mutations to Leu266 had an effect on the K_m of the enzyme but not so much on the k_{cat}, and mutations to Thr182 did not have a strong effect (Higashi et al., 2011).

To explore the mechanism of action of ADH10, mutations were also made in this protein. The amino acids Lys227, Ser167, and Tyr223 are positioned in the active site near the nicotinamide ring of the cofactor (fig. 104, panel B). Each amino acid was mutated to an alanine to probe its role in the catalysis of reduction. Each mutant was expressed as a His₆-tag fusion in *E. coli* and purified by Ni-NTA column. Expression was at similar levels for all mutants, and similar to the expression achieved when expressing the WT enzyme (fig. 105).



Figure 105: SDS-PAGE analysis of ADH10 mutants expression. Lane 1: Molecular marker; 2: ADH10 K227A; 3: ADH10 S167A; 4: ADH10 Y223A.

Assays conducted with the mutant ADH10 indicate that Tyr223 is necessary for catalysis. When mutated to alanine the major product (371 and 353) is not produced but the minor product at m/z 353 is still produced (fig. 106). This is typical for SDR enzymes (Jörnvall et al., 1995). Mutation to the other active site amino acids Lys227 and Ser167 did not have a dramatic impact on the product profile, although they both qualitatively reduced the enzyme activity based on endpoint assays. Both mutants were functional and a product of mass 371 and also of 353 was detected at the expected retention time (fig. 106).



Figure 106: LC-MS trace of ADH10 and its mutants. Y223A (orange), WT (red), S167A (blue), K227A (green).

Analysis of the enzyme assays using a longer LC-MS method was carried out to determine the nature of the reaction by-products. The chromatograms were compared to an enzymatic reaction performed with HYS in the same conditions. The by-product visible in some reaction traces (fig. 107) coelutes with THA. The very low amount of THA could be a result of background reduction of cathenamine in solution. However, it is not possible to exclude the possibility that ADH10 is capable of reducing the pro-THA iminium form of cathenamine. There is no evidence that ADH10 has the ability to produce AJM or 19EA. No other heteroyohimbines are visible in these enzymatic reactions.



2.00 4.00 6.00 8.00 10.00 12.00 14.00 16.00 18.00 20.00 22.00

Figure 107: LC-MS trace of enzyme assays with ADH10 and its mutants compared to a HYS reaction. Assays analysed by LC-MS using the "separation method" and monitored using an MRM developed for heteroyohimbines (353 m+/z). Black trace: HYS reaction, producing AJM, 19EA, and THA; orange: ADH10 Y223A mutant; green: ADH10 K227A; blue: ADH10 S127A; red: ADH10 WT.

4.2.12 Proposed mechanism for ADH10 product formation

While HYSs act on cathenamine or the iminium tautomer of cathenamine to form a heteroyohimbine (Chapters 2 and 3), ADH10 generates a completely different backbone. Therefore, ADH10 uses a different rearrangement product of strictosidine aglycon, one in which reaction of the aldehyde at C-17 (not C-21 as in cathenamine) cyclises to form the D ring. If ADH10 binds the enamine it could be actively catalysing the equilibration to the iminium through providing a water molecule in close proximity to the C-16 (as discussed for the HYSs mechanism in Chapter 3). It could also bind the correct isomer of the iminium if it is present in solution.

Reduction would occur in a concerted manner, with the NADPH C-4 hydride attacking the C-17 from the top face of the substrate, thus forcing the electrons to move onto N-4 and then to abstract the proton from the Tyr223 hydroxyl (fig. 108). This is possible because of the basic side chain of Lys227 in very close proximity, which could lower the pKa of Tyr223 through the hydrogen bonding network with the cofactor ribose moiety. The Tyr223 abstracts a hydrogen from the ribose hydroxyl which in turn takes a hydrogen from Lys227. Lys227 can either take a proton from the solvent at this stage (there are many water molecules in the active site in close proximity) or could take one from the other hydroxyl of the cofactor ribose moiety to which it is also hydrogen bonded. The resulting product has the correct stereochemistry at C-17 and is released from the active site. The role of the active site serine, which is not essential according to mutagenesis studies, is not entirely clear.



Figure 108: Mechanism proposal for reduction of strictosidine aglycon by ADH10. The cofactor and the hydrogens originating from it are illustrated in red; the active site residues and the hydrogens originating from them are illustrated in green; water molecule and the hydrogen originating from it are illustrated in blue.

4.2.13 Abundance of the pro-vitrosamine substrate in solution

An attempt was carried out to measure the kinetic constants of ADH10 with spectrophotometric methods, but it was quickly realised that the pro-vitrosamine substrate is in such low concentration that it was not possible to carry out any meaningful kinetics.



Figure 109: Spectra of absorbance at 340nm of THAS1 and ADH10 reaction at pH 7 with strictosidine aglycon at 100 μ M. Addition of the ADH10 was done after the THAS1 reaction had reached a plateau.



Figure 110: Equilibrium between the C-21 cyclised and C-17 cyclised aglycon is most likely not equal. The left part of the diagram represents the cyclisation between the N-4 and C-21 which is more abundant than the cyclisation between N-4 and C-17 on the right part of the diagram.

However, it was possible to calculate the relative abundance of the ADH10 substrate compared to the HYS substrates. The addition of THAS1 to a reaction mixture first allowed the determination of the abundance of cathenamine, the THAS1 substrate, in solution. THAS1 consumed the available cathenamine within 5 minutes. Addition of ADH10 after (or before) the THAS1 resulted in consumption of substrate as well, indicating that these two enzymes do not compete for the same substrate (fig. 109). The NADPH consumed in these experiments corresponded to the NADPH consumption when the enzymes acted in absence of the other.

The difference in absorbance from the beginning to the plateau (Δ_{THAS1}) was calculated in triplicate and was determined to be 16.5 ± 2.5 % of the total strictosidine aglycon pool. The

same was done for ADH10 and it was determined that the pro-vitrosamine substrate of ADH10 is present in 3.1 ± 0.7 % of the total strictosidine pool. That leaves approximately 80% of the substrate unavailable to either enzyme. This difference in equilibrium between the cathenamine and the vallesiachotamine forms is illustrated in fig. 110.

4.3 Discussion

4.3.1 Vallesiachotamine-type alkaloids

The alkaloid vallesiachotamine was first characterised by Djerassi et al. (1966)(fig. 111). This natural product has been shown to have some cytotoxic activity against human cancer cell lines with low- μ M IC₅₀ values (Feng et al., 2010). It was originally purified from bark of the South-American plant *Vallesia glabra* (synonym *V. dichotoma*, Apocynaceae) and mass spectrometry and elemental analysis revealed it has the chemical structure C₂₁H₂₂N₂O₃ (Walser and Djerassi, 1965). The authors noted that the compound is relatively unstable in presence of air or light, something which was also noted during this work with the product of ADH10. They propose that the precursor to vallesiachotamine is a corynantheine alkaloid, such as corynantheine. This precursor would undergo hydroxylation at the carbon adjacent to the N4 and could then equilibrate into an open form and ring closure could occur again after rotation of half the molecule around the C-15-C-14 bond (fig. 112).



Figure 111: Vitrosamine compared to the MIA vallesiachotamine and antirhine. Isovallesiachotamine has the Z configuration at C-18,19 while vallesiachotamine has the E configuration. The ring numbering is indicated in the ADH10 product structure.

Djerassi et al. (1966) attempted to solve the structure of vallesiachotamine by reducing it with chemical reducing agents. They demonstrated that reduction of the enamine bond of vallesiachotamine with sodium borohydride in ethanolic solution is not possible, but is possible in a glacial acetic acid solution, which in theory lowers the pH to a value that allows equilibration to the iminium.



Figure 112: Proposed generation of vallesiachotamine from geissoschizine. Redrawn from Djerassi et al. (1966).

Smith (1968) had observed that hydrolysis of strictosidine led to the formation of the two diastereomers of vallesiachotamine (at C-19). It is not clear why vallesiachotamine and not cathenamine would be formed under the conditions used, but perhaps cathenamine was produced but not stable enough to be characterised by Smith (1968). Kan-Fan and Husson (1979) also found that 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine yielded a mixture of the vallesiachotamine isomers when incubated in a buffered solution at pH 4 for 24 h. However, how the authors were able to purify and use pure strictosidine aglycon isomers with such certainty is incomprehensible as we have observed a large mixture of interconverting isomers in solution with cathenamine being the most stable one (i.e. the most abundant) (Stavrinides et al., 2016). Shen et al. (1998) incubated purified strictosidine with a bacterial culture of *Staphylococcus aureus* at pH 7.2 and observed that after 24 h incubation a yellow precipitate had formed (bacteria possess non-specific glucosidases capable of deglycosylating strictosidine). Upon purification of this precipitate the workers discovered that it consisted of vallesiachotamine and isovallesiachotamine in a 2:1 ratio. Interestingly, the yield for this reaction was rather low (15 mg (5.25 moles) of yellow precipitate from 220 mg (116.6 moles) of initial strictosidine, or 4.5% molar yield).

4.3.2 Characterisation of ADH10

ADH10 is capable of reducing, in the presence of NADPH, strictosidine aglycon to yield a product of m/z 371 which is relatively unstable. A large-scale reaction and purification allowed a thorough characterisation of the product with NMR. 2D-NMR characterisation of the product allowed assignment of all carbons and hydrogens. The product, given the name vitrosamine, appears to have the same stereochemistry at C-3 as strictosidine but ring D has been cyclised in a manner similar to vallesiachotamine, rather than cathenamine (fig. 113 below). All previously reported alcohol dehydrogenases found in the MIA pathway proceed via the intermediate cathenamine. However, the structure of the vitrosamine clearly shows that an alternative isomer of strictosidine aglycon is reduced (fig. 113). The iminium is formed by equilibration of the precursor by proton addition at C-16 to yield a carbon with (*S*) stereochemistry. Reduction by ADH10 with the help of the cofactor NADPH at C-17 produces the final product with a m/z of 371. Mutations to the active site showed that Tyr223 is necessary for generation of the main WT product (371 and 353). Mutations to Lys227 did not have such a detrimental effect on the activity of ADH10 compared to the Tyr223 mutation, and mutation to Ser127 did not have much effect on the final product amount of the reaction. This is in line with previous reports of the active site tyrosine being critical for catalysis (Chen et al., 1993, Filling et al., 2002). Therefore this enzyme consists of a classic Ser-Tyr-Lys triad, with the tyrosine being responsible for the catalysis. This is also evident in the crystal structure of ADH10 where we observe Tyr223 and Lys227 in direct contact with the cofactor ribose hydroxyl groups. Furthermore, Tyr223 is coordinating a water molecule in the active site in close proximity to the nicotinamide C-4, which provides the hydride during reduction of the substrate. The substrate appears to undergo hydroxylation at the C-19 position to yield the second hydroxyl group (fig. 114 in section 4.3.4, in lilac). It is not clear if this hydration is enzymatically catalysed or spontaneous.

4.3.3 Comparison to heteroyohimbine biosynthesis

After deglycosylation, strictosidine aglycon can rearrange to produce different backbones. Dialdehyde formation is followed by dehydration and ring closure. While most alkaloids form from cathenamine or dehydrogeissoschizine, the work presented here demonstrates that alkaloids can also form from an alternative ring closure event (fig. 113). In the case of cathenamine the ring closure happens from the aldehyde adjacent to C-21. In the case of vallesiachotamine, antirhine, and vitrosamine the ring D closure happens from the aldehyde adjacent to C-17. This alternative cyclisation gives rise to more chemical diversity and results in a backbone with different features to those found on the yohimbine and heteroyohimbine molecules.



Figure 113: Backbone rearrangement of strictosidine aglycon. Strictosidine aglycon can rearrange to give rise to different backbones. Rotation around the C-15-C-20 bond (pink arrow) and subsequent cyclisation of ring D can give rise to the cathenamine and geissoschizine backbones. On the other hand rotation around the C-14-C-15 bond (blue arrow) and subsequent cyclisation of ring D can give rise to ADH10, leading to vallesiachotamine and antirhine.

Interestingly, the major product of ADH10 is the stereoisomer with (*S*) stereochemistry at C-16. The enzyme might be selective for that stereoisomer that spontaneously forms in solution, or as with the HYS enzymes, ADH10 could directly generate this stereocentre by controlling the enamine/iminium tautomerisation.

4.3.4 Mechanism of ADH10 product formation

Equilibration of strictosidine aglycon into the ADH10 pro-vitrosamine substrate can occur in solution. First, the dialdehyde intermediate rotates around the C-14-C-15 bond (fig. 114). Cyclisation by condensation of the amine and C-17 aldehyde occurs and the stereocentre at C-16 can be set at any point thereafter by equilibration between the imine and enamine form of the molecule, just as with cathenamine. Based on the configuration of C-16 of the ADH10 product it appears that either the enzyme or the pro-vitrosamine substrate favours one steric configuration over another, as is observed with the preference of HYS for cathenamine over epi-cathenamine. The ADH10 appears to selectively accept the C-17-N-4 cyclised iminium intermediate from solution rather than cathenamine or 19-epicathenamine. Despite the structural information available for ADH10, it is still unclear what molecular features of the active site are responsible for this substrate selectivity.



Figure 114: Hypothetical mechanism for generation of the ADH10 product from strictosidine. Strictosidine aglycon is illustrated equilibrating to the dialdehyde form and then rotation of the C-14 and C-15 bond occurs, bringing the aldehyde into proximity of the nitrogen. Cyclisation occurs and loss of water follows which gives rise to the iminium. Hydration of the alkene at C-19 generates the hydroxyl group. The timing of the reaction illustrated in lilac is not known. ADH10 finally catalyses the reduction of the iminium and gives rise to the final product, vitrosamine.



Vallesiachotamine

Figure 115: Vallesiachotamine

Here I propose that vallesiachotamine (fig. 115) is naturally occurring in plants which produce deglycosylated strictosidine, and can be produced from strictosidine aglycon without any need for enzyme activity. The product of ADH10 is a direct reduction product of the deglycosylated strictosidine intermediate which is also the precursor to vallesiachotamine. It is not clear if ADH10 can also reduce vallesiachotamine; to determine that an assay with purified vallesiachotamine would be necessary and unfortunately this compound is not available.

It is not clear if the role of ADH10 *in planta* is to produce the product that is observed *in vitro*. Colleagues attempted to silence ADH10 by Virus Induced Gene Silencing, but no clear metabolic changes were observed. Given the high levels of ADH10 expression and the lack of observable vitrosamine it is reasonable to suggest that reduction of strictosidine aglycon is not the primary role of ADH10 and the activity observed is a spurious discovery. Nevertheless, the discovery of this enzyme enriches our understanding of the complexity of biosynthetic pathways in plants and adds a new enzyme to our biosynthetic toolkit.

4.3.5 Comparison to HYSs of C. roseus

ADH10 provides a parallel to the heteroyohimbine synthases discovered and described in the previous chapters. Although it is a member of the SDR family while the HYSs are members of the MDR family, ADH10 also reduces an iminium of deglycosylated strictosidine, as do the HYSs. The lack of formation of any significant amount of heteroyohimbine in the ADH10 reaction indicates it is selective for the alternatively cyclised strictosidine aglycon substrate in its active site. Efforts to dock the supposed substrate into the active site of the ADH10 crystal structure did not result in an unambiguous docked substrate orientation (results not shown). The residues framing the active site, either on the loop or the flap could be interacting with the substrate in a way that is not easy to foresee. Therefore it is difficult to understand how the active site of ADH10 is stereoselective for the alternatively cyclised substrate.



Figure 116: Reduction parallels between ADH10 reaction (1), the proposed (enzyme not yet discovered) 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine reduction (2), and the HYS reaction (3). The double bond (probably) reduced is indicated in red and the proton originating from NADPH is indicated in green.

ADH10 reduces pro-vitrosamine iminium from the opposite face than the HYSs using the pro-*S* hydride of the NADPH cofactor rather than the pro-*R*. This is a result of the orientation in which the substrate docks in the active site. This could be a guide to determining which type of enzyme could do similar reduction reactions in *C. roseus* and related plants. As the substrate is so similar in all these three cases (fig. 116) it is reasonable to suggest a similar enzyme could be reducing 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine into geissoschizine (the proposed precursor to many downstream MIA) as well. To find that enzyme a future researcher could start by incubating a crude *C. roseus* protein mixture with pro-*R* or pro-*S* labelled NADPD to determine which type of enzyme carries out the reduction. SDRs typically dock the cofactor in a way that the pro-*S* hydrogen is involved in reduction, and MDRs typically dock the cofactor in the opposite orientation. As demonstrated

here the substrates of these two enzymes also dock in opposite orientations in ADH10 and in HYSs, displaying the opposite face of the molecule to the cofactor. If 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine (the substrate in reaction 2) binds to the active site in the same manner then the labelling pattern would be indicative of the family of enzyme responsible for the reaction.

4.3.6 Similarities of ADH10 and Salutaridine Reductase

Although the enzymes structures are very similar, ADH10 and PsSalR catalyse different reactions. The high overlap in the active site cavities raises questions about the specificity of the enzymes and whether it is possible that ADH10 could also reduce salutaridine, or if PsSalR could also reduce strictosidine aglycon. Assays on substrate specificity of PsSalR done by Geissler et al. (2007) showed that the enzyme was specific for salutaridine, and stereospecifically produced 7-(*S*)-salutaridinol (fig. 117). Other substrates (intermediates from the morphine biosynthesis pathway) were not reduced by PsSalR, and neither were other plant SDR substrates such as tropinone and menthone. Strictosidine aglycon was not tested as substrate, but given the enzymes preference for salutaridine and disfavour of other morphine biosynthesis intermediates it would be very surprising if it accepted the substrate and catalysed the imine reduction. Salutaridine (or any other morphine biosynthesis intermediate) was not tested as substrate for ADH10; therefore it is not possible to draw any conclusions on its substrate specificity.



Figure 117: Proposed mechanism of salutaridine reduction by PsSalR. Figure redrawn from Geissler et al. (2007). The NADPH cofactor is drawn in red; the active site triad residues in green; substrate and product in black. The colour of the hydrogens of the product reflect where they originate from.

4.3.7 Precedence for SDR imine reductases

Reductases have great importance in the chemical synthesis industry, especially for generation of chiral products. There is interest in development of stereoselective imine reductases as biocatalysts (Scheller et al., 2014). Extensive studies have been conducted on imine reductases (IREDs) of *Streptomyces* sp. which are also members of the SDR enzyme family. Two IREDs with opposite stereoselectivity were discovered in two different *Streptomyces* strains, an (*S*)-IRED (Mitsukura et al., 2013), and an (*R*)-IRED (Mitsukura et al., 2011). Screening of the two enzymes against a panel of imine molecules revealed that they are promiscuous, and both have varying

amounts of preference for the different substrates and also different degrees of stereospecificity for the final products (Leipold et al., 2013, Hussain et al., 2015). Interestingly, for substrates tested for both IRED enzymes, the resulting products were usually of opposite configuration, suggesting that the enzymes were binding the substrates consistently in opposite orientations.



Figure 118: Comparison of orientation and position of hydride in ADH10 and (R)-IRED products. The hydride originating from NADPH is indicated in green in each case. The ADH10 catalyses the reduction to yield a pro-R hydride, as does (R)-IRED.

Hussain et al. (2015) were able to demonstrate that (R)-IRED is able to reduce an imine of a molecule similar to the MIA (fig. 118, right). This enzyme was capable of producing the (R) isomer with 74 % enantiomeric excess. However, during analysis of the ADH10 reaction products by LC-MS and NMR only the pro-R isomer has been detected. This suggests the binding constraints on the ADH10 substrate are larger than the constraints posed on (R)-IRED and the tested substrate. Binding of the ADH10 substrate in an opposite orientation would be non-conductive to successful reduction.

The Imine Reductase database (www.ired.biocatnet.de (Scheller et al., 2014, Fademrecht et al., 2016)) lists 12 sequences of IREDs originating from Eukaryotes. All the 12 sequences are from Eurotiomycetidae, more specifically from the families Aspergillaceae and Ajellomycetaceae. A BLAST search using ADH10 with a generous cutoff value of e-10 did not result in any hits. *C. roseus* ADH10 shares very low amino acid identity with these eukaryotic IREDs (maximum of 15.6 % with *Aspergillus oryzae* IRED). This could indicate that ADH10 has evolved its imine reducing capability independently of these fungal IREDs. As only a handful of eukaryotic IREDs (other than the HYSs and the ADH10 described here) have been described so far it is not possible to draw any concrete conclusions on this subject yet.

Some IREDs have been crystallised (for example PDB: 4OQY (Huber et al., 2014), and PDB: 3ZHB (Rodríguez-Mata et al., 2013)) and although they share some similarities with SDRs they have diverged from the SDRs quite considerably. Apart from the NADPH-binding domain, which contains the Rossmann fold, the IREDs possess a distinct dimerization domain at the C-terminal end composed mainly of α -helices. This is not found in the *C. roseus* ADH10 structure, although the "flap" appears to be promoting an enzyme dimerization in the crystal structure.

Interestingly, there is an SDR enzyme in the BIA biosynthetic pathway which appears to reduce an iminium moiety. Sanguinarine Reductase (SanR) from California poppy (*Eschscholzia californica*)

reduces sanguinarine to produce dihydrosanguinarine (Weiss et al., 2006) (fig. 119). This enzyme was not crystalized but instead a homology model was built based on the closest homolog (PDB accession code: 1XQ6, an enzyme from *Arabidopsis thaliana* of unknown function)(Vogel et al., 2010). The alkanolamine form of the substrate (fig. 120) was docked into the structure, but it is not clear if docking of sanguinarine was also attempted but unsuccessful. The authors therefore propose an unusual mechanism of reduction that involves the alkanolamide form of the substrate and the serine of the catalytic triad (fig. 120).



sanguinarine

dihydrosanguinarine

Figure 119: Reduction catalysed by SanR.



Figure 120: Proposed mechanism of SanR. Redrawn from Vogel et al. (2010). The active site residues are illustrated in green, the NADPH and the hydrogen originating from it are in red, and the substrate and product in black.

It is not reported if the workers used labelling to determine which cofactor hydride was transferred to the product (the pro-*S* or the pro-*R*), but given their molecular model it is more likely that the pro-*S* hydride is transferred, and therefore their mechanism proposal was probably mistaken. Likewise, it is not reported if labelling of the product was attempted. Consequently, it is not possible to say with any certainty without any labelling studies which face of the molecule the

hydride is oriented towards. If labelling had been carried out it would provide more evidence for the accurateness of the docking.

A mutagenesis was carried out on EcSanR to determine which residues are necessary for catalysis and substrate binding (Vogel et al., 2010). Of the catalytic triad only the serine was mutated (to alanine) but it is not clear why the workers did not mutate the other residues of the catalytic triad. Mutation to the serine (Ser153Ala) resulted in a reduction of catalytic efficiency (4 % V_{max}/K_m compared to 100 % of WT). Without studying the effect of mutations on the other two residues of the catalytic triad it is not possible to say with certainty that Ser153 is the residue responsible for catalysis. Such a mutation could have an effect on the active site dynamics, such as charge and substrate docking, and therefore the reduction in catalytic efficiency could be due to different factors. It is possible that EcSanR is in fact an imine reductase, and that it uses either the active site serine or tyrosine to catalyse the reaction in the same manner that ADH10 does.

A protozoan SDR enzyme, Pteridine Reductase (PTR1) from the parasites *Leishmania* and *Trypanosoma* (PTR1, (Gourley et al., 2001)), is an interesting detoxification enzyme which reduces an imine. This enzyme is involved in the resistance to dihydrofolates which are used as inhibitors for the essential metabolism of folates in these parasites. PTR1 is capable of reducing its substrate in two distinct ways (fig. 121). The first reaction is a reduction of an imine involving the classic SDR tyrosine-based catalysis. The second reduction, also of an imine, involves a coordinated water molecule and an arginine present on the opposite side of the active site to the tyrosine. In the first reduction the proton originates from tyrosine, but in the second reduction the two protons originate from the coordinated water molecule and the coordinated cofactor phosphate group.



Figure 121: Double reduction of dihydrofolate by PTR1. Redrawn from Gourley et al. (2001). The hydride originating from the NADPH cofactor is indicated in red; the water molecule implicated in the 2nd reduction is illustrated in blue; the active site residues implicated in the catalysis are illustrated in green; A represents the cofactor phosphate that interacts with the substrate.

PTR1 was crystallised as a complex with the cofactor and substrate and it appears to dock in a parallel orientation to the cofactor nicotinamide ring (Gourley et al., 2001). This enzyme does not have a "flap" like ADH10 or PsSalR and therefore direct parallels cannot be drawn between these. However, the mechanism proposed for the first reduction is similar to the proposed mechanism for reduction of pro-vitrosamine by ADH10.

4.4 Conclusions

The discovery of ADH10 from *C. roseus* indicates that an SDR can reduce strictosidine aglycon, and therefore should also be included in screening efforts for discovery of biosynthetic enzymes implicated in MIA pathways both in *C. roseus* and also in other MIA-producing plants. The product of ADH10, vitrosamine, is not detected in tissues of *C. roseus*, and has in fact never been described in the literature. There could be different factors for this, but an obvious explanation is that it is an "unnatural natural product" in that the product is not formed normally *in vivo* but can be produced *in vitro*.

ADH10 could be responsible for the reduction of another substrate *in vivo*, but Virus Induced Gene Silencing of ADH10 done by collaborators in the past did not show any significant decrease in any of the major MIA of *C. roseus*. ADH10 could be acting upon a much less abundant substrate, or its product could be transient and degraded or metabolised very fast *in vivo*. What's more, this *in vitro* product could be the result of a non-specific reaction and ADH10's true substrate could

be a similar but unstable product of another enzyme (such as a P450, or another reductase) acting on strictosidine aglycon. This phenomenon has been observed previously with secondary metabolism steps in MIA biosynthesis (Krithika et al., 2015, Qu et al., 2015). On the other hand, ADH10 could be part of a strictosidine aglycon detoxification suite of enzymes, as discussed for the HYSs in Chapter 3. Enzyme redundancy (as seen with the 5 HYSs) could mask any effect the Virus Induced Gene Silencing might have produced. There are no highly similar enzymes to ADH10 in the *C. roseus* genome, but even a low identity of ~53 % could not exclude the possibility that another enzyme could act as a candidate for the same reaction. This is what is seen with the HYSs, which do display a relatively low percentage of protein identity.

The similarity between ADH10 and the benzylisoquinoline biosynthetic enzyme PsSalR from the distantly related opium poppy is intriguing. This hints that perhaps this enzyme, or something similar, could be found in other organisms throughout the plant kingdom. A further investigation into other plants could reveal the extent to which enzymes with the lid and loop features are ubiquitous or not.

Why this branch of strictosidine-derived MIA is not as well developed as that of the corynantheine, iboga, and aspidosperma branches could stem from the fact that the substrate is not present in high enough amounts. As the experiments described in this chapter show, cathenamine forms approximately 14-20 % of the strictosidine aglycon pool whereas the ADH10 substrate forms just 2.4-4 % of the pool. The inherent reactivity and equilibration speed of the different forms of strictosidine aglycon governs the more abundant species and backbones which the plant can then utilise and build upon.

The discovery of this enzyme capable of reducing a different form of strictosidine aglycon opens the door to molecular engineering. This enzyme adds to the biosynthetic toolkit available for heterologous expression and production of "unnatural natural products". It also expands the already large chemical diversity possible from the central MIA precursor, strictosidine.

4.5 Materials and Methods

4.5.1 General molecular biology techniques used

Polymerase chain reaction, description of vectors used, RNA extraction and cDNA production, and details of the *E. coli* culture media used are detailed in Chapter 2.

4.5.2 Cloning of ADH10

Primers for amplification of the gene identified by Glenn (2013) from *C. roseus* cDNA were designed based on the ORF of transcript Cro013448 (ADH10) with pOPINF (Berrow et al., 2007) overhangs 5' AAGTTCTGTTTCAGGGCCCGGCCGCCATGGGTACC and 3' ATGGTCTAGAAAGCTTTATTCAAACGATGACTCCTCGC for directional cloning of ADH10 into the pOPINF vector. PCR was performed as detailed in Chapter 2 and the amplified gene fragment

was gel-purified from 1% agarose gel (Promega, UK) and cloned into the *E. coli* expression vector pOPINF following the manufacturer's instructions for ligation. Vectors were transformed into chemically competent *E. coli* Top10 cells by heat shock at 42°C for 30 seconds and then spread-plated onto LB+agar plates supplemented with carbenicillin (100 µg/mL). After a night of growth at 37 °C positive clones were identified by PCR using the gene-specific primers above and the HotStart Taq polymerase (Qiagen, UK). Positive colonies were grown overnight in 4 mL of LB media supplemented with the appropriate antibiotics at 37 °C. The following day plasmids were isolated from the cultures using the miniprep kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instructions. Vectors were verified visually by running on a 1% agarose gel at 100 V and the identity of the inserted sequence was confirmed by Sanger sequencing.

4.5.3 ADH10 expression assay

Chemically competent SoluBL21 E. coli cells (Novagen®, Merck Millipore, Massachusetts, USA) were transformed by heat shock at 42 °C with pOPINF plasmid containing the ADH10 coding sequence in frame with the N-terminal His₆-tag. Expression of His₆-tagged ADH10 protein in E. coli was tested in small scale at various temperatures and with different IPTG concentrations. Transformed cells were added to 50 mL starter culture of liquid LB media supplemented with carbenicillin (100 μg/mL) and incubated at 37 °C overnight with 200 rpm shaking. The cells were diluted 1:100 in 100 mL of 2 x YT media supplemented with carbenicillin (100 µg/mL) and allowed to grow at 37 °C with 200 rpm shaking. Two cultures were grown at 37 °C until an OD₆₀₀ of 1.2 and were induced by 1 and 0.1 mM IPTG respectively and allowed to express protein at 37 °C for 3.5 h. Cultures for expression at 18 or 10 °C were allowed to reach an OD₆₀₀ of approximately 0.6 and then chilled on ice before addition of 1, 0.5, or 0.1 mM IPTG. The cultures at lower temperature were incubated overnight at the respective temperatures for protein expression. The cultures at 37 °C were removed after 3.5 h and cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 4000 rpm and the supernatant removed. Cell pellets were stored at -80 °C until testing the next day. Cells were analysed for protein expression using the BugBuster® kit (Merck Millipore, UK) following manufacturer's instructions. An aliquot of each soluble fraction was analysed by SDS-PAGE.

4.5.4 ADH10 large-scale expression and purification

Cultures of SoluBL21 *E. coli* harbouring the pOPINF vector with ADH10 (2 L of 2 x YT) were prepared as described above. These were allowed to grow to an OD_{600} of 1.2 at 37 °C before inducing with 0.1 mM IPTG. Expression was done at 37 °C with 200 rpm shaking for 3.5 h, after which time the cultures were chilled on ice and then spun down at 4000 rpm for 10 min to pellet the cells. The pellet was resuspended in 200 mL of Phosphate Buffered Saline solution and pelleted again by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was stored at -80 °C overnight and the next day they were thawed and resuspended in 100 mL Buffer A (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 20 mM imidazole) supplemented with 2 mM of 2- β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma) along with EDTA-free protease inhibitor (Roche Diagnostics Ltd.). Cells were lysed using sonication for 4 minutes on ice

using 2 second pulses with a 5 minute pause after 2 minutes on ice. Cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation at 17×1000 g for 20 min and all large-scale purification steps were done at 4 °C.

His₆-tagged ADH10 was purified on an ÄKTAxpress purifier (GE Healthcare) using a HisTrap FF 5 mL column (GE Healthcare) equilibrated with Buffer A. The sample was loaded at a flow rate of 4 mL/min and step-eluted using Buffer B (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM NaCl, 5% glycerol, 500 mM imidazole) supplemented with 2 mM of 2- β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma). Eluted protein was subjected to further purification on a Superdex Hiload 26/60 S75 gel filtration column (GE Healthcare) at a flow rate of 3.2 mL/min using Buffer D (20mM Hepes, pH 7.5 150mM NaCl) also supplemented with 2 mM of 2- β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma) and collected by a fractionator into 8 mL fractions. The fractions were analysed by SDS-PAGE and those containing no traces of other contaminating proteins were pooled. The protein was concentrated in a 10 KDa cutoff Millipore filter (Merck Millipore) and buffer exchanged into Buffer D supplemented with 0.5 mM TCEP. The concentration was measured spectroscopically using the calculated MW and extinction coefficient (21680 L mol⁻¹cm⁻¹).

4.5.5 Crystallisation and data collection

Purified protein at a concentration of 10.76 mg/mL was used for crystallisation assays in the commercial suites PEG (Qiagen), PACT (Qiagen), and JCSG+ (Molecular Dimensions). Crystallisation screens were conducted by sitting-drop vapour diffusion in MRC2 96-well crystallization plates (Swissci) with a mixture of 0.3 μ L well solution from the suites and 0.3 μ L protein solution. One drop was setup without cofactor (apo) and one drop was setup to contain NADP⁺ (Sigma Aldrich) at a final concentration of 1 mM for co-crystallization studies. Solutions were dispensed by an OryxNano robot (Douglas Instruments). Prepared screens were placed at 19 °C for crystal formation. Optimisation screens were setup using the plate dispensing function of the Oryx8 robot (Douglas Instruments). Crystals were cryo-protected with well solution containing 25% ethylene glycol for 1 minute and frozen in liquid nitrogen.

Data collection was carried out essentially as described in Chapter 3 with some modifications. The structure was solved by molecular replacement with the crystal structure of PsSalR (3O26, Higashi et al. (2011)) using PHASER (McCoy et al., 2007). The asymmetric unit corresponded to two monomers in a back-to back orientation, but after consideration one of the chains was placed in the symmetry position to produce the head-to-head orientation described here which had a larger contact area. The structure was refined in REFMAC5 with TLS refinement (Winn et al., 2003).

4.5.6 Accurate mass and fragment determination

A sample of purified ADH10 product was direct-injected on the Synapt G2 HDMS mass spectrometer (Waters). The sample was infused at 5-10 μ L min-1 using a Harvard Apparatus syringe pump. The instrument was calibrated using a sodium formate solution. The sample was analysed for 2 min with a scan time 1 sec in the mass range of 50-600 *m/z*. Capilary voltage was

3.5 V, cone voltage 40 V, source temperature 120 °C, desolvation temperature 350 °C desolvation gas flow 800 L/h. Leu-enkephaline peptide (1 ng/ μ L) was used to generate a dual lock-mass calibration with [M + H]= 556.2766 and *m*/*z*=278.1135 measured every 10 sec. For MS2, the precursor ion of *m*/*z* 371 was selected and fragmented with collision energy of 20. Spectra were generated in Masslynx 4.1 by combining a number of scans, and peaks were centred using automatic peak detection with lock mass correction. Accurate mass of product was found to be 353.1862 *m*/*z* and 371.1967 *m*/*z* for the two major species present in solution.

4.5.7 Large scale reaction with deglycosylated strictosidine and product purification

Strictosidine (30 mg) was incubated in 100 mL (final concentration 566 μ M) with 50 mM citrate buffer pH 6, and 40 μ L of SGD (10 nM). NADPH and ADH10 were added (final concentration 700 μ M and 3 μ M respectively) and the reaction incubated at 37° C with gentle shaking. Reaction completion was followed by mass-spectrometry, and at 2 h extra ADH10 was added (concentration brought to 6 μ M).

The reaction was basified to stop the reaction at 4 h by addition of NaOH to pH of approximately 9.5 and the product was extracted multiple times with a total of 100 mL of ethyl acetate (EtOAc). The EtOAc fraction was dried under vacuum and resuspended in 100 μ L of EtOAc. A nano-silica TLC was basified with tri-ethylamine (TEA) and the EtOAc product was loaded onto the plate. Some residue was still visible in the product vial and therefore it was resuspended in 100 μ L of methanol and loaded onto the TLC as well. The TLC was ran in 50:50:1 EtOAc:Hexanes:TEA.

The product band was excised from the silica with a scalpel and the silica was crushed in the presence of 50 mL EtOAc and the solution was filtered and dried under vacuum overnight. The precipitate was resuspended in 300 μ L of CDCl₃ and a ¹H-NMR was recorded. For unambiguous assignment of the structure ¹H-H correlated spectroscopy (COSY), heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence experiment via direct coupling (HMQC), and heteronuclear multiple bond correlation spectrum (HMBC) were recorded by collaborators on a Bruker Avance III HD 700 NMR Spectrometer (16.4 T , ¹H operating frequency 700 MHz) equipped with TCI H-C/N-D 1.7 mm microcryoprobe.

4.5.8 Deuterium labelling of ADH10 product

Deuterated ADH10 product was produced by using deuterated cofactor (NADPD). Strictosidine (15 mg) was incubated in HEPES buffer (50 mM, pH 7.0) with 200 μ M NADP⁺ in a total volume of 141 mL. NADPD was generated *in situ* by using 1-D deuterated D-glucose (250 μ M Cambridge Isotope Laboratories Inc., USA) and Glucose dehydrogenase (800 U, from *Pseudomonas sp.*, Sigma) as an NADPH regeneration system. Purified SGD and ADH10 (1 μ M final concentration) were added and the reaction was incubated at 31 °C for 16 hours with 70 rpm shaking.

The reaction was basified to approximately pH 9 by addition of saturated NaOH and alkaloids were extracted multiple times in a total volume of 120 mL of EtOAc. The extract was dried using

a rotary evaporator. A high-resolution silica TLC plate (nano-silica plate, Sigma-Aldrich) was presoaked with TEA and the sample was loaded and ran using 50:50:1 EtOAc:Hex:TEA. The highest band was excised with a scalpel and crushed multiple times in a total volume of 50 mL MeOH and filtered into a clean flask. The extract was dried using a rotary evaporator and then placed on a high vacuum pump overnight as it was noted that the extracted compound is hygroscopic. The sample was resuspended in 500 μ L of CDCl₃ and the ¹H and COSY were measured on a Bruker Advance NMR instrument operating at 400 MHz for ¹H equipped with a BBFO plus 5 mm probe.

4.5.9 pH assays of ADH10 with strictosidine aglycon

To determine the best pH/buffer combination for use during ADH10 reactions, a small panel of buffers was assayed. Strictosidine (300 μ M) was incubated with purified SGD in deionised water for 15 min at room temperature. Then the reaction was split into eight tubes containing different buffers. The buffers used are (in order of increasing pH): Phosphate pH 5.0, MES pH 5.5, Phosphate pH 6.0, Citrate pH 6.0, MES pH 6.5, Phosphate pH 7.0, HEPES pH 8.0, and Phosphate pH 8.0. All buffers were used at a concentration of 50 mM. NADPH (500 μ M) was added, followed by 1 μ M of purified ADH10. The reactions were mixed and an aliquot was taken at 1 min and at 10 min and prepared as usual for analysis by LC-MS.

The analysis was carried out on a UPLC (Waters) equipped with an Aquity BEH C18 1.7 μ m 2.1 x 50 mm column connected to Xevo TQS (Waters). The capillary cone volatage, the source temperature, cone and desolvation gas flows were all the same as described in Chapter 2. The LC-MS analysis was done as described in Chapter 2 using both the "fast method" and the "separation method". A calibration curve specific for the ADH10 product was not made as the product is not available commercially. Therefore absolute quantification of the product in each sample is not possible. However, as the product has a signal at 353 m/z and it fragments into the same fragment as THA and AJM it is detected by the same MRM used to detect the heteroyohimbines. A manual integration of the peaks was done using the MassLynx software (Waters) using 200 peak to peak amplitude for noise reduction.

4.5.10 Spectroscopic assays

Strictosidine (100, 75, 50 or 25 μ M) was deglycosylated by purified SGD (10 nM) for 30 minutes at 30 °C in a spectrophotometer cuvette in a total volume of 800 μ L of citrate buffer pH 6.0 (50 mM). The completion of the reaction was verified by mass-spectrometry. NADPH (100 μ M) was added to the reaction and mixed by pipetting. The reaction was monitored at 340 nm on a spectrophotometer (Cary 50 Bio, Varian) at room temperature. After verifying the NADPH absorbance was stable (approximately 3-5 minutes) ADH10 (100 nM) was added and mixed by pipetting. The initial velocity was recorded using the least squares regression of the Cary WinUV Kinetics Application v. 3.00(182) (Varian).

4.5.11 Combination of ADH10 and THAS1

A spectrophotometric assay was done in similar conditions to those described above. Strictosidine (100 μ M) was deglycosylated by SGD at 30 °C in a spectrophotometer cuvette for 30 minutes in citrate buffer (50mM, pH 6.0). NADPH (100 μ M) was added to the reaction and mixed by pipetting. After verifying that NADPH absorbance was stable, purified THAS1 (1 μ M) was added and mixed. The reaction was allowed to progress until the plateau was reached (approx. 7 minutes), and then ADH10 (1 μ M) was added to the reaction and mixed and the reaction was allowed to reach the steady-state. The difference in NADPH (Δ ABS₃₄₀) was recorded before addition of each enzyme, and at the point the reaction reached the plateau. The assay was done in triplicate. The inverse reaction (ADH10 added first, then THAS1) was done once to verify the reverse is also true.

4.5.12 Active site mutations

The crystal structure revealed several amino acids in the active site cavity that could potentially be part of the catalytic triad. To verify their role in catalysis these three residues were each mutated to alanine by mutating the codon (Ser167->Ala167: TCC->GCC; Tyr223->Ala223: TAT->GCT; Lys227->Ala 227: AAA->GCA). The mutant ADH10 gene fragments were obtained from IDT with the pOPINF overhangs included. Ligation into pOPINF and clone selection was done as described above. Small-scale expression of mutants was done at 37 °C as described above as well, but purified on small-scale as described for the candidate enzymes in Chapter 2.

4.6 References

- ARNOLD, K., BORDOLI, L., KOPP, J. & SCHWEDE, T. 2006. The SWISS-MODEL workspace: a webbased environment for protein structure homology modelling. *Bioinformatics*, 22, 195-201.
- BERROW, N. S., ALDERTON, D., SAINSBURY, S., NETTLESHIP, J., ASSENBERG, R., RAHMAN, N., STUART, D. I. & OWENS, R. J. 2007. A versatile ligation-independent cloning method suitable for high-throughput expression screening applications. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 35.
- CHEN, Z., JIANG, J. C., LIN, Z. G., LEE, W. R., BAKER, M. E. & CHANG, S. H. 1993. Site-specific mutagenesis of Drosophila alcohol dehydrogenase: Evidence for involvement of tyrosine-152 and lysine-156 in catalysis. *Biochemistry*, 32, 3342-3346.
- DJERASSI, C., MONTEIRO, H. J., WALSER, A. & DURHAM, L. J. 1966. Alkaloid Studies. LVI.1 The Constitution of Vallesiachotamine. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 88, 1792-1798.
- FADEMRECHT, S., SCHELLER, P. N., NESTL, B. M., HAUER, B. & PLEISS, J. 2016. Identification of imine reductase-specific sequence motifs. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics*, 84, 600-610.
- FENG, T., CAI, X.-H., LIU, Y.-P., LI, Y., WANG, Y.-Y. & LUO, X.-D. 2010. Melodinines A–G, Monoterpenoid Indole Alkaloids from Melodinus henryi. *Journal of Natural Products*, 73, 22-26.
- FILLING, C., BERNDT, K. D., BENACH, J., KNAPP, S., PROZOROVSKI, T., NORDLING, E., LADENSTEIN, R., JÖRNVALL, H. & OPPERMANN, U. 2002. Critical residues for structure and catalysis in short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 25677-25684.
- GAVIDIA, I., TARRÍO, R., RODRÍGUEZ-TRELLES, F., PÉREZ-BERMÚDEZ, P. & SEITZ, H. U. 2007. Plant progesterone 5β-reductase is not homologous to the animal enzyme. Molecular evolutionary characterization of P5βR from Digitalis purpurea. *Phytochemistry*, 68, 853-864.
- GEISSLER, R., BRANDT, W. & ZIEGLER, J. 2007. Molecular Modeling and Site-Directed Mutagenesis Reveal the Benzylisoquinoline Binding Site of the Short-Chain Dehydrogenase/Reductase Salutaridine Reductase. *Plant Physiology*, 143, 1493-1503.
- GEU-FLORES, F., SHERDEN, N. H., COURDAVAULT, V., BURLAT, V., GLENN, W. S., WU, C., NIMS, E., CUI, Y. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2012. An alternative route to cyclic terpenes by reductive cyclization in iridoid biosynthesis. *Nature*, 492, 138-142.
- GLENN, W. 2013. Understanding and manipulating alkaloid biosynthesis, Chapter 2: Discovery of 10-hydroxygeraniol Oxidoreductase Activity in *C. roseus*. Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- GOURLEY, D. G., SCHUTTELKOPF, A. W., LEONARD, G. A., LUBA, J., HARDY, L. W., BEVERLEY, S. M.
 & HUNTER, W. N. 2001. Pteridine reductase mechanism correlates pterin metabolism with drug resistance in *trypanosoma*tid parasites. *Nature Structural Biology*, 8, 521-525.
- GUEX, N., PEITSCH, M. C. & SCHWEDE, T. 2009. Automated comparative protein structure modeling with SWISS-MODEL and Swiss-PdbViewer: A historical perspective. Electrophoresis, 30, S162-S173.
- HIGASHI, Y., KUTCHAN, T. M. & SMITH, T. J. 2011. Atomic Structure of Salutaridine Reductase from the Opium Poppy (Papaver somniferum). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286, 6532-6541.
- HUBER, T., SCHNEIDER, L., PRÄG, A., GERHARDT, S., EINSLE, O. & MÜLLER, M. 2014. Direct Reductive Amination of Ketones: Structure and Activity of S-Selective Imine Reductases from Streptomyces. *ChemCatChem*, 6, 2248-2252.
- HUSSAIN, S., LEIPOLD, F., MAN, H., WELLS, E., FRANCE, S. P., MULHOLLAND, K. R., GROGAN, G. & TURNER, N. J. 2015. An (R)-Imine Reductase Biocatalyst for the Asymmetric Reduction of Cyclic Imines. *ChemCatChem*, 7, 579-583.
- JOKELA, R., HALONEN, M. & MAURI, L. 1993. Predominant conformations of Na-boc-deformyl-Z-

and Na-boc-deformyl-E-geissochizine, the latter a possible synthetic intermediate in the preparation of sarpagan and ajmalan ring systems. *Tetrahedron*, 49, 2567-2576.

- JÖRNVALL, H., HEDLUND, J., BERGMAN, T., OPPERMANN, U. & PERSSON, B. 2010. Superfamilies SDR and MDR: From early ancestry to present forms. Emergence of three lines, a Zn-metalloenzyme, and distinct variabilities. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 396, 125-130.
- JÖRNVALL, H., HÖÖG, J.-O. & PERSSON, B. 1999. SDR and MDR: completed genome sequences show these protein families to be large, of old origin, and of complex nature. *FEBS Letters*, 445, 261-264.
- JÖRNVALL, H., PERSSON, B., KROOK, M., ATRIAN, S., GONZALEZ-DUARTE, R., JEFFERY, J. & GHOSH, D. 1995. Short-chain dehydrogenases/reductases (SDR). *Biochemistry*, 34, 6003-6013.
- KAN-FAN, C. & HUSSON, H.-P. 1979. Isolation and biomimetic conversion of 4,21-dehydrogeissoschizine. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications*, 1015-1016.
- KAVANAGH, K. L., JÖRNVALL, H., PERSSON, B. & OPPERMANN, U. 2008. Medium- and short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase gene and protein families: The SDR superfamily: functional and structural diversity within a family of metabolic and regulatory enzymes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65, 3895-3906.
- KIEFER, F., ARNOLD, K., KUNZLI, M., BORDOLI, L. & SCHWEDE, T. 2009. The SWISS-MODEL Repository and associated resources. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37, D387-D392.
- KRITHIKA, R., SRIVASTAVA, P. L., RANI, B., KOLET, S. P., CHOPADE, M., SONIYA, M. & THULASIRAM,
 H. V. 2015. Characterization of 10-Hydroxygeraniol Dehydrogenase from Catharanthus roseus Reveals Cascaded Enzymatic Activity in Iridoid Biosynthesis. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 8258.
- LEIPOLD, F., HUSSAIN, S., GHISLIERI, D. & TURNER, N. J. 2013. Asymmetric Reduction of Cyclic Imines Catalyzed by a Whole-Cell Biocatalyst Containing an (S)-Imine Reductase. *ChemCatChem*, 5, 3505-3508.
- LYGIDAKIS, A., KARUPPIAH, V., HOEVEN, R., NÍ CHEALLAIGH, A., LEYS, D., GARDINER, J. M., TOOGOOD, H. S. & SCRUTTON, N. S. 2016. Pinpointing a Mechanistic Switch Between Ketoreduction and "Ene" Reduction in Short-Chain Dehydrogenases/Reductases. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 55, 9596-9600.
- MCCOY, A. J., GROSSE-KUNSTLEVE, R. W., ADAMS, P. D., WINN, M. D., STORONI, L. C. & READ, R. J. 2007. Phaser crystallographic software. *Journal of applied crystallography*, 40, 658-674.
- MITSUKURA, K., KURAMOTO, T., YOSHIDA, T., KIMOTO, N., YAMAMOTO, H. & NAGASAWA, T. 2013. A NADPH-dependent (S)-imine reductase (SIR) from Streptomyces sp. GF3546 for asymmetric synthesis of optically active amines: purification, characterization, gene cloning, and expression. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 97, 8079-8086.
- MITSUKURA, K., SUZUKI, M., SHINODA, S., KURAMOTO, T., YOSHIDA, T. & NAGASAWA, T. 2011. Purification and Characterization of a Novel (R)-Imine Reductase from Streptomyces sp GF3587. *Bioscience Biotechnology and Biochemistry*, 75, 1778-1782.
- MOUMMOU, H., KALLBERG, Y., TONFACK, L., PERSSON, B. & REST, B. 2012. The Plant Short-Chain Dehydrogenase (SDR) superfamily: genome-wide inventory and diversification patterns. *BMC Plant Biology*, 12, 1-17.
- MUNKERT, J., POLLIER, J., MIETTINEN, K., VAN MOERKERCKE, A., PAYNE, R., MÜLLER-URI, F., BURLAT, V., O'CONNOR, SARAH E., MEMELINK, J., KREIS, W. & GOOSSENS, A. 2015. Iridoid Synthase Activity Is Common among the Plant Progesterone 5β-Reductase Family. *Molecular Plant*, 8, 136-152.
- PORTSTEFFEN, A., DRAEGER, B. & NAHRSTEDT, A. 1992. Two tropinone reducing enzymes from Datura stramonium transformed root cultures. *Phytochemistry*, 31, 1135-1138.
- QU, Y., EASSON, M. L. A. E., FROESE, J., SIMIONESCU, R., HUDLICKY, T. & DE LUCA, V. 2015. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabersonine to the anticancer drug precursor vindoline and its assembly in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 6224-6229.

- RODRÍGUEZ-MATA, M., FRANK, A., WELLS, E., LEIPOLD, F., TURNER, N. J., HART, S., TURKENBURG, J. P. & GROGAN, G. 2013. Structure and Activity of NADPH-Dependent Reductase Q1EQE0 from Streptomyces kanamyceticus, which Catalyses the R-Selective Reduction of an Imine Substrate. *ChemBioChem*, 14, 1372-1379.
- SAGI, S., AVULA, B., WANG, Y.-H. & KHAN, I. A. 2015. Quantification and characterization of alkaloids from roots of Rauwolfia serpentina using ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-photo diode array-mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 408, 177-190.
- SCHELLER, P. N., FADEMRECHT, S., HOFELZER, S., PLEISS, J., LEIPOLD, F., TURNER, N. J., NESTL, B. M. & HAUER, B. 2014. Enzyme Toolbox: Novel Enantiocomplementary Imine Reductases. *ChemBioChem*, 15, 2201-2204.
- SHEN, Z., EISENREICH, W. & KUTCHAN, T. M. 1998. Bacterial biotransformation of 3α (S)-Strictosidine to the monoterpenoid indole alkaloid vallesiachotamine. *Phytochemistry*, 48, 293-296.
- SMITH, G. N. 1968. Strictosidine: a key intermediate in the biogenesis of indole alkaloids. *Chemical Communications* (London), 912-914.
- STAVRINIDES, A., TATSIS, E. C., CAPUTI, L., FOUREAU, E., STEVENSON, C. E. M., LAWSON, D. M., COURDAVAULT, V. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2016. Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloid synthesis reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity. *Nat Commun*, 7.
- STIERAND, K. & RAREY, M. 2010. Drawing the PDB: Protein–Ligand Complexes in Two Dimensions. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 1, 540-545.
- STÖCKIGT, J., HUSSON, H., KAN-FAN, C. & ZENK, M. 1977. Cathenamine, a central intermediate in the cell free biosynthesis of ajmalicine and related indole alkaloids. Journal of the Chemical Society, *Chemical Communications*, 164-166.
- STROMMER, J. 2011. The plant ADH gene family. *The Plant Journal*, 66, 128-142.
- VOGEL, M., LAWSON, M., SIPPL, W., CONRAD, U. & ROOS, W. 2010. Structure and Mechanism of Sanguinarine Reductase, an Enzyme of Alkaloid Detoxification. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285, 18397-18406.
- WALSER, A. & DJERASSI, C. 1965. Alkaloid-Studien LII. Die Alkaloide aus Vallesia dichotoma RUIZet PAV. *Helvetica Chimica Acta*, 48, 391-404.
- WEISS, D., BAUMERT, A., VOGEL, M. & ROOS, W. 2006. Sanguinarine reductase, a key enzyme of benzophenanthridine detoxification. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 29, 291-302.
- WINN, M. D., MURSHUDOV, G. N. & PAPIZ, M. Z. 2003. Macromolecular TLS refinement in REFMAC at moderate resolutions. *Methods in enzymology*, 374, 300-321.
Chapter 5

Gene duplication in *C. roseus* has allowed the development of MIA chemical diversity through neofunctionalisation

5.1 Introduction

C. roseus belongs to the Apocynaceae family, which is one of the largest angiosperm families with approximately 5000 species (Straub et al., 2014). It is an economically important family comprising many species with secondary metabolites used as drugs (Aslam et al., 2010, Singh, 2008). Many members of the Apocynaceae family produce MIA, the chemical diversity of which relies on the elaborate enzymatic modification of the branch-point biosynthetic intermediate strictosidine (Rueffer et al., 1978). Deglycosylation of strictosidine by the action of SGD generates a reactive intermediate which can rearrange to generate a plethora of different carbon skeletons.

However, the evolution of SGD poses a trade-off for the strictosidine-producing plant. Strictosidine aglycon can be beneficial for the plant because it can provide some defence against herbivory (Guirimand et al., 2010, Sudžuković et al., 2016, Luijendijk et al., 1996). The reactivity of this compound means that it can cross link amines and nucleotides, making this a highly toxic compound. At the same time however, this compound can potentially endanger the host cell itself.



Figure 122: Strictosidine and SGD have a different subcellular localisation. STR (represented by a green circle) is located in the vacuole (orange section of the cell). It produces strictosidine inside the vacuole, represented by blue stars. Strictosidine can be transported out of the vacuole via a vacuolar tranporter (indicated as a white circle). It can diffuse into the nucleus, represented by a blue circle, where it can be deglycosylated by SGD (represented by a yellow circle). The reactive strictosidine aglycon, represented by a red star, can attack the cell constituents and cause damage if not neutralised.

The tight regulation of compartmentation of the strictosidine pool (in the vacuole) and SGD (in the nucleus, fig. 122) circumvents this problem until wounding by herbivore causes the cell to rupture and the two to mix (Guirimand et al., 2010). The strictosidine, which is exported from the vacuole, can find its way to the nucleus and be deglycosylated by SGD. Enzymes that can neutralise this reactive intermediate fast and efficiently could allow the plant to bypass the toxic

effect of background strictosidine aglycon production. It is not unreasonable to suggest that when strictosidine and strictosidine glucosidase had first evolved and started producing strictosidine aglycon, a positive selection pressure started acting on those plants to favour enzymes capable of neutralising the reactive intermediate. After the evolution of the first enzymes able to modify or reduce the reactive intermediate a host of other pathways could evolve which could take the new compounds and build on them, thus expanding the chemodiversity currently found in today's MIA-producing plants.

The previous three chapters of this thesis have detailed the discovery and characterisation of enzymes that can act upon this reactive intermediate. For example, the different heteroyohimbine synthases (HYSs) detailed in Chapters 2 and 3 can take strictosidine aglycon and reduce it to a mixture of heteroyohimbines. The discovery of the related HYSs, and the recent discovery of related MDRs that take part in other parts of the pathway (10HGO (Miettinen et al., 2014), T3R (Qu et al., 2015)), gives us an unprecedented opportunity to study the evolution at this branchpoint (fig. 123).



Figure 123: Abundance of reductases in the MIA biosynthetic pathways of *C. roseus*. The reductases implicated in the various reactions and their predicted copy number are indicated in blue.

5.1.1 The birth of new enzymes through gene duplication

Gene families arise as a result of gene duplications, followed by divergence and differentiation of these gene copies (fig. 124). Through mutation, a few of these duplicated genes can eventually give rise to new functions. If the new function imparts a selective advantage, the mutated gene is retained by the organism.

It is interesting to look at lineage-specific duplication events because they could be the manifestation of different evolutionary forces (such as abiotic or biotic stress) and the adaptations to those stresses that the lineage has achieved. A duplicated protein can be retained

in an organism if the duplication somehow allows adaptation. This adaptation may come in the form of recruitment of the newly duplicated protein into a new pathway, to perform a new function, or even to be expressed in a different manner to the original protein. The recurrence of duplications in a specific gene family in a short time could indicate an increased selection pressure acting on, for example, a specific branch of a given metabolic pathway.



Figure 124: Two proteins are said to be paralogous if they are derived from a duplication event and orthologous if they are derived from a speciation event. Species 1 has two homologous genes, A and B, which are descendent from a duplication event. Species 2 has a gene which is an ortholog to both gene A and B from species 1 because they diverged during a speciation event. Gene C is only considered an ortholog to gene B because gene A has diverged in function since duplication whereas gene B has retained the ancestral function.

It is generally accepted that a gene can undergo mutational drift which can lead to the acquisition of a novel function. However, most theories based on this assumption posit that an enzyme would first evolve to be promiscuous through an expanded substrate recognition and later, if selection pressure is present, would tend towards increased substrate specificity (Weng et al., 2012). However, it is not known if this is always the case.

Different models of neofunctionalisation have been proposed over the years. The "innovation, amplification and divergence" (IAD) model of neofuntionalisation posits that constant selection can act on genes and still lead to the evolution of two separate activities from the same ancestor. An enzyme with a necessary primary function could have a secondary function which is beneficial to the organism. Mutants which have increased activity for the secondary function but retain the necessary levels of activity for the primary function may be difficult to achieve. Therefore, the adaptive function is achieved faster by duplication of the gene. By amplifying the gene dosage, the organism can increase the secondary function dose without hampering the primary function. The new copy is now free from selection for the original function and can undergo mutagenesis which can lead to increased efficiency in the secondary function (Bergthorsson et al., 2007).

A similar, but subtly different, method for neofunctionalisation, known as "escape from adaptive conflict" (EAC) posits that a gene coding for an enzyme with two contradicting functions (which

are mutually exclusive) cannot specialise for either without losing the activity for one of the functions. To circumvent this conflict the gene is duplicated, which allows each copy to undergo selection for one of the functions. However, to identify genes duplicated for EAC is difficult and involves identification of the ancestral state of the genes through phylogenetic reconstruction and extensive knowledge of the function of the orthologs in related organisms (Des Marais and Rausher, 2008).

The literature is replete with examples of duplicated and neofunctionalised genes in plants. Weng et al. (2012) offer a good overview of such cases in many different plants. Such examples include diverse enzyme families and functions such as: the Lysine/Ornithine Decarboxylases (L/ OCDs) in quinolizidine alkaloid producing plants could have been derived from common plant OCDs (Bunsupa et al., 2012); terpene synthases in rice implicated in plant herbivore defence and have been subjected to positive Darwinian selection (Chen et al., 2014); the betalain biosynthetic enzymes of the Caryophylales which recently underwent neofunctionalisation after duplication (Brockington et al., 2015); and the latex-producing enzymes in the rubber tree *Hevea brasiliensis* which were found to be in tandem-duplication clusters (Lau et al., 2016).

5.1.2 Gene duplication and heteroyohimbine biosynthesis

The HYSs are most similar to the Cinnamyl Alchohol Dehydrogenases and the closely related Sinapyl Alcohol Dehydrogenases (CAD and SAD, respectively). These MDR enzymes evolved in plants (Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003) and are implicated in lignin biosynthesis. Studies of these enzymes in other plant species have revealed they are often duplicated. There are 8 CAD-like paralogs in Arabidopsis thaliana, some of which are present in duplicated blocks (Kim et al., 2004). The genes identified had varying amounts of identity to each other (from 45.9 to 98.4%) which indicates some copies are more ancient than others and have diverged considerably. An array of three tandem duplicated AtCAD genes was discovered on the A. thaliana chromosome 4 and a phylogenetic tree indicates that these 3 paralogs are the most closely related, indicating that they are the product of a recent local duplication event. In Populus trichocarpa 15 CAD paralogs were identified and their chromosomal location was identified (Barakat et al., 2009). Generally, it was found that many of the CAD duplications had occurred locally but whole clusters of duplicated CAD genes are found duplicated in other parts of the plants' genome and these in theory have arisen from whole genome duplications and rearrangements (Barakat et al., 2009). These CAD duplicates have been investigated in detail in A. thaliana and although they all displayed CAD-activity, the K_m , $k_{cat'}$ and their relative expression in the tested tissues all varied considerably (Kim et al., 2004). It is not known if these duplicates have activity against other, non-lignin-related substrates in planta.

5.1.3 Overview of this chapter

The C. roseus transcriptome contains multiple MDR reductases expressed in different tissues and at different levels. In this chapter a study of the evolution of these reductases, and more specifically of the HYSs, reveals the interesting dynamics present at these loci. The duplication and divergence of these enzymes has profound implications for the chemical diversity found in the MIA and other secondary metabolic pathways. Heteroyohimbine synthesis appears to be possible with different MDR active sites, as evidenced by the discovery of multiple HYSs in C. roseus which do not have identical active sites, and in fact are quite variable (detailed in Chapter 2 and 3). This information indicates that although the HYS enzymes have probably originated from a common ancestor, there has not been any selection pressure to maintain specific amino acids in the active site or the active site loops. However, for reasons that are not well understood, there appears to be a positive selection pressure to maintain multiple copies, as evidenced by the multiple MDRs which display HYS activity. This flexibility in active site architecture allows the genes to drift over time which consequently has facilitated the appearance of genes that further elaborate on the MIA scaffold. For example, it is possible that the extensive gene duplication of the HYS has led to the emergence of T3R, a late stage MIA biosynthetic enzyme, which has lost the ability to catalyse the production of heteroyohimbines but has gained the ability to catalyse the reduction of a downstream MIA.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Genomic organisation of the C. roseus ADHs

The recent sequencing of the *C. roseus* genome (Kellner et al., 2015) has allowed an investigation into the duplication of the ADHs to be carried out in this plant. Firstly, the genomic context of the *C. roseus* ADHs was investigated. Each gene annotated as an ADH was submitted to BLAST against the *C. roseus* WG assembly contigs (WGC, version 2.A, Buell and Kim, in preparation). A close inspection of the results reveals that there are 68 contigs containing ADHs (table 14). Of these, 28 have more than one ADH. The WGC numbers 12, 24, 27, 106, 126, 286, 371, and 420 each contain an ADH which has been shown experimentally to catalyse a reduction or oxidation in the MIA pathway of *C. roseus*. Interestingly, on the WGC which contain ADHs of different families these ADHs are usually separated by many other genes and are never in direct proximity. However, it is common in the WGC containing multiples of a single ADH family, such as the MDR family, that these genes are in tandem with each other, suggesting tandem duplication was responsible for the origin of the arrangement.

Table 14: *Catharanthus roseus* Whole Genome contigs containing an ADH gene.

WG contig	Approximate size (bp)¥	Number of ADHs	Number of MDR	Number of SDR	Number of other ADH
3	2453204	4	4/4 a		
6	2384693	3	1/3	1/3	1/3
7	2383327	3		3/3 a	

WG contig	Approximate size (bp)¥	Number of ADHs	Number of MDR	Number of SDR	Number of other ADH
8	2247593	2		2/2	
11	2076047	4	3/4 a	1/4	
12	2081351	1	1/1		
13	2021668	2		2/2	
24	1697648	4		4/4 a	
27	1651656	6		6/6 a	
34	1538188	1		1/1	
39	1408578	2	2/2 a		
44	1360256	1		1/1	
45	1340673	1		1/1	
50	1276821	2			2/2 a
51	1259040	4			4/4 a
54	1274735	1			1/1
56	1206958	3	1/3	2/3 a	
62	1164002	3			3/3 a
65	1177834	1		1/1	
67	1180532	1		1/1	
78	1117415	4	1/4	1/4	2/4 a
82	1104218	3	2/3	1/3	
87	1031804	6	6/6 a		
94	1028141	1	1/1		
101	967572	1		1/1	
106	953033	5*	4*/5* a	1/5*	
107	954116	1		1/1	
126	<i>910264</i>	10	10/10 a		
127	899872	5		5/5 a	
136	855973	2		2/2	
148	823799	1	1/1		
155	826119	1			1/1
171	794550	1		1/1	
172	799169	1		1/1	
189	753374	1		1/1	
191	750583	1	1/1		
210	721081	1			1/1
213	712053	2	1/2	1/2	
243	649553	1			1/1
267	557226	2		2/2	
280	591668	1			1/1
286	560763	4	1/4	3/4 a	
298	547598	1	1/1	-	

WG contig	Approximate size (bp)¥	Number of ADHs	Number of MDR	Number of SDR	Number of other ADH
371	455742	2	2/2		
387	458743	2	1/2		1/2
406	430839	1			1/1
420	420531	1			1/1
432	406618	1		1/1	
504	321640	1		1/1	
534	322847	2		2/2 a	
569	289805	5	3/5 a		2/5 a
584	291195	1		1/1	
602	276623	1		1/1	
603	258472	1	1/1		
617	272626	1			1/1
647	175517	1		1/1	
651	257338	2	2/2 a		
666	239967	1		1/1	
755	192998	1	1/1		
849	144742	1		1/1	
935	100892	1	1/1		
976	106701	1		1/1	
1094	77432	1	1/1		
1157	57567	1	1/1		
1309	9014	1	1/1		
1312	39141	1		1/1	
3258	2785	1	1/1		
4337	2026	1	1/1		

The table is based on the WG assembly number 2 version A. The number of ADHs present is indicated as well as the number of MDRs or SDRs. The contigs containing an ADH proven to be participating in the whole MIA pathway are in bold and italic font. The group 'other ADH' comprises examples from the Aldo-keto reductases (AKR), and the Aldehyde dehydrogenases (ALDH). Contigs in red span the entire length of the ADH gene on them, therefore it is not possible, with the current alignment, to know if there are other genes next to that ADH.

¥ the size is based on the location of the last gene aligned onto that contig

*This contig contains the HYS duplication and is not of good enough quality to determine if there are 4 or more copies of HYS.

a Denotes that two or more of the ADHs are in tandem with at most one other gene between them

ADH10, the SDR described in Chapter 4, is present on the WGC number 27 along with 5 other SDRs. The HYSs, described in Chapters 2 and 3, are distributed on different contigs; THAS1 and THAS3 are on WGC 371; THAS2 is on WGC 126, which contains 9 other MDRs, one of which

(Cr023176) has been shown to be a 10HGO (Krithika et al., 2015); HYS and THAS4 appear to be localised in a tandem duplication together with 3 other similar MDRs not found in the transcriptome (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012) on the WGC 106.

5.2.2 Analysis of the ortholog groups present in the MDRs and SDRs of C. roseus

The MDRs and SDRs present in *C. roseus* could be descended from different families of MDR and SDR respectively. To determine what the distribution of these genes is in *C. roseus*, all the MDR and SDR sequences were submitted to BLAST against the Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COG, (Tatusov et al., 1997) database using the NCBI batch BLAST server (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Structure/bwrpsb/, table 15).

All *C. roseus* transcripts annotated as MDRs were identified as belonging to the Zinc-dependent ADHs. Twenty-nine of the MDRs were identified as being part of the COG1064 group which is classified based on D-arabinose 1-dehydrogenase. COG1064 also contains the CAD/SAD enzymes. Eight MDRs were best identified as belonging to the COG1062 (formaldehyde dehydrogenase and related Zn-dependent dehydrogenase) group, and one to the COG1063 (threonine dehydrogenase and related Zn-dependent dehydrogenases) group. Many of the remainders are part of the COG0604 groups which contain the quinone reductases (QOR), and two homologs are part of the COG2130 group which is represented by a curcumin reductase (CurA). One member is COG0647, which constitutes the ribonucleotide monophosphatase NagD and the haloacid dehydrogenase (HAD) superfamily.

Gene locus	COG	e-value	Gene locus	COG	e-value
THAS3	1064	7.74 e-88	Cro022431	1064	1.18e-92
THAS2	1064	7.63 e-95	Cro008301	1064	6.30e-98
THAS4	1064	1.76 e-92	Cro001761	1064	1.79e-112
HYS	1064	1.07 e-89	Cro024150	0647	1.30e-27
Cro017994	1064	5.17 e-97	Cr2141	1064	3.80e-132
Cro011702	1064	2.18 e-102	Cro023176	1064	2.59e-117
Cro030442	1064	1.26 e-119	Cro024340	0604	6.30e-66
Cro006840	1064	1.57 e-118	Cro016395	1062	2.09e-144
Cro022770	1064	3.86 e-96	Cro029195	2130	2.43e-122
Cro033537	1064	2.57 e-93	Cro013040	2130	7.05e-122
Cro033062	1064	5.89 e-80	Cro017213	1064	8.86e-92
Cro011226	1064	1.09e-114	Cro019170	1062	2.36e-149
Cro033830	1062	2.48e-126	Cro020524	0604	1.06e-73
Cro027234	1064	3.99e-102	Cro020525	0604	3.14e-73
Cro005375	1062	1.34e-116	Cro015403	1062	1.42e-156
Cro027079	1064	1.02e-98	Cro017625	1063	6.33e-96
Cro025489	1064	7.83e-104	Cro018598	0604	2.79e-64

Table 15: COG of MDRs from *C. roseus*.

Gene locus	COG	e-value	Gene locus	COG	e-value
Cro019494	1064	4.93e-116	Cro019716	1062	8.88e-158
T3R	1064	1.10e-106	Cro015629	1062	8.50e-152
Cro026235	1064	3.42e-102	Cro018442	0604	3.34e-100
Cro027235	1064	1.19e-109	THAS1	1064	5.23e-98
Cro016729	1064	4.13e-74			

The SDRs generally had a lower e-value to the COG domains in the NCBI database (table 16). This is probably reflective of their high sequence divergence (typically between 15-30 % pairwise identity (Jörnvall et al., 1999)). Most of the SDRs (31 out of 54) corresponded best to the COG1028 which corresponds to the group "Dehydrogenases with different specificities" of the SDRs. ADH10 (Cr013448) is a member of this group. Another highly represented group (16 homologs) is the COG0451, which is classified as "Nucleoside-diphosphate-sugar epimerases", and which contains the progesterone-5 β -reductases. The early MIA biosynthetic enzyme ISY and its homologs belong to this COG. The COG0300, corresponding to a general SDR prediction of unknown function, has 3 homologs in the *C. roseus* genome.

Gene locus	COG	e-value	Gene locus	COG	e-value
Cr013448	1028	1.64E-40	Cr028099	1028	1.75E-62
Cr033739	1028	1.43E-30	Cr027571	0300	5.06E-55
Cr022864	1028	1.04E-33	Cr027322	1087	1.37E-156
Cr013184	1028	7.86E-63	Cr001335	0300	7.11E-52
Cr013447	1028	1.60E-32	Cr016749	1091	9.21E-48
Cr027095	0451	3.93E-40	Cr016747	1028	1.19E-33
Cr003140	1028	9.85E-39	Cr022212	1028	1.50E-52
Cr028100	1028	2.13E-62	Cr010887	1028	4.71E-61
Cr017503	0451	8.89E-09	Cr001750	1028	1.75E-57
Cr017502	0451	8.13E-11	Cr017031	1028	2.44E-26
Cr030915	0451	1.15E-33	Cr018552	1028	6.19E-60
Cr023278	1028	1.66E-35	Cr022484	0451	2.83E-39
Cr023367	1028	9.77E-49	Cr002309	1028	3.51E-27
Cr010996	1028	1.14E-75	Cr018601	0451	6.67E-35
Cr014890	1028	1.37E-68	Cr008727	0451	5.31E-36
Cr023217	1028	1.63E-47	Cr001235	1028	1.35E-63
Cr006167	0451	1.72E-38	Cr019769	0451	8.34E-45
Cr022002	1028	4.89E-33	AIW09146.1	0451	1.24E-08
Cr001031	0451	1.55E-13	Cr025915	1028	5.97E-33
CrISY	0451	1.82E-06	Cr003619	0451	3.39E-43
Cr033366	1028	7.00E-34	AIW09148.1	0451	1.25E-07
Cr033093	1028	1.94E-55	Cr011094	0300	1.43E-51
Cr000253	1087	1.02E-144	Cr023179	1090	2.25E-107

Table 16: COG of SDRs from *C. roseus*.

Gene locus	COG	e-value	Gene locus	COG	e-value
Cr019499	1028	4.48E-30	Cr008631	1028	1.82E-28
Cr028501	1028	1.33E-78	Cr004988	1028	8.54E-58
Cr028094	1028	5.63E-60	Cr002470	0451	1.61E-74
Cr028096	1028	3.84E-66	Cr011896	0451	4.60E-39

These results suggest that in both enzyme families there is high divergence which is consistent with findings from other published surveys of these families in genomes (Jörnvall et al., 1999, Moummou et al., 2012).

5.2.3 Phylogeny of the C. roseus MDRs

Studies of large gene families, such as that of the MDRs, are facilitated by phylogenetic analysis. This method of analysis can identify distantly related paralogs and can illustrate the evolutionary relationship between two enzymes which might perform different functions or exhibit a similar function but with a different spatio-temporal distribution. A phylogenetic analysis of the MDRs contained in the *C. roseus* transcriptome and genome was undertaken in order to better understand the dynamics of the duplications and neofunctionalisation. Alignment using fsa resulted in 99.5 % of sites with gaps, compared to mafft which produced 75.6 % and muscle which produced 78.4 %. PRANK, although it went through multiple iterations comparing the alignments to a parsimony tree it had generated, had only managed 84.2 % sites with gaps. ClustalOmega aligned the sequences with 77.4 % gaps (fig. 125, and appendix 5) and was overall similar to the muscle alignment, but tended to avoid opening gaps to account for proteins with very divergent sequences.



Figure 125: Example section of MDR ClustalOmega alignment. For full alignment please look at Appendix 5. The identical sites are shaded red and the similar sites are shaded orange. The shading threshold used is 50 %. Gaps in alignment are illustrated by a '-'.

The MDR protein sequences, aligned with ClustalOmega (Sievers et al., 2011), were analysed by Bayesian inference using the program MrBayes (Ronquist et al., 2012). Two independent runs of

Multiple-chain Markov chain Monte Carlo (MC3) were executed to test all amino acid models. The first run converged to model 5 (WAG) quite fast, which is similar to the result of Maximum Likelihood analyses. The exchanges between chains were low and therefore chains were heated by 0.125 (default is 0.10). The result was a better sampling across the model space; the average effective sample size was above 2000 for the heated runs compared to just above 900 for the default runs (see appendix 1 fig. 2 for convergence graphs). The gamma shape parameter, which allows the alignment sites to evolve at different rates for each other, was tested as a fixed state across all sites (mixed model), or allowed to vary across the alignment (mixed model + gamma). Stepping-stone simulation with 1 000 000 iterations was also carried out in MrBayes to verify the likelihood of the tree produced by Bayesian inference.

A phylogenetic tree was produced from the alignment generated above using a Maximum Likelihood approach as well. This was done primarily to verify the reproducibility of the topology and to gauge the branch support through a different method. The PhyML online server (http:// www.atgc-montpellier.fr/phyml/)(Guindon et al., 2010) was used for this analysis, with the automatic model selection enabled, and the gamma shape parameter was also allowed to vary, as in the Bayesian inference described above. The resulting tree length was estimated to be 26.5371 which is almost identical to the tree size estimated with Bayesian inference (26.2916). The likelihood for the produced tree was similar to the estimation with Bayesian inference and the stepping stone sampling (-23866.80, -23967.83, and -26194.55 respectively). The estimation of the gamma shape parameter (2.280) was very similar to that estimated with Bayesian inference as well (2.211).

The resulting phylogenetic trees were in general all very similar (fig. 126, 127). The most striking feature of the trees is that two groups of MDRs appear to be evolving at different rates. The first group, characterised by long branches and few duplications, contains 17 MDRs. The length of the branches reflects the divergence these enzymes have undergone since the last common ancestor. Conversely, the other group, comprising 27 MDRs (including the HYSs), is characterised by short branches and repeated branching. This is reflective of numerous recent duplications.

The main differences between the phylogenetic tree constructed with Bayesian inference or Maximum Likelihood (PhyML) were in the relationship between the two 10HGO enzymes (Cr033830 and Cr005375, orange clade in fig. 126-128). Both of these relationships are well supported by relatively high posterior probabilities. The section of the trees encompassing the HYSs (fig. 126-128) is well supported, but differs slightly in the origin of Cr027234 and Cr027079 (green clade fig. 126-128). In the tree produced with PhyML, these enzymes appear to have evolved after the separation of THAS2 and THAS3 (fig. 126, blue and green clades), but this node is not supported by high Bootstrap support (40). However, in the Bayesian inference analysis the three branches are present as a trifurcation. The posterior probability is still low (53), but higher than the node Bootstrap support in the PhyML tree, and therefore the scenario presented in the MrBayes tree (fig. 126) is more conservative. This indicates there is not enough information in the data to resolve the relationships at this node. As Cr027234 has been shown by collaborators to also act on strictosidine aglycon, but to yield a different product (unpublished), there is interest in resolving these relationships. However, given that half of the enzymes in that clade (fig. 126, blue clade) have been shown to be HYSs, it is reasonable to suggest that the progenitor enzyme was a HYS, and that the function of Cr027234 is novel and specific to that branch. Similarly, T3R (fig. 126 purple clade), the MDR shown to catalyse the reduction of a downstream MIA in *C. roseus* (Qu et al., 2015), is also included in the HYS clade (fig. 126, green clade). This strongly suggests that T3R has evolved from a duplication of an ancestral HYS copy which also gave rise to the THAS1-THAS4-HYS clade.

The *C. roseus* MDRs which show homology to the *Rauvolfia serpentina* Vomilenine Reductase 2 (RsVR2, Geissler et al. (2015)) all cluster together inside a sister clade to the HYS clade (fig. 126 and 127 in red). RsVR2 catalyses the reduction of vomilenine, a downstream MIA also produced from strictosidine in *R. serpentina* (fig. 14, Chapter 1). It is not known if any of these homologs (Cr022770, Cr008301, Cr017213, and Cr006068) are able to catalyse the same reduction as RsVR2 but that clade could represent another group of MDRs capable of reducing MIA substrates.

Since all the HYSs discovered in *C. roseus* are grouped together, it can be concluded that these genes likely arose as a duplication of an ancestral gene which was probably a HYS. Cr023176, a member of a sister clade (Cr019494, Cr016729, and Cr023176) to the HYS clade has been shown to be a 10HGO (Krithika et al., 2015). This suggests the ancestor to this and the HYS clade could have been either a HYS or a 10HGO. However, it is not possible to determine what activity the ancestral enzyme possessed without ancestral reconstruction or extensive sampling of enzyme activity of that clade in both *C. roseus* and related species. The ancestral enzyme could also have displayed a CAD/SAD activity; Cr2141, present on another sister clade to the HYS clade, has previously been shown in our group to be an SAD enzyme (Yerkes, 2010). Although many of the MDRs included in this phylogenetic tree have not been experimentally assayed, the sampling of candidates described in Chapter 2 suggests HYS activity is found primarily in this clade (fig. 126, blue clade).



Figure 126: Bayesian phylogenetic tree of MDRs. This tree is based on a mixed amino acid model + gamma. The posterior probability of each node is indicated next to each node. The HYS clade is coloured in blue; T3R is purple; the Cr027234 clade in green; the VR2-homologous clade is illustrated in red; and the 10HGO clade is in orange; the bar indicates the changes per site.



Figure 127: Maximum Likelihood phylogenetic tree of MDRs. Tree produced through online server of PhyML. Bootstrap support values are printed next to each node. The HYS clade is coloured in blue; T3R is purple; the Cr027234 clade in green; the RsVR2-homologous clade is illustrated in red; and the 10HGO clade is in orange; the bar indicates the changes per site.



Figure 128: Phylogenetic tree of MDRs in *C. roseus* in radiating representation. The MDR clades are coloured as in fig. 126 and 127: HYS clade: blue; T3R: purple; Cr027234 clade: green; RsVR2-homologous clade: red; and 10HGO clade: orange; the bar indicates 0.5 changes per site. This is the same tree as the one displayed in fig. 126.

The radiating representation puts into perspective how recently some of these MDR duplications occurred, particularly for the genes in the bottom part of the tree. It is apparent from this tree that a group of MDRs has been duplicated throughout the evolutionary history of *C. roseus* and gave rise to the enzymes (HYSs, T3R) capable of catalysing a reduction of a MIA. Two of the 10HGO (Cr033830 and Cr005375, orange clade in fig. 126-128) on the other hand have not arisen from recent radial expansion but rather appear to be offshoots of a smaller clade of MDRs. It is unknown if the *C. roseus* RsVR2-homologous enzymes (red clade in fig. 126-128) are capable of catalysing the same reduction as RsVR2, but the substrate (vomilenine) is not found in *C. roseus*.

5.2.4 Phylogenetic analysis of the C. roseus SDRs

A phylogenetic analysis of the SDR homologs in *C. roseus* was undertaken to better understand the evolution of this family in this plant. This family includes the critical enzyme of iridoid biosynthesis, ISY (Geu-Flores et al., 2012), and also ADH10, which, as described in Chapter 4, can reduce

strictosidine aglycone to produce a newly discovered molecule similar to vallesiachotamine. Interestingly, ADH10 is present in a large WGC, number 27 (table 14), which contains at least 6 SDRs. An investigation into the phylogeny of this group and into the duplication abundance was undertaken to compare to the duplication history of the MDRs, and more specifically the HYSs, with the SDRs.

Alignment of the protein sequences was done using ClustalOmega. The high sequence divergence between the proteins was evident in the alignment as many sections (particularly the C-terminal region) were highly different and alignment in those sections presented mostly indels. This is to be expected because, as discussed in Chapter 4, SDRs can vary considerably in the length and sequence of the C-terminal domain. Indeed, the minimum sequence identity at sites without an indel was just 5.81 % and the largest gap had a length of 130 amino acids (full alignment can be found in Appendix 6). Maximum likelihood was used to infer phylogenetic trees through PhyML. Bayesian inference was not attempted due to computational limitation.

PhyML using the WAG model for amino acid substitution with the site rate allowed to vary (4 gamma states) resulted in a tree of larger length than that of the MDRs (50.67 and 26.53 respectively). The gamma shape parameter was found to have a value of 2.672, which is similar to that found for MDRs. The analysis using the PhyML online server gave very similar results; tree length was 50.70 and the gamma shape parameter was determined to be 2.627. The preferred model in this case was the WAG + gamma + F (empirical equilibrium frequency). The log-likelihood of this tree was found to be - 39976.83 which is very similar to the log-likelihood of the tree determined using the command-line PhyML (-39977.67). The tree built using the online PhyML server is shown below (fig. 129) but is in general very similar to that obtained through the command line PhyML (Appendix fig. 3).



Figure 129: Phylogenetic tree of the SDR superfamily in *C. roseus*. Tree was constructed using PhyML; Bootstrap support (number of times the node was returned out of 300 iterations) is printed next to the nodes; ADH10-like clade is illustrated in red; ISY-like clade is in blue. ADH10: Cr013448. The bar at the bottom represents the distance to 0.6 changes per site.

ADH10 is part of a small clade (fig. 129, red) which is separated from the ISY clade (fig. 129, blue). This supports the COG analysis that determined that these two enzymes were members of different SDR groups. The tree suggests that ADH10 is part of a block of relatively recently duplicated SDRs. It is not known what function the other SDRs in the ADH10 clade carry out. ISY is also part of a recent duplication and the other members of that clade (fig. 129, blue) have been shown to also display ISY activity (Munkert et al., 2015). A better sampling of the SDRs in *C. roseus* would allow a more detailed understanding of the SDR phylogenetics, and how this relates to secondary metabolism.

An in-depth characterisation of the SDRs of plants found that some subfamilies of the SDRs had evolved after the split of vascular plants from Bryophytes (Moummou et al., 2012). Interestingly, PsSalR, the enzyme used for molecular replacement when solving the crystal structure of ADH10 (Chapter 4), is a member of one of these groups, and therefore ADH10 is as well. These subfamilies had expanded through duplications in the vascular plant genomes and have given rise to many enzymes involved in secondary metabolism (Moummou et al., 2012). These data allowed the authors to suggest that the SDRs in plants were used as an adaptative character during land colonisation and development of the vascular apparatus.

5.2.5 Comparison of C. roseus duplication blocks to other plant genomes

The discovery that CAD and SAD enzymes are found in duplicated blocks in *Populus* (Barakat et al., 2009), rice (Tobias and Chow, 2005), and *Arabidopsis* (Kim et al., 2004) suggests that these enzymes are often duplicated and the copies are retained in the genome. The largest cluster of duplicated MDRs in *C. roseus* (WGC number 126) contains 10 MDRs (fig. 130). To test whether this block is similar to the CAD/SAD duplication blocks observed in other species, a phylogenetic alignment between the gene copies found in the WGC126 cluster and MDR copies in other plant genome clusters was attempted.

The ensembl Plant Genome Database was used for this analysis as it hosts many of the assembled plant genomes available. This database also has the advantage that it has pre-aligned syntenic blocks of genomes. Unfortunately, it is not currently possible on this database to conduct syntenic alignments of a query sequence.





The WGC 126 cluster member MDR Cr2141 was chosen as bait for this phylogenetic analysis because this gene robustly and repeatedly aligned onto all of the plant genomes queried. Cr2141 was submitted to BLAST against the *A. thaliana* genome assembly on the ensembl Plant Genomes Database using the TBLASTN tool. *A. thaliana* is the only plant genome in this database onto which all others have been syntenically aligned. A close inspection of *A. thaliana* chromosome 4 (region 17840497-17867094) revealed that there are 3 highly similar genes to *C. roseus* Cr2141 (AtCAD6, ELI3-1, and ELI3-2 in that order) (fig. 131). These three genes have been the subject of an investigation, and have been shown to have CAD/SAD activity (Kim et al., 2004).

Lycopodiophyta	Bryophyta	Chlorophyta
Selaginella moellendorffii	Physcomitrella patens	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii
Asterids	Rosids	Monocots
Catharanthus roseus	Vitis vinifera	Oryza sativa Japonica
Solanum lycopersicum	Theobroma cacao	Setaria italica
Solanum tuberosum	Prunus persica	Hordeum vulgare
	Populus trichocarpa	Musa acuminata
	Medicago truncatula	Brachypodium distachyon
	Glycine max	Sorghum bicolor
	Brassica rapa	
	Brassica oleracea	
	Arabidopsis thaliana	

Table 17: Plant species used in cluster duplication analysis

This section of the *A. thaliana* genome was then aligned to syntenic regions on the other plant genomes on the ensembl Plant Genomes Database (detailed in table 17). Not all plants were used due to redundancy; for example, *Brassica napus* and *A. lyrata* were not used because three other Brassicaceae were already used. out of a total of a total of 43 species with genomes hosted on ensembl 21 were used in this study, with most of the Rosids and all of the Asterids included.

The syntenic regions to *A. thaliana* chromosome 4 section were displayed in parallel (fig. 131, pink regions). Overall there was good conservation of syntenic blocks at this locus among the species listed except for *P. patens, S. moellendorffii*, and *C. reinhardtii*. The cluster in *G. max* appears to be split between the first and the second gene. The synteny among these plants strongly suggests that this genomic locus is conserved and often presents duplicated MDRs.



Figure 131: Syntenic regions between *A. thaliana* and other plant genomes at the Cr2141 homolog locus on chromosome 4. Figure created in ensembl Plant Genome Database. The plants are listed on the left side of the figure. The *A. thaliana* genes are illustrated at the top of the figure with exon-intron structure indicated. The positive hits of Cr2141 are illustrated under the *A. thaliana* genes in orange blocks. The syntenic blocks of other organisms are indicated as pink bars below. The area of interest is boxed in a green dashed line. The species displayed in this figure are: *Brachypodium distachyon, Medicago truncatula, Physcomitrella patens, Selginella moellendorffii, Populus trichocarpa, Prunus persica, Solanum lycopersicum, Glycine max, Theobroma cacao, and Vitis vinifera.*

A phylogenetic analysis of these identified syntenic genes was carried out to investigate whether the syntenic blocks of duplicated MDRs are dynamically duplicating throughout evolution or if they have been inherited as a block and conserved over evolution. The *A. thaliana* 3-MDR cluster, which comprises 3 CAD genes (Kim et al., 2007), was aligned to various other plant genomes. Most organisms presented at least 2 copies, and one plant (*P. persica*) had 8 tandem duplications. Some organisms had more than one genome block aligning to the *A. thaliana* one, potentially arising through genome duplication, or duplication of a chromosome section during whole genome duplication (Barakat et al., 2009).

5.2.6 Phylogenetic analysis of syntenic blocks

The genes of these duplication blocks were collected from 21 plant species (table 17) and were annotated using the naming system: Species/cluster number/copy number. The aligned sequences were analysed using the online PhyML server with the automatic model selection. This resulted in a tree (fig. 132) with overall good support for the branches.

In general, the monocots group together near the base of the tree, with SORBI1.1 and 3.1 (*S. bicolor*) as a sister clade to all others (fig. 132, blue). The Rosids in general group together

(fig. 132, red), as do the Asterids. SOYBN1.2 (G. max) is very far removed from SOYBN1.1 and does not group with any of the Rosids or Asterids. This indicates this MDR might not be truly homologous to the others as it does not group with the Fabaceae or Rosids clade (fig. 132, brown and red respectively). Another striking finding is the presence in *M. acuminata* of an MDR copy (MUSAM1.2) that does not group with the monocots. This was placed as a sister clade to the majority of the Asterids, but is supported there by a low Bootstrap value (0.298). Thus MUSAM1.2 could represent a copy of an MDR at that locus which occurred before separation of eudicots from monocots. This analysis is biased however because 5 out of 6 monocots analysed all belong to the Poales monocot clade and only one, *M. acuminata*, belongs to another monocot clade, the Zingiberales. In fact, *M. acuminata* is the only non-Poales monocot with a genome on the ensembl Plant Genomes Database. Without other monocot genome sequences from phyla outside the Poales it is not possible to draw any conclusions about the split of *M. acuminata* MDRs. Therefore this gene in *M. acuminata* could be a copy which was lost in the Poales clade, but retained in the Zingiberales. Likewise, two C. roseus MDRs (Cr027235 1.5 and Cr2141 1.6) are positioned outside the Asterids/Rosids clade together with some of the Brassicaceae (Rosids) MDRs (fig. 132, pink and green clade). This could represent an ancient duplication that occurred before the divergence of Rosids and Asterids which was retained in C. roseus, A. thaliana, B. rapa, and B. oleracea.



Figure 132: Phylogenetic tree of cluster MDRs from plant genomes. This tree was constructed using PhyML; bootstrap support values are printed next to each node; in lilac: the Lycopodiophyta, Bryophyta, and Chlorophyta; blue: monocots; orange: Rosids; green: Brassicaceae (also Rosids); brown: Fabaceae (also Rosids); pink: Asterids (includes *C. roseus*). Bar at the bottom represents distance of 0.2 changes per site.

The MDRs in the clusters of *A. thaliana*, *B. rapa*, and *B. oleracea*, are split into two groups. One group contains ARATH1.1, BRAOL2.2, and BRARP1.2, and the other contains ARATH1.2, ARATH1.3, BRAOL1.1, BRAOL2.1, and BRARP1.1. This signifies that in *B. oleracea* and *B. rapa* the duplicated clusters have been differentially conserved. It also illustrates that the genes have not been duplicated locally and retained since at least the divergence of these 3 plant species. In *T. cacao* we observe two phyla containing MDRs; one which is a sister clade to the Fabaceae MDRs, and one which is positioned among the *V. vinifera*-containing clade. This suggests the cluster in this organism is composed of ancient duplications which have gone on to diverge enough so as to appear in two separate clades. *V. vinifera* and *T. cacao* group in the clade containing the other Rosids such as *P. persica* and *P. tremuloides*, and also the Fabaceae such as *M. truncatula* and *G. max*.

Eight of the *C. roseus* MDRs group with the asterids (*S. lycopersicum, Solanum tuberosum*) which is expected, and in general the duplications have good support. *S. lycopersicum* appears to have a duplication of the cluster which is not found in *S. tuberosum* (SOLLC2.3 and SOLC2.4 do not have homologs in *S. tuberosum*).

The grouping of two *C. roseus* MDRs with some of the Brassicaceae MDRs indicates there is a lot of information missing in this analysis. There are relatively few Asterid genomes represented in the tree, compared to Rosids and Monocots. The two Asterid genomes other than *C. roseus* are relatively closely related and therefore do not provide a great deal of novel information about the Asterids clade. More sequences of plants in the same family as *C. roseus* could help resolve some of the nodes and provide a clearer Asterid/Rosid distinction.

Finally, it is apparent from this phylogenetic analysis that the copies of the MDRs are not present in a conserved duplicated block, but rather they are dynamically duplicating throughout the evolution of these plant species. The repartition of the copies mostly in groups of related plant species indicates the duplications have occurred at a later stage after the radiation of spermatophyta into the different clades. A similar conclusion was drawn by Barakat et al. (2009) when studying the genomic organisation of the CAD/SAD genes in the available plant genomes.

5.3 Discussion

5.3.1 Genomic context of MDRs and SDRs in C. roseus

The whole genome sequencing and assembly of *C. roseus* has revealed that MDRs and SDRs are often present in clusters of duplicated genes. Most notable in *C. roseus* is the cluster on the WGC number 126 which contains 10 MDRs (fig. 130). One of the copies in that cluster is THAS2, another one (Cr024234) has been shown by collaborators to produce a different product from strictosidine aglycon, and a third copy in the cluster (Cr023176) has been shown to have 10HGO activity (Krithika et al., 2015). Another interesting cluster is on WGC number 27 which presents 6 copies of SDRs. These, conversely to the MDR cluster on WGC 126, are mostly not in tandem duplication. One of the SDRs in this cluster has been shown to reduce strictosidine aglycon and produce a product with yet another structural conformation (Chapter 4).

5.3.2 Ortholog groups in MDRs and SDRs

The analysis of the Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COGs) of the MDRs and SDRs indicated the scope of variation present in these enzyme families. MDRs and SDRs of *C. roseus* appear to be of diverse origin based on the predicted COG for each predicted protein. This is in accordance with whole family studies that have been conducted with MDR and SDR sequences present in online databases (Persson et al., 2008, Jörnvall et al., 1999, Riveros-Rosas et al., 2003).

5.3.3 Phylogeny of MDRs in C. roseus

The *C. roseus* MDRs were collected from the transcriptome and genome but it is possible some MDRs have not been included in the alignment and the phylogenetic analysis. Protein alignment showed the presence of large insertions-deletions at flexible loop regions, which presumably impact the catalytic function of these enzymes. A phylogenetic study of the *C. roseus* MDRs suggests that there are two distinct patterns of MDR evolution in this plant. The first is the largely non-duplicating MDRs placed on long branches (fig. 128, top half). These genes could be implicated in primary metabolism and are therefore under selective pressure to maintain both sequence and copy number. To verify this hypothesis, MDRs from those branches would have to be tested for their predicted activity.

The second pattern includes a more radially diverging group of MDRs that have undergone recent duplication. Ten of these highly duplicated MDRs are present in the large MDR cluster on the WGC number 126 which, in theory, arose through tandem duplications (discussed above). This supports the results of the phylogenetic analysis which places all these genes in clades near each other. Their recent divergence is evidenced from the short branches which reflect the number of changes to the protein sequence accrued since duplication. The MDRs in *C. roseus* which were shown to have activity with strictosidine aglycon (THAS1-4 and HYS) cluster on one clade of the MDR phylogeny tree (fig. 126 and 127), whereas the *C. roseus* homologs in the RsVR2 group cluster on another highly duplicated branch. Therefore, it is reasonable to suggest that this subfamily of MDRs has led, through duplication and neofunctionalisation in the Apocynaceae, to increased chemical diversity.

The tree produced here of the MDRs in *C. roseus* recalls the MDR tree constructed in Jörnvall et al. (1999) in which the plant MDRs cluster in a very highly duplicated branch. This behaviour of plant MDRs could be providing the primary material for neofunctionalisation and ultimately chemical diversity.

5.3.4 Phylogeny of SDRs in C. roseus

Conversely to the MDR phylogenetic tree, the SDR tree does not display any large differences in diversification rate. The tree however is about twice as long as that of the MDRs even though there are only 10 sequences more (54 protein sequences for SDRs vs. 44 for MDRs). The SDRs do not appear to have undergone a radial duplication and diversification recently, as evidenced by

the lack of highly duplicated branches such as that seen in the MDR phylogenetic tree (fig. 128). Instead, the SDR phylogenetic tree displays multiple clades with numerous duplication events in each one. The duplication of the ADH10 locus (Cr013447 and Cr016747) suggest these copies might be the material for further neofunctionalisation.

5.3.5 MDR duplication blocks in other plant genomes

To investigate whether the large duplicated MDR locus of WGC 126 was found more widely among the plant kingdom, one of the genes of this locus, Cr2141, was submitted to BLAST against the plant genome database on ensembl (Kersey et al., 2016). Cr2141 was chosen because homologs of this gene were found most widely among other plant species. A total of 21 plants were analysed, and a similar cluster of MDRs was identified through syntenic alignment in 18 plants. This intriguing result could either suggest that an ancient duplication of an ancestral MDR had occurred before divergence and speciation and that it was conserved among all these plants, or it could suggest that this locus was constantly being duplicated and presents an example of active gene birth/death.

To answer this question, a phylogenetic tree was constructed using the protein sequences of the MDR gene homologs found in these loci. The results indicate that the second scenario is more likely, since the paralogs and orthologs display a grouping among species and not among orthologs. This suggests that repeatedly during evolution, MDRs were duplicated at that location. The repeated "duplication after speciation" across almost all plant species analysed signifies that the MDRs at this locus might be highly duplicating across the angiosperms. There are undoubtedly other examples in plants of this phenomenon, perhaps even in other MDR or SDR clusters.

Jörnvall et al. (1999) observed, when constructing a phylogenetic tree of the MDRs and SDRs from published genomes, that the MDRs appear to be more often recently duplicated with subsequent neofunctionalisation than the SDRs. This is also observed in the *C. roseus* MDR dataset (fig. 128) which illustrates the recent expansion through duplication of the CAD-like MDRs.

5.4 Conclusions

This chapter investigates the role of gene duplications as drivers for chemical diversity. Duplication and redundancy has been observed for other MDRs and specifically members of the CAD subfamily. The *A. thaliana* CAD5 is the most active isoform for sinapaldehyde but its knockout does not significantly hinder production and deposition of lignin, indicating that the redundancy of CAD and SAD in *Arabidopsis* is enough to result in the eventual full deposition of lignin up to wild-type levels (Kim et al., 2004). A similar enzymatic redundancy is observed in the HYSs of *C. roseus* (Chapter 2 and 3 and detailed in Stavrinides et al. (2016)). Therefore, a phylogenetic analysis of the enzyme family in *C. roseus* was carried out to better understand the evolution of this family.

The resulting phylogenetic trees of the *C. roseus* MDRs were in general well supported. To increase the confidence levels in the trees, comparison with a structure-based alignment would be ideal. However, there is not nearly enough structural data available for this analysis. In the *C. roseus* MDRs the main differences evidenced when the protein crystal structures were aligned were found mainly in the loop regions. These regions appeared to have undergone many insertion-deletions which makes alignment of the sequences difficult without additional support from crystal structure alignments. Diversification in these loop sections, brought about through genetic drift, is likely to be key for acquisition of novel enzyme functions. As described in Chapter 3, loop sections above the active site of THAS1 and HYS played a key role in modulating the catalytic function of these enzymes.

The phylogenetic tree of the MDRs suggests that the HYSs enzymes have originated from a single ancestral enzyme that underwent several duplications. Numerous enzymes with HYS/ THAS activity have been identified from *C. roseus* and it is not clear what role this enzymatic redundancy has in the plant. It is apparently a stable state, given the divergent sequences of these enzymes. Stable duplication without subsequent co-option is possible in the case that an increase in dosage does not have a negative effect on the organism. Favourable selection of this dosage increase would result in the maintenance of the doubled gene and its role in the biological system (Ganfornina and Sánchez, 1999). This could be a driving force behind maintenance of all the HYSs in the *C. roseus* genome. Furthermore, the evidence suggests that downstream pathway genes such as T3R or Cr027234 might have evolved from duplications of a HYS gene or an ancestral HYS gene. This is expected, as an active site already suited to accept a certain type of substrate is primed for catalysis of a similar reaction on a slightly modified substrate (Gerlt and Babbitt, 2001). Therefore, it is hypothesized that it is likely the same group of genes will be duplicated again in the future and give rise to more chemical and functional diversity in the pathway.

Furthermore, the phylogenetic analysis of the MDRs suggests that THAS1-4 and HYS have originated from the same ancestral MDR. This information, combined with the information that the MDR copies on the duplicated block of WGC 126 have been constantly duplicating throughout the angiosperm evolution (described above in section 5.3.5), suggests WGC 126 was the original location of their ancestral genes. Indeed, THAS2 is still present on the WGC 126. Intriguingly, the location of THAS1 and THAS3 in close proximity on the WGC 371 to a copy of the indispensable iridoid biosynthetic gene Secologanin Synthase (SLS, (Irmler et al., 2000)) suggests this location could be the seed to generation of a biosynthetic cluster such as those observed in some other plants (Field and Osbourn, 2008). As discussed in Chu et al. (2011), it appears that biosynthetic cluster genesis in plants is effectively a recruitment process in which duplicated and neofunctionalised genes are slowly recruited to a genomic locus near the other genes of that pathway. As the MIA biosynthetic pathway in *C. roseus* is not unidirectional after generation of strictosidine, but rather can follow any of a multitude of pathways for generation of hundreds of MIAs, it is not clear if such a biosynthetic cluster would be "useful" for the plant. A more detailed

genomic analysis and a more complete genome sequence of *C. roseus* could help address this question of how clusters for complex, highly branched biosynthetic pathways are formed.

Overall this work indicates that actively duplicating loci in the medicinal plant *C. roseus* could provide the material for pathway diversification in secondary metabolism. Abundant duplication of HYS could signal a positive selection pressure for more of this enzyme. These duplicated genes could be undergoing mutational drift to give rise to new functions. As discussed by Kliebenstein (2008), tandem duplications are more commonly found for genes which are not part of the primary metabolism, but secondary metabolism can display and benefit from gene duplications.

5.5 Materials and Methods

5.5.1 Reductase sequences

The transcriptome and genome annotations were searched manually for medium- and shortchain dehydrogenases/reductases by searching for the GO terms characteristic of ADHs ('cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase', 'Rossman-fold superfamily protein', 'elicitor-activated gene', 'zincbinding dehydrogenase', etc.). The candidates were fetched from the transcriptome and their identity was verified by first determining the open reading frame of the gene (using the online server expasy.org (Gasteiger et al., 2003)) and then BLASTing the predicted protein sequence against the NCBI protein database to manually verify the protein family and the completeness of the sequence.

The protein sequence of each reductase was subjected to a search against the Clusters of Orthologous Groups (COG, Tatusov et al. (1997)) database v.1 of NCBI (Marchler-Bauer et al., 2015) to determine which family of MDR or SDR each protein belongs to. This was done to get a better idea of the general diversity of the MDRs and SDRs in this dataset.

The CDS, protein sequence, and genomic locus of the reductases were manually collected using the software Geneious v. 8 and the unpublished whole genome assembly version 2.A (Buell and Kim, in preparation).

5.5.2 MDR phylogenetic analysis

The MDR protein sequences were aligned using different software which employ different algorithms. Alignment was done with the software Fast Statistical Alignment (fsa, (Bradley et al., 2009)), using a gap open penalty of 1, with the software PRANK ((Whelan and Goldman, 2001), with the default parameters, using the software mafft v7.271 (Katoh and Standley, 2013) using the defaults. RAxML v8.2.8 (Stamatakis, 2014) was executed to test which model would best explain the protein alignment given empirical amino acid frequencies.

The MDR protein alignment that was produced with ClustalOmega (Sievers et al., 2011) was used as input for a phylogenetic analysis using the PhyML online server (http://www.atgc-montpellier. fr/phyml/) (Guindon et al., 2010). PhyML uses Maximum Likelihood estimation to select the most likely tree given the model and the data. The automatic model selection was used with Akaike Information Criterion as the selection criterion and NNI (Nearest Neighbor Interchange) as the tree improvement method. Bootstrap support was calculated based on 100 runs.

Bayesian inference was used in parallel to calculate a phylogeny of the MDRs protein sequences. MrBayes v. 3.2.0 (Ronquist et al., 2012) was used in an Ubuntu environment using the ClustalOmega alignment of the MDRs. Multiple-chain Markov chain Monte Carlo (MC3) is used in all analyses with 4 chains, unless otherwise specified. Initially the 4 chains were heated with the defaults. A test run was executed with two MC3 runs, setting the amino acid model to "mixed" to test which model best fit the data. The MC3 runs both converged to one model (WAG, Whelan and Goldman (2001)). Convergence was monitored by plotting the run results in Tracer (http:// tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/software/tracer/).

The simple "mixed" model (1000000 generations) was compared to the more complex model which allows for variation in evolutionary rates between sites "mixed + gamma" (713000 generations). Again both runs converged on the WAG model but the fit to the data was slightly better when including the gamma factor in the model (log likelihood of -239887 for mixed + gamma compared to -243647 for simply mixed). Due to the high demands of Bayesian inference on computation time specific amino acid substitution models were not tested individually.

5.5.3 SDR phylogenetic analysis

The SDR protein sequences (54) were collected from the *C. roseus* transcriptome (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012) and the assembled WGC version 2.A. The sequences were aligned using ClustalOmega (Sievers et al., 2011) and the alignment was verified visually with SuiteMSA (Anderson et al., 2011). The alignment was used to infer a phylogenetic tree using both the PhyML online server (www.atgc-montpellier.fr/phyml) and the command-line based PhyML version 3.0 in an Ubuntu environment (Guindon et al., 2010).

The online server was run with automatic model selection and 300 bootstrap iterations. In the command-line PhyML, where automatic model selection is not possible, the WAG amino acid substitution model (Whelan and Goldman, 2001) was selected, and branch support values were calculated using aLRT (cubic approximation, mixture of Chi2s distribution). In both cases the starting tree was inferred using BioNJ and was improved through NNI. The gamma was allowed to vary across 4 different classes to account for different substitution rates at different sites of the protein sequence. The resulting trees were visualised using Figtree (http://tree.bio.ed.ac.uk/ software/figtree).

5.5.4 Phylogenetic analysis of syntenic blocks

The protein sequence of Cr2141 was submitted to BLAST against the genome of *A. thaliana* of the ensembl Plant Genome Database (http://plants.ensembl.org, release 32)(Kersey et al., 2016). The *A. thaliana* positive hit region with the highest identity was studied in more detail. A syntenic alignment of this chromosomal section of *A. thaliana* was made to identify conserved duplication regions in other plant genomes. The identified loci from other organisms were collected after verifying they were MDRs.

An alignment of the MDRs, together with the 10 *C. roseus* MDRs of the WGC 126 cluster, was made in MEGA using a ClustalW algorithm (Thompson et al., 2002) with a BLOSUM matrix. The gap open penalty was 10 and the gap extension penalty was 0.1. This was verified visually before using the alignment to construct a tree in MEGA. Tree construction was done by Maximum likelihood using the UPGMA (Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean) hierarchy method with 300 bootstrap iterations. Two different amino acid models were tested; the PAM matrix (Dayhoff) (Dayhoff and Schwartz, 1978) and the JTT matrix (Jones et al., 1992). The mutation rates were allowed to vary across protein sites by setting a Gamma distribution.

5.6 References

- ANDERSON, C. L., STROPE, C. L. & MORIYAMA, E. N. 2011. SuiteMSA: visual tools for multiple sequence alignment comparison and molecular sequence simulation. BMC Bioinformatics, 12, 184-184.
- ASLAM, J., KHAN, S. H., SIDDIQUI, Z. H., FATIMA, Z., MAQSOOD, M., BHAT, M. A., NASIM, S. A., ILAH, A., AHMAD, I. Z. & KHAN, S. A. 2010. *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don. An important drug: it's applications and production. *Pharmacie Globale (IJCP)*, 4, 1-16.
- BARAKAT, A., BAGNIEWSKA-ZADWORNA, A., CHOI, A., PLAKKAT, U., DILORETO, D. S., YELLANKI,
 P. & CARLSON, J. E. 2009. The cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase gene family in Populus: phylogeny, organization, and expression. *BMC Plant Biology*, 9, 26-26.
- BERGTHORSSON, U., ANDERSSON, D. I. & ROTH, J. R. 2007. Ohno's dilemma: Evolution of new genes under continuous selection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 17004-17009.
- BRADLEY, R. K., ROBERTS, A., SMOOT, M., JUVEKAR, S., DO, J., DEWEY, C., HOLMES, I. & PACHTER, L. 2009. Fast Statistical Alignment. *PLoS Comput Biol*, 5, e1000392.
- BROCKINGTON, S. F., YANG, Y., GANDIA-HERRERO, F., COVSHOFF, S., HIBBERD, J. M., SAGE, R. F., WONG, G. K. S., MOORE, M. J. & SMITH, S. A. 2015. Lineage-specific gene radiations underlie the evolution of novel betalain pigmentation in Caryophyllales. *New Phytologist*, 207, 1170-1180.
- BUNSUPA, S., KATAYAMA, K., IKEURA, E., OIKAWA, A., TOYOOKA, K., SAITO, K. & YAMAZAKI, M. 2012. Lysine Decarboxylase Catalyzes the First Step of Quinolizidine Alkaloid Biosynthesis and Coevolved with Alkaloid Production in Leguminosae. *The Plant Cell Online*.
- CHEN, H., LI, G. L., KOLLNER, T. G., JIA, Q. D., GERSHENZON, J. & CHEN, F. 2014. Positive Darwinian selection is a driving force for the diversification of terpenoid biosynthesis in the genus Oryza. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 14.
- CHU, H. Y., WEGEL, E. & OSBOURN, A. 2011. From hormones to secondary metabolism: the emergence of metabolic gene clusters in plants. *The Plant Journal*, 66, 66-79.
- DAYHOFF, M. O. & SCHWARTZ, R. M. A model of evolutionary change in proteins. In *Atlas of* protein sequence and structure, 1978. Citeseer.
- DES MARAIS, D. L. & RAUSHER, M. D. 2008. Escape from adaptive conflict after duplication in an anthocyanin pathway gene. *Nature*, 454, 762-765.
- FIELD, B. & OSBOURN, A. E. 2008. Metabolic diversification Independent assembly of operonlike gene clusters in different plants. *Science*, 320, 543-547.
- GANFORNINA, M. D. & SÁNCHEZ, D. 1999. Generation of evolutionary novelty by functional shift. *BioEssays*, 21, 432-439.
- GASTEIGER, E., GATTIKER, A., HOOGLAND, C., IVANYI, I., APPEL, R. D. & BAIROCH, A. 2003. ExPASy: the proteomics server for in-depth protein knowledge and analysis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 31, 3784-3788.
- GEISSLER, M., BURGHARD, M., VOLK, J., STANIEK, A. & WARZECHA, H. 2015. A novel cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD)-like reductase contributes to the structural diversity of monoterpenoid indole alkaloids in Rauvolfia. *Planta*, 1-12.
- GERLT, J. A. & BABBITT, P. C. 2001. Divergent evolution of enzymatic function: Mechanistically diverse superfamilies and functionally distinct suprafamilies. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 70, 209-246.
- GEU-FLORES, F., SHERDEN, N. H., COURDAVAULT, V., BURLAT, V., GLENN, W. S., WU, C., NIMS, E., CUI, Y. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2012. An alternative route to cyclic terpenes by reductive cyclization in iridoid biosynthesis. *Nature*, 492, 138-142.
- GÓNGORA-CASTILLO, E., CHILDS, K. L., FEDEWA, G., HAMILTON, J. P., LISCOMBE, D. K., MAGALLANES-LUNDBACK, M., MANDADI, K. K., NIMS, E., RUNGUPHAN, W., VAILLANCOURT, B., VARBANOVA-HERDE, M., DELLAPENNA, D., MCKNIGHT, T. D., O'CONNOR, S. & BUELL, C.
 R. 2012. Development of Transcriptomic Resources for Interrogating the Biosynthesis of Monoterpene Indole Alkaloids in Medicinal Plant Species. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e52506.

- GUINDON, S., DUFAYARD, J.-F., LEFORT, V., ANISIMOVA, M., HORDIJK, W. & GASCUEL, O. 2010. New algorithms and methods to estimate maximum-likelihood phylogenies: assessing the performance of PhyML 3.0. *Systematic biology*, 59, 307-321.
- GUIRIMAND, G., COURDAVAULT, V., LANOUE, A., MAHROUG, S., GUIHUR, A., BLANC, N., GIGLIOLI-GUIVARC'H, N., ST-PIERRE, B. & BURLAT, V. 2010. Strictosidine activation in Apocynaceae: towards a "nuclear time bomb"? *Bmc Plant Biology*, 10.
- IRMLER, S., SCHRODER, G., ST-PIERRE, B., CROUCH, N. P., HOTZE, M., SCHMIDT, J., STRACK, D., MATERN, U. & SCHRODER, J. 2000. Indole alkaloid biosynthesis in *Catharanthus roseus*: new enzyme activities and identification of cytochrome P450CYP72A1 as secologanin synthase. *Plant Journal*, 24, 797-804.
- JONES, D. T., TAYLOR, W. R. & THORNTON, J. M. 1992. The rapid generation of mutation data matrices from protein sequences. *Computer applications in the biosciences: CABIOS*, 8, 275-282.
- JÖRNVALL, H., HÖÖG, J.-O. & PERSSON, B. 1999. SDR and MDR: completed genome sequences show these protein families to be large, of old origin, and of complex nature. *FEBS Letters*, 445, 261-264.
- KATOH, K. & STANDLEY, D. M. 2013. MAFFT Multiple Sequence Alignment Software Version 7: Improvements in Performance and Usability. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30, 772-780.
- KELLNER, F., KIM, J., CLAVIJO, B. J., HAMILTON, J. P., CHILDS, K. L., VAILLANCOURT, B., CEPELA, J., HABERMANN, M., STEUERNAGEL, B., CLISSOLD, L., MCLAY, K., BUELL, C. R. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2015. Genome-guided investigation of plant natural product biosynthesis. *The Plant Journal*, 82, 680-692.
- KERSEY, P. J., ALLEN, J. E., ARMEAN, I., BODDU, S., BOLT, B. J., CARVALHO-SILVA, D., CHRISTENSEN, M., DAVIS, P., FALIN, L. J., GRABMUELLER, C., HUMPHREY, J., KERHORNOU, A., KHOBOVA, J., ARANGANATHAN, N. K., LANGRIDGE, N., LOWY, E., MCDOWALL, M. D., MAHESWARI, U., NUHN, M., ONG, C. K., OVERDUIN, B., PAULINI, M., PEDRO, H., PERRY, E., SPUDICH, G., TAPANARI, E., WALTS, B., WILLIAMS, G., TELLO–RUIZ, M., STEIN, J., WEI, S., WARE, D., BOLSER, D. M., HOWE, K. L., KULESHA, E., LAWSON, D., MASLEN, G. & STAINES, D. M. 2016. Ensembl Genomes 2016: more genomes, more complexity. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44, D574-D580.
- KIM, S.-J., KIM, K.-W., CHO, M.-H., FRANCESCHI, V. R., DAVIN, L. B. & LEWIS, N. G. 2007. Expression of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenases and their putative homologues during *Arabidopsis thaliana* growth and development: Lessons for database annotations? *Phytochemistry*, 68, 1957-1974.
- KIM, S.-J., KIM, M.-R., BEDGAR, D. L., MOINUDDIN, S. G. A., CARDENAS, C. L., DAVIN, L. B., KANG, C. & LEWIS, N. G. 2004. Functional reclassification of the putative cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase multigene family in Arabidopsis. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 101, 1455-1460.
- KLIEBENSTEIN, D. J. 2008. A Role for Gene Duplication and Natural Variation of Gene Expression in the Evolution of Metabolism. *PLoS ONE*, 3, e1838.
- KRITHIKA, R., SRIVASTAVA, P. L., RANI, B., KOLET, S. P., CHOPADE, M., SONIYA, M. & THULASIRAM, H. V. 2015. Characterization of 10-Hydroxygeraniol Dehydrogenase from *Catharanthus roseus* Reveals Cascaded Enzymatic Activity in Iridoid Biosynthesis. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 8258.
- LAU, N.-S., MAKITA, Y., KAWASHIMA, M., TAYLOR, T. D., KONDO, S., OTHMAN, A. S., SHU-CHIEN, A. C. & MATSUI, M. 2016. The rubber tree genome shows expansion of gene family associated with rubber biosynthesis. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 28594.
- LUIJENDIJK, T. J. C., VAN DER MEIJDEN, E. & VERPOORTE, R. 1996. Involvement of strictosidine as a defensive chemical in *Catharanthus roseus*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 22, 1355-1366.
- MARCHLER-BAUER, A., DERBYSHIRE, M. K., GONZALES, N. R., LU, S., CHITSAZ, F., GEER, L. Y., GEER, R. C., HE, J., GWADZ, M., HURWITZ, D. I., LANCZYCKI, C. J., LU, F., MARCHLER, G. H.,

SONG, J. S., THANKI, N., WANG, Z., YAMASHITA, R. A., ZHANG, D., ZHENG, C. & BRYANT, S. H. 2015. CDD: NCBI's conserved domain database. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 43, D222-6.

- MIETTINEN, K., DONG, L., NAVROT, N., SCHNEIDER, T., BURLAT, V., POLLIER, J., WOITTIEZ, L., VAN DER KROL, S., LUGAN, R., ILC, T., VERPOORTE, R., OKSMAN-CALDENTEY, K.-M., MARTINOIA, E., BOUWMEESTER, H., GOOSSENS, A., MEMELINK, J. & WERCK-REICHHART, D. 2014. The seco-iridoid pathway from *Catharanthus roseus*. *Nature Communications*, 5, 3606.
- MOUMMOU, H., KALLBERG, Y., TONFACK, L., PERSSON, B. & REST, B. 2012. The Plant Short-Chain Dehydrogenase (SDR) superfamily: genome-wide inventory and diversification patterns. *BMC Plant Biology*, 12, 1-17.
- MUNKERT, J., POLLIER, J., MIETTINEN, K., VAN MOERKERCKE, A., PAYNE, R., MÜLLER-URI, F., BURLAT, V., O'CONNOR, SARAH E., MEMELINK, J., KREIS, W. & GOOSSENS, A. 2015. Iridoid Synthase Activity Is Common among the Plant Progesterone 5β-Reductase Family. *Molecular Plant*, 8, 136-152.
- PERSSON, B., HEDLUND, J. & JÖRNVALL, H. 2008. Medium- and short-chain dehydrogenase/ reductase gene and protein families. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 65, 3879-3894.
- QU, Y., EASSON, M. L. A. E., FROESE, J., SIMIONESCU, R., HUDLICKY, T. & DE LUCA, V. 2015. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabersonine to the anticancer drug precursor vindoline and its assembly in yeast. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112, 6224-6229.
- RIVEROS-ROSAS, H., JULIÁN-SÁNCHEZ, A., VILLALOBOS-MOLINA, R., PARDO, J. P. & PIÑA, E. 2003. Diversity, taxonomy and evolution of medium-chain dehydrogenase/reductase superfamily. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 270, 3309-3334.
- RONQUIST, F., TESLENKO, M., VAN DER MARK, P., AYRES, D. L., DARLING, A., HÖHNA, S., LARGET,
 B., LIU, L., SUCHARD, M. A. & HUELSENBECK, J. P. 2012. MrBayes 3.2: Efficient Bayesian
 Phylogenetic Inference and Model Choice Across a Large Model Space. Systematic
 Biology, 61, 539-542.
- RUEFFER, M., NAGAKURA, N. & ZENK, M. H. 1978. Strictosidine, the common precursor for monoterpenoid indole alkaloids with 3 α and 3 β configuration. *Tetrahedron Letters*, 19, 1593-1596.
- SIEVERS, F., WILM, A., DINEEN, D., GIBSON, T. J., KARPLUS, K., LI, W., LOPEZ, R., MCWILLIAM, H., REMMERT, M., SÖDING, J., THOMPSON, J. D. & HIGGINS, D. G. 2011. Fast, scalable generation of high-quality protein multiple sequence alignments using Clustal Omega. *Molecular Systems Biology*, 7, 539-539.
- SINGH, A. 2008. Phytochemicals of Gentianaceae: a review of pharmacological properties. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Nanotechnology, 1, 33-36.
- STAMATAKIS, A. 2014. RAxML Version 8: A tool for Phylogenetic Analysis and Post-Analysis of Large Phylogenies. *Bioinformatics*.
- STAVRINIDES, A., TATSIS, E. C., CAPUTI, L., FOUREAU, E., STEVENSON, C. E. M., LAWSON, D. M., COURDAVAULT, V. & O'CONNOR, S. E. 2016. Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloid synthesis reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity. *Nat Commun*, 7.
- STRAUB, S. C. K., MOORE, M. J., SOLTIS, P. S., SOLTIS, D. E., LISTON, A. & LIVSHULTZ, T. 2014. Phylogenetic signal detection from an ancient rapid radiation: Effects of noise reduction, long-branch attraction, and model selection in crown clade Apocynaceae. *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution*, 80, 169-185.
- SUDŽUKOVIĆ, N., SCHINNERL, J. & BRECKER, L. 2016. Phytochemical meanings of tetrahydroβ-carboline moiety in strictosidine derivatives. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 24, 588-595.
- TATUSOV, R. L., KOONIN, E. V. & LIPMAN, D. J. 1997. A Genomic Perspective on Protein Families. *Science*, 278, 631-637.
- THOMPSON, J. D., GIBSON, T. & HIGGINS, D. G. 2002. Multiple sequence alignment using ClustalW and ClustalX. *Current protocols in bioinformatics*, 2.3. 1-2.3. 22.

- TOBIAS, C. M. & CHOW, E. K. 2005. Structure of the cinnamyl-alcohol dehydrogenase gene family in rice and promoter activity of a member associated with lignification. *Planta*, 220, 678-688.
- WENG, J. K., PHILIPPE, R. N. & NOEL, J. P. 2012. The Rise of Chemodiversity in Plants. *Science*, 336, 1667-1670.
- WHELAN, S. & GOLDMAN, N. 2001. A general empirical model of protein evolution derived from multiple protein families using a maximum-likelihood approach. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 18, 691-699.
- YERKES, N. 2010. Purification and substrate specificity of new *C. roseus* enzymes. PhD, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Chapter 6

Conclusions

There and back again: a tale of scientific discovery from chemical to genetic diversity and back again

6.1 Heteroyohimbine synthases

In the 1970s it was first demonstrated that heteroyohimbines, a type of monoterpene indole alkaloid (MIA), are the products of enzymatic reduction of strictosidine aglycon (Stöckigt et al., 1976). Forty years later, the enzymes have finally been cloned and characterised, as described in Chapters 2 and 3. This discovery was made possible through a transcriptome database of *C. roseus* (Góngora-Castillo et al., 2012), a medicinal plant that produces hundreds of MIA, inlcuding several heteroyohimbines. The chemical structural diversity of the MIA in this and related plants stems from the reactivity of the pathway's central intermediate, strictosidine aglycon. As discussed in detail in Chapters 1, 3, and 4 this intermediate can rearrange intramolecularly to yield structurally different MIA. How the reactivity of such compounds is controlled, or how it can be exploited, is of great interest to efforts in enzyme engineering, biocatalysis and genetic engineering of pathways in heterologous hosts.

The group of enzymes that catalyse the formation of the heteroyohimbines have been named heteroyohimbine synthases (HYS). Five HYSs were identified and were found to be related at the sequence and structural level. However, one enzyme produced dramatically different ratios of the three heteroyohimbines found in *C. roseus*: ajmalicine, 19-epiajmalicine, and tetrahydroalstonine (fig. 133). Site directed mutational analysis and structural characterisation allowed the identification of the active site elements that control the stereoselectivity among these enzymes (Chapter 3).

The redundancy and the localisation of some of these HYSs to the same compartment as Strictosidine glucosidase, the enzyme that generates strictosidine aglycon, suggests that the HYSs could be part of a directed overflow metabolism (Frelin et al., 2015). In this model, the strictosidine aglycon is a reactive and toxic intermediate that, while playing a role in plant defence, can also pose a threat to the plant producing it. The reaction of the HYSs serves as a mechanism to neutralise excess strictosidine aglycone into an unreactive, non-toxic product.

6.2 Enzymatic generation of the vallesiachotaman skeleton

The HYSs are alcohol dehydrogenases, specifically of the Medium-chain dehydrogenase/ reductases (MDRs) class. An alcohol dehydrogenase from the Short-chain dehydrogenase/ reductase (SDR) class was also discovered to reduce strictosidine aglycon to generate a skeleton unrelated to the heteroyohimbines. This enzyme, ADH10, acts on a different isomer of the strictosidine aglycon substrate than the HYSs. ADH10 is the first enzyme discovered to generate the so-called vallesiachotaman skeleton of MIA (fig. 133). This has provided us with an unprecedented view into the dynamics of the strictosidine aglycon intermediate. This enzyme could form the basis of a search for similar enzymes taking part in MIA in *C. roseus* and other plants both at the central branchpoint of strictosidine aglycon and at other parts of the pathway.



Figure 133: The heteroyohimbines of *C. roseus* and vitrosamine.

6.3 Phylogenetics reveals evolution dynamics in the HYSs

Discovery of multiple HYSs raised questions about their evolution and role in the development of the downstream pathways in MIA biosynthesis. The whole genome sequencing of *C. roseus* revealed the genomic location of many enzymes related to HYSs, allowing an understanding of the genomic context of these genes. A phylogenetic analysis of the entire MDRs enzyme family revealed that the HYSs are part of a rapidly duplicating group which also appears to have produced other MIA biosynthetic enzymes such as T3R (Qu et al., 2015) and Cr027234 (Chapter 5). This group of rapidly duplicating MDRs could be providing the primary material necessary for evolution of novel enzymes capable of acting at different parts of the pathway.

More specifically, the phylogenetics of the THAS and HYS enzymes (Chapter 5) suggests that these enzymes are descended from the same ancestor gene. The genome assembly v. 2.A places THAS1 and THAS3 in the same genomic locus as an upstream pathway gene, SLS. The distant relationship between THAS1 and THAS3 makes them unlikely to be locally duplicated. Instead, these genes appear to have been recruited by relocation to this genomic location. This could represent a novel finding in plant secondary metabolism research, as it has been posited that biosynthetic clusters in plants originate via piecewise recruitment to a common genomic locus (Chu et al., 2011). The "birth place" of THAS1 and THAS3 was most likely the highly duplicated MDR cluster on the WGC 126 (Chapter 5) as they both have similar paralogs in that cluster. The physical emergence of these clusters is not yet understood at the molecular level. The potential advantage a clustered pathway could have on the host plant (co-expression, co-inheritance) could be the driving force for the maintenance of the clusters (Chu et al., 2011).

6.4 Future directions

The MIA pathway of *C. roseus* is still not fully elucidated. The enzymes discovered throughout this project and described in this thesis can act as a basis upon which to discover the missing enzymes of this pathway. Enzymes which have evolved from the same ancestral gene could show
different activities against MIA pathway intermediates. In fact, an MDR enzyme related to THAS has recently been discovered to act on a downstream part of an unrelated (sparagan type) MIA pathway in the related plant *Rauvolfia serpentina* (Geissler et al., 2015). A detailed investigation of such plants with diverging MIA pathways will only add to the rich diversity of enzyme function.

All of the enzymes described here in this thesis have been shown to be stereoselective imine reductases. There is industrial interest in stereoselective enzymes and the results described here could be built upon to expand the enzymatic toolbox. Exon shuffling is an efficient method used in protein engineering for developing novel functions. The loop swapping in HYS and THAS1 described in Chapter 3, although not an entire exon swap, illustrates how swapping an active site loop from a specific enzyme into a promiscuous enzyme resulted in a new, stable, specific enzyme. Additional protein engineering strategies, such as DNA shuffling, could also be used to expand the substrate and product scope of these enzymes.

Finally, this work touches on the evolution of the MDRs and the related enzymes, Short-chain dehydrogenase/reductases. The phylogenetic tree of the MDRs suggests that a branch of these enzymes has been duplicated numerous times. This extensive duplication suggests that there has been a vast amount of neo-functionalisation in this group of enzymes. This branch of highly duplicating MDRs could serve as an excellent starting point when searching for reductases in other plant biosynthetic pathways.

6.5 Perspectives and outlook

The advancements of transcriptome and genome sequencing have allowed us to glean, for the first time, the mechanisms underlying adaptation and evolution in the context of secondary metabolism. It is remarkable to be able to discover and test the effects of each mutation and of each gene duplication. As it has been once said "nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution" (Dobzhansky, 2013). In *C. roseus* we have now shown several examples of how the chemical diversity is a direct result of the genetic diversity. It is due to selective pressures that enzymes such as HYSs have evolved the ability to reduce strictosidine aglycone into different compounds and substrates from other parts of the MIA pathway.

The selective pressures that drive MIA evolution in *C. roseus* and other plants is still not known. It is not clear if these secondary metabolites of *C. roseus* take part in plant defence by deterring herbivore feeding or by preventing infection by pathogens. Although there have been some attempts to test the role of these alkaloids, the complexity of the mixture that is produced by the plant has greatly complicated these ecological studies. Feeding studies on insects with purified strictosidine and analogues did not show any clear effect on the lifecycle of a generalist herbivore (*Spodoptera littoralis*) but did have a slight growth-retardant effect at the young larval stage (Sudžuković et al., 2016). Similar questions have been posed about the enormous terpene chemical diversity and the role evolution has played in expanding the diversity of this family of compounds in plants. It is generally accepted that terpenes play a role in plant interactions with the environment, in particular in plant-insect interactions. The repeated appearance of increased

terpene chemical diversity in plant evolution suggests that chemical diversity is beneficial *per se* (Pichersky and Raguso, 2016). A similar driving force could well be responsible for the chemical diversity of indole alkaloids observed in the Apocynaceae.

Since the discovery of plant secondary metabolites, many hypotheses have been proposed to explain why plants would produce such compounds. An early argument that these secondary metabolites were the waste products of the plant has fallen out of favour. Instead the prevailing current theory is that the plants have evolved the metabolites as a defence against predators (Zenk and Juenger, 2007). However, the work presented in this thesis suggests an additional, more nuanced explanation. I hypothesise that the heteroyohimbines initially appeared as the product of an overflow detoxification mechanism. Whether the heteroyohimbines fulfil an additional biological role in the plant remains unknown: the role of the heteroyohimbines in the plant (signalling, storage, defensive compound etc.) is not well understood and so conclusions cannot be drawn on this point. My hypothesis however does not explain why numerous HYSs are present in the plant, and why an enzyme has evolved (HYS) to produce a variety of heteroyohimbine stereoisomers. Explaining the enormous chemical diversity that is present in many plants remains a challenge.

It is not known whether evolution favours a secondary metabolism that is promiscuous or selective. What we can analyse at any point of time is a product of the life history of the species under study; the species, and the individual, is the result of a long line of successful ancestors. Unfavourable alleles are usually lost from the population. Therefore, the collection of genes and alleles that we discover in a modern organism must not carry a significant cost to them. To carry the argument to its logical conclusion, I argue that if there is no inherent detrimental effect for the plant to possess a diverse secondary metabolism, then that is what it will tend to naturally. Mutations will occur over its evolution which will increase chemical diversity. If the compounds produced do not promote a disadvantage to the host there will be no negative selection pressure to stop producing them. Inversely, if the new chemical diversity increases the fitness of the host then the new genes or alleles will increase in frequency in the population.

6.6 References

- CHU, H. Y., WEGEL, E. & OSBOURN, A. 2011. From hormones to secondary metabolism: the emergence of metabolic gene clusters in plants. The Plant Journal, 66, 66-79.
- DOBZHANSKY, T. 2013. Nothing in biology makes sense except in the light of evolution. The american biology teacher, 75, 87-91.
- FRELIN, O., HUANG, L. L., HASNAIN, G., JEFFRYES, J. G., ZIEMAK, M. J., ROCCA, J. R., WANG, B., RICE, J., ROJE, S., YURGEL, S. N., GREGORY, J. F., EDISON, A. S., HENRY, C. S., DE CRECY-LAGARD, V. & HANSON, A. D. 2015. A directed-overflow and damage-control N-glycosidase in riboflavin biosynthesis. Biochemical Journal, 466, 137-145.
- GEISSLER, M., BURGHARD, M., VOLK, J., STANIEK, A. & WARZECHA, H. 2015. A novel cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD)-like reductase contributes to the structural diversity of monoterpenoid indole alkaloids in Rauvolfia. Planta, 1-12.
- GÓNGORA-CASTILLO, E., CHILDS, K. L., FEDEWA, G., HAMILTON, J. P., LISCOMBE, D. K., MAGALLANES-LUNDBACK, M., MANDADI, K. K., NIMS, E., RUNGUPHAN, W., VAILLANCOURT, B., VARBANOVA-HERDE, M., DELLAPENNA, D., MCKNIGHT, T. D., O'CONNOR, S. & BUELL, C. R. 2012. Development of Transcriptomic Resources for Interrogating the Biosynthesis of Monoterpene Indole Alkaloids in Medicinal Plant Species. PLoS ONE, 7, e52506.
- PICHERSKY, E. & RAGUSO, R. A. 2016. Why do plants produce so many terpenoid compounds? New Phytologist, n/a-n/a.
- QU, Y., EASSON, M. L. A. E., FROESE, J., SIMIONESCU, R., HUDLICKY, T. & DE LUCA, V. 2015. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabersonine to the anticancer drug precursor vindoline and its assembly in yeast. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112, 6224-6229.
- STÖCKIGT, J., TREIMER, J. & ZENK, M. H. 1976. Synthesis of ajmalicine and related indole alkaloids by cell free extracts of *Catharanthus roseus* cell suspension cultures. FEBS Letters, 70, 267-270.
- SUDŽUKOVIĆ, N., SCHINNERL, J. & BRECKER, L. 2016. Phytochemical meanings of tetrahydroβ-carboline moiety in strictosidine derivatives. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry, 24, 588-595.
- ZENK, M. H. & JUENGER, M. 2007. Evolution and current status of the phytochemistry of nitrogenous compounds. Phytochemistry, 68, 2757-2772.

1.1 Gene and protein sequences

THAS1 nucleotide sequence:

ATGGCAATGGCTTCAAAGTCACCTTCTGAAGAAGTATATCCAGTGAAGGCATTTGGTTTGGCTGCTAAG-GATTCTTCTGGGCTTTTCTCTCCATTCAACTTCTCAAGAAGGGCCACAGGGGAACACGATGTGCAGCT-CAAAGTATTATACTGTGGGACTTGCCAATATGACAGGGAAATGAGCAAAAACAAATTTGGATTTA-CAAGCTATCCTTATGTTTTAGGGCATGAAATTGTGGGTGAGGTAACTGAAGTTGGCAGCAAGGTG-GTGTACAAATGAAGTTGAAAATTACTGTCCAGAAGCAGGATCAATAGACAGCAATTACGGGGCAT-GTTCAAATATAGCAGTGATAAACGAGAATTTTGTCATCCGTTGGCCTGAAAATCTTCCTTTGGATTCTG-GTGTTCCTCTTCTATGTGCAGGAATCACGGCTTATAGTCCCATGAAACGTTATGGACTTGATAAACCTG-GAAAACGTATCGGCATAGCCGGTCTAGGAGGACTTGGACATGTAGCTCTTAGATTTGCCAAAGCTTTTG-GGGCTAAGGTGACAGTGATTAGTTCTTCACTTAAGAAAAACGTGAAGCCTTTGAGAAATTCGGAG-CAGATTCTTTCTTGGTCAGCAGTAATCCAGAAGAAATGCAGGGTGCAGCAGGAACATTGGATGGGAT-CATAGACACTATACCAGGGAATCACTCTCTTGAGCCACTCCTTGCTTTATTGAAGCCTCTTGGGAAGCT-TATCATTTTAGGTGCACCAGAAATGCCCTTTGAGGTTCCCGCTCCTTCCCTGCTTATGGGTGGAAAAGTA-ATGGCTGCCAGTACTGCTGGGAGTATGAAGGAAATACAAGAGATGATTGAATTTGCAGCAGAACACAA-CATAGTAGCAGATGTGGAGGTTATCTCTATTGACTATGTGAACACTGCAATGGAGCGCCTTGATAACTCT-GATGTGAGATATCGTTTCGTGATTGATATAGGGAACACTCTGAAATCAAATTAA

THAS1 protein sequence:

MAMASKSPSEEVYPVKAFGLAAKDSSGLFSPFNFSRRATGEHDVQLKVLYCGTCQYDREMSKNKFGFTSY-PYVLGHEIVGEVTEVGSKVQKFKVGDKVGVASIIETCGKCEMCTNEVENYCPEAGSIDSNYGACSNIAVIN-ENFVIRWPENLPLDSGVPLLCAGITAYSPMKRYGLDKPGKRIGIAGLGGLGHVALRFAKAFGAKVTVISSSLK-KKREAFEKFGADSFLVSSNPEEMQGAAGTLDGIIDTIPGNHSLEPLLALLKPLGKLIILGAPEMPFEVPAPSLL-MGGKVMAASTAGSMKEIQEMIEFAAEHNIVADVEVISIDYVNTAMERLDNSDVRYRFVIDIGNTLKSN

THAS2 coding sequence:

ATGTCTTCAAAATCAGCAAAACCAGTGGAGGCTTACGGATGGGCAGCAAAAGATACATCTGG-GCTTCTCCCCCTTCAAGTTCTTAAGAAGGACCACAGGAGAACATGATGTGCAGTTCAAAG-TATTGTATTGTGGGCTGTGCGATTGGGATGTAATTACAACCAAGAATACTTATGGCACTACTAAG-TATCCTTTTGTTCCTGGGCATGAGATAATGGGTATTGTAACAGAGATTGGTAATAAAGTGAAGAAAT-TCAAGGTTGGAGACAAAGTAGGTGTGGGAAACTTTATTGGATCATGTGGTAAATGTGAGAGATGTA-ATGAAGGTCTTGAACCTTATTGTCCAAAAGTCATTTACACAGATGGAACTGCTTTTAGCGATGAAAATA-ATACTGTCTATGGCGACGTTTCTGGAGACGGAGAAGACAGAATATACGGTGGATATTCAAATATTATG-GTCGCCAATGAGTATGTAGTGTTCCGTTGGCCTGAAAACCTTCCTCTAGCTGCCGGTGTACCTATTTTAT-GTGGTGGTATTGTTCCTTACAGTCCCATGAGACACTTTGGACTTGATAAACCTGGATTGAGTATTGGT-GTGGTTGGATTTGGTCGTATTGGGAAATTAGCCGTTAAATTTGCGAAGGCTTTTGGAGCAAATGTTACTG-CAAAGAACCAGAGGAGATGAAGGCGGCAGAGAGAGTACGCTGGATGGGATCTTTGACTGTGTCCCTAGT-GTTCATCCTCTTCATCCATTGCTCAATTTGTTGAAGGTTTGAAGGGACGTTTGTTATGCTTGGGGGTGGCTGT-GGAGGCATATGAATTGCCAGTGTCTCCACTCCTTATGGGGAGGAGAAAGTTCGTTGGCAGTATAAGCGG-GACTATGAAGGAAACACAAGAGATGTTAGATTTTGCAGCAAAGCACAATATAGTTTCAGATATAGAGCT-GATTCCAATGGATTATGTAAATACAGCACTGGAGCGGATTGCCAAGGGCAATCATAAAGATGCATTCGT-CATTGACATAGAAAACACATTGAAATCTGCTTAG

THAS2 protein sequence:

MSSKSAKPVEAYGWAAKDTSGLLSPFKFLRRTTGEHDVQFKVLYCGLCDWDVITTKNTYGTTKYPFVP-

GHEIMGIVTEIGNKVKKFKVGDKVGVGNFIGSCGKCERCNEGLEPYCPKVIYTDGTAFSDENNTVYGDVS-GDGEDRIYGGYSNIMVANEYVVFRWPENLPLAAGVPILCGGIVPYSPMRHFGLDKPGLSIGVVGFGRIGK-LAVKFAKAFGANVTVISTSISKKQEAIEKYGVDRFLISKEPEEMKAAESTLDGIFDCVPSVHPLHPLLNLLK-FEGTFVMLGVAVEAYELPVSPLLMGRRKFVGSISGTMKETQEMLDFAAKHNIVSDIELIPMDYVNTALERIAK-GNHKDAFVIDIENTLKSA

THAS3 coding seuquence:

CATCTGGGCTTCTCTCTCCCCTTCAAGTTCCAGAGAAGGGCTACAACGGAGCATGATGTCCAGCT-CAAAATATTGTATTGTGGGATGTGCGATTGGGATCTACATGTAGTCAAGAATTGGTTTGGCACCAAC-TATCCCATTGTACCTGGGCACGAGGCAGTGGGCGTGGTGACTGAAATCGGCAACAAGGTACAGAAAT-TCAAGATTGGGGACATAGTAGGCGTTAGTACTTACATTCGAACATGTCGGAGCTGCGAGAGATGTA-AAGAAGGTGAAGACAGTTACTGTCCCAGCTTAATAACAGGAGATGGAACTTCATTTAGTGATGGAAAC-GACGTATTTTTCTATGATCCAAATGATGATAATACAAAAGAGACAACAAAAACATATGGCTCATATTC-CAATTTCACAGTTGTGGATGAATATTACGTTATTCGTTGGCCAGAAAACTTTCCTTTGGCTGCTGGAG-TACCTCTTCTTTGTGCTGGTACAGTTCCTTATAGTCCAATGAGGCACTTTGGATTTGATAAACCTGGAAT-TCATATTGGTGGGTTGGATTTGGTGGGATTGGCAAATTAGTTGTTAAATTTGCTAAGGCTTTTGGAGT-TAAAGTAACAGTGATTAGTACATCCATTGATAAGAAGCATGAAGCTATTCATGAATATGGTGCTCATG-GATTTTTACTCAGCAAAGAACCTCAGCAGCTTCAGGCTGCTATTAATACTATGGAAGGTATAGTTGA-TACAGTTCCTAAAGTTCACCCTATTCTTCCATTGATCAAATTGTTGAAATTCGATGGTACCCTTCTTAT-GCTCGGAGCACCGCCGGAGCCATATGAGTTTCCAATCTCCACATTGCTTATGGGGAGGAGGAGGGGGG GTGGGAAGTGCTGGAGCGAGCATGAAGGAAACACAAGAAATGATGGATTTTGCAGCGAAGCACAA-GAGATTTCAAGAATCGATTCGTAATTGATATAGAAAATTCTTTGGGATCTGTTTAG

THAS3 protein sequence:

MAVPSAETGKTIEAYGWAARDSSGLLSPFKFQRRATTEHDVQLKILYCGMCDWDLHVVKNWFGTTNYP-IVPGHEAVGVVTEIGNKVQKFKIGDIVGVSTYIRTCRSCERCKEGEDSYCPSLITGDGTSFSDGNDVFFYD-PNDDNTKETTKTYGSYSNFTVVDEYYVIRWPENFPLAAGVPLLCAGTVPYSPMRHFGFDKPGIHIGVVG-FGGIGKLVVKFAKAFGVKVTVISTSIDKKHEAIHEYGAHGFLLSKEPQQLQAAINTMEGIVDTVPKVHPILP-LIKLLKFDGTLLMLGAPPEPYEFPISTLLMGRKRVVGSAGASMKETQEMMDFAAKHNIVADVEIIPIDYAN-TAIERIEKGDFKNRFVIDIENSLGSV

THAS4 coding sequence:

ATGGCTGCAAAGTCACCTGAAAATGTATACTCAGTGAAGACTTTTGGCTTCGCTGCCAAGGATTCATCT-GGGCTTTTCTCCCCATTCAACTTCTCAAGAAGAGCCACAGGGGAAAATGATGTGCAGTTCAAAGTATTG-GTTATAGGGCACGAAATTATTGGAGTTGTAACTGAGGTTGGTAGCAAGGTAAAAAAATTTAAAGTG-GGGGACAAAGTTGGTGTAGGGGGCCACGTTGGAGCGTGCGAGAAGTGCGAATTGTGTATCAATG-GAGTTGAAAATAATTGTCCAGAAGCAGAATCAACAGATGGCTTTTCCGGGAAAAATTTTGGTGGAT-GTGTTCCTCTTTTGTGTGCAGGAATAACTACTTACAGTCCCTTGAGACGATATGGACTTGATAAACCTG-GACTCAATATTGGCATAGCTGGTCTAGGAGGACTTGGACATTTAGCAATCAGATTTGCCAAGGCTTTTG-GTGCTAAGGTCACACTAATCAGTTCATCTGTTAAGAAAAAGCGTGAAGCCCTCGAGAAATTTGGTG-TAGATTCTTTCTTGCTCAACAGTAACCCCGAGGAAATGCAGGGTGCATATGGAACACTTGATGGCAT-CATAGACACTATGCCAGTGGCTCACTCCATTGTGCCATTTCTTGCTTTATTGAAGCCCCTTGGTAAGCT-CACAATATAGTAGCAGATGTTGAGGTTATTCCTATTGACTATTTAAACACCGCCATAGAACGCATTA-AGAACTCTGATGTCAAGTATCGTTTCGTCATTGACGTAGGAAACACTCTCAAATCCCCATCTTTCTAG

THAS4 protein sequence:

MAAKSPENVYSVKTFGFAAKDSSGLFSPFNFSRRATGENDVQFKVLYCGTCYYDWAMITNKYGMT-NYPFVIGHEIIGVVTEVGSKVKKFKVGDKVGVGGHVGACEKCELCINGVENNCPEAESTDGFSGKNFG-GCSNIMVVNEKYAVVWPENLPLHSGVPLLCAGITTYSPLRRYGLDKPGLNIGIAGLGGLGHLAIRFAKAFGA-KVTLISSSVKKKREALEKFGVDSFLLNSNPEEMQGAYGTLDGIIDTMPVAHSIVPFLALLKPLGKLIILGVPEEP-FEVPAPALLMGGKLIAGSAAGSMKETQEMIDFAAKHNIVADVEVIPIDYLNTAIERIKNSDVKYRFVIDVGN-TLKSPSF

HYS coding sequence:

ATGGCTGCAAAGTCACCTGAAAATGTATACCCAGTGAAGACTTTTGGCTTCGCTGCCAAGGATTCATCT-GGGTTTTTCTCCCCATTCAACTTCTCAAGAAGGGCCACCGGGGAAAATGATGTGCAGTTCAAAG-TATCCTTTTGTTATAGGGCACGAAATTGTTGGAGTTGTAACTGAAATAGGTAGCAAGGTACAAAAATTTA-AAGTGGGGGACAAAGTTGGTGTAGGGGGGCTTCGTTGGAGCATGCGAAAGTGCGAAATGTGTGTCAAT-GGGGTTGAAAATAACTGTTCAAAAGTAGAATCAACAGATGGCCATTTTGGAAATAATTTTGGTGGAT-GTGTTCCTCTTTTGTGTGCAGGAATAACTACTTACAGTCCCTTGAGACGATATGGACTTGATAAACCTG-GACTCAATATTGGCATAGCTGGTCTAGGAGGACTTGGACATTTAGCAATCAGATTTGCCAAGGCTTTTG-GTGCTAAGGTCACACTAATCAGTTCATCTGTTAAGAAAAAGCGTGAAGCCCTCGAGAAATTTGGTG-TAGATTCTTTCTTGCTCAACAGTAACCCCGAGGAAATGCAGGGTGCATATGGAACACTTGATGGCAT-CATAGACACTATGCCAGTGGCTCACTCCATTGTGCCATTTCTTGCTTTATTGAAGCCCCTTGGTAAGCT-CACAATATAGTAGCAGATGTTGAGGTTATTCCTATTGACTATTTAAACACCGCCATGGAACGCATTA-AGAACTCTGATGTCAAGTATCGTTTCGTCATTGACGTAGGAAACACTCTCAAATCCCCATCTTTCTAG

HYS protein sequence:

MAAKSPENVYPVKTFGFAAKDSSGFFSPFNFSRRATGENDVQFKVLYCGTCNYDLEMSTNKFGMTKYP-FVIGHEIVGVVTEIGSKVQKFKVGDKVGVGGFVGACEKCEMCVNGVENNCSKVESTDGHFGNNFGG-CCNIMVVNEKYAVVWPENLPLHSGVPLLCAGITTYSPLRRYGLDKPGLNIGIAGLGGLGHLAIRFAKAFGA-KVTLISSSVKKKREALEKFGVDSFLLNSNPEEMQGAYGTLDGIIDTMPVAHSIVPFLALLKPLGKLIILGVPEEP-FEVPAPALLMGGKLIAGSAAGSMKETQEMIDFAAKHNIVADVEVIPIDYLNTAMERIKNSDVKYRFVIDVGN-TLKSPSF

ADH10 coding sequence:

ADH 10 amino acid sequence:

MAAMGTSEKYAVVTGSNKGIGFETCKKLASQGITVVLTARDEKRGLDALEKLKELGLSGKVLFHQLD-VTDSSSVASLAEFVKKQFGRLDILVNNAGVNGVITDVEAVKKLNPAEDPADVDFSKIYKETYELAEECIQINY-FGTKRTTDALLPLLQLSASPRIVNISSIMGQLKNIPSEWAKGILGDASNLTEDRLDEVINNFLKDFKEGSLAAK-GWPPSFSAYIVSKVVVNAYTRILAKKYPNFKINCVCPGFAKTDLNHGLGLLTAEEAAENPVKLALLPDDGPS-GLFFDRSEESSFE

1.2 Phylogenetic data



Figure 1: Convergence graphs for MC3 run with "mixed + gamma" model. A: Log Likelihood of model, LnL; B: Tree length, TL; C: Log of the prior density, LnPr; D: estimation of the gamma factor, alpha; E: Mixing graph for parameter LnL.



Figure 2: Phylogenetic tree of the SDR superfamily in *C. roseus*. Tree was constructed using PhyML through command-line in an Ubuntu environment; Branch support values (aLRT-based, combination of Chi2s) are printed next to the nodes; ADH10-like clade is illustrated in red; ISY-like clade is in blue. ADH10: Cr013448. The bar at the bottom represents the distance to 0.6 changes per site.

1.3 NMR data



Figure 3: COSY of ADH10 product, vitrosamine.



Figure 4: HSQC of ADH10 product, vitrosamine. Red cross-peaks depict to negative projections and correspond to carbons attached to an even number of hydrogens. Black cross-peaks depict positive projections and correspond to carbons attached to an odd number of hydrogens.



Figure 5: H2BC of ADH10 product, vitrosamine. Cross-peak correspond to proton and carbon spins separated by two covalent bonds.



Figure 6: HMBC of aliphatic region of ADH10 product, vitrosamine.

















Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 1

Sample name: Sampel 1

Date: 13-05-2015

User name : Lorenzo Caputi

Message:

Sample received at 10 mg/ml (MW × 39 kDa, 256uM) in 20 mM HEPES, 0.5 mM TCEP.

- -Sample has been diluted 1:10 in 20mM HEPES pH7.5 to obtain protein around 25uM.
- -Loaded 2ul of diluted-sample into each wells
- -Plot have been prepared using GraphPad v5.0.

Thanks to cite:

Boivin S, Kozak S, Meijers R. (2013) Optimization of protein purification and characterization using Thermofluor screens. Protein Expr Purif. 2013 Aug 12. doi:pii: S1046-5928(13)00145-9. 10.1016/j.pep.2013.08.002. [Epub ahead of print]





















Report : Thermal stability assay - custom experiment

Sample name: Sampel 1

Date: 13-05-2015

User name : Lorenzo Caputi

Message:

- Sample received at 10 mg/ml (MW ≈ 39 kDa, 256uM) in 20 mM HEPES, 0.5 mM TCEP.
 Sample has been diluted 1:10 in 20mM HEPES pH7.5 to obtain protein around 25uM.
- -Loaded 2ul of diluted sample into each wells
- -Plot have been prepared using GraphPad v5.0.
- Sigma N1630 (B-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide 2'-phosphate reduced), MW 833.35
 Sigma N0505 (B-Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate sodium), MW 765.39
- -Prepared 10mM stock solution in water
- -Experiment carried out in 50mM HEPES pH 7.5 (no salt)
- -Filled wells to 25ul with water
- -5 minutes incubation before temprature ramping

Thanks to cite:

Boivin S, Kozak S, Meijers R. (2013) Optimization of protein purification and characterization using Thermofluor screens. Protein Expr Purif. 2013 Aug 12. doi:pii: S1046-5928(13)00145-9. 10.1016/j.pep.2013.08.002. [Epub ahead of print]









Report : Thermal stability assay using additive screen 2

Sample name: ADH22b

Date: 2015-06-05

User name: Lorenzo Caputi

Message:

 Sample received at 640 uM, diluted with 20 mM HEPES, 100 mM NaCl, pH 7.5 down to 64 uM

- Screen 2 has been performed in 50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5

- 2 µl loaded in each well

- Plot have been prepared using GraphPad v5.0.

Thanks to cite:

Bolvin S, Kozak S, Meijers R. (2013) Optimization of protein purification and characterization using Thermofluor screens. Protein Expr Purif. 2013 Aug 12. doi:pii: S1046-5928(13)00145-9. 10.1016/j.pep.2013.08.002. [Epub ahead of print]



Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2





Comments:

- good signal-to-noise ratio
- sharp melting transition in majority of conditions
 some additives improve the stability of the protein and increase its
 T_m by few degrees in comparison to the buffer control



SPC Facility

Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2



Effect of chaotropic and dissociating reagents conditions A1-A8

Comments:

urea and GdnHCI destabilize the protein in a concentration-dependant manner
 3 % DMSO does not show any significant effect







in general, no significant effect on the protein stability
 only 100 mM Ca(C₂H₃O₂)₂ and 100 mM Na₃C₆H₅O₇ might slightly destabilize the protein



SPC Facility

Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2











7 multivalent and metal ions conditions D6-D12

Comments:

 excluding 10 mM CaCl₂ and 1 mM MnCl₂, all the multivalent ions destabilize the protein and cause its unfolding at lower temperature







Comments:

- all reducing reagents destabilize the protein

- if necessary, 1 mM TCEP might be an option to use (only slight destabilizing effect)





SPC Facility

Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2




- T_m slightly increases upon addition of sugars

- it might be that the solubility of the protein is increased in presence of sugars



Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2





Comments:

- the addition of 5 %, 10 % and 20 % glycerol stabilizes the protein in a concentration-dependant manner (only 1 % glycerol caused baseline ÷ EMBL instabilities) and increases the Tm by 3.5 °C Hamburg - PEGs do not show any significant effect

SPC Facility





Comments:

- imidazole destabilizes the protein in a concentration-dependant manner





Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2

SPC Facility





Comments:

- the addition of L-Arg (alone or with combination with another aa) and L-His destabilizes the protein





Report : Thermal stability assay using buffer screen 2

SPC Facility

Hamburg

Appendix 5

	10 20 30 e0 50 50	70 90
724.53	MAVPSAETGETIEAYGWAARD	
100.02	MSSKSAKPVEAY GWAAKD	TSGLLS
728.84	MARKSPENVYSVKTPGFAAKD	SSGLPS
2 1 2		SSGPPS
Cx917994	WARKNCLNPLGST-ETAINLVNEKAPERCHPVKAPGWAARD	TSGVLS
Cr011702	MGSLERARKT INGNAATD	PSGQLS
C=030442	MAGTTPNBTQTVSGNAABD-	SSGKIT
CzDD684D	HORTPETERPOKA PGWAARD Wages Spencher Uka y gasa a pr	TSGVLS
C:022770	Transe Edgine Free Owners	TSGILS
C=033537 C=033062	MAGKSAEKERPIKAY GWAVKD MARKSPEDERPVKAY GWAVKD	RTTGILS
Cr011226		GTTGILS PSGBLS
C-933839	HOAK SPECERPVKA PGNAARD HTKTNSPAPSVI TCKAAVVWKSGE	
CT933539	MAGETTKLDLSVKAV GWGAAD	
Cr005375	MOLITCRAVCWAAGE	
C+027070	MAGETTKLDISUKAI GAGAD	
C-025489	MGVKSPEDAPPVOAPGFAARD	SSGVES
C-019494	MEKSPENERPVKA PGNAAND	OSGTLS
732	HORKSVKALGLALKD	SSGLES
Cr026235	HOLDRYKTYGWAABD	SSGPLS
Cr027235	MAGKSPEREPIKÄYGNAABD	TSGVLS
Cx016729	MEKSPAE I REPVKAPGWASKD	NSGVLS
Cr022431	MARV SOKOV YPVKA PGLAARD	SSGVPT
Cz908301		MPA
Cx901761		SSGILS
Cr024159	NATNERIS LARGE TRANSPER LEVERTS I PTALEAPSAAALSPPS TAVY 10005PP	SVVRI EE
C:2141	MAGKSPEKKUPVKIYGLAAHD	
C:023176	MARSPEVERPVKAPGWAARD-	
C=024340	M EALLKERLGOPT	
Cr916395	MTSTKI BVOSSOVALSTVBLTNPPBCSLPBPLSGLSSI V DPVVVNSDGL- NDRI VGKTVENKQI I PRDYI DG RSPNB1	RSML8
Cr929195 Cr927311	MURIVGKIVENKÇI IPRUTIDG KELKPPSETEGKPIRCKAVARKAGE	DLEIRVGNKIK <mark>L</mark> E PLIIE
Cr02/311		
Cr013040		SDWYVTSESTITLK
Cr017213	MAAKPSEERHPVTAYGWAARD	
C-019170	MDYYSINGVANGYSLPGDTAGKVIKCKAAVA YGPGD	
C+020524	MECKKERGKIM	
Cx020525	HAGKVM HAVOY DSYGGGA	
C=015403	MSTTAGLVIPCKAAVSWRAGK	PLVIE
Cr917625	MGKGGMSKGSGAENCE DGREEENLA AN LVGV-	NTLKIQ
Cx018598		LOLREN
C:019716	MASTAGQVIRCKAAVAWEPGK-	PL <mark>VM</mark> R
C=915629	MOROFI SAGVITCKA <mark>A</mark> VANRAGE	
Cr018422		
778.01	MANASKSPSERVYPVKAPGLAAKD	SSGLPS

and seed on store	-london-fourdam)		111111111111111	A COMPLEX
		MAYPSAR	IGKT I KAY GRA	AKD
		MUSIK	AKPVERT GRA	AKD
			RYYSVETPOPA	KD
			IVYPVKIPGEA.	K
	NAHENCLNFLGSTH	STAINLWERADES	OHPWERFCHA.	ADD
		NGSLES	AERKTINGEL	TD
		MAQTIT	MHTQTVSCHA	AHD .
		NAKTOE	EHPORAPCHIA	E C
		HAGKEPE	OHPURATORIA	RD
		MAGKSAES	EHPINE GMA	VKD
		MARKSPED	BHPVKAYSKA	VKD
		MAKSFED	EHPWERFGER	FD
			LTCKA VV R	GGB
			DLSTRAVENG	A
		ND	ITTERAVICES.	- UR
		HAGETTEI	DLSERTICES	AA
		MGYKSPR	IA FRANCES	H
		METEDRA	IEHPURLPORT.	M
			AKEVEALGLA	LE
			ADRUKTYCHA	HT
		HACKEDE		1.1
		MERSPART		
		MAAVBORT		
		Entry Britte	A TT BOAL BIR	
		HACKI PRO	WYP DO NOT THE OWNER	
MATWEFLSLURERTECMA	SPPELEVERTSIFTALBARSAN	AL SPRS	-TALVYDOOG	PPOSTURT
	OFF FUE TRACE THE OFF	HAGKSPIT	INTERNAL AND INCOMENTAL	
		MARSHED	ICHING SHOULD	
			-KALLCORK LG	DPT-VPLGE
WT	STRIBUDSSOFALSTVBLITING	PHOST PHPLEGIS	STYDESTONS	061
	IVGETVENEOIIFRDYIDG		R	DARTOLET
		MELKEDSETEC	IDCKA ZADY	CE
		-MCLEMAGKEDES		B
MA	EEGIRVENEOVLEENYVSG	The local de la company and	ED.	KESDMYV
100	and an entry of the state of the	HAAKPSES	RHPUTE	R
	NDVYSTNGU	NGYSLPGDTAGEN		860
	MEQSI			GGADGINH
	10/01		A REAL PROPERTY OF A REAL PROPERTY.	GGAAGLEH
		METTO	TTOCKA COLORING	CIE
	tarra crimar	SKISSBALNORDGEL	CICKNEAALL	0150
MITTHING TROAT	LVRNGSSYNTYGPRNCH		-RAVLLPRDG	an and name
	LVRNGSSINIIGPRNCH			GPEVLDLR
		the second secon	-KAIRINKLG	GPRVLKMM

53	and served	Innimuland	end-real		ed a const	bara Lecendrese a	trostonation
			THE DOULD	Contract of			
	DP FOR		GENERAL	LYDGTCY	YMANTT	RY	
	PECESS	RA1	GENERAGEEN	LYCGTCM	YLEMST	B.F	
	PERESO	<mark>1</mark>					
	PYSYSL		GPEDAYIRS	TOCOVER	TRINGT		
	E STATE OF		CONDATIEN CPDINTIEN	LYCCHCH	SDLHSAR		
	PER-FRAM		GDEDURVET	L YOUT ON	SCHOAAT	L.M.	
			GDODARINI	LYINGTON	THAST	EY	
	PFFFST		GDUENBINI	LYCHVO	TDLAATE	8.F	
	PETER		GENEVERIEN	LYTGICH	SDLHH1K	DN	
	BIONDE		WAS EVELINE	LCASLOI	TDF LACNU	jL	
	INTRA	I VE	GERONKIEW	LIGUNDS	PENENVRI	KN	
	RTLVRP		REGENERATE I	LPAN LCH	TIVIACE	2	
	PIREYR		GERDWEIRV	LICOVCS	FIMENVR	E(N	
	PROPERTY AND		TLEHINQUES GDCDAKOLEN	LYDGIDA	Y REMST	KN	
	PP FSF		CERTINALEY	TSCOTCH	FONLMER		
	PE FTB		CEPTARLEY	T.VCOROL	SDEHNIK	PU	
	DEPERTURN.		LEDEARLEN	LYCTTCH		RM .	
	PP.FCB		GERLANDERV	LYCGIC	SEVENIT	E.M	
	PEDESE	BAT	CEHEMOLEN	LYCOVER	FINENER	RF	
	MARFORFY-	<mark>R</mark> A1	GDHEVRIEI	LYCGICH	SELOAAN	EM	
	EE ESE		LEODIRCEN	PJO2101	TDLIFT IN	DN	
		LPSVEI	RDDDDDDDDDDDDDDD	LAAPINE	SDINRIE(WYP	
	PPETER	<mark>-</mark> AJ	LEDENRPRY	LACCIC:	TDLIE'AK	EN	
	PR-RSH	<mark>H</mark> A'I	CHO-DOCH NY	Realize Gu	SIDLIHM I KI	KN	
	KVKLEP	IPTPLL	RACENDER	KAISLNY	ANYLOILU		
	APR	GSGMLLVENLY	LAC DYMRC	10,0201.02	LLL	.	
	EIEVAP		CANENDINI	CTSLCH	TRUTEN	/E0G	
	PERES.		GDYDVRVHI	LYCGICH	SDLOTAR	EM	
	LPEC	OGSNCVVLLVKNLY	LSC PYMR1	LNONDEN	SQCLOFN	CYTP	
	FFREPECF1	KRLYFVMRMVIVQQCN	RDHDARIEI	LYCGICH	BELOAVE	EM	
	EILVHP	F	REMEVELLE	LEISICH	SELSANK	ENE	
		IPVPSE	AARCEAFTERT	EAISLNE	EDNKA280	SVAR	
		VPVPTH	DIRGENLLEL	EATSINE	A MELCON	3M1R	
	OVEVAP		CALIFORIES	REISLON REVENDED	ILLYPNE!	LE G	
	P. D. D. P. P.	VISITOR .	CONTRACTOR AND A	DOUND TRUE	LOIRMES	NCD	
	KUKVAP		TO KINK WALK I	ENTSI DE	THUTHNES	KG	
	EVEVEP		OPMETRIEN	AFTALCO	SDITSWOO	OVEVLLAFFCSPLF	YLVNELGSLCTFDE
			RECEIPTER	KALGUNE		W	
	PR 8:0	E AT	GERINALIN	EYOUT DO	YLDENS KI	EP	



	250	260	270	290	290	200	310	320
THAS3	DESTRUCTION DE	Colorent Corol	DANDDATKETTE	NET VERS				TWEE
THAS2	RPTOPRVITT-D	GTAESDENNIVYG	DYSGDGEDR	YESYSN	INVANITY	FWEINLELA-	ABVEL-LOG	IVETS
THAS4	FIND PEARST-D	GF	8-GR	NEGGORN	MANNER YA		SEVEL-LAN	TTTYS
HYS		GH			INVINERYA	VWPENLPLH-	SCVPLLONG	ITTYS
Cr017994		G-VYH			VVVDEHPV	VOIPERMPLD-	AUAPLLCAG	IT7YS
Cr011702		NDVYTD			MVVDQRFV	VKIPBGMDPE-	QVAPLLCM	NTVYS.
Cr030442		NGIFWD	GSI	LACOARES	AT ADHRAD	Contraction of the second second	AAAPL LCAC	11ABC
Cr006840	ENTORRYVET Y	NB ISH GS-VDR	DGTM	TYCCYSDE	I AADÖERAA	the second se	AAAPL LCM	IT.YS
Cr022770	DCTOPKHIAA-Y	GS-VDR GI-FYH	DGTP	NYGGESN	SIVVNENEV	PRFFENLSEF	GGAPLLNR	11.18
Cr033537	ENTOPEVIIG-D	GI-FYH	DGTI	1091.81	SIMANGSEV	LREFERISPA-	GENPLLSAG	TTO DE L
Cr033062	ENECPKLIIP-P	GI-FIH	DGTI	CTUGE SR	SINEDEREN	FFFFENLELF	General-Ware	A 1 1 2
Cr011226 Cr033830	ENISPKEILI-I	SGLL-LDGISRMS	Daily	TE MALANA	HERATERES	AHMERICELLD-		
Cr027234	TRUCTOR IFL-GE	GSVYRE	IGEARVILINE	2001W0D3	I DEPARTMENT	ANADERA SEL-	TIMOL	100210
Cr005375	THE PERMIT	TGLM-PEGSSRMS	SERGISKME VIEL	A TRACTORY	THE DANKS	WKI DSHI PIP-	HASH	
Cr027079	FWW DEPNIA-D	GRTYDE	BGED	AVER PROP		DEPENDENCE	VEUDI DOB	TOTAL VIEW
Cr025489	KNNCPK (KT)-D	GH	K-151	NERGE SN	MUANES PU	VSNPETILETD-	SEVEL-LOAK	I THE R.
Cr019494	ENHOPGOILT-Y	MS-DDR	DGTI	TYOGYSDI	INV DELEV	LHNE HOLDED-	VGAPL-LCA	TTTYS
T3R	OTACKEAUSS D	CF	PETD	CVODORN	I PUA DENIVU	LWPENLPHD	SCAPL LOIS	I DOVN
Cr026235	ETYCPKLKMA-Y	LS-IDD	DGTV	I O GOVERE	HVILEPYN	PRWPENLPLP-	ACTPLLONG	STATE
Cr027235	POPPORTA P	CHI TAVE	DOTT	TYPEPAKE	MACKED DO	LREPENLPLD	ACAPL LCAC	IT YS
Cr016729	ENYCLORFA-H	IIRYDE	TGII	REGGESDA	MVADEHEV	IFWFENLFMD-	IGAPLLCM	ITTYS
Cr022431	EMYCKKAVAT D	GF GS-VDH	FETS	SYCCCENT	IMVADENEV	VLWPENLPLD	SCAPL - LOSS	IT YS
Cr008301	DCYCFRMIAA-Y	GS-VDH	DGIP	I YOGF SN	STVVNERFV	FRFFERILSLF-	GGAPLLNA	IT YS
Cr001761	ENTRPRSVLT-A	GA-VIT	DGIP	1,7,635,514	SHACEBOOK	VRDEDILETD-	AGAPLLCM	VI-IS
Cr024150	PF	P	F	SSCINQI	IN REQSVM	HKIDERTEME-	YAATVIVNE	PLIAIR
Cr2141	UNIGPRHVLI-M	AS-PNV	DGTI	LACCADIN	NUCHBURI	VEPFENLPID-	GGAPLLCAK	IL IS
Cr023176	KNAC - SOUTH-S	SA-1711	DG1"T	THERE Y STOL	MUADEHNU	LINNERGUERMD	SAPL-DOAD	
Cr024340	and Bollyman and	VGVMMNDBRSDFS	T MARINE MARKA	AL SPACE	T AR SIL	ARTDUGARE-	AAGA PV	IG GIV
Cr016395 Cr029195	TRUESTINANTS	KAPPPINLINKSOP 5	1DIACPUTHEN	THE REAL	VOLTED TO T	MRKIBON-DIP		JP GLG
Cr027311	CHARTEDED P	YGAMPROGTERFE	NA MODDINGER	otro p para	VP DUD T 7 D	WHISPOIDID-		TO BOR D
Cr006068		GG-IDH				PREPENLPIA		T. TUNN
Cr013040	CM	33-11-11-				VER THETODVE		MPCIT
Cr017213	DONE RMITA N	CC TDR				FLEDCRESSA	COAPE IN	NT-YE
Cr019170		REVMINDGRIRES				WKIDADAPIK-		VS GLG
Cr020524	NV	L	D-FM	YGBELAET	ANARESLT	VLR PEVSAV-		LINHO
Cr020525	NI	L	B-HL		YANAKESLT	VLREPEVSAA-	DGASLPVA	LTAHO
Cr015403	SMACDLLRINTD	RGVMLSDGKSRFS	INGNPINHFL	GISTERE	TTWHEGOL	AKLNPLAFLD-	KDLIELPFHSE	LIGLG
Cr017625	TRUPEMKITENT	PPV		-USGLAN	JW ILPANLO	L'KLEDNYSLE-	ESAMCEPI	SVGVL
Cr018598	GA	L	IIPTA	VEGITIC			EASAIPIE	LIANR.
Cr019716	SIMPLET DE LE TATES	RGVMTQCGKSRPS	I KIRKP I YHEV	REPORT NUMBER			KVCVISCG	_
Cr015629		NGVMHSDQRTRFS						JEAGLG
Cr018422		G			OT LPADING	VPVPSSVDP1-	VIA SUMLR	NT THM
THAS1	ENSCREAGEI-D			NYLACEN	LAVINENEV	THM: ENTRED	SUVPLLCA	LIATE



	410	420	430	440	450	440	410	480
THAS3		NHEATHRY CAN	(b) (c) [b) (c) [b]	LSK H-COL	tras bran	-INTRAC	PK-VP	
THAS2	TVIST	NORALEKY GAD-	Ft	LIGKLE-BEM-		A-ESTLDG	EDCVPS-VIP	LIPLENE
THAS4	TLISSBVKR	RUEALERF GAD-	ßP	LUSNDERM-	00	A-YGTLDG	TTDTMPV-AHS1	TVPFTAT.
HYS Cr017994	ILISSSVK	RPEALERF OVD-		LINSID EEM-		A-YGTLDG.	IDIMPV-ARSI	IVPELAL LEPETOL
Cr0117994	TITLES OF STREET	PERLECTION.		TARSHE GRM	1	V-IALLIG	I IDIVESA-VEIT	
Cr030442	TILST SPSK	EXEMPERIOND	D	VLSTNRECH		R KRSLDF	LUTVAA KHSI	LOPILEL
Cr006840	TVIST SORE	BABAINFLOAD	SE	EVESDOERM	E.J	A VOIMP	IDTIAT VHPI	LASLISL
Cr022770	TVISTBPSK	BDEAVNFLGAD-	G	LVSSDABOM-		A-AGILDG	LIDIVEV-VEP.	IEPLINE
Cr033537 Cr033062	TUISIIPSS	EHEATNGE GAD-		LSRDOB29-	100	I-IGILEA	IIDTLAV-VEP: ILVTVPV-VEA	
Cr011226	TVIST	REEALENLGAD.		EVSSDSDAL-	07	A-ASTLHA	IDIVSA-VHP	LEPLISE
Cr033830	ILGLDIND	BREKGE AF GMT-	La	INPRGS-NK-	SISELINE	TUGLIGLUY	TECTOVPALL	MEALESS
Cr027234	TVISTSER	ENERIE SHGAD-	Aľ	VVNIDS OL-	K	L-AGIMDG	VDI IPGGRIF	13TWEN
Cr005375 Cr027079	IIGIDINDN	NURSEAFORT-	Hr	INPERIME-	STSKINKET	TKGDGYTAX	SPECTOVPDLVN	AKA KST
Cr025489	TULES	NORALENFGAL		INSSECTOR		A-AGTLDG	100 LEG-SHP	VERYAL
Cr019494	TVISSNISK	REEAWOVEGAD	£E	LFSCDEDOM-		A-EGTIDG	IDTVSA-VHSI	LEPLINE
T3R	TEISS SPOK	FDEAFORF OVD	S <mark>e</mark>	LVSSMAREM	07	A ABTLDC	TELLARA AREA	LEPLFAL
Cr026235 Cr027235	TVISTBPSK	RDEATNHLGAD	À	LVSTDOBOT-			IDIVSA-PHAL	IMPLEAL
Cr016729	TITIST STOR	ROCALERLINGEN	AGGETLEDVICH	VUCMENERM-		A TOTADO	IDCUPF KESI	CD1 TV1
Cr022431	TVISS BLAR	REEALDREOVD	SE	EVENHS BEM		A YOTLDA	LUTLEV VEP	LDPLSSL
Cr008301	TVISTSPSK	REAINFLOAD	G	LVSGDABOM-	01	A-AGILDG	IDIVEV-VHS	TETLENE
Cr001761	TVISRSGR	RECAIDYLGAD	h	DVSONPEEM-		A-AGINDG	1DCVSA-NO	INELIGE
Cr024150 Cr2141	IN IRDRAGSDE	WEELKELGED-	EV	YIESQL VK-	NVKGLLA-	NIPEPAI	JENCOGG-NAAS	SLV-LKF
Cr023176	TV 181	NORAL ENLIGHT		LVSHIP-		A-AABLIG	10000SA-1MP	IMPLES I
Cr024340	JAVARGDE	RMULLKSLGMD	IIV	ULSKGMIT-	DELKGYLK	RELEGYDY	TOPY GG-KLTT	KES-MK
Cr016395	TIGIDTOSN	FRITAENFOVT-	F	INPRDH-DK-	PTOOVTVD1	TD-GGVDY:	PROTONUSUMP	16A RCC
Cr029195 Cr027311	VGS GISH INCVD LNPC	VDLLENR FF	EA	FNYREEDD-	DVALER	(YEPEGIDI)	PERIOD GG-AMLE	DAA-LN SOAFDST
Cr006068	TVIST SPSK	REPAINCEGAD.		EVSSDTBOM-	SAPSTICE.	-ARTIC	IDINPD-INP	TEPETRE
Cr013040	WGSA CEKER	WHILLENKE OF D	DA	FNYKEEQDF	TATLET	YFPQCIDI	YFENNOG KMLD	DAV LLN
Cr017213	TVIST SPSK	RDEAINVLOAD	SE	EVSRDT BOM	01	A TAILO	IDIVEV VEP	IEPLINI
Cr019170 Cr020524	IIGVDINSD	RFKGEAIGIT.	[MNPRDL-DK-	PVHQKIRE	TGGGGVHY	SPECAGNLDVLS	SIFAPN-
Cr020524	A-DOGAP	NTDEVESLOD-	EV	TOYKTP		PSGREYTA	WHOTTS-TPW	STEREN
Cr015403	ILGVDLNPN	RECKARE VI-	E	WNPKEH-DR-	PVOEVIAEN	ID-GGVDR	SVECTONINAM	SAFECV
Cr017625	1VIVDVDDY	RESVARGEGAL	D1	WEVSINICOY	PKEVEDIC	VMGAD LDV1	IT DCAGFNEIME	ST-ALGA
Cr018598	ST-TOGGE	SIEFVLAAGAD		VDYITED	15000000	TIKGYPLA	LDIIGM-PUIT	IRIGIN
Cr019716 Cr015629	IIGVDTNPG	STRANSFORT.	F	NDORF-RE-	PRODUCTARY	TD-GGADV	CERCECTON THAM	TTA OSC
Cr018422	IGTVSTKK	KAAQAKIIDGITI-	HY	IVNKDR	DEVIENNET	TROKGYNY	TTOSTOGK-DIFF	CGS - AC
THAS1	TVISSSLK	RTERFERF GAD	£	EVESNDEEM-		A-AGTICC	I IDT IPG-NESI	LEPLIAL

	490	500	510	520	530	5.40	550 560
	and see hard	see lands	and search	track to cond	and a second	and see here	about and
THAS3 THAS2	LARCH TIME IN THE	AVISAY	LEVSPL-LN	HINKING	A LC BORNE		
THAS4	LEPLON TIL OV		UDADAL-IN	a second s	2.3 COMP	BTOR	
HYS	LHPLOKLIILGV	PERPER	VEAPAL-1N	GGKLIAG		BTOE	
Cr017994	LHSHCKLINVGA	PDRPL	LDIFPL-1A	ODEIVAG	BGIGGNE	BTDE	<mark>M</mark> V
Cr011702	LEVIGELILMGV		FITPMV-ML	GRKSITC	SFICSIE	BIEE	VI
Cr030442	LEVEDILSIVEA	DEFIN		RRVVRC	MICSIE	BIOR	
Cr006840 Cr022770	LEMNCELITVEL	DEPL	LEIFPL VL		DICOMP		
Cr033537	LRSOGKFLLLGA	BSOSL	LEPIPL-15				
Cr033062	LOSOGREVILIGA		VEPIOL-LP			OIOE	ML
Cr011226	LENHARYIMLGA	BERPL	LEVIEL-IN	GRKIVAG		BIER	KL
Cr033830	EVGLUTAVLIGA	GLE-TS	GEIKLIEL	CGETMES	STARCAB	PKSD	LPTL
Cr027234	LNTDGAMMLVGA	BISLE	LEAAPL-IN	BRENII	SIGLE	T Y SS	<u>MI</u>
Cr005375 Cr027079	KIGUNNINLEA	GIU-KS	INTINFUSILI	CHIPKY			171
Cr025489	INCLOSED DUCK		VPAPSE-IM	ICH INAL			
Cr019494	WEHCKLINVOV		LUILOI-VS		SCIEGLE	BTUE-	
T3R	LEPLOKLIJICE	DHKPF	VEAMEL ME	OCKIISA	STOCSIK	DTOE	IV
Cr026235	LEPNCKLUVVCA	PNRI/VE		GRENLGT		BIDE	
Cr027235	TREE OR PGAAOO	VAEPL		ARKNIA	NDLOCLE	B IOB	MI
Cr016729	LEDDSKLINIGA		LEAKPV-IL				
Cr022431 Cr008301	LEDLCKLIIVCA		VAAPSL LO		AACSME	E10E	
Cr001761	LNTIISKLVLVSV		LEAPL-TT	PRI TOB			MT
Cr024150	LROGGTMVTYGG	MSKEPII	WATTSF	IFKDLS-		RGFWLCKSLGSI	KVNECRDLIDQL
Cr2141	LEGIIGELVLLGA	PEPLI	LIISAP	BERMYA	SI GLE		<u>ML</u>
Cr023176	LESH SELLIVEA		LESSIE - LA	KKIIAK	<mark>8</mark> A1661.8		
Cr024340	LNWGAQ1LV1GF	ASUEVEV	1 8 8	NIALMENNII	THETAMELE	IRPAY	LEDSDEFT
Cr016395 Cr029195	NUTHER TAYON	TO		BARTTOAL	GIRNVES	RIRM-OGPLOS	WT HI POOP PINT
Cr027311	DOSCONTWULCY	EMOCSI	ICLNSYD LL		CLFCGLE	DESD-	ISNL
Cr006068	LREASELVIVOA		LPILPE-AL		IGOSAN	BIDE	
Cr013040	MALCORIAVCOM	IS		QYNLEKPE		RIRM BGFRAP	DYFDEYSKFLEFV
Cr017213	LENHSKLVLVCD			RRSVAS	SICOSTR	BIDE	ML.
Cr019170	HDGWGLTVILGI	HPSPRI	LELHPMEIF	DGRRIIG	VELDER	GKSQ	LPYF
Cr020524 Cr020525	SPEG		DVD47	PROPUTDLIE	GAS AND TRAUS	CALILS COLVE	HYCNPKGENLDYL LILIPKRENLDYL
Cr015403	HDGW VAVLVEV		FMTKPINLL	NERALS		PRTD	LPSV
Cr017625	TREG SEVEL VIEN	GIINEN	PLIPA		DIVOVER		WPLC
Cr018598	LEBGGITYMTLOGEAA	SLADRYGLAWS	IFMATAILL	KNOIOYRISI	IGIEYPWTYMR-		ADAEGLEDI
Cr019716	HDGWGVAVLVBV		PRTHEMNEL	NERTISE		PRSD	IPSV
Cr015629	CEGNOQTVILOV	RARD	ITAHFSLFL	SCRITICE		PKSD	IPSL
Cr018422 THAS1	LEHRSYNUSPEQ	SSIGTPUP	THE THE NEW	SALAAKSI.FI	TRESMNHYTTLS	RUKL	I.KAAGKV
11491	State of the state	Carly C	A ALCONOLOUM	AND ADDRESS	THE CASE		

		570	540	590	600	610
THASS	The state of the second		and the second second		The second second	and a second second
THAS2	-DEARCHN	No. Dana		NTALEN-	TAKINIKDAN	LUI ENTLISA
THAS4	DFAARHN	VAD	UP OT DIT INT.	N-TATED	TRUEDWEYDEY	TOWONTLESDER
HYS	DEAREN		VEVIDIDYL	NTAMER-	TENSOVEYREV	IDWGNTLRSPSF
Cr017994	DEAAHEN	TAD	IEVIPIDYI		LARCOVEYDEV	IDWGNTLEKECII-
Cr011702	-EFCREUN	TSQ	IEVVENDYI	HRAFER-	LEIO DVRYRFV	WWAGSNLLVDH
Cr030442	DLCCKHN		IEMVSINNI		LARNDVRYREV	IDIASKSSNL
Cr006840	DECCKHN		IELIRMOI		LARSDVRYRFV	IDWARS1SSP
Cr022770	DEAAEHN	TAN	VEIIPMOYV		VERSOVETREV	IDIGNILIPPPES-
Cr033537	-DEAVEHD	ITAN	ARTIBIEAT	NTAMER-	TERODARAKEN	VOIENILIPPSEL-
Cr033062	-EFAAKHD	IAN	AF TTON AT	HIANER-		ID IENSLILPSEV-
Cr011226 Cr033830	-NELLERGINKE	LAD	UIEVSLED1	NRGUNY-	LARNOWRYREV LEUPD-CVKWV	KI/
Cr027234	THE AVENUE	P-CDEDM	TEVESION		INNLOWNER	
Cr005375	TOKCLNKK	ONTROLL	THOMOLEDI			There are and the second secon
Cr027079	-BIRAHEN	VCB	TEVECIDYL	STANED-		ICIGNTLEFEE
Cr025489	-DEAAKHN		VEN STOYL	NTANKH-		ILIVNUKSA
Cr019494	-YFAARHD	LPK	VEVIDIDYN	N IAMER-	LARSDIRVIEV	ID LARSHDPAY
T3R	DFAAEHN	VAD	VEVIPVEYV	N TAMER		IDICNIFKSP
Cr026235		VAD	VEVVENENV	NDAMER-		LDIGNATVAV
Cr027235	DEAAEHN	TAD	IEVISIDDA	N EAMER	LENCOVEYREV	ID LANTLEAP
Cr016729						
Cr022431	DEAAKHN		A- O DI VA		IERSDWKYRFV	IDEGNILESS
Cr008301 Cr001761	-DEAAEHN	TAD	VELLEPHERV	NTAMER-	VERSOMRYREV LANGDWRYREV	IDIGNILIPPPES-
Cr024150	LHLAREGE	IN VE	MELVPENCE		LIGHLIGSOFROM	TRP
Cr2141	-DEACKIN	TAD	TELECADOR			LUNARTLKAP
Cr023176	DEARKHN	IPD	OF LYSIN YV			INMANTIKSA
Cr024340	LSHLERGE	SVNL	INCESSION		ENDERATORYM	
Cr016395		K-VDRYT	THNETLEDT		MHEIGG-CL	
Cr029195	IG YKOCK	IYLE	DODEGLESC		FSCRIVCKOV	
Cr027311	VKKYLDEE		SHEFNFEDI		LNQCK-SLBCI	
Cr006068	-DEAAEHS	TAN		NTATER-		IDIGNILIP
Cr013040	MPYIRDEK		DIVECLENC			VVVARE
Cr017213	DEAAEHN		VEILCHOYV			IDIGNSLVPPPES
Cr019170			THELPFNNI		LIDGK-SLRCL	LHL V
Cr020524 Cr020525			DSKYPLSKA		SMGGHAIGKII IMDGHAIGKIN	AND -
Cr015403	VENYMNEK		THRVPFSEI			TOTAL CONTRACTOR
Cr017625	LEADERSCOR	D-VKPLT	THEFT	EVICED -	SAMINGSALKVN	UNL
Cr018598	RRIGEIGK	LKIPV	ENTEPTION	KCAURAR	DARGUIPGRIN	LELD
Cr019716	VERYMING	LE-LEKET	THEVTERNI	HKAMKY-	HUNGE-GUREL	KMKT
Cr015629	VEMYMNEE	Q-IDEFV	THDEPEDI	NRAFDL-	MROCK-CLEC	THMPK
Cr018422					LENRETSISSV	
THAS1	-EFAAEHN	VAD	VEVISION	NTAMER-	LICED VEY JEV	TOIGNTIREN

Appendix 6

		10 20 30 40 50	60 70
	2		
	-		
	_		
	_		
	_		
	-		
	-		
	-		
	-		MVDIDI
LMGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLLLADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 			PIICPE
LMGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLLLADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 	_		
LMGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLLLADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 	_		
MGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLILADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 			
LMGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLLLADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 	-		
LMGHAEGLAKLGSAKDLLLADPVSEFDGDELSDETPSQILYMASFEELAAKNVQYDTIIWILIS-LLLI 	-		
	-		MQMLNL
80 90 100 110 120 130 14 			
MTSSSSPSPSPLKGKAVDKDGDHKVKK-KEALGWMEWLRG	_		-VIRPIKILLERBORLIC
		AVDKDGDHKVKK-KEALG	WMEWLRG
	_		
	_		

Cr030915 Cr023278	MGWLLMTGNM2MDLPNSPLN
Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890	MASGGSGETFPAQKQMASGGSGETFPAQKQMDIIHKELN
Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031	MACFCYCKSNQ
CrISY Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr000253	AFLVILSCSGSSSLSVGCLGIKESEE
Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094	MKATIKYLAG MKATIKYLAG MAASATGSAILAVKSIGVSDKSSPSADRRIAHFKQLSTP
Cr028096 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322	TRAR-TOPRENRES-MELGGMDYVDPK
Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr016747	LAWGIGILMLLYLPMRRYVLQKDIASRKLYVTPHEIVYKVSRPSFIPFWGEIKIQKQVPLNLVIDI
Cr022212 Cr010887 Cr001750 Cr017031	
Cr018552 Cr022484 Cr002309 Cr018601	
Cr008727 Cr001235 Cr019769	SC-FLAIRGSWDAFLTYPWKSLNDLKGKSKFKHSQTDLEYEALDLASRADP
AIW09146.1 Cr025915 Cr003619 AIW09148.1	MFLVKT
Cr011094 Cr023179 Cr008631	MFAMELKHIG
Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896	VFVGIAIATLFFAVLPSSRSPYPAVDYNNGNGHNHKHI-YNAISSSE
Cr013448	150 160 170 180 190 200 210
Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095	WMYIVYEMLFQR
Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502	
Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996	LVVPPASEKQNSGNKCTRVQ LVAPPFT
Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002	M-SLSS
Cr001031 CrISY Cr033366 Cr033093	SSEKMGIVR

	TAGP	
	IQL8HCL	
1		
	IMALFCIGEN-JTLF	
1		
	IVEOCCLOSIYCIHTERIESIAHCGAAPVDELOVOCVYSPCNLRKVIV5	IDE GEAUDEUNDAUEDAUEN
	14P200P201101H1H1P01HH00HH14PB19400410F0HDH4144	
	M&LC	
	N	
	VLSEHRYRMI DRS	
	MRATAFGLYGYMNFTK	
	LLFL&CSGLFSLT	
	ILFLACSGLFSLI	
	SAGPSGEGSK	
	YMLRSRFRS1	
	220 230 240 250 ;	260 210
		MAAMCTSER
	TN3 O DT	MAAMCISEK
	INA S HL	HAAMCISEK SNPMPLPPLNEL MEINVEVAPVR
	INA S HL MAB95	MAANGTSEK SNPMPLPPLNEL P-VSAVFILSLODR
	INA S HL MAB75	NAAMCISEK SNPMPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL MAB3S	HAAMCISEK SNPMPLPPLNEL MEINVEVAPVR P-VSAVFILSLQDR PARQISSSTRR NHLSENEGIENS NHLSENEGIENS
	INA S HL MAB75	MAAMCISER SNIPHPLIPPLNEL
	INA S HL	MAAMCISER SNIPHDLIPLNEL —MEINVEVAPVR —P-VSAVFILSLQDR —MABQISSSIRS —MHLSENEGIENS —MAAVANNGALKR —DISKELINE —LQVIDGEPKHQS
	INA S HL 	NAAMCISER SNIPHPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	NAAMCISEK SNIPHPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	NAAMCISEK SNIPHPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLOPLNEL
	INA S HL 	NAAMCTSEK SNIPMPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMCTSER SNIPHFLIPFLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMCTSER SNIPHFLIPFLNEL
	INA S HL 	NAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLIPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	NAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	HAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLIPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMGTSER SNIPHFLIPFLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLIPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMGTSER SNIPHFLIPELNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMGTSER SNIPHPLIPPLNEL
	INA S HL 	MAAMCTSEK SNIPHPLIPPLNEL

Cr010887 Cr001750	GSSIY	L T I MT CANNEL IVER UN
Cr017031 Cr018552	M	
Cr022484 Cr002309	ELENDTILCSPSL	P-OTTTRRWTERTU
Cr018601		NAALAEEGGSU
Cr008727 Cr001235 Cr019769	CSFIP SFR	V SCLWVLCRLLCKV
AIW09146.1	WSWWNA-GAUABARWR	FNEDEAPKNEDSU
Cr025915		KEEDMQAKIEGKNC
Cr003619 AIW09148.1	MEMG-	RVDLDGSPIRPIII
Cr011094	QLALST1KNLNGT	PLUEL DE TERMONIE
Cr023179 Cr008631	STA	TDY
Cr004988	NFNDNFND	F-STHRIPSKLEGKIA
Cr002470	LPTKSGEAHRFSFDQNRGG118FSS	G-GKIPLGLKRKGLRI
Cr011896		
	290 300 310 320	340 350
Cr013448	WITCS-NKEIGFETCKKLASOBITWLTARDE-KRGL-DALEKL-	-NE-LGLSGK
Cr033739	VYTCS ISCICREINCLASSIC HVIMAVENT KAAN ELIEKW VYTCA-NKSICLEIVOOLAASEVTVMLTAENE-KEGM-EATSLE	
Cr022864 Cr013184	INTGA-GRSIGESIALULASIGARLVINTISN-SSQADLV-	-SSEINKSAASETSPRA
Cr013447	IVTOS-NKSIGFEICROLASMNIIVVFIARDD-KRGL-EALEKL-	-KRSILLSHNL
Cr027095	WVESG-LGUVGAALGLE VESGARVVKAPDLRIIIS	PWSDDLRRNG
Cr003140 Cr020100	1110G-AS SIGESTARLEADINARGW LADIO-BUKGOK-	ACT 165
Cr017503	ITLEV- GLANNEL ET PLEDTPGGPWE VGVADB-SDP	TWHADHPT
Cr017502	111. V-IGIVENSLAR INPLSDIPGOPWER YOVARR-PRP	
Cr030915 Cr023278	COTOG-IGVIASHLIMSILEHUVSUNATTRENSASECREDISFI- IIIMA-SSUIGEOINYEYKEKANLUIVARED-SRLH-G-ISEN-	
Cr023367	IITCA SSCICEBLAYEYAKRCA CLVIAARRE RSLH E VADR	ALELC SPD V
Cr010996	LARGE DECIGRAVENCE ALEGA TWAFTYVKE GEDK D AGDT	
Cr014890 Cr023217	LUTSG-TREIGYAIVEELAGLEAIN-HTCARN-ESEDRKC- LITYV-SRELEKALALELANREHIN-IGCSRS-CEKLNGL	
Cr006167	CVTGA-NGEIGSWLIKT LDHGYTTIHASVEPGSDPSHLESL-	
Cr022002	IVIGA-SSEIGAEIARVLALREVHUIMAVENV-VSGG-NVKEII-	
Cr001031 CrISY	CVI 5G-VSDL 6LALVNOLLVL 9YSHULVDNOVB1SBDVBRD	KENQASGEMEG-SNNL
Cr033366	LAST-IGLVSSCAEVURLEDIFSGEWEVIGVARR-PCP	ROSAKK IRTSLKAAVTY
Cr033093	LVEGG-INDIGHAT/EELSVLGAIV-HTCSRN-EAEIMER-	
Cr000253 Cr019499	LUTSG-ASTISSHAVLES LEDSYRETTYDNLSRENNGATAVI- TIPAA-TSGTGAETERVIARDEVRTITPARML-KKAA-TVKENT-	
Cr028501	WTTCA SRCICKAILSLCKACC KULVNYARS SKE AEEV	CREIEACCC Q A
Cr028094	INTEGASSIGEETARLEENAAK-TIADVO-DOLGLSL- IINIC ASSIGEETARFEEFAA RAVVIADIO EEK CLLV	AESIGSQ-TC
r028096	IIING ASSIGETING EHEA RAVIADIQ EEK CLLV IIING-ASSIGEVIARLE ECALGVVIADIO-EEKGOKV-	
2027571	WITCA ERCICEILAKOLATICA KI ILSARN EVE LERV	KRELVCKHA PDA
r027322	LVING-AGYIGSHAVLR LKDSYRVIIVDNLSRGNLGAIKAL-	
r001335 r016749	VIDCSGGEIGNALAKEFAONC	
r016747	INTER-NESIGFEICEGLASNEINIMLTARDK-NKGL-EALEKL-	
r022212	MATSA-SSOTSKOMBLOLAMARCKTRAVARRU-DRUK-S-LCOK-	- INQUESNERKETPEQUEAVE-
Cr010887 Cr001750	1110G-AS FESSIFRLY ININAK-VILADVO-DNLGNS- TVTGG-ASSTGRATENLF DH TNAVVTADTO-DRKGOKV-	ARGIGSR-O
Cr017031	ATV V-GPELCESTARF HE Y TAILA-RD-LGR ISRF-	-ADEIAREEKAQ
Cr018552	IVIG-INCIGYATVEELACFCAVI-HTCSON-ONELDER-	-LKEWEAKGFEV
2:022484	CVTGG-IGFUASSLIFKLLGTVSUNTILRSFDEKKEDITYL- VVTGA NKTIGVAMVKELELL IVMLTAFNE EKCL AAVENL	
Cr002309 Cr018601	CVTCA GCYVASHLVKFILERNY THET VRD DOD AKYNHL	
Cr008727	CVIDG-IGPLASMLIFKLLESSYSWNITIRSSPERNKDITYL-	TDLPG-ASERL
Cr001235	LVDGG-AISIGES IVRLENKHEAK-UCIVDIQ-DNRGQEL-	
Cr019769 AIW09146.1	LVTGA-SGYLGGRLCYALINCSNHWKAFVRPISDLSSW- LINGV-IGIVENSLEIDPLSDIPSGPWRWYGVARR-PRP	
Cr025915	INTOA-NUSIGYATAEGLAGEA	-QUYTGNKNY

148.1	PTOAA-1 CHAR	ALAEALKKPAV	LGGEWEYGVAR	-PLP	TWEF-
179	10000 - 110/100	PLOOP LAD		2-516A	LGIFFGKK-
631	TTTGL-TOBTG	RTOTARD	RLTLPARSI	-KTAE-D	DARAR -LSEFPDSD-
886	LTEG1 ANDTON	RT ART THREE	K_WITTOT	-ROT-	CERT-ASELODN
470	VVIGG-ACEVOS	HEVDREIGRO	SVIVVDNEB	TGRK	ENV-MEHEFGNPR-
96	CVEEG-SGFIGS	BUTHTUTTH			KETKH <mark>L</mark> LALEG-AESR-
	360	3.70	180	390	400 41.0
8	-T.F.HOT	LTTL_CCCTP.			
9	-EVMEL	LLS-LDSV-		GGPL	
4	-IFHOL		KSLAEFIOKE	GRL-	
	-VITIOL			-11-33V	
5	-HNUKG		DKALRGA		
)	-LFHQLD	VTD-S2BI-		GRL-	
1	-1F180	VSU-KROV-			ANKY-TOARNCDANGEMPTHV-
3	-EYIQC				MRS TEVENCEANGEMPTINV-
25					
B	LIMAA	VVK BEDC	RREVSETINE	CRC.	ISNYIMVLILLELVSPVPSAVA
7		VSN-ADEC-	FRIVDQTMNH	GRL	
6	MAIPTO	LGF DENC	KRVVDEVVNN	CKI	
7	-TGSWC	LTD - NTABUTA	DEPENDENCE AND ADDRESS	C	
2	-VMHEAN	LLD-2DAV-			N
2	-DVLEL	LSS-LASI-		LFL	
1	KUT PARK K	a name in the second	Mile A ROMANT		
6	-ETIOC		KLSPLK-DITHI	TYSNIG	SEDCOTNATMERNI-
3	-TGSWC		-PDRAVETARS II	LaNLy	
3	-OPTVAL	LCD-131V-	DETESON		
9	-TILEID	LSS-IASV-	NRFCSOFLSL(FPL	
1		VSK EADV	NAMIKTAVDA	CIL	
6	TYIHC -AFVECO	VSD EBOV	RTIVENTVETH	I DOL	
9	-IFIRCD		WSLAWSTVNT	GRL	
L	-MVLPLD	LTS-GEDK-	-LERAVERARSE	-RGAGU	
2	-OFIYAD	LGD-AKAV-	QELESEN		
5				GRV-	
,	-LPFUV	LRT-	GD GE DS I SQRI	GOP	
2	IELD	TSSDGET	- TELANOS'AHDAR	GDT.	
7	-SYVHCD			15KL -	
)	-DYFECN	VND-EDQV-		GKL-	
	FAIRI	CSD TRSI	REAFECVLSL	CFV	
	-SGSVCD	LDE PDEP	CPATRCC	-N-GAL-	
	-RFCIL			I	
	KLFKA	LLD YNSL	FAAIKC		
		LNK-PDSF-	GAAIKGC		
	-CYFDC		SRANDE TVDEL	GSL	
.1	-EYIOCD		KISPDI-DVTUT	WITTNA-	-NRP-TEAGOCEVINGTMEONV-
	-YLXXXII	INS. INKE		3	
)	-OUTRLN	IKNDOR-	-1.10GL.1KM		
. 1	DNFL TFL		KLSPESSRITHV	TO LAVE	GE-NEGININLNSTWLKNV-I
	-VVLDFA	WHOP PLANA	AEGIKQAVKGI	TINCIP.	SLIT
	-TUMAL	LSS_LNON		Lang LDC	
	SFIAC	VIK ESDV	CDAVDEAVEOR	CRL	
	ELIRHD	7	VEPLLEV		
	-RLFQI	LLN-YDSI-			
		440	450	460	470 480

Cr033739	WINTESIGEP Q-RESKDGYEEHLQV SAGAGYAVDK-DGLRALNID TASW LUX KYPTIK-NTSLKORDNILIV SAGI LUX KYPTIK-NTSLKORDNILIV SAGI LOX KYPTIK-NTSLKORDNILIV SAGI SGANVDV-DALKASGYG -ADG SYGMSCKEM-TQLGDV DRV SAGI SGANVDV-DGLR A	
Cr022864	VERSION OF A CONTRACT OF A CHARACTER OF A CONTRACT OF A CO	NY_YNYSTY
Cr013184	KALLUY	STL-MICA
Cr013447	RAGI IGANYUV-DALKASGYGADGPRISAILINDNGLL-PROVIDAVROLOT	NY-YLAKHM
Cr027095	LASYGMSGKEN-TOLGTV	NT-NOTCHVEDAC
Cr003140	NAGISGANVDV-DGLRA	Y-YGAREM
Cr028100	NAGIASAGEODIL-DLM.NACENIFSI	JAC-HOT TAC
Cr017503	-NCPNLOHDCLOTGLK-HYFGRSLVGNEV-CHESPCYEDLDRLDWD	F-YYTLEDILYE
Cr017502	NCINLOHICL OTCLK HYPCPPE FECKA AGEIPFHEDLPRLDWP	F YYTLEDILFE
Cr030915	VAHPMEPEA E EA EV	AU RETLOVIRAC
Cr023278	TASLGHTFYFEE-ATDINVEPILMDI	F-WGNVYP
Cr023367	MAGLMSVSMFED-VENIIDERIMMDT	ME-WEITVYM
Cr010996	MAAEQHKIGSVE-EIDEPRLERVFRI	MI-FSYEFL
Cr014890	WEXNIRKEMV-DFIAEEESILFSI	F-ESVEHL
Cr023217	NAVILINENNKVM-EVPPUEDDNV1D1	MI-KUIANM
Cr006167	VESPCTLEDPV-DPOKELVDP	AV-RUTLEVLARA
Cr022002	NAGUNAPPK-TLSQUGIEDQKAT	H-LGHKLb
Cr001031	TRAFVDPAGVS-GYSETMVEI	EV-KASKSVVEAC
CrISY	-NASNLQHVCLQTGIKHYPGIKEPXSKVVPHDSPFTKDLPRINVP	ME-AHDPROTIAK
Cr033366	-NCPNLQHICLQTGLK_HYFGBSLVGNFV_CHESPCYEDLPR_DVP NCPNLQHICL QTGLK_HYFGPFE FFCKA AQEIPFHEDLPR_DVP VHIPNEFEA E EA EV ISR TASLGHTSMFED_VENITDERIVADI MAEQHKSMFED_VENITDERIVADI MAEQHKSMFED_VENITDERIVADI MAEQHKSMFED_VENITDERIVADI MAEQHKSMFED_VENITDERIVADI MAEQHKSMFED_VENITDERIVADI VENIRNKVM_SVPYSEDVDNIDI VSFCILEDPV-DPOKELVC MAEUNAPPVT NETINENKVM_SVPYSEDVDNIDI VSFCILEDPV-DPOKELVE MAEUNAPPVT NETINENKVM_SVPYSEDVDNIDI VSFCILEDPV-DPOKELVE MAEUNAPPVT NETNIRSTSK_VVPHISPYTKDLPR_NVP NASNLQHVCLQTGIK_HYNGIMKFSSK_VVPHISPYTKDLPR NVP D_AF_VHCTSVPGKNQNFL_QIPEGEEKRIVKI NETNIR KF SKSSTSSK_VVPHISPYTKDLPR NVP MAEKFS QK L EFSEDKIEMTFAT GALAXYVGESTAEPIANLISINIISNHKSHRNPSPELYTH MAKFS QK L EFSEDKIEMTFAT GALAXYVGESTLEPIANLSTQDIL_DFDFADYEILFAT GALAXYVGESTLEPIANLNNKTIL_DVTEQGLKATFDV MAAFERPLSCY-SIVRVHNETSLNQKTTAL-DVTEQGLKATFDV MAAFERPLSCY-SIVRHNSLMTORNABVD_VL_FELANTDPHTEL_DITFEREINTFAT GALSVPHSCSVEADUSTS_TETYNIARECINT SNUGALTASVEADUSTS_TETYNIARECINT SNUGALTASVEADUSTS_TETYNIARECINT SNUGALTASVEADUSTS_TETYNIARECINT SNUGALTASVEADUSTDENTFAT	MF-MSAWYL
Cr033093	NUTRIN NO 13 ETNEAEYSPLEAR	ML ESS INL
Cr000253	FRAMATVEESTREPLAND	ALTSNILDLVKAM
Cr019499 Cr028501	NAUSEB UK L EFBEUKIERITAT	NY LE
Cr028501	DRUI IND	ML-INVBLO
Cr028096	NAME DR. DEVELOPMENT PAT	NU NUN ARG
Cr028099		NY - NUMT
Cr027571	NAMESTER OF A STUDE	
Cr027322	TRAIL AVENUE TI DEL	NTTSNTUTUURAM
Cr001335	NACIOCY	NU-YNSMRL
Cr016749	CHALSTVPHERC	
Cr016747	NAGUSGATTAGVEADLSDVS-TETYNLABECINT	Y-YAARDM
Cr022212	SAGVEVILEFE-NMSLMIQENARVP-VL-EFIHSITGEVHTPL-DLTEEELDAIMET	ML-XCSNLV
Cr010887	NACIDONDESIV-DEDNENFENWENN	NU-YCAFLG
Cr001750	NAGIVSNSDQTVV-D1DLSELDHLFKV	NU-RCMAAC
Cr017031	NATOP MIMPPINET DIKVDHEEKEVAV	SS VGA EHC
Cr018552	HAATTLL ER AI DETTEDYSHLMST	ML ESP THL
Cr022484	VAHPIDEQG-K-ESEEQLTRR	AI-NCTLGILNAS
Cr002309	NUVALIAND	F-YEFKLL
Cr018601	VMCFVPSSSVELVEP	AV-KOTLNVLEAC
Cr008727	NACURUTLEFE-MMSLMIQENARVP-VL-EFIHSITGEVHTPL-DITEEELDATMET NACURUTLEFE-MMSLMIQENARVP-VL-EFIHSITGEVHTPL-DITEEELDATMET NACURUTLEFE-MMSLMIQENARVP-VL-EFIHSITGEVHTPL-DITEEELDATMET NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLE NACURUTLE NACURUTLEFE NACURUTLE N	AV-GGALGILOAC
Cr001235	NAMISGPPCPDIR-NVELSAFERMTDV	NV-NVVUDG
Cr019769 AIW09146.1	ARAUVEPWLPD-PSRE	NV-GELERILOVY
Cr025915		
Cr003619		
ATW09148.1	CONCRETENTING OTOTE ANNOTIFICATION FOR THEODER PROVIDED FOR	NE VELLENTICE
Cr011094	VINTER EVERYTER AND A AN	T RAM TWO
Cr023179		THE FRA DWC
Cr008631	RACKES HE H SISEDCIENTFAT	Y LEA PLL
Cr004988	NAGTACRTEPSIA-DLWATEDKUMAT	WU-REVVAG
Cr002470	ANGIACR	A LCL A
Cr011896	LASECIVERVD-DEENELLASE	AI-KETINVLIAA
	500 510 520 530 540	550 560
Cr013448	TDALLPH DLSAS-PRIVALISS MODIAN IPSRMAKGI LGDASNLTKOR LD	
Cr013648 Cr033739	PETER DATA AND A PROPERTY AND A DATA AND A	
Cr022864	TELLINI OLE TROUBLE TROUBLE DE STATESTER STATESTER	RTICORINGERHS
Cr013184	TEALLPLIGLSTSGARTVNVESTDSELSGTPNEGRREVLADIETLTENKIN CKEAANETKGG-GGGETICLTTSLVAA	servage ununente
And a second		

Cr033739	SILLEPSLERGS.	SRIVNVN LMIYVG	EVUTEDMNVT
Cr022864	TEALLPLIGLSTS	ARTYNY <mark>SSI</mark> RSELS	BIPNEOBREVLADIRTLTENKINETLOOFLHDLEHD
Cr013184			
Cr013447	IETFLPLLQLSDS	DIR <mark>TVNVER</mark> ENGELE	NINNEWARGILSDAESFTEERVDEVLNEFLEDFROG
Cr027095	TD8G	RRLVYVETYNVVEG	GKEIVNGNET
Cr003140	IEAFLPLLQFS QS	PRIVNV <mark>SS</mark> SMCLLK	RIDCERIRDILNDVNNLTEEKVDELLNEFLNDFKEC
Cr028100	VKHAGRVMV ENGT	CSIICTTSWVACV	
Cr017503	EVOKKEGLIWSVH	PGTIEVESPESSMM	LVGTLCVYAAICEQQ
Cr017502	EVQKKEGLSWSVH	e gile ge ser simm	LVGTLCVYAAICENE
Cr030915	SDAKT	RRVILI <mark>SS</mark> AYSVAP	NNEGSLNELDETSWID
Cr023278	IYVALPHERES	GRVIINESVENWL-	
0+023347	THE REPORT OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP	DOMESTIC: DOMESTIC: NOT	

		_	
Cr010996	TRHALKHMKEGSA	TINSI	WVAYE
Cr014890	SQLAYPLEXAS-GAGS	AAL, I.S.	V5 GU ⁹
Cr023217	LRHK IPIMIKN-KQGV	TVNM81	GN GRE
Cr006167	BE/BVEB	VVL1	TGAMPPNPNWPSHEVEDGTSWID
Cr022002	TNLLLDNMKNTARDCNREGR	TWW -	RGHRYAPRRGTRFDKTND
Cr001031	AATPSVRH	CVLTS	LISCINFICSUSH
CrISY	ETG-KNNCTWSVHDDA	LVFCF	PCSMINIVSTLCVYATICKHE
Cr033366	LENINGORMR	TUPI T	TICAR
Cr033093	COLAYPLEK AS CSCK	TUPTE	Ward19
Cr000253	724 CUNT	TYPE	AGIO CATYGEPER M PITE
Cr019499	MIMENTETRING-STROP	110/120	TURN SYDERTEROM N
Cr028501	TRACETING OF STEED	A TATE	V/11/0 V/12/0 / 1 / 0/12/0 / 1 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/12/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/10/0 / 0/0 /
	TATION LANGE AND	ATO TO	A A 13 T A
Cr028094	VRHNARAMVDRGVEGS	VICIN	WANS
Cr028096	VAHDGRAMEKSGGROS	11015	VAASA
Cr028099	VELAGRVMVESDINGS	TCLL	WASA
Cr027571	TRLLAPTMLKR-GRGH	EVVNS	AAGR
Cr027322	AAQGVHA	LIYS:	CATTYGRPEXPITK
Cr001335	ICAVVPHHASD-EKGK	INNIG	VTA1A
Cr016749	N/DPASAMS	NYP:	AUVHNMSSEGNNEVLLIHLSTDQVYEGTESEPEREDE-
Cr016747	IEAFVPL OSSHS-PI	TWINE	ASMGELERIPSEWARGILEDTENLTEERIEEVVNEFLEDLEED
Cr022212	SKYVCIKMR DANHOCS	LINIS	TACLN
Cr010887	ARYAAKVMI PS-ONCU	ILFTS.	LASVT
Cr001750	VEHAACAMV EREVECT	IVCTL	MAASR
Cr017031	ADOVLEGWVER-GEGT	TLEDG	WASYT WAASR CESSLN
Cr018552	TOLEVELEN AS CACK	UTPTC	WACHT IATVASVNNGQ-EIVDEMVWSD
Cr022484	TWS VITING	COLUMN TO A	TATULOV
Cr002309	THIS DEPENDENCE DEPENDENCE	- Y 1 1	RLG1DWLKNPKLRKMLVD-EQLSEDQIQGWVEMFLENVKNS
	TESTIFUL FWG5F51VF	TIDAA TA	WAAVEMNPNWFBOLOEDOLOGOVENETCWSD
Cr018601	TUPDIEB	TAAAB	OUVARADEDAEDAECHSD
Cr008727	TD9KIAD'E	AA11	LAIVYINNKGB-DNVDBIAMSD
Cr001235	MKHAARVMI PL-KKGS	TISI C	WASAII
Cr019769	KELKSVEK	1111	YFALGSTDGYLAD
AIW09146.1	ACNEERGITVISVHRPA	VTPGP.	PLSHMNLVGTLCVYAATCKHR
Cr025915	TELMLPLLEKAVPDAR	VITVS	GGNYTAPLTEDLQ
Cr003619	SENSKRLIHFSTCEVYGKTIGS	REDKD	PLDQOPAYYVLKED
AIW09148.1	YAHSFTYSIHRSS	VIIGV	TRSLYNSLLSLCVYASICKYK
Cr011094	TSSVLPCML EK KKCA	INIC	CSSEL
Cr011094 Cr023179	TAPPERTATITE DAVIDE	10 C C 10	CONTRACT &
	LAKDEPRWVITE EAKMEDS	ILCST.	AVVNLA
Cr023179	LAKDEPRVVITE EAKHEDE TKLLMKRMIETAKTIGVQGF	ILCST. IVNVS	V/NIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT
Cr023179 Cr008631	LAKDEPRVVITE EAKHEDE TKLLMKRMIETAKTIGVQGF	ILCST. IVNVS	V/NIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470	LAKDEPRVVITE EAKHEDE TKLLMKRMIETAKTIGVQGF	ILCST. IVNVS	V/NIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988	LAKDEDEVVITE EAKHKDE TELLMKEMIETAKTIGVQGE IEHASEVMI	ILCE IVEVE ILCE POVE- LVVI	AVVNIA SIHTMPSGDTIRYLDLIT TGVN
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470	LAKDEDEVVITE EAKHKDE TELLMKEMIETAKTIGVQGE IEHASEVMI	ILCE IVEVE ILCE POVE- LVVI	AVVNIA SIHTMPSGDTIRYLDLIT TGVN
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470	LAKDEPRIVITE EAKHKDE TELLMKRMIETAKTIGVQGF IKHNSRVMIPH-KTGS RRWGARFLITSISEVYGDPLQH KQLGVRF 370 540	LCST IVHVS LCTS POVE- LVVIS	AVVNIA SIHTMPSGDTIRYLDLIT
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470	LARDPPRVVITE EARMRDS TRLLMKRMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIEPH-KTGS REVGARFLLTSTSEVYGDPLOH RCL	IL CST IVBV IL CIA PQVE- IVVI IVVI	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRLLMKRMIETARTTGWQGF IRHARWMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH RDL	IL GST TVHVS IL CIA PQVE- IVVIS	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGRN ISALVPSPNNP
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr013440 Cr033739	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRILMKEMIETARTTGVQGF IRHASRVMEPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH NCL	IL GST TVHVS IL CIA PQVE- IVVIS VN-AY KV-MF	NV/NIA SINTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT UTGVH ISALVPSPNWF SOD 50D 60D 51 SINT SOD
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013448 Cr033739 Cr022864	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRILMKEMIETARTTGVQGF IRHASRVMEPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH NCL	IL GST TVHVS IL CIA PQVE- IVVIS VN-AY KV-MF	NV/NIA SINTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT UTGVH ISALVPSPNWF SOD 50D 60D 51 SINT SOD
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184	LARDPPRIVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH FCL	IL CST TVBV LCT2 POVE- IVVI SV-AY N-AY N-AY VE AN	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGEW ISALVPSPNWP ALRVENEE S20 600 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610
Cr0023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRLLMKRMIETARTTGVGG IRMARVMIPH-KTGS RRVGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLQH FDL	ILCSI POVE- INVI IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSPNWP SalvPSPNWP SalvPSPNHK SalvPSPNHK SalvPSPNHK SalvPSPNHK
Cr013440 Cr03739 Cr013440 Cr013739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184	LARDEPROVITE EARMRDS TRILMKRMIETARTTGVOGR IRHASRVMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH FOL	ILCST TV0V LCT2 PQVE- IVVT N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY AE QU	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT UTGVH TSALVPSP-NWF SOD 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 610 590 620 591 1 600 510 590 600 600 610 611 1 611 1 611 1 700
Cr013440 Cr013440 Cr013896 Cr013440 Cr013896 Cr01384 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140	LARDEPROVITE EARMRDS TRILMKRMIETARTTGVOGR IRHASRVMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH FOL	ILCST TV0V LCT2 PQVE- IVVT N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY AE QU	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT UTGVH TSALVPSP-NWF SOD 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 610 590 620 591 1 600 510 590 600 600 610 611 1 611 1 611 1 700
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013448 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100	LARDEPROVITE EARMRDS TRILMKRMIETARTTGVOGR IRHASRVMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH FOL	ILCST TV0V LCT2 PQVE- IVVT N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY AE QU	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT UTGVH TSALVPSP-NWF SOD 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 600 590 610 590 620 591 1 600 510 590 600 600 610 611 1 611 1 611 1 700
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr003100 Cr017503	LARDPPROVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIEPH-KIGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH S7D S0D S7D S0D SLAAKCNDDSF2AJIVEFVV SGREKYSSLVGTSG11 ALEANGNQRMIDAUSTEAJIVEFV LK PGYCATTASAA TFQLQTKCNDAYLAALAVEFAA LP YF PMDOHVDANCREAJI TLESKGNPPYFSAJIVEFAA GLPLKFPESKUNDEDGSVSED	IL CET IVAV IL CIA POWE- IVVI IV-AY WE ANY WE ANY M-AY NE ANY M-AY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY IV-AY IL VIE IL CIA	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT WIGYH ISAIVPSP-NWP ISAIVPSP-NWP AURVENEE S20 600 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520 520
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS KEWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH KQL	IL CET TWAVE IL CIE POWE- IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY N-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGSV ISALVPSP-NWP ALKVENEE S20 600 600 600 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 610 620 630 611 612 70 70 70 70 70 70
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503	LARDPPROVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVGGF IRMARVMIEPH-KTGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLQH FUL	LL CET TWIN LL CT POVE- TWIT TWIT M-AY M-AY M-AY M-AY M-AY M-AY M-AY M-AY	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH ISALVPSP-NWF ALKANA S20 G00 S20 G00 S20 G00 S20 S20 G00 S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRLLMKRMIETARTT-GWGGF IRHARRWMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLQH FDL	IL CET TWAY POWE- INVI POWE- INVI NU-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE CI DL VAE DL IAD SE-KA	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSP-UNP ADRVKNEE SOD GOD SOD MIG SOUH NEKT SOUH NEKT SOUH K SOUH K SOUH K SOUH K SOUH NULV NULV A SOUH NULV SOUN NULV SO
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr013037 Cr013028 Cr01328 Cr013447 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr01308 Cr0108 Cr0108 Cr01808 Cr01808 Cr01808 Cr01808 Cr01808 Cr01808 C	LARDPPRIVITE EARNERDS TRILLMKRMIETARTT-GWOGE IRHARRYME	IL CET TARY POWE- INTYT POWE- INTYT POWE- IN-AY IN-AY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY NE ANY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY IL-AY I	NUMIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSPNWP ADRVKNEE S00 GOD 500 GOD S11
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr023091 Cr023100 Cr0270 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996	LARDPPRIVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS KRWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH KQLGVRR 370 500 	IL CET TVEV IL CT2 POVE- TVVT IN-AY NE AM M-AY NE AM M-AY NE AM M-AY IL CT2 DL IAD SE -NAL II-NT IL -NT IL -NT	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGYH ISALVPSP-NNF ISALVPSP-NNF AGO 610 620 630 SALVPSP-NNF ISALVPSP-NNF
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr0134890	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS KEWGARFLLTSTSEVYGDPLOH KQL	IL CET TVHV IL CT2 POVE- IV VI IN-AY NE AM M-AY NE AM M-AY VI CT IN-AY VI CT IN-AY IN-AY VI CT IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-AY IN-	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGYM ISALVPSP-NWP ALXVPSP-NWP ALXVPSP-NWP S20 G00 G10 S21 S22 S20 G00 G10 S21 S22 S20 G00 S21 S22 S23 S24 S25 S26 G00 S27 S28 S29 S29 S20 S20 S21
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr0128217	LARDPPRIVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKRMIETARTTGVOGF IRHARRYMIPH-KTGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLQH FUL	LL GET TVAVE LL GT POVE- TVAVE TVATE TVATE NL-AY NE AM NL-AY NL GI DL VAE NL-AY NL GI DL VAE SE-KAT LA-OM TV-AC TV-AC TV-AC	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSPNWP ADEVENEE S20 GOD S20 GOD S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013400 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167	LARDPPRIVITE EARMRDS TRLLMKRMIETARTT-GWGGF IRHARRWMIPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLQH FDL	IL CET TWAY POWE- INVI POWE- INVI POWE- IN-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM NE AM IL-AY IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSP-UNF ADRVKNEE S20 GOD S20 MICH S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr0128217	LARDPPRIVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKRMIETARTT-GWOGR IRHARRYMEPH-ETGS RRWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLQH FDL	IL CET TWAY POWE- INVI POWE- INVI POWE- IN-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE AM MA-AY NE CI DLVAE DLVAE DLIADS SE-KAI IL-MC IL-AC TN-QI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI AC-CI NE-CI IL-DE CI NE-CI IL-DE CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI NE-CI	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH TSALVPSP-UNF ADEVENEE S20 GOD S20 MID S20 GOD S20 MID S20 MID S20 MID S20 MID WEXENDER MIN RESOLING MIN S20 MID MID MID MID MID MID MID MID MID MID MIN MID
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013400 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS KRWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH KQL	IL CET TVAVE IL CI POVE- IV VI IV - AY VI - AY VI - AY VI - AY VI - AY VI - CI DI - AY VI - CI II - MC II - MC II - MC II - MC II - AY VI - CI DI - AY VI - CI DI - AY VI - CI DI - AY VI - CI II - MC II - MC II - MC II - MC II - AY VI - CI II - MC II - MC II - MC II - MC II - MC II - MC II - DI II	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NGYH TGYH ISAIVFSP-NWF ADD S20 GOO S20 S20 GOO S20 GOO S20 GOO S20 GOO S20 S20 GOO S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014090 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr001667 Cr022002	LARDPPROVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS REWGARELLTSTSEVYGDPLOH FUL	IL CET TVUV IL CT POVE- TVVT IN-AY NE AN AGAY NE AN AGAY NL CT DLVAS DLTAS SE -KA IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL-NE IL	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH ISALVPSPNWF ALSON S20 GOD S20 S20 GOD S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr011896 Cr022064 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr027095 Cr007503 Cr07503 Cr07503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr006167 Cr00202 Cr001031	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKRMIETARTTGVOGF IRMARVMIPH-KTGS REWGARELLISTSEVYGDPLQH FDL	IL CET TVUV IL CT POVE- TVVI TV-AY VE AN NI-AY VE AM NI-AY NL CT DLVAS DLVAS TL-MT IL-AY VE AM NL CT DLVAS TL-MT AE QL IL-AY NL CT DLVAS AE QL AE QL IL-AY NL CT DLVAS AE QL AE AE A	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGVH ISALVPSPNWF ADRVENEE S20 GOD S20 GOD S20
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr023170 Cr020915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr18Y	LARDPPE VITE EARMEDS THLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IMMARVMIPH-KTGS KRWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH NCL	IL CET IVEVE IL CT IVET IVE AN MEAN MEAN MEAN MEAN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IL CL IN-AN IL CL IN-AN IL CL IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN IN-AN	NVNIA SIHTWFSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH TSAIVFSF-NWF TSAIVFSF-NWF ALTYNER TSAIVFSF-NWF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSGDTIFY NILTS TSAIVFSGDTS TSAIVFSGDTS <
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr028100 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr02810 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 Cr02800 C	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGS IRMARVMIPH-KTGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH RQL	IL CET TVAV IL CT POVE- TVVT IV-AY V-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH ISAIVFSP-NWF ISAIVFSP-NWF ALCONTRACT S20 600 610 520 600 610 520 600 520 600 521 S20 522 S20 520 600 520 S20 521 S20 522 S20 523 S20 524 S20 525 S20 526 S20 527 S20 528 S20 529 S20 520 S20 521
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr011896 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014090 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr014096 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr001031 Cr022002 Cr003366 Cr033366 Cr033366 Cr03093 Cr000253	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGS IRMARVMIPH-KTGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH RQL	IL CET TVAV IL CT POVE- TVVT IV-AY V-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-AY N-	NVNIA SIHTWPSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH ISAIVFSP-NWF ISAIVFSP-NWF ALCONTRACT S20 600 610 520 600 610 520 600 520 600 521 S20 522 S20 520 600 520 S20 521 S20 522 S20 523 S20 524 S20 525 S20 526 S20 527 S20 528 S20 529 S20 520 S20 521
Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896 Cr013440 Cr033739 Cr022064 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013184 Cr013400 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr017503 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023278 Cr023277 Cr010996 Cr014090 Cr014090 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr023216 Cr023366 Cr033093	LARDPPEVVITE EARMEDS TRLLMKKMIETARTTGVOGF IRHARRVMIPH-KTGS REWGARFLITSTSEVYGDPLOH NGL	IL CET IVAV IL CI IVAV IVAV IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVAL IVA	NVNIA SIHTWFSGDTIRYLDLIT NTGYH TSAIVFSF-NWF TSAIVFSF-NWF ALTYNER TSAIVFSF-NWF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSF TSAIVFSGDTIFY NILTS TSAIVFSGDTS TSAIVFSGDTS <

	GS-BIMIN	MARK	HSIL-GLMRCAS	K	QLGKYGLRW
\$	GA-AMKID	THE	NUAVL-GLVRCAS	K	GLGQYGIRY
•	KAPPALTE	Y MMS	RHAIL-BLVRCAS	K	DLGKYBIRY-
L	PG-PGQAV	Y SA S	KLALN-GYFUSLE		BLYENGLOY1
	VTPONPTNP	GEA	KMAR-DITLDFH	KNISDMAV	M
	PG-PWAG5	TAT	RAAVH-ALTDILR	E	ELRPFG <mark>E</mark> H <mark>W</mark> I
	TVPVN	GE	EVAAE-OFISANC	LNFAI	LRSSTIFGPC
	OF REPORTATIONS	1077	IN A TAL ANY DUTIEST OF	11 01100	CTVT .
	ROQLPGCLA	ASA	BTALN VNTRVNA	М	ELCKYKIRV
	SC ESPHS	TVE	HATV CLIMNLC	V	ELCRYCIRV N
	GG-ALRID	IMA	HAVL-GLVRCAS	R	QLGVYGERV
	GM-AGYSE	LOCG	FROR-ALSKOLA		BFQFLGVHVA
	AL-PGLSV	TAAT.	GAIN-QLIKNLA	C	ELCKYKIRV ELCRYCIRV QLGVYGIRV EFQPLGVHV
	TDSLORSWVL3M	STT	TLTE-BTCLERG	EKHGLOV	
	TWKNUGNPEIMIE	AV.	KLALN-AL'SNVLA	KRPKD	KGIGGSCHGHGHGLGLG <mark>9</mark> 58
	OEYCEITENHN	to da s	NTVAE-SAAFEYA	KONGLNM	IV
	TDYLRSSNMFGAS	YSU T	KTL/FK-KTEEKH <mark>A</mark>		1
	GG-IGPHJ	YTG B	HAVL-GLIENVA	A	ELGSHNID
	EGQIHSGELECTE	CYNER S	KALAD-KIALDAA	ANXIVI	V
	NVPL TFP GTKAAHNO	YSVA	SDADLIAEHOINA		YAKNEAF
	PEDKNFNGVED	ARM	RVQV ALTERNA	EIH	NEKCWSP Y
	ESPCIFGALERORWS	YACL	CLIE-RLIYDY	EGISD	NERGVSP Y
	CWEFRFP CNKYSWFF	FHDF	SDERVLADOOINA	SVT D	KARNOAF
	CM PIST	-	RESDETE	K	BIKESRIRV I
	KNESHYDATEA	No.	INV-LETKELS	L	MEANTA
	AG-LAOID	MSIS	SSVI-GIVKSAA		-EYROHGUDI EIKESRIAU
	NPL-GVRSO	TIRG	BIAE-ILINDYH		AGVEN-F
	EEYCROKET	NAT.	TLAE-NAAMER		V
	CPD-GTWH-		TNN3DDL98		
	GIVH-		TNWARDLSE	IVQAAYH	
	C2C-GIVH- HP-GYVN- AP CPIA		TNNARDLER TDINWHIGP TOMFFACKS	IVQAAYH DEVI	
	GIVH- GIVH-GIVH-GIVH-GIVH-		NWADDLSR DINNHTGP DMFFACKS DINFNTCR	DEAI	
	C2C-GIVH- HP-GYVN- AP CPIA		TAWARDLSR TOINWHIGP TOMFFACKS TOINFNICK 	IVQAAYH DEVI	-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAA)
	CONTRACTOR		TNVADLSR TDINHTGP TIMFFACKS TDINFNTCR EERHIPS	IVQAAYH DEVI	-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAA)
	22P-GIVH- HI-GYVM- AP CPIA CP CPUK VRPAAIYGPG- CP-GYVK- N-GFVM		DINARDLSS DINHTGP DINFFACKS DINFWICK EBRLPS DRNYQIGN FELCOAFG	IVQAAYH DEVI K-STE	-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAK
	22P-GIVH- HI-GYVM- AP CPIA CP CPUK VRPAAIYGPG- CP-GYVK- N-GFVM		TO INHERCE TO INHERCE TO REPACKS TO INEW 20 EERHLER EERHLER TERNYQTCR TELTCDAFC ECT. DECC 50 DEFE	IVQAAYH DEVI K-STE	-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN
	22P-GIVH- HI-GYVM- AP CPIA CP CPUK VRPAAIYGPG- CP-GYVK- N-GFVM		TOWARDLSS TO INHERGE IDEF PACKS DINEWICS EERILFS TORNYQIGS TPLICEAFG 	IVQAAYH DEVI K-STE FDGE YIGE	-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAN KL5L0BM-MID
	20 - GIVH- HI-GYVM- AP CPIA CD CFW VEPAAIYGPG 	W	TO INWARDLESS TO INWHY GE TERFEACKS DINENT OR EERHLPS TERHLPS TERN YQT GU PLTCDAFG WLABOF GLEEVE KVLABOF GLEEVE FEOGRA		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAK KLSLOBM-MID- KUSLSBM-MKD-
	SNG	W W	EVALUATION CONTRACTOR		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAK KLSLOBM-MID- KVSLEBM-MKD- -TVYISLAMIFGD0N0Y-KYL
	SNG	W	NVADDLSE DINHETCE IDEPACKS IDINETTCE EERHLFE IDENTICE FLICLASOC EVLASOCGLECAS ECCOCFA NSLEACH EERLES	IVQAAYH DEVI 	-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAH KLSLOBM-MID-
	20 - GIVH- HI-GYVM AP GPIA CI GFVK URPAAIYGPG 	W	- EVANDLSE - DINHETGE - DINENTCE - EERHIFE - FUNYQTCE - EVANDCF GLEEVE - EVAND	IVQAAYH DEVI 	-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID-
	20 - GIVH- HD - GYVM AP CPIA CD CFVK VRPAAIYGPG 	W	EVALOUSE EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAA) KL5L0BM-MID- KV5LEBM-MKD- -TVYISLAMIFGD0N0Y-KYI
	20 - GIVH- HD - GYVM AP CPIA CD CFVK VRPAAIYGPG 	W	EVALOUSE EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE EVALOUSE FACES EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE EVALOUSE		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAA) KL5L0BM-MID- KV5LEBM-MKD- -TVYISLAMIFGD0N0Y-KYI
	APPERATY OF A CONTRACT OF A CO	W	NVADDLSR DINHETGE IDIPENTCR EERHLPR PONYQTGR PUTCDAFG NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA NVLADOUGLDCAB ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA ECCOPA		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID-
	20 - GIVH- HD - GYVM AP CPIA CD CFVK VRPAAIYGPG 	W		IVQAAYH DEVI 	-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAN KL5L0BM-MID-
	22 - GI H- HHGYUN AD GFUN CC GYUN WRPAAIYGG 	W			-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN
	22 - GI H- HHGYUN AD GFUN CC GYUN WRPAAIYGG 	W	NVADDLSE DINHETGE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE IDIPENTCE ID		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID-
	22 - GI H- HHGYUN AD GFUN CC GYUN WRPAAIYGG 	W	NVADDLSE DINHETGE DINENTCE EERHLFE FLODAFG EVLABOUGLOCAL CPOCFA SEL DOGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE S		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID
	22 - GI H- HHGYUN AD GFUN CC GYUN WRPAAIYGG 	W	NVADDLSE DINHETGE DINENTCE EERHLFE FLODAFG EVLABOUGLOCAL CPOCFA SEL DOGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE S		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID
	22 - GI H- HHGYUN AD GFUN CC GYUN WRPAAIYGG 	W	NVADDLSE DINHETGE DINENTCE EERHLFE FLODAFG EVLABOUGLOCAL CPOCFA SEL DOGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE S		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID
	22 - GINH- HI-GYNM AP GFIA CC GFWR RPAAIYGPG 	W	NVADDLSE DINHETGE DINENTCE EERHLFE FLODAFG EVLABOUGLOCAL CPOCFA SEL DOGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE SURGEVE S		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN KLSLOBM-MID
	22 - GI H- H-GYWA AP GFIA CC GFWK RPAAIYGPG 	тм.	NVADDLSR DINHRTGP DINFTGP DINFTGP EERHLPR PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCAFG PLTCAFG PLTCAFG PLT		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN
	22 - GI H- H-GYWA AP GFIA CC GFWK RPAAIYGPG 	тм.	NVADDLSR DINHRTGP DINFTGP DINFTGP EERHLPR PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCDAFG PLTCAFG PLTCAFG PLTCAFG PLT		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN
	20 - GINH- HI-GYNM AP GPIA U CI GFWK NRPAAIYGPG 	2D	NVADDLSS DINHETGE DINENTCS DINENTCS DINENTCS EERHLFR FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLCDAFG FLCDAFG FLCQCFA DINENTCS EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXT		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAN
	20 - GINH- HI-GYNM AP GPIA U CI GFWK NRPAAIYGPG 	2D	NVADDLSS DINHETGE DINENTCS DINENTCS DINENTCS EERHLFR FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLCDAFG FLCDAFG FLCQCFA DINENTCS EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXTREME EXT		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAN
	SING	2D	ENVARDLSS DINNETCO INPERTOR INPERTOR ERRIP ERRIP FUTODATO FUTODATO EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADOUGLDCAS EVLADO		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN
	20 - GI H- HI - GYWM AD GFIA CF GFWK- CF GFWK- CF - GFWK- CF - GFWK- CF - GFWK- SNG	2D	NVADDLSS DINHETOP INFERCES IDINETTOP EERHLPS PUTODAFO PUTODAFO NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLADOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGLDCAB NVLANDOUGL		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAA
	20 - GI H- HI - GY MA AD - GFYMA CD - GFYMA	2D	NVADDLSE DINHETGE DINETGE DINETTGE EERHLFE FUDDAFG FUDDAFG EVLABOUGLECAB CEQCFA EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOUGLECAB EVLABOU		-IIKLAKLGLVPPK-IGAAH
	20 - GINH- 	2D	ENVARDLSE DINNETGE INPEACES DINETTCE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERHLPE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEVE ERVLASOFGLEEV		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN
	2	W	SINARDLSS DINNETCO INPERTON ERHLPP DENTICS ERHLPP PLTCDAPG EVLADOF GLEVE SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGEYI SELTQGE		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN
	2	SD	ENVARDLSS DINHETGE INFPACKS DINENTCS ERHLPP ERHLPP FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCCAFG FITCS FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCCAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FI		-IIKLAKLGLVPFK-IGAAN
	2	SD	ENVARDLSS DINHETGE INFPACKS DINENTCS ERHLPP ERHLPP FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCCAFG FITCS FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCCAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FITCDAFG FI		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN
	20 - GIVH- 	W	NVADDLSS DINHETOP INFERCES DINEWTOR EERHLPS PLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCDAFG FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAFA FLTCGAF		-IIKLAKLGLVFFK-IGAAN

18552	ERWSWKED
22484	VLPSCHIGT
02309	712-GKTQ
18601	CPALVLGTV
727	LPSTIEGFSVDGAMSMFFGNPESL-NLWE
5	
	YPGVIYC GKLTAGNVVARLIIERFNGRLPGY_IGOGND
	SNGDEFEWEHLWRVLAEOFEVDYVEFDENOBFVSLSDB-MED
	H H GWAE COVAESLD DESK
	H CMAE DESK REFUNICER HEFEDCIDE DESKVERVLAG PSNNLLRREFL KL VEGOGS
	INGDVFSWKSMWFLLCEIFELEFLPFDEKVRFDLVEF-MKD
	QVE-LLWAKASSLLIPSABAYSKAS
	KVV-DLINDLONEVRFSVLISATAVGYYGTSETEVFDEOSPSGNDYL-AEVCR
	AREFNITYGERMCIDD-GRVVOUU
	NEG TONE V-SNLND -SNLNLLED LODG TOTY-K-OV-
	ער טאי טפי איי סבי סבי סבי סבי סבי סבי סבי סבי סבי ס
	LTAREA FN PURALLP
	LIDYFIF SOFT
	D-RLGK-PEDISVVGPLAG LTAESCES IVR.ALLP KIDWVYVDNLVLALLLASMGLLDD-IPGREGQPVAAAQPYFISD-GSPINSPEFIRPLLKSLDYE
	LTARE TES TUR ALLP
	KTDWVYVDNLVLALLLASMGLLDD-TPGBEGOPVAAAOPYFISD-GEFINSPEFIBPLLKSLDVE
	THEY THEY THE THE OF THE ASSAULT AND THE ASSAULT ASSAULT AND THE ASSAULT ASSAU
	KGPIMEEIVRENGLLGIKLEOVGVWF
	NAMENDED DE LA SAMETA DE LA SAMETA DE LES DE LA SAMETA
	FMOREFORV C I & COVERENT VSGACOCDAY
	WEUDORMROW
	QRAAQ-PMEVEPTYVEBAC-D
	EEYLEKVYDR-TPLRRLGD-PSEVSS1VAFCL
	OT FEAN AFRA IM ILNESS C
	ULCOUNTRIANTIF BE IN ASCRETCION CONSTREED INS FILTRED
	WLGAVHVKDVAKAQVLLF ES LD ASCRYLCIN CIYOFSDFAER VS KLLPEFP
	KDOVMDEIVKKNNLVPTKLKEIMAPWE
	NU INFURDE UN DUE FORTUNA CE NEXT E
	UNLISNKEFLDRIVGR-IPLG-RPGE-PKINGSLVATCL
	The The The The Court of the Co
	KKILET-IPLGRYGQ-PEEVACLVEFEAL-N
	KGKKKNKGISLK-YNHVBIAYLKIAS
	EVEKHFESFSTLKIG-APLQ-VKNVXDAVEFEAS
	E VERH LESCFIF KCK ENLE AKHVADA VLF
	BGLKEAHISYOPVLA
	TROVIDUTDLUDINUKAL EKIKDO HUCTVNUCT CROSSINKEPURICKKI TOUDIKURY
	DESCRIPTION DE DA DADADI
	ATTOBLITABUESEDET MOM LI VALC DESCONMERCUALITE
	AIIQALTARMFSEDKI MQM LLWVGC PDFVSRVQMAEAVAHVR SIAEBOLG
	SILES DO FUELD
	VEGIICASANLKGVVFT-SEDVEAALFCS
	DINRVYEPLISLKGIVLT-GKHINDAALTVS
	RESVENCEKE_VP1KE_VP1GDGSND_PDUTEDTVAL_CL
	ALTERNATION AND A DE ALTERNATION AND ALTERNATION A
	STPFVHTDDVVDAHTFLFRNPRARGDYTCSA-T-RTTNENLARF-LAARVPOYP
	YSAPOL YANG VLIP
	LRSIVDVDVAEALILAYQSPQADGOYICNA-H-TARTSDVVEI-LRRHYPWYN
	NIPFVHTLOVARAHIFLFENPNAKGRYICSA-1-EITNECLAEF-LAARYPDYG
	EDVLDGFRAF VCRVANL QC VELT ANDARNA VLENAS RESESHVDDVVECHIAAM DK CR PCQRVLLTC E NASEKDVPDVAAAITCTKKPLFS
	RESESHVEDVVECHIAAM DK CR POORYLLIC E NASEKEVEDVAAAITCIKKPLES
	RGSVMDEIVEKNQLIPTKLESVEIPWF
	SL-SGKLVIN M.QP
	QRTFIYIKDAIEAVQLMIENPARANGHIFNVGNPNNEVTVRQLAEMMIQVYSKVSGEAP
	KOTMDETVER
1	UWTIIAVUSC-IMDALFTIV

9		-EWEANALK						TPOR AT-		TCY	ATTE	
8	1,	-KDKQLAGM		LHKALS?	l	×Xi	ANCH-	PSDIANA-		AVY	A.S	
6	THEFTRUS	DEVEGEMRE DVALAHTMV		NI (7217		IL DESIGNATION IN CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR O	ML /281-	DOLLAR THE R	ACM	WARTER.		_
		1a0	790		80.6	81	0	820		890		
					!!	· · · · I	1]	- 1	
		DDCPS	LF	FDRS	E			ESSPE				
		EGGPT										
		-DAGEWING	C-1-	-PDQ1-	Second State			-TSEL				_
		-HDDD GP S G		-QIVEN	M9014			100.0300				_
	1 DCD CITAT	SHALVLG	MUD_	-TALVE	INVENT NO	WHI DO	DETIS	-veoin-	10210	TU		
		-DOSVSVIG		-UNLOW	DGGYVEPT		-W	-LPRN				
		ADVLLL	KKK-	P-1.	DSMNKSKK	H	Git'	-LINENSKI	NSFL	SWIERT	KAYK	114
		VDFIF										
	LPSADLLK-				NVG		GENCLE	GLSSKKI-	-1.01.0	GFKFK	tG	
		-YPSHYDIF										
		EPAHFRTI										
		-HCSSYYTC		-QVLHP	NGGVIVNG							
		PASSYITC -DUG		QIICI	DCCMSINC	P		YPNSE				
		-D04G		-SSLIV								
	VYRF NC	-Q-VQGVS			EIQ	P	GLVAC	RDAARRL	IDL	CLIFTI	2	
		-C-NORAR	EIF-	-SDSN-	I			-AMPSALA	CDAE:	TVEK		
		-DGSRYNIG										
		-PASSYING		-TITIA	DORUGLIVE.	FRM	NO	-TIUSUS V	ORLEI	DWERGA	LNER LNER	-
	LUDB-DIS	-FARSTING		-0/11/1	PARTY -			CONSERVED	UPITI I	DACED	-T BP A	
	TORK	-O-TROVER	WVP_	AD TH	PVI			RHCRNIN	JDR2	PARK-	L Da	
		-PAASYITC										
		-DOSAFISC										
		-EDSEFVTC		-ENLVY	DGGYNDE-							
		DOSMFIT		HNLCV	DCCYVPPI	K	W	LPEN				
				YVPP	VCF		N	LMDKIGP	RRLE	AAARNI	BYTYS	
	LPRRPG			DYA	EVY			SOPIKI	TEL	WIAR	T	
		-PPAMESA		-QYSIV	MSI	M	HH	LPLSI			-KDFI	
		GYNTS										
		DEMGPS	2-F-	-EAGD-	D			LSSPE				
		-DESEATS		-NILLA	DAGITLAG	161	F2	5L				
		-DGARFVSG										
		-KUSAFTTG										
		-PAASY IT	-2.1/-	-HLHVQ	DURYMANOS	IDL		-CPENI			-REE-	
	TT PRAFA	-PAASY I		-dv ivy	DGEYTSLET	A		VERSION OF THE R	10.7	COR LONG		
		Dates par		DI DU	ESK		ASKID	PPNSATI	-LDI	CEDIXK?		
	VIND DV	L'NGLL'IL										
	THOLDBON	-DESRYVE						-FR				
		-DEBUIAGE						LISPPTVY				-
		ADLIL										TV
		-R-EKLVSG	SEY-	-UDBA-				-APRILLT.	AATR	GSUT		
	LEKPTVDV	SSORFYGVE		YT	DSDKR			IFDMILT	KOL	GWINER		
		LOLILI										
		- ULLNYEL		-MR1			-12	-LHNDLKK	SKINC.			
				-WVLUR	GGALAKN	IPL	1'M	ML/AGGP	L	GSGR	-OWL/SI	N L
		LALIRIG		B TWOM	R			APTSR1.G	SNT A	RAAR		
		-D-LANGTO	KYP-			OT M	LG	TD				
		-D-LANNTS -DOARYIS	KYP-	-ENLVV								
		-D-LANUTS -DOARYISC -DONAR	KYP-	-ENLVV -IVEID	NTED	-DPH	KR	KPO INKA	RDLL	GWEDEN	/PLRK	
L		-D-LANNTS -DOARYIS	KYP-	-ENLVV -IVEID	NTED	-DPH	KR	KPO INKA	RDLL	GWEDEN	/PLRK	
	LPRLPK	-D-LANVTS -DDARYIS -DDNAK 850	860	-HNLVV -IVFND	870 870		KR GLLR1 0		NDLL -MDM	GWEPRI GLQFI 900	701.DK	
	LPRLPK	-D-LANUT -DDARYIS -DDNAK 850	860	-ENLVW -IVPDD	870 	DPH 	KR GLLR1 0	KPO INKA IEDGAREL- 890	RDLL	GWEPEN GLQFII 900	70LRK	9
	 LPRLPK	-R-LANUTE -DOARYIS -DONAK 850 	860 	-HNLVV	NTED DTN 870 	DPH P 88	KR GLLR1 0	RPOINKA IEDGAREL- 890	RDLL) -MD00	GWEPEN GLQPII 900	₩LDK	9
	IPRLPK	-D-LANUT -DDARYIS -DDNAR 850	860 	-ENLVV	NTED DTN 870 	DPH P	KR GLLR1 0		RDLL) -MEM	GWEDEN GLQFII 900	701.DK	9

	YFSFLKAREELGYIPMVSPKEGMAATI	SYWQDKKKREL
	YQSVGLILGVTGIVGNSLAEILPLSDTPGGPWKVYG	
VDEIYEG	AVGOCKQKEMEEGKGRVFVSGGTGYVG	SWLIFKLLQHGY
	F5QGP1QFQQQQ	
AKKLL	YPESA	QAAAPKTEYYCLSIA
VEDATGD	TVESLKEKGFLGPEKSOP	
LWEFSLS		LTD
SR	TFRRC TQ	
	l	EMERMEEAYCALVH
		3112210.029210.022
LWKLTTS	LQESLSI	AWKWQKEHRNGYLIH
LAVE119		LH
	VGL1-FGKKE	
D		AWKWQRSHKNGY
IDTLSISPVSE	10 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	DI TI CO
IDILSISPVSE	EDOX	RLTLGC
	LEG	
LDEMFDD	AIROCKEKGILN	
I DECTION	SIESYKRAGLVD	
	AIRCCKEKGIL	
	AIRCORDAGIL	
-ЕКА	KAELNYAP-RSLEEGLAEVL	SWLKSSRLIKY
AIDSI		IKD
	YQH	
RLPDI		
UDDLU	NLLYEA	LONDOVICE/CET TO
IWSASEI		MVS
GLPMMVTI	D-FRQRIEGDH	KEDGGSTTS-
MEQIIKD	AVESLRSKGFIS	
920	930 940 950	960 970 980
	I TENTETRE VITTALS OF OTHER PROPERTY AND A DESCRIPTION OF AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPTIO	TENCENTONICE
DPD3Actus cres	LTDVTHVFYVTWASKSTEVENCEVNSKMFRNVLNAJ	IIPNCPNLQHICLQTGLKHYL
PEDAQSMLSKI		
PEDAQSMLSKI		
PEDAQSMLSK1		

	DV
1	РК
í	OARECSYKTTVMYLFDRTFVYVADHTDHT
	ZARIOSTATIWI THEDAT
	RESSOSOKVAAA
	LRSVSGLSSMLQVYVY
	VIDFIEKGNSVASFMKLLLFITGIINATAPNPVTLAEMCEQLGSVLGRPSW KESVC
	KESVC
1	KESVC
	KESVC
1	KESVC
	KESVC
	KE SVC
	KE SVC
	KE SVC
1	KE SVC
1	KE SVC
1	KE SVC
	KE SVC
	ESVC

Cr027571	
Cr027322	GTPQALGTPQAL
Cr001335	
Cr016749	
Cr016747	
Cr022212	
Cr010887	
Cr001750	
Cr017031	
Cr018552	
Cr022484	
Cr002309	
Cr018601	
Cr008727	
Cr001235	
Cr019769	
AIW09146.1 Cr025915	
Cr003619	RTYAEAIKKAISQPLAS
AIW09148.1	
Cr011094	
Cr023179	PVPEIALKAVLGEGAAVVLEGQKVLPTRAMELGFPFKYRHVRDALKAIMSMS
Cr008631	
Cr004988	
Cr002470	
Cr011896	
	1060 1070 1080 1090 1100 1110 1120
	and have been been been been been been been be
Cr013448	
Cr033739	
Cr022864	
Cr013184	
Cr013447	
Cr027095	FAAAYL-PDFGPLTLVRAFALLFLGSMTALRALFLLSAAAHIGDFGPLTLVRAFALLFLGSMTALRALFLLSAAAHIG
Cr003140	
Cr003140 Cr028100	
Cr028100	
Cr028100 Cr017503	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915	CKHEGVPLRPPGCKEAWQGYSMC FSADLAKPESFNDAIEGCIGVFHVAHPMDVLGKETEEE-ITQKSIDGTIGILQAC
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr00167 Cr022002	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr030915 Cr032978 Cr023278 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr02002 Cr01031	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr0242217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr0016167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr000253	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr000253 Cr000253 Cr019499	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr002253 Cr019499 Cr028501	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr000253 Cr000253 Cr019499	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr002253 Cr019499 Cr028501	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr022217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr03366 Cr033093 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr03366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028096	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028094 Cr028096 Cr028099	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028091 Cr028099 Cr027571	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr022217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr003366 Cr033093 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr027571 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr010499 Cr028094 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr016747	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr022217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr03366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028095 Cr027571 Cr027572 Cr01335 Cr016749 Cr016747 Cr022212	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr022217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr03366 Cr033093 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028099 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr016747 Cr016747 Cr016747 Cr01287	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr028094 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr01750	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr002002 Cr001031 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr016747 Cr0127212 Cr010887 Cr010750 Cr01750 Cr017031	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr15Y Cr033366 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr00253 Cr00253 Cr00253 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr011335 Cr016747 Cr022212 Cr016747 Cr022212 Cr016747 Cr022212 Cr01750 Cr01750 Cr01750 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01750 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01751 Cr01	
Cr028100 Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr0230915 Cr023278 Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167 Cr002002 Cr001031 Cr022002 Cr001031 Cr033093 Cr00253 Cr00253 Cr019499 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335 Cr016749 Cr016747 Cr0127212 Cr010887 Cr010750 Cr01750 Cr017031	

Cr018601 Cr008727 Cr001235 Cr019769 AIW09146.1 Cr025915 Cr003619	
AIW09148.1 Cr011094 Cr023179 Cr008631 Cr004988 Cr002470 Cr011896	
Cr013448 Cr033739 Cr022864	1130 1140 1150 1160 1170 1180 1190
Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140 Cr028100	EAIYAWQLARKVDPANAKGWFWQTFALGFFSLRFLLRRAKKTSDK
Cr017503 Cr017502 Cr030915 Cr023278	SDADLIAE-HQIWAAVDPYAKNEAFNVSNGDVFKWKHFWKVLABQFGAEYAEYQG LNAKTVKRFVYTSSVAAVMFDNRGLNIVDENMWSDLDNARKLNSLFGIYTITKTLABKACLEFGEKHG
Cr023367 Cr010996 Cr014890 Cr023217 Cr006167	
Cr022002 Cr001031 CrISY Cr033366 Cr033093	
Cr000253 Cr019499 Cr028501 Cr028094 Cr028096	
Cr028099 Cr027571 Cr027322 Cr001335	
Cr016749 Cr016747 Cr022212 Cr010887 Cr001750	
Cr017031 Cr018552 Cr022484 Cr002309 Cr018601	
Cr008727 Cr001235 Cr019769 AIW09146.1 Cr025915	
Cr003619 AIW09148.1 Cr011094 Cr023179	
Cr008631 Cr004988	

	1200	1210	1220	1230	1240	1250
Second Second				1230		
				WWFADLVLSV		SKEHGFLGFF
LDIV	TLIPPY	WISGPFICTN	LPGSVRTIMA	L		

Cr013448 Cr033739 Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095 Cr003140		
Cr022864 Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095	Cr013448	
Cr013184 Cr013447 Cr027095	Cr033739	
Cr013447 Cr027095	Cr022864	
Cr027095	Cr013184	
	Cr013447	
Cr003140	Cr027095	
	Cr003140	

Cr028100	
Cr017503	
Cr017502	ISWIDKAKAYKIFP
Cr030915	FSWSSTHPS
Cr023278	
Cr023367	
Cr010996	
Cr014890	
Cr023217	
Cr006167	
Cr022002	and the law has been as and set out of the law has the
Cr001031	
CrISY	
Cr033366	
Cr033093	
Cr000253	
Cr019499	
Cr028501	
Cr028094	
Cr028096	
Cr028099	
Cr027571	
Cr027322	
Cr001335 Cr016749	
Cr016747	
Cr022212	
Cr010887	
Cr001750	
Cr017031	
Cr018552	
Cr022484	
Cr002309	
Cr018601	
Cr008727	
Cr001235	
Cr019769	
AIW09146.1	
Cr025915	
Cr003619	
AIW09148.1	
Cr011094	
Cr023179	
Cr008631	
Cr004988	
Cr002470	
Cr011896	

Brief Communication

Chemistry & Biology

Unlocking the Diversity of Alkaloids in Catharanthus roseus: Nuclear Localization Suggests Metabolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism

Graphical Abstract



Highlighta

- Tetrahydroalstonine synthase catalyzes the formation of a plant-derived alkaloid
- Tetrahydroalstonine synthase is localized to the nucleus.
- Tetrahydroalstonine synthase and the preceding pathway enzyme interact
- Discovery of a gene controlling structural diversity of monoterpene indole alkaloids

Authors

Anna Stavrinides, Evangelos C. Tatsis, ..., Vincent Courdavault, Sarah E. O'Connor

Correspondence

sarah.oconnor@jic.ac.uk (S.E.O.), vincent.courdavault@univ-tours.fr (V.C.)

In Brief

How plants transform the central biosynthetic intermediate strictosidine into thousands of divergent alkaloids has remained unresolved. Stavrinides et al. discover a nuclear-localized alcohol dehydrogenase homolog responsible for conversion of strictosidine aglycone to tetrahydroalstonine that appears to interact with an upstream pathway enzyme.

Stavrinides et al., 2016, Chemistry & Biology 22, 1–6 March 19, 2015 (12016) The Authors http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2016.02.006



Please cite this writtle in press or: Stavinities et al., Unlocking the Discretiy of Alkabitis in Cafmonifies assure: Nacional Academic Supports Meta-bolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism, Chemistry & Biology (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.02.008

Chemistry & Biology Brief Communication

CelPress

Unlocking the Diversity of Alkaloids in Catharanthus roseus: Nuclear Localization Suggests Metabolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism

Anna Stavinides,1 Evangelos C. Tatsis,1 Emilien Foureau,2 Lorenzo Caputi,1 Franziska Keliner,1 Vincent Courdavault,2* and Sarah E. O'Connor

Department of Biological Chemistry, The John Innes Centre, Colney, Norwich NR4 7UH, UK

²Umiversité François Rabellais de Tours, EA2108 "Biomolécules et Biotechnologies Végétales", 3/200 Tours, France "Correspondence: south acconnecting as using \$5.00 }, vincent coundoraultifume-townum (V.C.) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chambiol.2015.02.006

This is an open access article under the CC BY Icense Intio///creativecommons.org/icenses/by//.01.

SUMMARY

The extraordinary chemical diversity of the plantderived monoterpene indole alkaloids, which include vinblastine, quinine, and strychnine, originates from a single biosynthetic intermediate, strictosidine agivcone. Here we report for the first time the cloning of a biosynthetic gene and characterization of the corresponding enzyme that acts at this crucial branchpoint. This enzyme, an alcohol dehydrogenase homolog, converts strictosidine aglycone to the heteroyohimbine-type alkaloid tetrahydroalstonine. We also demonstrate how this enzyme, which uses a highly reactive substrate, may interact with the upstream enzyme of the pathway.

INTRODUCTION

The monoterpene indole alkaloids (MIAs) are a highly diverse family of natural products that are produced in a wide variety of medicinal plants. Over 3000 members of this natural product class, which includes compounds such as guinine, vinblastine, reserpine, and yohimbine, are derived from a common biosynthetic intermediate, strictosidine aglycone (O'Connor and Maresh. 2008). How plants transform strictosidine aglycone into divergent structural classes has remained unresolved.

The recent availability of transcriptome and genome data has dramatically accelerated the rate at which new plant biosynthetic genes are claucovered. All genes that lead to strictusicine aglycone have been recently cloned from the well-characterized medicinal plant Cetheranthus roseus, which produces over 100 MIAs (De Luca et al., 2014). However, gene products that act on strictosidine aplycane have not been identified in any plant, despite decades of effort. Attempts have been hampered in part by the reactivity and instability of strictosidine aglycone. In C. roseus, there are at least two major pathway branches derived from strictosicline aplycone (O/Corner and Marsoly, 2006). One continuous is invocrimenized to lead to the ascidoscowing and the iboga classes to yield the precursors of vinblastine, while the other is expected to lead to alkaloids of the heteroyohimbine type (Figure 1A). These alkalaids have diverse biological activities: viriblastine is used as an anticancer agent (Kaur et al.,

2014) and the heteroyohimbines have a range of phannacological uses (Costa-Campos et al., 1998; Elisabetsky and Cos Campos, 2006). While it is unknown how many C. roseus enzyhtees use strictosidine aplycome as a substrate, there is clearly more than one enzyme that acts at this crucial branchpoint.

The biochemical pathway leading from strictosidine agivcone to the heteroyohimbine alkaloids has been previously investigaled using both crude plant extracts and biomimetic chemistry. Reduction of strictosidine aglycone with NaBH, or NaCNBH; yielded the heteroyohimbines ajmalicine (raubasine), tetrahydroalstonine, and 19-epi-ajmalicine, which differ only in the stereochemical configuration at carbons 15, 19, and 20, in variaus nation (Figure 1B) (Brown et al., 1977; Kan-Fan and Husson, 1978, 1979, 1980]. These three diastereomers were again observed, also in varying relative amounts, when crude C. rossess protein extracts were incubated with strictosidine appycone and NADPH, but not in the absence of NADPH (Rueffer et al., 1979; Stoeckigt et al., 1976, 1977, 1983; Zenk, 1990). Collectively, these observations indicate that the heteroyohimbines result directly from the reduction of strictosidine asycone and that an NAOPH-dependent enzyme is implicated in this process. However, no gene encoding such an enzyme has been identified. Here we report the discovery of a reductase that converts strictosidine aglycone to the heteroyohimbine alkakid tetrahydrasbricaine.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Given that heterovohimbine biosynthesis likely requires reduction of an iminium present in strictosidine advoore (Figure 1B). we used a publically available RNA-seq database that we recently generated (Gongora-Castillo et al., 2012) to search for C. roseus candidates displaying homology to enzyme classes known to reduce the carbonyl functional group. The alcohol dehydrogeneses (ADHe), enzymes that reduce aldehydes and ketones to alcohols, were chosen as the initial focus. As part of a screen of ADHs that are upregulated in response to methyl jasmonate (Gongora Castillo et al., 2012), a hormone known to uprequisite alkaloid bipsynthesis, we identified a condidate annotated as sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase (Supplemental Infor mation). When heterologously expressed and purified from E coll (Figure S1), and assayed with strictosidine aplycone and NADPH, this candidate yielded a product with a maps consistent with a heteroyohimbine (w/z 353.1855), thereby implicating this

Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-8, March 19, 2015 @2015 The Authors 1

CelPress



Figure 1. The Monotorpene Indole Alkeloids

(A) Representative monotorpane indole alkaloids derived from strictosidine and strictosidine aglycone found in Californian rases. (5) Heteroyohimbine biosynthesis.

enzyme in the important structural branchpoint of the MIA biosynthetic pathway (Figure 2A).

To determine the identity of the alkaloid product, the enzyme was incubated with purified strictosidine (4.3 mg) in the presence of strictosidine glucosidase (SGD), which generated strictosidine aglycone in situ to best mimic physiologically relevant conditions. The major product (approximately 1 mg) was isolated by preparative thin-layer chromatography and exhibited an ¹H-NMR and ¹⁰C-NMR spectrum matching an authentic standard of tetrahydroalstonine (Figure 2B; Figure S2). Hemscheidt and Zenk (1985) previously reported the isolation of an enzyme that produced tetrahydroalstonine, although this protein was purfied only 35-fold from C. roseus cell cultures. Consistent with Hemidt and Zenk's (1985) nomenclature, we named this enzyme tetrahydroalstonine synthase (THAS). A minor enzymatic product was produced in yields too low for NMR characterization, but had a mass and A, value consistent with aimalicine, a stereoisomer of tetrahydroalstonine (Figure S2). When applied to normal phase liquid chromatography conditions, ajmalicine and tetrahydroalstonine could be resolved, indicating that the enzyme produces approximately 85% tetrahydroalstonine (Rgure 3; Supplemental Information). We also silenced this gene in C. roseus seedlings using virus-induced gene silencing (MGS) (Liscombe and O'Corner, 2011). LC-mass spectrometry [MS] analysis of the silenced leaf tissue showed a statistically significant decrease (approximately 50%) of a peak with a mass and retention time consistent with a heteroyohimbine, suggesting that this enzyme is involved in this biosynthetic pathway branch in vivo (Figure 52). A 50% reduction in product levels upon

2 Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-6, March 19, 2015 102015 The Authors

silencing has been observed for other physiologically relevant biosynthesic genes using the VIGS approach in both C. roseus (Asada et al., 2013; Geu-Flores et al., 2012) and another well-studied medicinal plant, opium poppy (Desgagne-Penix and Facohini, 2012; Chen and Facohini, 2014). Therefore, THAS is likely a major producer of tetrahydroalstonine in vivo, although additional, undiscovered C. roseus enzymes could also contribute to production of this compound. While we could not resolve tetrahydroalstonine and its stareoiscomer ajmalicinein the silenced crude extracts, the levels of the ajmalicinederived alkaloid serpentine remain the same, suggesting that silencing of THAS does not substantiatly affect ajmalicine levels and consequently that THAS does not play a major role in the biosynthesis of ajmalicine in planta.

Small-scale assays using LC-MS to monitor product formation indicated that NADPH was required for the reaction, although NADH could also be utilized (Figure S1). Efforts to accurately measure the steady state kinetic constants of this enzyme were complicated because strictosidine aglycone reacts with nucleophiles, opening the possibility that the substrate reacts with components in the reaction or the enzyme. This reactivity has already because aglycone-mediated aggregation of proteins in C. coseus (Guimmand et al., 2010). Nevertheless, we obtained estimated K_m and k_{est} values (Figure S1). To support these kinetic data, we also performed isothermal titration calorimetry (ITC) with THAS in the presence of NADPH and strictosidine aglycons. Titration of THAS with NADPH indicated that the cosubstrate binds fint with a K_{est} of 1.5 + 0.1 μ M (AH (cal/mol)



Figure 2. Activity Assays of THAS

Enzyme reactions were performed at 25°C for 30 min and assayed using a mass spectrometer in tandem with ultraperformance iquid chromolography. (A) The total ion chromatogram for rol2 353 and trace) and rol2 351 (purple trace) from 1 to 4 min is shown. Top trace: THAS (50 nM), 530 (6 nM), strictosidine (200 µM), NADPH (200 µM); bottom trace; seme reaction in the absence of THAS. The y axis represents normalized ion abundance as a percentage relative to 1.00x² detected by selected ion monitoring at mix 303 and 381.
(5) Portion of the "H-NMP spectrum of the isolated enzymatic product compared with an authentic standard of tetrahydroalstonine.

2310 ± 123.2; AS (cal/mol/deg) 34.2 ± 0.3) (Figure S1). The aglycone substrate does not appear to bind in the absence of NADPH, suggesting that the enzyme utilizes an ordered binding mechanism in which NADPH binds first. However, titration of the THAS-NADPH complex with strictosicline aglycone led to formation of a precipitate when concentrations of strictosicine aglycone exceeded 60 µM, preventing calculation of an accurate Kd. Collectively, the ITC data for THAS are consistent with an ordered Bi-Bi mechanism, a kinetic mechanism that has been reported for similar ADHs such as cinnamy! alcohol dehydrogenase (Charlier and Plapp, 2000; Lee et al., 2013).

The amino acid sequence of THAS was subjected to a BLAST alignment against the C. roseus transcriptome (Congora-Castillo et al., 2012), as well as the NCBI (Figure S3). The closest characterized homologs of THAS are sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase (Populus tremuloides, 64% amino acid identity), cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (Populus tomentosa, 64%) and 8-hydroxygeraniol dehydrogenase (C. mseus, 63%), which are zinc-containing medium chain ADHs (Bornati and Noel, 2005; Lee et al., 2013].

Strictosidine aglycone can marrange into several isomers (Figure 1B), and while it has been reported that the dominant isomer is cathenamine (Genssimenko et al., 2002; Stoeckigt et al., 1977), equilibration in solution with other isomers occurs (Brown and Leonard, 1979; Stoeckiot et al., 1983), Reduction of cathenamine or epi-cathenamine (Figure 1B) by a reductase would require reduction of the carbon-carbon double bond of an

enamine; alternatively, Stoeckigt et al. (1983) and Zenk (1980) suggested that the iminium isomer is reduced (Figure 18). THAS may catalyze the stereoselective formation of tetrahydroalstonine by selectively binding the correct isomer of the substrate for reduction, thereby relying on the inherent propensity for the enamine and imine to fautomerize under physiological conditions. Given that three diastereomers, ajmalicine, tetrahydroalstonine, and 19-epi-ajmalicine, can be obtained from chemical reduction of strictosidine aphycone, this is a chemically reasonable proposal. An alternative hypothesis is that THAS catalyzes enamine-imine tautomerization in addition to reduction. The difficulties associated with obtaining accurate kinetic data in this system, as well as the inherent reactivity of the strictosidine aglycone, make answering these questions using enzymology approaches challenging. However, identification and comparison with enzymes that generate other heteroyohimbine diastereomers will likely provide the basis for a more definitive mechanism of product specificity.

Recent research has highlighted that plant secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways often are compartmentalized in different subcellular locations. While microscopy experiments have demonstrated that most of the early steps of monoterpene indole alkaloid biceynthesis in C. roseus take place in the cytosol (Courdavault et al., 2014), the enzyme that synthesizes strictosidine is located in the vacuole, and the enzyme SGD, which deglycosylates strictosidine, contains a nuclear localization signal and is in the nucleus, a highly unusual site for secondary

Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-6, March 19, 2015 U2015 The Authors 3
Rease cite this article in press as: Stavrinides et al., Unlocking the Diversity of Alkalaids in Cartwarethus research Aucear Localization Suggests Metatolic Chemeting in Secondary Metabolism, Chemistry & Biology (2015), http://dx.doi.org/10.1018/j.chembiol.2015.02.008

CelPress





THAS produces approximately 50% of the tetrahydrosistenine (THA) disaterearrer. The y sets represents normalized ion abundance as a percentage detected by selected ion monitoring at mix 353.

metabolite biosynthesis (Guirimand et al., 2010). Notably, a motif resembling a class V nuclear localization sequence (Kosugi et al., 2006) was observed in THAS (K₂₁₄K₂₁₅K₂₁₆R₂₁₇). Microscopy of C. roseus cells transformed with YEP-tagged THAS confirmed the nuclear location of this enzyme, while deletion of the KKKR sequence disrupted the localization (Figure 4A; Figure 54). This is one of the very few examples of secondary metabolism that is localized to the nucleus (Saciowsky et al., 2005).

Given the reactivity of strictosidine aglycone (Guirlmand et al., 2010), metabolic channeling via a protein-protein interaction between SQD and the enzyme immediately downstream may be necessary to protect the substrate. Pull down experiments between SGD and THAS gave partially positive but inconclusive results (Figure S4). However, when we used bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BFC) in C. roseus cells, we observed an interaction between SGD and THAS (Figure 48). While this interaction generated a diffuse nuclear fluorescent signal when the C-terminal end of SGD was fused to the split-YFP fragment, a sidkle-shaped signal was observed when both SGD and THAS were expressed with free C-terminal ends (YFP^N-SGD and YFP^C-THAS). Such a signal was also observed for SGD self-interactions (Guirmand et al., 2010) and likely results from the formation of SGD complexes over 1.5 MDa (Lujendijk et al., 1998). Similar experiments with SGD and an upstream MIA biosynthetic enzyme, loganic acid methyl transferase, failed to show an interaction, highlighting the specificity of this interaction (Figure 84). The fact that THAS interacts with SGD provides further support for the physiological relevance of THAS in planta. As strictosidine aplycone is reactive and most likely toxic in vivo, it has been proposed that this molecule is produced by the plant in response to attack (Guirimand et al., 2010). The nuclear localization of THAS might. be an evolutionary mechanism designed to channel this mole-

4 Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-6, March 19, 2015 1/2015 The Authors





Figure 4. THAS is Targeted to the Nucleus via a Monopartite Nuclea Localization Signal (NLS) and Interacts with SGD

(A) C. rosses: cells were transferrity cotransformed with plasmids expressing either TMAS-ITEP (apper row), VEP-TMAS studies row), or the NLS desired version of THAS (power row) and plasmids encoding the nuclear CEP namer or the nucleoscyboxolic CEP marker (second column), Colocalization of the fluonecessors signals appears in palice lefter reneging the two individual green/ read) relas color images (hind column). Cell morphology is observed with differential interference contrast (DIC) (pourth column).

(B) THAS and SGD interactions were analysed by BFC in C. Assess cells transiently transformed by plasmidit encoding fusion indicated on the top (Luion with the split YFP⁴ fragment) and on the left (Judon with split YFP⁴ fragment). Li2PHS was used as a positive BFC extented and to evaluate the specificity of THAS and SGD interactions. The images are merges of the YFP BIFC diservel (meganta false color) with the DIC chernel to show the nuclear localization of the interactions. Bers, 10 µm.

cule into a more stable product when no such defense is required, Identification of additional nuclear-localized biosynthetic enzymes in C. roseus and other heterosynhimbine

CelPress

producing plants may provide more insight into the reasons for AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS this unusual localization pattern.

SIGNIFICANCE

Many of the monoterpene indole alkaloid structural classes. are generated at the SGD junction. Here we report the first identification of a biosynthetic gene that acts directly downstream of SGD. The enzyme, an ADH homolog, generates a heteroyohimbine alkaloid by reducing one of the isomera of strictosidine aglycone. Unusually, this enzyme is located in the nucleus and may interact with its upstream partner, SCD. The discovery of the THAS gene represents the completion of a major branch of monoterpane indole alkaloid biosynthesis, which will now allow reconstruction of heteroyohimbines and heteroyohimbine analogs in heterologous hosts. This discovery is a crucial first step in understanding how the structural diversity of MIAs is controlled.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

The THMS gene (accession number KMS24858) was cloned into pOPINF and expressed in Basetta 2 pl/ys8 £, colicells (Novaget) with induction of expresserveith 0.1 mM isopropylo-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside. Cultures were grown at 19°C for 18 hv, with shaking at 200 gm. His tagged THAS was purified using a HaTrap FF 5-mill column (GE Healthcare), BGD expression and particulate was done as described for THAS using the expression system described pre-/ously by Yerkes et al. (2003). Purified THAS and SGD were used in all assays. Stricksking was anymatically synthesized from hypterrine and a crucie methanal exitact of smoothing (Symphosicagues albas) emiched in sec ganin prepared as previously described (Geerlings et al., 2001). Strictosi dine appoone was generated in situ prior in axialition of T-MS by incubation of reliabilities and SGD in the appropriate solution for 10 min, at which time strictesidine was completely converted to the app

Stacky state hindle analysis sure performed with 60 mM THAS and 6 nM 830, 60 m Mphosphate bulk right 7.6, 200 pM NADPH, and an internal cultoine standard 50 µN1. ALLS-VS measurements years performed on AQUITY ultraperformance liquid chromatography with a Xevo TO-5 mass spectrometer.

For VIGS, a 330-bp tragment of THAS was closed into the of TV/Ju vector as devolthed (Gen-Flores et al., 2012). The resulting pTRV5-THAS construct you used to silence THAS in C costors seedings resemblity as devolthed (Lisconbe and O'Connor, 2011).

The subcellular localization of THAS was studied by creating fluorescent. later proteins using the pSCA-case its YPP planned (Dummand of al., 2006, 2010). The capacity of interaction of THAS and SSD was characterized by SPC assess using THAS PCR product closed via Spci into the pSPVCE(MR) plannid (Weed) at al., 2006, which allows expression of THAS fased to the cathoxy-terminal extramity of the split YEP² fragment (VEP²). T-KG, The pSGA-SPINE173-SGD and pSPINE(R)173-SGD plasmids (Gui-imand et al., 2016) were used to express SGD fused to the amino-terminal or callooy-terminal extremity of the split YRP³ fragment (90D-YRP³ and YRP³¹, SGD, respectively). TH/KS self-interactions were analyzed via additional cloning of the THAS PCR product into the pSCA-SPVNE179 and pSCA-SPVCEV6 phoenida (Culturand et al., 2010) to express THAS-YPP⁴¹ and THAS-YPP⁴². respectively. Transient transformation of C. reseve cells by particle bomberolment and fluorescence imaging were performed following the procedures presionally dependent (Galifornia et al., 2009, 2018). Complete superimental details are included in the Supplemental

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Supplemental information includes Supplemental Experimental Procedures and four figures and can be found with this article online at http:// 10.1016(j.chembiol/2018.02.006)

A.S. made the initial discovery of THAS activity and sonducted all enzyme assays, kinetics, pulkawn, and TC; E.C.T. performed VKB and assessed in the structural characterization of the enzyme product; E.F. performed the microcopy operiments; LC, available in the purification of THAS and pullclower, F.K. provided initial generate data that assisted in identification of the THAS candidate; V.C. conceived, initiated, and supervised all localization and BPC experiments: 5.5.0, supervised all expensiony experiments: A.5, V.C., 5.5.0. wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We anticially admonistrate support from the ERC (\$11353) and from the Région Centre (France, ABISAL grant). A.S. is supported by a BBSRD DTP studentship.

Received: November 7, 2014 Nevteed: January 24, 2015 Accepted: Petruary 17, 2015 Published: Varch 12, 3945

DEFERENCES

Asacia, K., Solim, V., Wasacia-Abuani, S., Edmanda, E., Nagaloshi, M., Terosaka, K., Mizukami, H., and De Luca, V. (2018). A 7-deceptoganetic acid glusosyftransferase contributes a key step in secologanin biosynthesis in laciogassor periwinkle. Plant Cell 35, 4128-4134.

Romati, S.K., and Novi, J.P. (2005). Structural and kinetic basis for substrate selectivity in Pasulus iremutoides sinapel alcohol dehydrogenase. Plant Cell 17, 1698, 1811.

Brown, R.T., and Leonaed, J. (1979). Biomimetic synthesis of cathemaniae and 19 opical hosanine, key intervediates to heteroyohindane alladoids. J. Cherr. Sco. Chorr. Cornnar, 877 879.

Brown, R.T., Loonaid, J., and Skiigh, S.K. (1977), 'One pot' biomimotic synthesis of 166 textrapoliumbine alkaloids. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 638 658.

Charlier, H.A., and Plapp, B.V. (2000). Kinetic cooperativity of human liver alsohol dohydrogonose y2. J. Biol. Chom. 275, 11589 11575

Chen, X., and Facohini, P.J. (2014). Short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase consigging the final step of noscapine biosynthesis is localized to latiollers in agium poppy. Plant J. 27, 173–184.

Costa-Compos. L. Lava, D.R., Nunes, D.S., and Elisabetsky, E. (1998). Antipaychotic-like profile of alatonine. Thannacol. Biochem. Behav. 50, 131.141

Countiwault, V., Papon, N., Claster, M., Gigliol-Guivaroth, N., St-Piene, B., and Surial, V. (2014). A look matte an adiatott multiplie plant: live Catharanthus logistics. Curr. Opin. Part Biol. 19, 43-50.

De Luce, V., Saler, V., Tharm, A., Masada, S.A., and Yu, F. (2014). Making indoids/secondoids and monolerpenoid indule alkaloids, progress or pathway elucidation, Curr. Opin. Plant Biol. 79, 35-42.

Desgagne Penie, L., and Facefini, P.J. (2012). Bystematic sitencing of benuy Isopaineline alkaleid bicsonilledic genes reveals live mater route to papa verine in opium poppy. Plant J. 72, 331-344.

Elisabelisky, E., and Costa Campez, L. (2008). The alkaloid abdonine: a rev of its pharmacological properties. Delence-based complementary and alter-native medicine. Deld. Based Complement. Atemat. Net. 3, 39-46.

Georings, A., Redando, P.J., Contin, A., Mernelink, J., van der Heijden, R., and Vepooria, R. (2001). Sistemation and tryptamine and secologania into plant terpanetic inclus atkakids by transparie yawat. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 55, 420-424.

Germinnerko, I., Shekalko, Y., Ma, X., and Stockigt, J. (2002). Heleroic expression of a /lacyoifly cDNA encoding strictesiding plucosidess, a bicsynthefic key to over 2000 monotesperarid inside alkaliside. Sur. J. Rischem. 200, 1904-0918

Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-6, March 19, 2015 02015 The Authora, 5,

Please clinithis writin in press as Stawinides et al., Unlocking the Dieweity of Alkalaids in Cathesenfrus vowars: Nacteer Localization Suggests Natabolic Channeling in Secondary Metabolism, Chemistry & Biology (2015), http://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2015.02.008

Ges-Fierer, F., Sharten, N.H., Dourdovault, V., Barlat, Y., Glenn, W.S., Wa, C., Nims, E., Cai, Y., and O'Conner, S.E. (2019). An alternative route to cyclic terpenes by restautive cyclication in Mobil biosynthesis. Nature 492, 138–142.

Gorgers-Coolite, E., Childa, K.L., Yedewa, G., Harrillon, J.P., Lacombe, D.K., Magalamos-Landbeck, M., Vanskol, K.K., Nima, E., Pangaphon, W., Walancruzt, B., et al. (2019). Development of transcriptomic measures for intercepting the biosynthesis of monotrepene indole alkaloids in medicinal plant species. PLoS Conc.7, e55206.

Galifmenti, G., Barlet, V., Oacin, A., Lancast, A., 51-Pierre, S., and Gourdevnalt, V. (2009). Optimization of the invasion it medicareation of Cathwarethus resource cells. by particle bombaretiment and its application to the subscillular invasionion. of hydrogenetivitylinatesyst 4-ciphospharie equations and generical 10-hydroxylase. Plant Cell Rep. 28, 1215–1284.

Gartmand, G., Courdowall, V., Lancue, A., Visholog, S., Galtar, A., Blanc, N., Gigliol-Galvarch, N., St-Pierre, G., and Barbé, V. (2010). Stitutesicine activation in Appropriate and invascle in "nuclear time bornb"? BMC Plant Biol. 10, 182.

Henselveist, T., and Zeek, M.H. (1986). Period parification and characterization of a NADPH dependent tetrahydroxidenine synthese from Catherenthus reserve cell supportion outpress. Plant Cell Tep. 4, 216-219.

Kan-Fan, G., and Husson, H.P. (1978). Stereothernical control in the biomimetic conversion of Indurry/dimbine adulted precursors. Solution of a novel key informediate. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 818-819.

Kim-Sun, G., and Hussen, H.P. (1979). Isolation and biomimetic conversion of 4.21-dehydrogetssosthizine. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1015–1016.

Kan-Fan, G., and Hussen, H.F. (1990). Storningtic synthesis of yohintbine and heteropoliticities. alkoloids from 4,21-dehydrogelessachides. Tetrahedron. Lett. 29, 1083–1086.

Kaur, H., Kaur, G., Dill, H.K., Sont, H., and Satwal, J. (2014). Recard developments in tubulin polymerization inhibitors: an overview. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 870, 89–124.

Kirsugi, S., Hosebe, M., Watsumure, N., Takoshimo, H., Miyometo Sato, E., Miyo, E., Tomita, M., and Yanagawa, H. (2008). Six-classes of nucleon localization signals apacific to different binding grooves of importin signal. J. Biol. Cham. 204, 470–485. Lee, G., Becker, D.L., Dovin, L.B., and Leets, N.G. (2013). Accessorant of a putrike proton reiny in Architectoria discountyl algobal dehydrogenese schalysis. Org. Biomel. Chem. 31, 1127–1134.

Liscombe, D.K., and O'Canwer, S.E. (2011). A virus induced gene silencing approach to understanding alluluid inclutionism in Gathermites rescue. Hydroleunistry 72, 1966–1977.

Laijendijk, T.J.C., Stevens, L.H., and Verpoorte, R. (1998). Purification and characterization of strictosidine (F-D-glacosidnes from Cethanaffus researcell suspension cultures. Plant Physicil Biochem. 35, 419–425.

O'Connez, S.C., and Manah, J.J. (2008). Chemistry and biology of monotorpens incide alkoloid biosynthesis. Nat. Prod. Rep. 32, 532–547.

Bartler, M., Kan-Fan, C., Hawan, H.P., Stoeddgt, J., and Zenk, M.H. (1979). 4,91-Dehyringelevonobirine, an intermediate in heterosphilinbine allocinic biosynthesis. J. Cham. Soc. Cham. Commun. 1018 1018.

Sestewalay, D.E., Wardt, U., and Winhol, S.S. (2006). Nuclear localization of Sevenoid enzymes in Ambidopate. J. Biol. Chem. 220, 25235-25740.

Stoedagt, J., Trainer, J., and Zerk, M.H. (1978). Synthesis of apredictive and related indole alkaloids by cell free extracts of Celterarthus researce cell suspension cultures. F025 Lett. 75, 267–270.

Stoeddigt, J., Hannin, H.P., Kan-Fan, G., and Zerk, U.H. (1977). Contensative, a central intermediate in the cell free biosynthesis of ajmulicitie and minister limited ediabatics. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 161-169.

Stoeskigt, J., Honsoholdt, T., Heello, B., Heinatoin, P., and Formacok, V. (1983). Storio course of hydrogen transfer studing onzymatic tormation of 3o-belietsychimbine siteliaids. *Biochemistry* 27, 3448–3452.

Waadi, R., Schmidt, L.K., Lafsen, M., Hashimeto, K., Sook, R., and Kucha, J. (2006). Multicolar templecular fluorescence complementation reveals similar nears formation of alternative CGL/OPK complements in plants. *Plant J.* 59, 585–516.

Yerken, N., Wu, J.Y., NicCay, F., Galan, M.C., Chen, S., and O'Conser, S.F. (2006). Substrate specificity and distresousles/shilp of stictosistic glucosidata. a key mayne in measlarpane indole alkalaid biosynthesis. Siong. Vast. Chen. Lott. 18, 3005-3008.

Zenk, M.H. (1980). Enzymic synthesis of symplectic and related incide situlicits. J. Nat. Prot. 42, 433-451.

6 Chemistry & Biology 22, 1-8, March 19, 2015 @2015 The Authors

Annex 2



ARTICLE

Received 30 Dec 2015 | Accepted 31 May 2016 | Published 15 Jul 2016

DOI: 10.1038/novems12156 OPEN

Structural investigation of heteroyohimbine alkaloid synthesis reveals active site elements that control stereoselectivity

Anna Stavrinides¹*, Evangelos C. Tatsis^{1,*}, Lorenzo Caputi¹, Emilien Foureau², Clare E.M Stevenson¹, David M. Lawson¹, Vincent Courdavault² & Sarah E. O'Connor¹

Plants produce an enormous array of biologically active metabolites, often with stereochemical variations on the same molecular scaffold. These changes in stereochemistry dramatically impact biological activity. Notably, the stereoisomers of the heteroyohimbine alkaloids show diverse pharmacological activities. We reported a medium chain dehydrogenase/reductase (MDR) from Cothounitus roseus that catalyses formation of a heteroyohimbine isomer. Here we report the discovery of additional heteroyohimbine synthases (HYSs), one of which produces a miniture of diastereomers. The crystal structures for three HYSs have been solved, providing insight into the mechanism of reactivity and stansestelectivity, with mutation of one keep transforming product specificity. Localization and gene silencing experiments provide a basis for understanding the function of these enzymes in vive. This work sets the stage to explore how MDRs evolved to generate structural and biological diversity in specialized plant metabolism and opens the possibility for metabolic engineering of new compounds based on this scallold.

¹ The John Innes Centre, Department of Biological Chemistry, Norwich NR4 7UH, UK, ²Uhtweisib Français-Rabelais de Taura, BA2100 (Biomolécules et Biotechnologies Végétales), Tours 37200, França, * These authors contributed equally to this work. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to V.C. Jensalt vincent counterautigunit-fours (r) or to SECIC. (enail: seath-ocommol@jc.ac.uk).

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS [73016] DOI: 10.1028/iscammeD216 [versurate eccary/indurecommunications

.

eteroyohimbines are a prevalent subclass of the monoterpene indole alkaloids (Corynanthe type skeleton), having been isolated from many plant species, primarily from the Apocynaceae and Rubiaceae families¹. These alkaloids exhibit numerous biological activities aimalicine is an al-adronergic receptor antagonist^{2–3}, and mayumbine (19-epiajmalkine) is a ligard for the hemasfasciptic receptor (Fig. 1)². Oxidized beta-carboline heteroyohimbines also exhibit potent pharmacological activity: septentine has shown topoisontenase inhibition activity² and alstonine has been shown to interact with 5-H(12A/C receptors and shows promise as an anti-psychotic agent^{2–13}. In addition, heteroyohimbines are biosynthetic pracurours of many oxindule alkaloids, which also display a wide range of biological activities¹⁴. Although a total of 16 heteroyohimbine stereokomers are possible, only 8 are reported to be found in nature, at stereoselectivity is controlled in the biosynthesis of these alkaloids nervains unclear.

The medicinal plant Catharanthus ruseus produces three of these isomers, ajuralicine (raobasine), tetrahydroalstonine and 19epi-ajmalicine (mayombine) (Fig. 1)²¹. These heteroyohimbines, along with the majority of monoterpene indole alkaloids, derived from deglycosylated strictosidine (strictosidine are aglycone)²². The removal of a glucose unit from strictosidine by strictosidine glucosidase (SGD) forms a reactive dialdehyde intermaliate that can narrange to form numerous isomers The stabilization of these isomers by enzyme-catalyzed reduction is hypothesized to be the stepping stone for the extensive chemical diversity observed in the monotenpene indole alkaloids (Fig. 1)^{21,21}. We recently reported the first cloning of a biosynthetic gene encoding an enzyme that acts on strictosidine aglycone. This zine-dependent medium chain dehydrogenese reductase (MDR), named tetrahydroalstonine synthase (THAS), produces the heteroyohimbine tetrahydroalstonine (Fig. 1)24 Although these studies demonstrated that THAS is a key enzyme in heteroyohimbine biosynthesis, the mechanism by which this enzyme controls the stereoselectivity of the reduction remained unknown. Moreover, it is important to note that strictosidine aglycone serves as the precursor for many alkaloid scaffolds, and therefore represents a central branch point in the monoterpene indole alkaloid biosynthetic pathway. Therefore, we set out to identify additional heteroyohimbine synthases (HYSs) with different stereochemical product profiles that would more clearly define how structural diversity, in this case the formation of different stenarisomers, is controlled in this system.

In this study, we assayed 14 MDR homologues identified from the C. rescue transcriptome^{25,28} that have homology to THAS (Cr_024553). This screen revealed three additional enzymes with THAS activity (Cr_010113, Cr_021691, Cr_032585a), and, importantly, an enzyme that produced a mixture of heteroophimbline disateromers (Cr_032583b). Crystal structures of THAS (here referred to as THAS1), a second representative THAS (Cr_021691, THAS2) and the structure of the premisences homologue (Cr_032583b, HYS) were solved and metants revealed key residues that control the structure of the premisences homologue (Cr_032583b, HYS) were solved and metants revealed key residues that control the structure of the preduct revealed in the previous enzyme, SCD. These discoveries provide insight into the mechanism and evolution of a crucial branch point in a specialized metabolic pathway with both pharmacological and evolutionary importance.

Results

Discovery of HYSs. Guided by our initial discovery of THAS1 (nef. 24) we identified candidates from the MDR protein family in

2

the C. reseas transcriptome^{25,36} based on amino acid similarity to this enzyme (Supplementary Table 1). Each of these candidates was doned from C rosews cDNA and expressed in Escherichia coll, with the exception of Cr 017994, which could not be expressed and was not considered further. The remaining candidates were assayed with the substrate strictosidine aglycone, and product formation was munitored by liquid diromatography mass spectrometry (LC-MS). Of these, four (Cr_010119, Cr_021691, Cr_0325834, Cr_032583b) reduced strictosidine advcone to a product corresponding to one of the heteroyohimbines (Fig. 2. Supplementary Fig. 1). The products of the enzymatic reactions were identified based on LC-MS data and comparison to authentic standards (Supplementary Fig. 2). Enzymes that failed to produce a heteroyohimbine product were not studied further (Supplementary Fig. I). Three of the enzymes (Cr_021691, THAS2, Cr_010119, THAS3, Cr_032583a, THAS() produced tetrahydroalstonine in ~85% yield, with small amounts of 19-epi-ajmalicine (mayumhine) (<15%) also observed in these reactions, similar to the previously reported THASI. Notably, one enzyme (Cr_032583b, HYS) produced a dramatically different product profile consisting of a mixture of ajmalicine/tetrahydroalstonine/mayumbine (55:27:15, at pH 6) (Fig. 2). The discovery of this enzyme, HYS, now provides a scular basis to understand the generation of stereochemical diversity in this alkaloid family.

Crystallography of three HYSs. To understand the mechanism of stereochemical control at this crucial biosynthetic branch poduce predominantly tetrahydroalstonine, were both crystallized, since their amino acid sequence identity is relatively low (50%) and the predicted active sites have numerous differences (Fig. 3). HYS, which has a distinctly different product profile, was also crystallized to explore the structural basis behind this distinct stereochemical outcome. Structures (Supplementary Table 3) were obtained for THASI and THAS2 with NADP⁺ bound (THAS1, 105Å resolution (Fig. 4a): Supplementary Fig. 3–5): THAS2, 210Å resolution (Fig. 4a): Supplementary Fig. 3–5): THAS2, 205Å resolution (Fig. 4c), while HYS could only be crystallized in the apo form (2.25Å resolution, Fig. 4c).

Structural features of HYS active sites. The five HYS structures described have are similar to sinopyl alcohol dehydrogenase (SAD; PDB accession codes HYQX and HYQD) and the SAD homelogue cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD; PDB accession codes 2CF5 and 2CF6)^{37–39}, which reduce the aldehyde noiety of lignin precursors. Indeed, pairwise superpositions of subunits from these structures gave RMSD values of <2A(Supplementary Table 4). The biological unit is an elongated homedimer, with each subunit divided into a substrate and outfactor-binding domain; the latter also being responsible for forming the dimer interface (Supplementary Fig. 3). The overall structure of THASI, with active site, cofactor and loops highlighted, is shown in Supplementary Fig. 3.

The active site cavities of the HYSs are framed by helix $\alpha 3$, the catalytic zine coordination sphere, and loops 1 and 2, with the NADI(H) co-substrate binding at the base of the active site (Figs 3 and 4a,bd, . Supplementary Fig. 4). Loop 2, which is positioned above the active site, is highly variable in length and sequence (Figs 3 and 6d). In both THAS1 and THAS2, a network of amino acids holds NADP(⁺) in place. Most notably, Glu79 of THAS1 archors NADP(H) through a bidentate interaction with both ritors hplmosphere with Hief?) playing a comparable role in SAD, although here the interaction is with the 3' OH only (Fig. 4b).

NTURS, COMMUNICATIONS [7/0716 | DOI: 10.1038/ncomm4016 | www.vatare.com/instarecommanications



Figure 1 | Heterspokinishine alkaloid biosynthesis. Heteroyohimbines with 3(3) stereochemistry derive from strictosidine aglycone. The three diastoreomers found in Cotherenthus result, are highlighted with red arrows. Alkaloids derived from heteroyohimbines are also shown.

Glu39 is conserved in HYS, but an aspartate residue (1HAS3 and THAS2) or a tyrosine residue (THAS4) serves this role in other homologues. MDHs usually contain two zinc iors³⁰, a distal 'structural' zinc ion, which in this case is coordinated by four cysteine residues, and a proximal 'catalytic' zinc ion near the active site, which is coordinated by two cysteines, one histidine and one glutamate residue (Figs 3 and 4b)^{27,31}. The proximal zinc of

'IHASI is ~2Å further away from the cofactor relative to SAD and thus may play no direct role in catalysis (Supplementary Fig. 4). However, it may have a function in maintaining the tertiary structure since three of the liganding residues are in the substratebinding domain and the fourth is in the cofactor-binding domain. SAD/CAD utilize an active site serine that protonates the allocide that results from reduction of the aldehyde substrate^{27,29}; this

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS | /1216 [D0I: 10.1038/iconvest216] www.nature.com/insturecommunications

ARTICLE



Figure 2 | UC-MS analysis of active MDR candidates against strictosidine aglytoma. Cr033062 exhibited only trace activity. See Supplementary Fig. 1 for chronotograms of assays with inactive enzymes and regative

for chromatograms of assays with inactive enzymes and negative controls.

serine is replaced with a tyrosine residue in THAS1 (Tyr56) and HYS (Tyr53) (Fig. 3). In THAS2, this tyrosine on helix 12 is replaced with a tryptophan residue, but a tyrosine at position 120 points into the active site. Interestingly, a non-proline despeptide is present in the THAS1-NADP⁺⁺ and HYS apo structures (Supplementary Fig. 5). Closer inspection of this region in THAS1 shows that when this bend is in the *traves* conformation, the side chain of Aap310 is projected into the cofactor-binding site such that it would prevent NADPH binding.

Strictosidine aglycone binding. Despite extensive efforts, both product and substrate failed to co-crystallize with any of the enzymes. Therefore, molecular docking was used to visualize the position of strictosidine aglycone in THASI (Fig. 4b). To ensure that the correct substrate tuatomer was used for docking, we identified the most predominant strictosidine aglycone isomer that forms in solution. Although product precipitation prevented monitoring the SGD reaction *in situ* under aqueous conditions (Methods), ¹H.¹⁵N-HMBC NMR showed that an enamine species was the predominant product in aqueous methanolic solution (Supplementary Fig. 6). This is consistent with literature reports that cathenamine is the major product of SGD, and is the proposed precursor of ajmalicine and tetrahydroalstonine (Fig. 1)^{21,23}. In silico docking with 'IMASI positions cathenamine between the nicotinamide of the NADP¹ and Tyr56, which is located on helix n2 (Fig. fb). THASI loop 1 contains Phe65 that also projects into the active site and may interact with the aromatic cathenamine substrate.

Mechanism of reduction and heteroyohimbine formation. In totrahydroalstonine biosynthesis, we hypothesize that cathenamine tantomerizes to the iminium form by protonation at C20, followed by addition of the hydride at C21. Protonation at C20 must occur from the bottom face to yield the S stereochemistry observed at this position (Fig. 5a). While there does not appear to be an appropriately positioned active site residue to perform this role, the crystal structures of these enzymes reveal the presence of numerous water molecules in the active site that could potentially protonate this carbon (Fig. 4a). ¹H, ¹⁵N-HMBC measurements of strictosidine aglycone at different pH values show formation of the iminium species in solution when the pH was reduced to ~3.5, indicating that this tautomer can readily form in the presence of an acidic moiety (Supplementary Fig. 6).

To elucidate the stereo and regiostectivity of reduction by NADPH, we isolated tetrahydroalstonine from reactions using THAS1 and pro-R-NAIDPD. Analysis by ³H-NMR showed that tetrahydroalstonine is labelled with deuterium in the pro-R position at C21, consistent with previously reported experiments performed in crude cell extracts (Fig. 6a)²². It is possible that THAS1 could reduce the enamine directly, in which case hydride addition would occur at C21, followed by protonstion at C20 by a water molecule as described above. The presence of may antitine' 19-epi-ajmalicine in some of the enzymatic reactions suggests that small amounts of cathemanine can open and form 19-epi-cathemanine, either in solution or in the active site.

In the case of HYS, which produces both ajmalicine (R C20) and tetrahydroalstonine (S C30), protonation must also occur from the opposite face to yield R stereschemistry at C20 (Fig. 5b), Products of HYS generated with pro-R-NADPD were also isolated and analysed by ¹H-NMR, and, as for tetrahydroalatenine from 'THASI in each case showed deuterium labelling in the pro-R position at C21 (Fig. 6a–c). Therefore, the stereochemical course of hydride addition is not altered in MYS compared with THASI.

The major difference between HYS and THAS1/THAS2 appears to be the extended loop over the HYS active site (D125-GHFGINN-F132 in HYS and D128-SN-Y131 in THAS1, loop 2 in Fig. 3). The histidine residue in HYS loop 2 (His127) appears to be positioned appropriately to provide an alternative proton source for the opposite ('top') face of the substrate, which could explain the appearance of ajmilicine in the product profile of HYS. Reactions with THAS1 and HYS performed at different pEI conditions (5-8) revealed that while changes in pEI did not substantially impact the product profile of THAS1, HYS produced increased amounts of ajmilicine relative to tetrahydroalstonine at pH 6 compared with higher pH values (Supplementary Fig. 7). The increased level of ajmilicine in HYS at lower pH values is consistent with the pKa value of the

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS | /1216 (DOI: 10.1038/momms1216 | www.sature.com/naturecommunications





Figure 3 | Sequence alignment of Catherenthus reason HYS onzymes and Papaks transitions SAD Numbering corresponds to HYS. Identical and similar amino acids are highlighted in real and yellow, respectively. Secondary structure elements of the HYS apo crystal structure are displayed. THAS1+ and HYSactive site amino acids (YS6/S3 and ES9/S6) are indicated by blue dets, and THAS2 active site amino acids (Y120 and D49) are indicated by green dots. Ligands for catalytic and structural zinc ions are highlighted by black and grey dots, respectively. The nuclear localization signal of (THAS1 and HYS) and loops 1 and 2, respectively, are indicated in red. A non-proline ab-peptide bond that is observed in THAS1 holo, in one subunit of THAS1 apo (Supplementary Fig. 5), in HYS apo, and not at all in THAS2 is indicated with an orange dot. The substrate-binding domain and the cofactor-binding domain are indicated by black and puple bors, respectively.

histidine side chain and supports the role of this histidine in a ajmalicine biosynthesis, though attributing pH dependence to specific residues must be approached with caution³⁵.

Switching stereoselectivity of HYSs. Since the major sequence and structural difference between HYS and THASI is the extended loop over the HYS active site, loop 2 (Fig. 3), we swapped these loop regions in THAS1 and HYS to determine whether the stereochemical product profile could be switched (Fig. 7a). Loop 1, which is near the active site, was also swapped (Fig. 7a). While the THAS1 mutant containing the swaps displayed reduced activity rather than an altered product profile (Fig. 7c), the HYS mutant containing the shorter THASI loop 2 resulted in a product profile similar to that of THASI (Fig. 7b, Supplementary Fig. 8). Since Mis127 is the only ionizable residue in this loop, we hypothesized that this residue protonates C20, as discussed above. Therefore, we mutated this histidine to alanine asparagine in HYS. Both of these mutants gave the same THAS-like profile, suggesting that His127 is required for producing the ajmalicine (R C20) stereochemistry (Supplementary Fig. 9). Mutation of other conserved ionizable residues in the THASI active site (Tyr56, Ser102 and Thr166) did not result in substantial changes in the distribution of products (Supplementary Table 6. Supplementary Figs 10 and 11). Muta-tions to Glu59, which anchors the NADPH cofactor, resulted in a slight increase in product promiscuity (Supplementary Hg. 11), perhaps by causing a shift in the cofactor position. The reactivity of the substrate²⁴ and precipitation at high concentrations during the assay makes obtaining accurate kinetic constants challenging²⁴, so end-point assays were used to assess

stereoselectivity and relative activity of the mutant enzymes (Supplementary Table 6). However, the k_{cor} (observed) values could be measured for THAS1 (1.518 \pm 0.059 s^{-1}), THAS2 (0.033 \pm 0.001 s^{-1}), THAS3 (0.102 \pm 0.004 s^{-1}), THAS4 (0.044 \pm 0.066 s^{-1}), HYS (0.083 \pm 0.005 s^{-1}), HYS [0.061 \pm 0.005 s^{-1}), HYS (0.061 \pm 0.005 s^{-1}), THAS1 E59A (0.061 \pm 0.005 s^{-1}).

In plants localization of HYSs. Plants use spatial organization on the organ, tissue and intracellular levels to control product distribution (Supplementary Fig. 12). At the subcellular level, we previously showed that THASI has an unusual nuclear localization pattern²⁴, which is also where SGD, the enzyme that synthesizes strictosidine aglycone, is localized²⁴. Physical interactions using Bimolecular Fluorescence Complementation (BiPC) were observed between these two enzymes²⁴. THAS2 and HYS localization were similarly investigated by expressing vellow fluorescent protein (YFP) fusions in *C. rourus* cells. Microscopy of transiently transformed cells revealed that THAS2-YFP (Fig. 8a) was located in both the cytosol and the nucleus while HYS-YFP (Fig. 8e), similar to THAS1, displayed a preferential nuclear focalization (Pig. 8 and Supplementary Hg. 13). As reported for THAS1, this localization relies on the presence of a class V nuclear localization sequence in HYS (213-KKR-218) that is absent from THAS2 (Fig. 3). BiPC assays revealed that both THAS2 and HYS are capable of self-interactions (Supplementary Fig. 14).

BiFC assays were used to determine whether THAS2 and HYS also interact with SGD (Fig. 9). C-terminal split-YFP fragment fusions of both enzymes (THAS2-YFPC and HYS-YFPC) were

NATURE COMPUNICATIONS | 71216 | DOI: 10.1038/incommist216 | www.nature.com/insturecommunications



Figure 4 | Crystal structures of heterosyshimbine synthases THAS1, THAS2 and HYS. (a) Sample of automatically derived experimentally phased electron density from THAS1 (at 1.12 A resolution) superimposed on the final model showing the active site region with the NADP⁻¹ collactor (green carbona) together with neighbouring residues (magnetia carborn) and water molecules (umail ned spheres). (b) THAS1 docked with carbornarrise (pale blue carborna) with the protein shown in both carborn (loft) and space filling (right) modes. The NADP⁺¹ collactor is shown with green carborna; loop 1 is in orange and loop 2 is in eyan. Zinc ions are displayed as magnets spheres. The active site is largely certained within a single subanit (magnetia subace), although the mouth of the channel leading to the active site is partially bounded by the second subarit of the biological dimer (grey surface) (c) Superposition of the age structures of THAS1 (gold), THAS2 (pink) and HYS (blue). (d) Superposition of the hole (NADP⁺¹ containing) structures of THAS1 (gold) and THAS2 (pink), with the coffactor of THAS1 (shown as van der Waals spheres for emphasis. For e and e, the structures were superposed onto the THAS1 structure, based on the upper subanit alone; only part of the lower subarit of the THAS1 structure is shown in grey for reference (see Supplementary Figs. 3 for images of the half THAS1 (dimer). The insets emphasize the differing lengths of loop 2 between the various structures; the central portion of licep 2 in app. THAS2 van disordered.

co-transformed with SGD that was fused to a N-terminal split-YFP fragment (YFPN-SGD). The formation of a nuclear BFC complex suggests that both of these enzymes interact with SGD in the nucleus (Fig. 9a–d). Interestingly, the emitted fluorescent signal exhibited a punctated, tickle-shaped aspect as proviously observed for the 'IHASU/SGD interaction (Fig. 9a,f) and for SGD localization²⁴. In contrast, no interactions were detected when the BiFC assay was conducted with a downstream enzyme from this biosynthetic puthway, 16-hydroxytabersonine 16-Omethyltransferase (16OMT), that is not expected to interact with SGD (Fig. 9g,h).

Double BiPC assays were performed to combine the study of THAS2 and HTS interactions, as well as their interactions with SGD. After transformation into plant cells (16%), we noted the formation of a dual fluorescent signal for THAS2, both in the cytosol and as punctates in the nucleus that may correspond to the superposition of the signal observed for TMAS2 selfinteractions and THAS2-SGD interaction (Fig. 914) as confirmed by multicolour BiPC (mBIPC) assays (Supplementary Fig. 15). Increased time of expression (36 h) progressively resulted in the disappearance of the cytosolic signal, and it is intriguing to speculate that this implies a recruitment of THAS2 by SGD (Fig. 94,r). A similar phenomenon was observed for HYS and THAS1 (Fig. 9k-n-s-v- Supplementary Fig. 15). While selfinteractions of 160MT were detected, no nuclear signal was

6

recovered, confirming the specificity of THAS1-, THAS2-, HYS-SGD interactions (Fig. 90,p).

In planta silencing of HYSs. The expression levels of the HYS transcripts do not suggest whether a specific HYS is the most biologically relevant (Supplementary Fig. 12). To establish whether any of these enzymes synthesize the expected metabolic product in planta the genes encoding active HYSs were silenced. For many medicinal plants, including *C. roseus*, virus-induced gene silencing (VIGS) is the only established method to silence genes in the whole plant. In *C. roseus*, the effect of VIGS is temporally and spatially limited to the first two leaves that emerge immediately after infection³⁵. Each of the genes encoding a biochemically active enzyme (1HAS1, THAS2, THAS3, THAS4 and HYS) was subjected to VIGS in *C. roseus* seedlings and the effect on alkaloid production was monitored by MS. Since HYS and THAS4 were too similar to silence separately, one common gene fragment was used for silencing both genes simultaneously. Successful silencing of the genes was confirmed by quantitative reverse transcription–PCR (qRT–PCR) (Supplementary Fig. 16). Aside from a small degree of cross-silencing between THAS2 and THAS3 (12%), all of the target genes were silenced selectively, as measured by qRT–PCR (Supplementary Fig. 16).

ATURE COMMUNICATIONS [/1216 [DOI: 10.1038/weenins1216] www.nature.com/haturecommunications



Figure 5 | Mechanistic hypothesis for hoteropolylimbine syntheses. (a) Proposed mechanism for formation of the totrahydroalstanine (5 C20) diastereamer. (b) Proposed mechanism of formation of the synalicine (R C20) diastereamer that is observed in MYS, which contains a histidine residue near the active site.

Due to the inherent reactivity of the HYS substrate (strictosidine aglycone), changes in the level of this compound in planta are difficult to accurately detect. Instead, the effect of silencing must be established by quantitatively measuring decreases in heteroyohimbine levels. Previously for THASI, we measured the combined peak for heteroryohimbines, since the diastereomers were difficult to resolve on a reverse phase LC column under the reported conditions²⁴. However, after substantial optimization (see Methods), an LC-MS method was developed to separate ajmalicine and tetrahydroalstonine in crude leaf extracts (19-epi-ajamlicine/mayumbine is not observed in C. roscus leaves, Supplementary Fig. 17). Ajmalicine and particularly tetrahydroalstonine are observed in low levels even in empty vector control samples compared with the major leaf monoterpene indole alkaloids vindoline and catharanthine, and in addition, heteroyohimbine composition varied substantially among individual leaves. Therefore, accurate measurement of decreases in ajmalicine and tetrahydroalstonine levels is challenging. There was no evidence for a decrease of aimalicine or tetrahydroalstonine when TWAS2 and TWAS3 were silenced. However, for HJYS, there was a statistically significant decrease (1-test 0.0275) in ajmalicine, and no change in tetrahydroalstonine levels. Surprisingly, a statistically significant decrease in ajmalicine, as well as tetrahydroalstonine (r-test 0.0277 and 0.0276, respectively) was also noted for THASI (Supplementary Fig. 16). While the results are statistically significant, the leaf-to-leaf variability, the low level of endogenous production, and the catalytic redundancy of these

enzymes make it difficult to draw firm conclusions from these VIGS data. In addition, regulatory factors that impact the ratio of ajradicine and tetrahydroalstonine, such as transport inechanisms and/or further derivatization to other products, cannot be ruled out. Additional silencing systems, in different tissues, will be required to more firmly establish the physiological function of these enzymes. Nevertheless, we can state that silencing of HYS and THAS1 impacts alkaloid production in C. rosan leaves.

Discussion

Mere we report several medium chain dehydrogenases/ reductases that produce the heteroyohimbine stereoisomers ajmalicine and/or ietrahydreaistonine, thereby providing a framework to understand the enzymatic control over stereosclectivity in this metabolic pathway. It is notable that we have identified four enzymes that generate tetrahydroalstonine, yet ajmalicine is the more abundant isomer *in plantia* (Supplementary Fig. 17). Expression profile data of the genes identified in this study suggest that HYS, which produces ajmalicine, is not expressed at higher levels than the other synthases (Supplementary Fig. 12). There may be additional ajmalicine synthases that are not related to the MDR superformly homologues identified in this study. Alternatively, tetrahydroalstonine could be shuttled into another pathway or degraded, thereby resulting in the observed lower levels that

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS | /12/16 | DOI: 10.1038/iconvest/216 | www.nature.com/isdurecommunications

ARTICLE



Figure 6 | Deuterium labelling of THAS1 and HYS products using pro-R NADPD. Comparison of selected regions of "H-NMR spectra of labelled (a) totrahydroalstonine. (b) ajmalicine. (c) mayumbine. The spectra indicate that C21 is labelled with deuterium in the pro-R position.

Importantly, the pharmacological activity of heteroyohimbines is impacted by the stereochemistry. Ajmalicine has recently been used in combination with almitrine in post-stroke treatments,

8

though the side effects caused by almitrine resulted in widespread withdrawal of the drug in 2013 (ref. 4). While tetrahydroalstonine has no reported pharmacological function, its oxidized product, alstonine (Fig. 1), has recently been shown to act by a unique asconnie (rig. 1), has recently overlap shown or all of a ondoe mechanism for modulating dopamine uptake and shows potential as an anti-psychotic drug¹³. The heterosyohimbines have excellent promise as a scaffold for pharmacological activity. The discovery of the HYSs, along with recently developed heterologous production platforms for monoterpene indole alkaloids³⁶, now allows the possibility of generating these alkaloids and unnatural derivatives through metabolic engineering/synthetic biology strategies.

The crystal structures of three HYSs reveal the potential of biosynthetic machinery to generate stereochemical variation. Hexible loop regions can be the key to unlocking chemical Prenice usop regions can be the key to unlocking chemical divensity: as we have demonstrated here, mutating the extended loop over the HYS active site (loop 2 in Fig. 3) impacts stereochemical outcome. Notably, the MDRs that we have identified demonstrate high variability at this region (Fig. 3). Phylogenetic analysis (Supplementary Fig. 18) suggests that these HYSs, which appear to have originated from a common ancestor, may have undergone neo-functionalization through mutation in this loop region. This loop could potentially be harnessed in protein engineering efforts to generate novel catalytic activity.

While the in plaute function of heteroyohimbines is unknown, deglycosylated strictosidine is toxic and may act as a defense compound³⁴, similar to the defense roles of the aglycones of the iridoids from which stictosidine is derived^{37,38}. SGID is expressed in most tissues (Supplementary Fig. 12), suggesting that the plant must have evolved mechanisms to control the levels of the toxic strictosidine aglycone. In directed overflow metabolism, excess reactive intermediates are converted into non-reactive byproducts¹⁹. It is intriguing to speculate that monoterpene indole alkaloid biosynthesis may have initially arism as a mechanism for handling overflow of strictosidine aglycone. The HYSs perform a single, chemically straightforward reduction reaction that immediately neutralizes the reactivity of strictosidine aglycone/cathenamine. The co-localization and interaction of THAS1, THAS2 and HYS with SGD reinforces the hypothesis of an evolutionary mechanism deployed by strictosidine-accumulating plants to manage the reactivity of the strictsdate adjycone. It also raises the question of a possible competition between HVSs for recruitment by SGD when distinct enzymes are co-expressed in the same tissue/cells. Whether the heteroyohimbines serve an active biological function in the plant, or whother they are simply the end product of directed overflow metabolism, or both, remains to be investigated. Regardless, it is clear that MDRs play an important role in the generation of a wide variety of chemical structures. Duplication of the evolutionary dehydrogenase ancestor may have given rise to multiple MYSs, along with MDRs with other biosynthetic activities, such as tabersonine-3-reductase that is involved in the biosynthesis of the anti-cancer alkaloid vinblastine (Supplementary Fig. 18)⁴⁰.

Methods

Methods Selection and cloning of candidate MDFs. The trackottide and the protein sequences of TEMSI were subjected to a RLAST search against the C search contract model and the MDR sequences with the high-tracking learning and active the and which showed near-anging the expression levels in young and mature learns were selected as conductes for cloning and expression levels in young and mature shows were selected as conductes for cloning and expression. The growth sequence of SVD was flucted against the same diminus and MDHs were also selected based on basis active interaction was contracted based. on their active site similarity to that of SAD. The genes coding the candidate MDBs were amplified from C, reverse leaf cDNA and deared into the L coll expression, vector pOPINF using the In-Fasion closing kit (Clostech Takara)¹¹ by using primers designed based on the transcript sequences (Supplementary Table 1).

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS (/1216 (DOI: 10.1038/womew1216) www.sature.com/vaturecomm







Figure 0 | THA52 displays nucleocytosolic localization while HYS is preferentially targeted to the nucleus. C. rosess cells were transiently co-transformed with plasmide expressing either THA52-YFF (a), HYS-YFF (e) or YFP (i) and the plasmid encoding the nucleur-CFP marker(b,tj). Co-localization of the fluorescence signals appears in yellow when merging the two individual (green/red) false colour images (c.g.k). Cell morphology is observed with differential interference contrast (DIC) (d,b)). Scale bars, 10 µm.

Site-directed mutagenesis of THAS1 and HYS. THAS1 maturits were generated by overlap estimation PCR. Mintly, the colum to be mutated was selected and two primers, one reserve and one forward (supplementary Table 1), here designed to courtup and introduce the mutation. A first PCR was causied out using the sensers mutati primer and the *S*-forward geno-specific primer (Supplementary Table 1), has generating the *S*-ball of the gene carrying the motation. In guardid, the *S*-ball of the manual gene was generated by PCR using the forward matant primer and the *S*-reverse gene-specific primer (Supplementary Table 4). PCR products were gene specific and used for the second PCR words products on for generation of the fulllength matated gene, where the *B*-and *S*-balves of the mutated genes were mixed in a PCR section in exploration around a column gene fragment) and free cycles of PCR were causied out without including primers. After the 5-sectup PCR cycles, the forward and exercise gene-specific primer twice olded to the mix and free cycles of pONDM suppression were generated into competent *K*-oN before strain cells (Covited) Taband, HYS point matatation competent *K*-oN before strain cells (Covited) Taband, HYS point matatation were estimated as gene forgenerit (Integrated 10% A Tachonologies, fielgiare) with the H127 or H128 codes as matated

(H122A CAT->-GCA; H127N CAT->-AAC; F128A TTT->-GCT; F128Y TTT->-TACI and the pOPINU overhangs included at the F and F extremities. The THAS1 and HYS dashed long matiants some generated by first making their loop 1 mattant genes and then inserting the second loop 2 weap following the same procedure described above. Mutant constructioners sequenced to verify the material grow sequence and correct insertions.

Enzyme activity assays. All candidate ensymes and matarix were expressed in Solut(12) (1963) E. osh cells (Gerlantis) grown in 2 × VT mechans. Protein production was induced by addition of 0.2 mbi (1973) and the collumn were duken at 11 °C for (6). Cells were collected by contributions. Josed by sociation in Buller A (50 mM Tris-10.2 pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM No.2, 5% s/v glycerol, 30 mbi Induced; supplemented with KDTA-free protease inflation (Inche Diagnostics) and 0.2 mg m⁻¹ - hysteryme. Soluble protection were particular of N-NTA agross (Qiagn) and shared with Hoffer 8 (50 mM Tris-FCI pH 8, 50 mM glycine, 500 mM No.2, 5% s/v glycerol, 500 mM inidazold). Elector were analyzed

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS [712116 [DOI: 10.1038/isoonvest216] view.nature.com/isdurecommunications



Figure 9 | THAS2 and HYS interact with SGD in the nucleus. THAS2/SGD (a,i,q) and HYS/SGD (c,k,s) interactions were analysed by BIFC in C. roses cells transiently transformed by distinct combinations of plasmids encoding fusions with the two split YFP fragments, as indicated on each fluorescence picture. THAS(VSGD (a.m.u) and I6OMT/SGD (ga.w) interactions were studied to evaluate the specificity of THAS2/SGD and HV5/SGD interactions. Single BFC assays showing interactions with SGD (upper row) and double BFC assays highlighting both interactions with SGD and THAS2, HYS, THAS1, 160MT solf-interactions were conducted and observed 16.h (middle rew) and 36.h (lower rew) post-transformation. Cell morphology is observed with differential interference contrast (DIC) (bd.fhjl.n.p.ct.e.s). Scale hars, 10 µm.

by SDS-PAGE to verify the purity and the molecular weight of the parified proteins. All proteins were dialysed in Buffer C (30 mM phosphare pH 7.6, 100 mM NaCl) and concentrated. Protein concentration was measured with Bradford reagent (Sigma-Aldrich) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Parified proteins were divided in 20 µl aliquets, fast-frames in liquid nitrogen and stored at - 20 °C. Candidate MDR enzymes and the selected matants were severed for activity.

apinat deglecosplated strictosidar. The solution was proceeded by deglecosplating strictosidare (300 µM) by the addition of parillol SGD in the presence of 50 mM photphate buller (pU 6.5) at room temperature for 10 min. The reactions were started by the addition of MDB erayme (1µ80) and NADPH (3mM). Calibine (90µ80) was used as internal standard. All nuclions were performed in triplicate. Aliquots of the relation minitures (20µ8) were sampled 1 and 20 min after addition of MDB, enzyme. The reactions were stopped by the addition of 10 µl of 100% MaGM. Samples were dilated 16 in mobile phase $(H_2O + 0.16$ formic acid) and centrifuged for 10 min at 4.000g before UPLC-MS injection (1 µl). The activity of MDH enzymes and matarativity esta reasonable by UPLC-MS. Enzymes exhibited a loss

of activity after one freeze thaw cycle. The initial velocity was determined for the wild-type margines that displayed HTS activity (THAS)1 4 and HTS), as well as for the maturat THAS1 TSGS, E20A, and HTS heap 2 sears. Reactions were monitored at 340 nm at reson temperature using a (Cary 50 Ba, Varian) spectrophotometer. Strictonidate (30 µ30) was incubated with partied SCD in 50 mill phosphate baffer (pH 7.0) for -- 30 min a 30 °C, NADPH (100 µ30) was added, mixed by pipeting and the obserbance at 30 °C, DALUP11 (100 µD1) was added, mixed by pipeting and the abserbance at 340 nm was monitored until stabilized (minimum of 2 min). A predetermined amount of crayne [10–400 nM] was then added, mixed and the concises was received for a minimum of 5 min at 340 nm. The resulting slope was calculated during the linear reaction maps, usually 0–615 after addition of the enzyme. The reactions were replicated for the state due initial velocity was calculated for each replicate after accounting for the background. The concentration of substrate (30 µM) attributed into a determined to be asturating for all wild-type enzymes reading the combines. under these conditions

Protein organization. Proteins for crystallization were particled from 21 exhausts in 2 × YT reviluen. Protein supremion was induced by addition of IPTG and the calaxee were grown for 16 h at 18 °C. Calls were calaxed by contribution and hyed by sociation in 30 cml Buffer A supplemented with EDTA-free potensie inhibitor and 30 mg of Lywayne. Lynates were clarified by centrifugation at 17,000g for 20 min. Two-dimensional automated particulation was performed on an AKTA-speed particle Risk Healthcard. The MAGC integrates are preferring to min. The Data and the set of the start of the start of the speed of the start start with Buffer B and directs interact on an of therein occurs and fibrated start of the Buffer B and directs in the start of the start the similar with control of the second statement of the second state with Meller B and directly injected on a gel Bursten of automic spatilisated with Barlier D (20 erold HEFFS, 150 erold Nick), pH 2.3). Fractions were collected and concentrated in a 10 kHz membrane filter—Millipore filter (blenck Millipore). Perification of HTS required the addition of 1 mM DTT to all perification buffer and display in Barlier D containing 0.5 mM article-carboxyethyl/phosphine (TCEP) before mystallization and storage.

10

Crystallization screme were conducted by sitting-drop rupour diffusion in 402.96-well crystallization plates (Switsei) with a mirrors of 0.3 pl well solution from the PEGs (Giagen). PACT (Giagen) and ICSG (Molecular Dimensional) suites and 0.3 µl protein solution. Protein concentrations were adjusted to 7–10 mg ml ⁻¹ while NADP⁺¹ (Signa-Aldrich) was added to a final concentration of 1 mAi for co-crystallization studies. Solutions were dispensed either by an OryaNano or an

Oryali robot (Douglas Instruments). THASI apo crystale were obtained from His-tag cleaved THASI (JC proteos in a solution containing 0.1 M MES, pH 4.5, 1956 wire PEG 2000, THASI-NADP crystals were obtained from a solution containing 0.2 M potantium/indiant tartrate with 20% w/v PEG 3058. YLIAS2 crystals (v0th and v0thaut NAD2¹¹) were obtained from a condition containing 0.2 M lithium chlorabe and 20% w/v PBG 3350. IPVS crystale were obtained after consold of the Hia₂-tag (using 3C protone) in 0.1 N/ MAC bottler, pH 5 and 15% w/v PBG 3350. All crystals were crypoprotected by sociliting in crystallineities adultien containing 25% s/v ethylene glycol before flash-cooling in liquid nitrogen.

Data collection and structure determination. X-mp data sets were recorded on one of three boundaries at the Diamond Light Source (Dalordshire, UK) (2FI3, 184; 2FI3, 105, 3FH3 184-1; 2FH3; 104-1; 2FH3; 104-1; at wordingths of 0.0000-0.070; A (2FI3, 0.090 A; 2FI3, 0.070; A; 2FH3, 10.070; A (2FI3, 0.070); A (2FI3, 0.370) at the a Pilatus 6M or 226 distribution (Deetric) with the crystals maintained at 100 K by a Cryviet cryvounder (Oxford Instruments), Diffraction data were integrat using X118⁴² and scaled and menged using X1341758⁵¹ vto the X142 expert system⁴⁴; data collection statistics are summarised in Supplementary Table 5 system ") and contention statistics are summarized in Supporterinary Table 3. Initially the TEASS -ANDPP" data set was submarized and spectra of the beamlase by fast dp⁴⁰ to 1.12 Å resolution and a structure solution was automatically obtained by single suscelength amenators dispersion phasing using the SHOLA satisf⁴⁰ via the fast_ep pipeline (Winter, manuscript in preparation). Despite being collected at a surviveringth termeduat remede from the sine X X-ray absorption edge Otherwised is waitering the 1.344 År, the automations signal was sufficient for fast, as to be the site of the site of the subscription of the site of locate four airs sites and calculate a very data experimentally phased electron density map (Fig. 4a). This was available to view at the beamlase in the BFyB database¹⁷ via the SynthWeb interface¹⁰ within a few minates of complexing the data collector. The map was of sufficient quality to emble 90% of the the data collection: The map was of sufficient quality to enable 94% of the residues expected for a THAS1 homodimer to be astronautically fitted using BUCCANEER¹⁰. The model was finalized by manual sebudding in COOT²⁰ and restrained refreement using anisotropic thermal guaraneters in REPMAC3 (sef. 51) against the same data set reprocessed to a resolution of 1.05 Å as described above Complementary Table 35, and constant of 97% of the reproduct residues, with one NAD9 $^+$ molecule and two size ions per solumit. All the remaining structures were solved by molecular replacement using PEASER²⁰ To such case, the asymmetric order momentum to the bids wind diverse and the surfacements molecular re-solved by molecular replacement. solved by intercaint replacement using PERSARC¹¹ In each case, the asymmetric unit corresponded to the biological diverse rand the predictinary models were obtained by satisfying for two copies of a recomment template. For THAS1 apo, THAS2 NADP¹¹ and HYS spo. a THAS1-NADP¹¹ provide-only inconcomer model was used as the basis for the template, although in the latter two cases a homology model of the target structure was generated from the TEAS1 template using, the PhyricI server²³ (http://www.shg.hio.ic.ac.uk/~phyrreI) before ramming, THASER.

MATURE COMMUNICATIONS | /1216 [DOI: 10.1038/ncomms1216] www.sature.com/naturecommunications

For solving the TEIAS2 upo structure, a TEIAS2 NADO⁺ monomer was used as the bengiste, in contrast to THAST-NADP¹¹, farse four 54 octors were refared in REMACD with hotopic formal purareters and TLS group definitions obtained from the TLS-MD server¹⁴. Model generation were validated with the MCDPRORTP²⁰ and before solvationian to the TDB. The statistics of the final sectors of the transmission to the TDB. The statistics of the final sectors. models are summarized in Supplementary Tible 3. Additional statistics for $R_{\rm phi}$ 5715, 0.020 (0.517); 5715, 0.036 (0.680); 51181, 0.941 (0.349); 57182, 0.033 (0.439); SHSS, BARS (1998) and CC:: TFIS, 0999 (BSDB: 2FIS, 0999 (BSDB: 2FIS, 0998) (BSDS: 5182, 0999 (0009); SHSD, 0999 (BSDB) (elementaria in parametrizana are for high-re-resolution of PI server, also mered. Standardonata articles (Denormalization and endine (WH are 5FIS, Westh 2008; SFIS, 960/10/08; SFISE, 962/30/08; SFISE, 962/ 10/18)

3.968; 5593, 96403.1403. All intertent figures were prepared using CEPangl⁴. Simulated controlling until maps were calculated for fire active site regions of all free structures presented in this study. For all situations, selected residues bordering. the active dis (and the colution in the case of the two holescopies structures) were deleted from the coordinates of the final models. The resultant PDR files were used as imputs to simulated annealing relinement with PELENX (https://www.phonincollactory) from a starting temperature of 5,000 K after applying small random containing from a strating temperature of 5,000 k after appropring image random shifts to the acoustic (which is term set) to (3.0). The evolution of this of thick, difference desiron density maps (contained at ~ 3.8c) are displayed superposed on fac final coordinates, where the corresponding contrast mean are shown in utils representation. Incurds case, standard progradeed residues were annihily, with the comption of HYS where Hal127 from loop 2 was also omitted.

UPLC-MS analysis. Encycar assays and plant linear samples from VIGB experi-ments on C. resear plants were analysed by UPLC-MS. UPLC-MS analysis was carried out on a UPLC (Watsu) equipped with an Acquity DEI CMB 12 µm 21.0 90 cmm column conversion for Knew TQS (Weters). MS directions was performed in positive ESL Capitary withing was AB(N) the scores was kept at ESC (C deadwatem receptuation was SIP CC, core gas from, SII h⁻¹, and feactiveting sites (MS). ¹ Unit resolution was papied to easily a question pole. Multiple reaction monitoring signals were used for direction and quantification of colling out (MS - UD). ¹ (MS) and barrowshireling a folgolic (MS). raffiline (balz 195 > 110, 136) and betereyohimbine alkalaida (353 > 117, 140,

For regid decoplication of active emprace and matima, a linear gradient method (Method 1) was used at a flow rule of 0.6 mJ min⁻¹ raing a binary solvent system in which schemet A1 was 0.1% formic actid in water and advent R1 was ectemitric. The protient profile was 0 min, 96 Mi, from 0 to 3.5 min, linear gradient to 35% BI; from 3.5 to 3.75 min, linear gradient to 100% BI; from 3.75 to 4 min, such at 100% BI; buck to the initial conditions of 5% In and equilibration

4 min, such at 100% in, but to the normal conditions of the init and equilibrium for 1 min before the next injection. Column temperature was held at 30 °C. The injection volume for both the obtained of attraffield compounds and the interface was 1.4. Samples were lequid att. O'C during, for condpts. For separation of the different betweepolynchics, a different characterizaging in motion of an applied that was adapted from the work of 5 m 1. or al¹⁰ in this method (Method 2) solvent A2 was 0.1% NELOCI and solvent 32 was 0.2% NELOCI and solvent 32 was 0.2% NELOCI in controlling. A linear gradient from 0 to 0.0% NE in 17.3 min was applied for separations of the university of the min tensor in 100% DE and therein solvent 32 was 0.1% in this method (Method 2) solvent A2 was 0.1% NELOCI and solvent 32 was 0.2% Method 10 solventions of the outper solvent by the min tensor in 100% DE and therein solvent bar. of the compounds followed by an increase to 100% fill at 10 min, a 2-min work only only and a re-equilibration of 0% F2 for 3 min before the next injection. The column was kept at 60 °C throughout the analysis and the flow rate was 0.6 ml min $^{-1}$.

²M labelling experiments. Destensivel Pro-R-NADPD was regresseded in solution by Theresement-basic brockit sketchel deleptogenase. [2011, Sigma] using 400 µM, NADP ⁴ and 1% the [21,4]-isoproperal (CIL). The NADPD regressration was manifested by altervisit spectrarecept at 200 nm. Builtonidine (19.9 nm) was included with L27 MM SGD in Wind 405 nmM (boughtable baller (pH 65), 11ASI surgrave was added to the mattion (limit concentration of L65 µM) and the miniture was involved at 33 °C. The reaction was manifested for completences by 10.07 cm of why. Show our extended new an enclosed for completences by 10.07 cm of why. Show our extended new a manifested interview here. institute was increased at 25 \sim . The resiston was monotored for completences by UVCC-M3 and ther 51 no intricted line or diggle conjunct intricted in the absence. The startion was supped by addition of 100 ml of methanol and numerical in 15 ml H₂O and extracted with 3 × 15 ml of othyl actuate and the DOAr function was defined [210-21,0] intra-physical ionize was bedded [2] preparative TLC (prace-ables plant, Signa -Ablich, as previously discribed²¹. The band of 100-2011 and output on a structure was negligible of the function of TLC is and of and processes point optical-metricity in previously distributed¹⁰. The band of [210–211]-tetulity-booking was excised from the plate and TLBA was extracted with BOMs multiple times (and values with 1). The BOMs function was fibred and dried under high-measure avaraging The [210–211]-bettulity-distributed in 400 pt of CDC1, and "R-MMR was measured. Striktorial for CPR away for the drift of the latter of the second second

disorbed in 800µ1 of CDC1, and "H-NMR was measured. Strictosidims (19.3 mg) was included with 1 mM of SGD and 200µM NADP ¹ with 500 to 7.2 broads ADH and 1% wite [Phi]-hogosphane in a found volume of 1 with of Simbi (1978) buffler (pdf 7.5). UTS was added (find concentration D.7µM) and the reaction was involved at H^{-1} with schedup and measurem be completeness by UPLC-MS. After 6h, the reaction was complete and was stopped by addition of 120 md (10 - ²H), enverticed was complete and was stopped by addition of 120 md (10 - ²H). Concerning the proparative TLC and 1 H-NMR spectra measured as described above.

We labeling experiments: C result reprophen describer place (TDC) was cleared into pUTINI vector, expressed in E. orb and particle as described above for the MDSs. [clphs] ¹⁹NJ reprophen (CIL, Simg) was incohered with 500mM of TDC.

400 µM pyridead-5-sphereprint in 100 mJ 80 mM phosphare buffer (pH 7.5) at 30 °C. The reaction was considered by MS continued flavagh completions dire 4 h and terminated by polyhered or 9 km MACM, [ajtha.¹⁰N]-hyperamite (34 m) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. The isolated [ajbha.¹⁰N]-tryptanelie was included with 9 mM continued in 0.0 mM Adv.¹⁰N]-tryptanelie was included by proparative 1171.0. The isolated [ajbha.¹⁰N]-tryptanelie was included by proparative 1171.0. The isolated [ajbha.¹⁰N]-tryptanelie was included by proparative 1171.0. The isolated [ajbha.¹⁰N]-tryptanelie was included by proparative 1171.0. The isolated by proparative 1171.0. The isolated by proparative 1171.0. [a, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [a, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [a, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [a, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [a, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (22 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by proparative 1171.0. [b, ¹⁰N]-structured into (21 mg) was isolated by many structured into 400 µM pyridouti-57-phosphate in 100 ml 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) at

Compound characterization. High-resolution decircopery ionization MS spectra were measured with a Shinnaka IT TOP mass spectrometer. NMR spectra were anguined using a Stellar Advance NMR instrument operating at 400 MHz for ¹H equipped with a DBOP plane. Some probe: The analysis of analysis provided on the concentration of the sample. The ¹H ¹M HMRC representates anguined with a concentration of the sample. The $(N_1^{(1)}N)$ HMRS: repetiment roots angularly with a spectral width 6.0991th in the 12 ($(^{1}\Omega)$) dimension and 30.6104th in the 71 ((^{1}N) , with an angulation rine of 0.099 and 5.60 scame per incorrect. The long range delay was optimized after a series of experiments with [4, ^{10}N], which will be a maps of different robing firms and finally was adjusted for a coupling of 3 Hz. The relaxion delay rate 1.56, the data calibration variation and 10.04 \times 60, the ti dimension was zero filled to 1k and deta points and a re2 square size bell window was applied in both dimensions. The ¹15-35032 spectra were compared with from

when appears in term determinant, i. 1π⁴ = 1-3 start, spectra were computer with theory (3 startingly) and Directory endat. [218-24], determinal memory intermeter 11C (EKOAn: C₄H₄, Eb₂N, 26: 79: 1 while: $A_{\mu} = 0.55$; EE.-MS (17-TOF): ideand for [M₄ + 21] + : [C₄H₄, 200, O₂]⁺ = -34.1821; order 34: 10922; ¹ = 1 MMR (400MHR, CDC1], 57: 28: (0× 4, 14), 75: (4, 14), 74: (0±, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 1.8 Hz, 121, 718; (dd, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 1.8 Hz, 114), 712 (0±, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 2.6 Hz, *j* = 1.8 Hz, 121, 702; 1624, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 2.6 Hz, 100, 2 m Mz, *i* = 1.0 Hz, 121, 702; 1624, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 7.6 Hz, *j* = 2.6 Hz, 100, 2 m Mz, *i* = 1.0 Hz, 121, 702; 1224, 702; 1224, 703; 1224, 704; 1234, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 704; 1244, 70 $\begin{array}{l} l=1.8\,\mathrm{He}\,11\mathrm{He}\,4.59\,\,\mathrm{He}\,5=10.4\,\mathrm{He}\,5=6.5\,\mathrm{He}\,11\mathrm{He}\,3.74\,\,\mathrm{he}\,3\mathrm{He}\,1.5\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{He}\,3.94\mathrm{$

[116 741] responsibles, TLG (EROMs; Gells 2 ERO, Fri 776 1 eVel; R=0.20; HS-MS (TI-TOP); found for [M : 10] $^{+}$; [C₁₂H₂/MS,G₃] $^{+}$ = 374.021; caled Sci.1022; [10:3046] (400 MH); [CDC], is 5.786 [Fri] [TJ, 7.56 [A], T = 1.61 hr][T], Te6 [al.] = 7.6 Hz, f = 1.6 Hz, [14], 2.00 [al.] = 7.6 Hz, f = 1.6 Hz, [14], 2.03 [al.] 1=7.8 Hz, J=7.6 Hz, J=1.6 Hz, (H), 7.89 (ééé, J=7.8 Hz, J=7.8 Hz, J=1.8 Hz, (H), 3.88 (бб, J=12.8 Hz, J=6.1 Hz, (H), 3.79 (с, 3 H), 3.40 (éé, J=11.1 Hz, J=4.4 Hz, 1HL 3.18 (ééé), J=12.6, Hz J=3.0 Hz, J=3.0 Hz, 1H), 3.14

 $\begin{array}{l} (dd,\,j=12.0\,\mathrm{Ph},\,j=6.0\,\mathrm{Hz},\,\mathrm{TH},\,5.30\,(d,\,j=3.1\,\mathrm{Hz},\,\mathrm{TH}),\,5.03\,(ddd,\,j=14.8\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=16.9\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=3.5\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,j=10.2\,\mathrm{Hz},\,$

 $\begin{array}{l} j=3.3~\mathrm{Hz}, 120, 1.37~(d, 6.3, 320, 1.38~(dd, j=14.8~\mathrm{Hz}, j=11.0~\mathrm{Hz}, 121, (32, j=6.2~\mathrm{Hz}, j=6.7~\mathrm{Hz}, 1~\mathrm{Hz}, 1$

sitular localizations and analysis of protein-protein interactions by BFC. TYTOCTAC F, which were designed to introduce the Stal restriction site at both

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS [7/0/16] DOI: NJ/028/incarmet2/16] verywata evony/industormmalizations

4.8

cDNA extremities. PCR products were sequenced and doned at the 5' end of the

(DMA extremition PCE predicts were sequenced and doesd at the S[−] and of the YFF-colorg sequence to generate the THARL-TFF. HYS-TFF2 fastion proteins on at the S[−] and the express for YFF-THARL and YFF-THYS fastions. The interaction of THASL and HYS with SGD were characterized by DFC exapts using the previously analytical PHARL and PUS PCE products to itself via Spd into the pSFYCE (M)-vector²⁴, which allows expression of THASL and PYS fasted to the minime-terminal correctly of the split YFF²⁵ fragment (THASL-TFF²⁶, HES-YFF²⁷, respectively), and into the PSFP NEIGHTAN-SGD physical²⁴ expression SGD hand to the carbony-terminal correctly of the split YFF²⁶ fragment (YFF²⁶-SGD). Remide secology THASL-YFF²⁶, THASL-YFF²⁶, THASL-and physicality expression (MOMT) YFF²⁶ and 1800MT YFF²⁶ fragment and physicality expression (MOMT) YFF²⁶ and 1800MT YFF²⁶ were used so controls and were constructed, previously^{26,26,26}.

and wave constructed previously^{20,29}. THAS2 and H2S self interactions were analysed via soliditorial chaning of far THAS2 and H2S left interactions were analysed via soliditorial chaning of far THAS2 and H2S left products into the pSCA-SPINELTA, pSCPNE()(123 and pSCA-SPINE) (MS2) planning^{10,40} to express THAS2-YFP²⁰, LTS-YFP²⁰ and YFP² THAS2, TEP²⁰ H78, respectively. The equation of TLSM2 and H2S to interact with SGD were also characterized by double BDC and m3DC. The previously samplified THAS2 and H2S PCR products were fixed to the coding sequences of the anisot-tentined on codeac-terminal of the split YPP fragments have the pSCA-SPINE[77, pSCA-SPICE] (M) and pSCA-SPINCI (MS) planning^{10,40,40}, glowing expression of TLAS2-NPP²⁰, YPP²⁰ THAS2 FDS YDP²⁰ and W32 YDP²⁰ respectively. SDD was whenependly fixed to the enrisesy-tenzinal extremity of the split YD²⁰ fragment (YD²⁰-SG20) and the CFP²⁰ fragment (CFP^{4,5}SD).

Tento to the CPP support (CPP SSDD). In the CPP fragment (CPP SSDD). Transient transformation of G. rason relia by particle bomburdment and framework imaging were performed following the proceeding periods by framework in fields, G. mass-plane disk were bomburded with DNA-counted gold particles (Ljan) and L100 psi replace disk were bomburded with DNA-counted gold particles (Ljan) and L100 psi replace disk were bomburded with DNA-counted gold particles (Ljan) and L100 psi replace disk were bomburded with DNA-counted gold pring harvested and observed. The sub-cellular localisation was determined using an Operation SSLS1 epifloreneous ending to CPP and CPP reliant. The pattern of localization preserved in this work is representation at rises in theorem of the The random technical and observed the sub-cellular localization was determined using an Operation SSLS1 epifloreneous endings of the DNA-to DNA-to DNA-tight cancers and a combination of CPP and CPP reliant. The pattern of localization preserved in this work is representation at rises in the observed of the The random technical using atom present of the statistic responsement in the sub-formation technet of the sub-technical technet of the statistic sequences and a sub-plane of the statistic sequences and a sub-plane present of the statistic representation is the statistic representation was confirmed by co-transformation reperformed using 400 mer of each planetation is 1000 mer BNC cases. performed using 400 mg of each pleanid or 100 mg for BIFC assess

Agrobacterium VIGS and qPCR. The TELASI, TELASI, TELASI, and TELASI-LIPS. Agrobatterium VHOS and qPCR. The THAN, THAN, THAN AND HIMAS-HE'S showing fragments were capabled with primers (Supplementary Table 6) and for resulting fragments were capable into the pTHP2r vector in described¹¹. Since THAS1 and HYS are ~91% identical, it was not possible to design advantage fragments to revisit error-sitencing. Therefore, a common silencing fragment for befa, of the two groups was designed. The resulting pTKVIR constructs we used to identic¹⁰. Leaves from the first two pairs to energy following insocialities were harvested from eight planes transformed with the energy 5700 km and 5700 km any 1000 km and using is pro-chilled monitor and perite, and subjected to LC-MS and qRT-PCRanalysis. The hoteropolarities content of absorbal same determined by LC-MS. Leaf provide new original (10). 30 eqg, which led with a sub-found (101) and vorticeal for Train. After a 10-min correctingation step at 17.500g, an alogost of the uppermatent (2044) was directed to 206 gl with methanol, filtered through 0.1-µm PTFE (lines and analysed on Waters Kero TO-MS. The characterized physics expension and MS measurements were carried out as discribed above (method 2). To more comparisonly assess the global effort of alexaning the DYS genes by VKS on C. reason methodism, an unitargeted methodismics making is by LC-MS was performed as provided responde.²⁴ However, adds from the changes in the hoteropolarities reported in Supplementary Fig. 16, no calculated differences in methods in profiles were noted in Supplementary Fig. 16, no calculated differences in methods in profiles

reported to support they are not to expension supervises in the article process were noted using this approach. Gene allocating was confirmed by qRT-PCR, qRT-PCR was also rand to check the separation of the other HVS grees to ensure that no cross silencing accurated. ISAA extractions was performed rating the Silving Plant Mini KR (Signer), ISAA (J) jugt was used to synthesize CDSA in 20-jd mactions using the listipt cDNA (1) (a) was used to spatialize GNA in 20-4 metrices using the Ecript CDNA Synthesis EX. [56-bid]. The cDNA served as templicit for quantitative PCB performed taing fac GY206 Real Time PCB Detection System (36-Bad) using the S50 Advanced SYER Grown Supervise (36-Bad). Each reaction was performed in text excitence volume of 0.04] constituting an equal ascount of eCNA, 0.25 mM forward and sevence primers and 1 × Soc Advanced SYER Grown Septemb. (So-Rad). The spectrum was initiated by a demander state stop of 55 % for 10 min followed by 41 vyles 4.35 °C for 115 s and 40 °C for 1 min. Melling correst were used to determine the specificity of the amplifications. Justice quantification of gyne commention was excited with according to the.

characterise the specificity of the angularization, souther quantification of gives expression was calculated according to the data-data cycle threshold reaction using the 40.8 theoremal protein 59 (18782). All prime pair (Supplementary Talko 7) efficiencies were between 96 and 100%, and the individual efficiency robus were considered in the solutions of normalized relative trapproton, which was performed, using the Gras Sholy forbare of GER Manager Software. All biological samples were measured in technical duplicates.

pH effect on product profile. Strictosidian was degreeney lated using particled SGD for 25 min. at more temperature using usary conditions as described abave.

17

Strictosidine adjycone was then incrimined at a final concentration of 340 µM at pH 6.7 and 8 in a buffer into to word buffer impedient effect on activity (100 mM phosphate huffer, 50 mM eitric acid, 50 mM HEPES). Caffeire (50 µM) was used as an internal standard.

At time & freemaynes, either TELASI or EVS (1 pM feed concentration), premitted with NADVH (500 µM) was added to the substrate solution. In parallel, a description reducing agent, NABA₀ Orabl. End concentration), was added to degivereducted stratesticities use control rescions. All reactions were corried out in triplected, An and-point sample (10 µD) was taken for each samp and prepared for reprint and the performance of the performance of the start of the section, and then UPLC-MS by addition of the performance of the Section Start for start the reaction, and then dilated 1.0 with EQO, and centrifuged for Denine of 3000 space. UPLC MS and data collection were performed as described above for hetersystelambies separation. and quantification.

CD spectra and analysis. For ultravialet CD spectra of the wild-type maynes THAS1 and HYS, as well as the loop matterns of THAS1 and HYS were recorded on a Chinacan Plus spectropolarimeter (Applied Phenophysics) at 30 °C in 10 mM potasteen phosphate beller pdf 70. Samples were undered from 160 to 260 res. using a 0.5-run step at a speed of 1 specture. Four replicate measurements were performed on each sample and baseline correction was applied, to all data. Spectra are presented as the GD absorption coefficient calculated on a mean residue dipticity basis.

pfointy basis. Molting curves of HYS and the HYS loop 2 swap motion were also acquired by Melting curves of HYS and the threasenfore manying at the rate of 1^{-1} min $^{-1}$ Moting correspondences of this who the P115-1000 2 swop stations were due to place by QL. The number were adopted to transport the enzyming at the rule of 1 $^{\circ}$ Cmim ⁻¹ from 20 to 40 $^{\circ}$ C. Duts collection was done from 240 to 201 on using a 1 run step and 0.75 s face per point. Data were undered using the Global 3 software. HTS milling point was measured as 61.024.1 $^{\circ}$ C ombuly 30.1 2 Motion 2.05 (mail ⁻¹). HTS loop 2 storp radius point was measured at 62.04 $^{\circ}$ C or other 3.05 (mail ⁻¹). HTS loop 3 storp radius point was measured at 62.04 $^{\circ}$ C or other 3.05 (mail ⁻¹). loop 2 coup métit 535.8 ± 4.5 SJ mol

Protein sequence alignments and phylogenetic tree. Protein sequence align-ment was presented using Classic/W algorithms with Geneticus v3 (http:// www.geneticus.com/^{10,00}, The alignment was added mannady using Senters V4 (ref. 64) and secondary structure depiction was added using ISPript V7 (http://epipticiog.fc/f)⁽¹⁾. (http://epipticiog.fc/m.ing)// http://epipticiog.fc/f)⁽²⁾.

Dodsing of cathemanine in THASI-NADP 1 structure. Cathemanin decised into the TMASI-NAD¹⁺¹ crystal structure using Autodock 4.2 [ref. 47]. The liqued (enthermoduce) was prepared with two torsions at the CB8, the next of the malicule bring eight and the receptor consistent of the doctored light resolution crystal structure. The scenario space was defined by n = 40.4 (H + 40.4 has with a 0.375-Å gild spacing, control between the nicrofinancide ring and the side chain of Tyr3A, and encomposed the entire active site cavity. Scatches were performed using the Lamateristan Genetic Algorithm, consisting of 104 runs with a population size of 150 and 2,500,000 energy evaluations. A total of 27,000 generations were also of 150 and 1,500,000 energy evaluations. A total of 27,000 generations were analysed and clustered with an RMS inference of 1.6 per dissite. This resulted in just two distinct charters, which constituted 99% and 2% of the resulted in magnetively. The latter charter placed the induity marks was described by the incominism with the results of the destriction labeling operators in was incominism with the results of the destriction labeling operators (Fig. 6). The process contained within the major charter wave all deemed to be "productive" since they placed the induit models and the incomine towards the entrance of the active they placed the induit 3.3 A show the information Column. The top ranked pose (with an estimated line energy of binding $\dots = 8.38$ incut real. ¹), as where if by the software, is used in the entrance kinetucia have (Fig. 4b).

Data soulhability. The strongly coordinates and structure factors of the first X-ray structures described in first management have been depended in the Partein Data. Static (http://www.geb.org/), with moreation codes SUD, STE, SHE, SHE, SHE and SUEA Accounter matchem. THASE (ALTPEZIAL), THASE (SUEASSEN), THASE (SUEASSEN), THASE (SUEASSEN), SUEASSEN, Core, 001794, SUEASSEN, Cro.,011702 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794, SUEASSEN); Cro.,011702 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 199042 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Cro., 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001794 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 001874 (AUTWARNS), Core, 001870 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 19904 (SUEASSEN), Core, 19904 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, 199042 (SUEASSEN, 199042 (SUEASSEN), Core, Gro 00300 (SUM0322) Tolersonine-3-relation (AEMLID81). Data supporting the Endings of this study are available within the article and its Supplementary Information files and from the corresponding outfor open reasonable reports.

References

- Shamma, M. & Richey, J. M. The atomschematry of the heterosynhimbine ukalwis, J. An. Giova. Soc. 88, 1507–2512 (1969);
 Allain, H. & Sentos-Verser, D. Ginical efficacy of almitrine-machanine. An averagine. En. Nanual 30, 39–44 (1998).
- 3.
- Derzi, G. Flarmanological features of an abcitrine-ranhanine combination. Activity at combinal levels. Eur. Network 39, 31–38 (1998).
- 11, S. et al. Assessment of the forespectic article of a combination of almittine and real-units on functional, relativisitation following inducemic strole: Corr. Mat. Ros. Opts. 20, 104–115 (1801).

WATURS, COMMUNICATIONS | 7/0716 | DOI: 10.1036/ncomm/0716 | www.vitare.com/natarecommanications

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS | DOI: 10.103

- 5. Reproduct 1. & Demichel, P. Inhibition of the al- and a2-adrencemptormediated pressor response in pitted rate by ranbasine, tetrahydroalstonine and
- desaramigine, Sor. J. Hurrasol. 106, 203–205 (1984). Al. L. Delasmandian, K., Nielsen, M. & Witt, M. R. The heterovehimbine mayambine binds with high affinity to rat brain benzonlinopine receptors. in vitra, Net. Prod. Lett. 11, 73-76 (1987).
- DatasensevEls, L. et al. Stimulation of topoloomerate II-mediated DNA cleavage by farve DNA-interculating plant alkalatic cryptolopine, matechne, and
- scipentare: Bashowelty 36, 7715-7718 (1999). Costo-Campos, L., Iwa, M. & Elizabetsky, E. Luck of pro-conveluant articles of the antiprochotic alkaloid airconine. J. Stimopharmacol. 99, 3017-3300 COMPANY.
- ¹ Bialletti, K. & Casta-Campos, I. The alkalaid alstanian: A review of his pintranological properties. eCAM 3, 38–48 (2006).
- Bernmann, A. P. et al. Effects of the potentive antipoychoirs dotanine anglatameter optike in acute hypocampal silons. *Warmhem. Int. 61*, 1144–1150 (2012).
- 11, Linck, V. M. et al. Alstonine us an antiprechatic effects on brain argines and metabolic changes. *4CAM*, 438397 (2012). 12. Linds, V. M. et al. 5-1572A/C receptors mediate the antipeychotic-like effects of
- distantine, Frag. Neuropsychopharmanel. Biol. Psychiatry 36, 28–35 (2012).
 10. Eneck, V. M. et al. Original mechanisms of antipsychotic action by the indole diabolic algorithm (Picrolima reliab.). Phytomethetics 22, 53–55 (2015).

- Santan, J. E. The Chernelity of Heterocyclic Compromit, Indexe: Six Measurepresed Fuelds Alaskids (Wiley, 2009).
 Arter, M. A. & Caurt, W. E. P. Alaskels of Recording adda root bark. *Psychology* 39, 2569–2172 (1981).
- Dochrwin, F. A. Alkaloide of Recordina solutrii. J. Act. Cheve. Soc. 77, 3744–3743 (1953).
- Meldini, J. Banquet, A. Pais, M. & Gantard, R. Almhnides indefiques (GIT (1) Identifii de la mayambine et de Tépi-18 ajunticine. Uno-3 manificine, nn norsel alcaleide estrait de Corynanthe mayambensis (R. Good) N. Hallé. Disabalase Let. 18, 205 206 (1977).
- 18. Phillipson, J. D. & Suparita, N. Alkaloids of uncasta dilptica. Physick 22, 1609-1812 (1983).
- MOS-LED (1987).
 Porples, D., Sapasia, T., Vegeoure, S. & PhTipson, D. P. Aladaide of Oracula attenuate from Thelium. *Phytochemistry* 19, 2003–2016 (1996).
 Robinson, R. & Thomas, A. P. The elicitoite effectedness studies, Stepf. Th. and H. Darand, Part I. The entruitive of all numerity in *J. Chem. Soc.* 1479–3481 (1997).
 Nockidgi, J., Honson, H. P., Kun-Fan, C., & Zerick, M. H. Cathermeine, a certain interaction of the studies of the studies of the studies of the studies of the studies. Interaction of the studies of t
- intermediate in the cell free biownthesis of simulatine and related indole allabelds, J. Gloss, Sur. Gloss, Generals, 164, 166 (1977). 22. O'Connor, S. E. & Marell, J. J. Cromitity and biology of monolorpers indole
- dkoloti, himpedizsis, Net. Prof. Rep. 29, 331–347 (2006).
 25. Genuinenko, I., Sheludko, Y., Mu, X. & Sobekiet, J. Heterologous expression of a Nazvolfa cDNA encoding strictosistine glucosidase. a bioperfactic lary to over
- Introduct, CirvA decoding information globalation, it independent only to over 300 microacterprotein indebt ulidations. Ser. J. Bowhene 204, 2043–2113 (2002),
 Starwinkles, A. et al. Unlocking the diversity of alkaloids in Carbaranchus rotence michaer local antion suggests matrixelik channeling in secondary technicity. CirvA 30, 373, 395–301 (2013).
 Gongoni-CaatElo, E. et al. Development of transcriptorale mission for
- interrogeting the bicoynfactio of monoterpene initiale alkalatids in medicinal plant species. MoS ONE 7, e72509 (1812). 26. Kellner, 7. et al. Genome-guided investigation of plant natural product
- bicovnázcab. Flant J. 82, 640-692 (2015).
- Bornati, E. K. & Noel, J. P. Structural and knotic basis for substrate selectivity in Popular transloides simpyi alcohol dehydrogenase. Plant Ecil 17, 1629–1611 (3005).
- 28. Pas, H. et el Structural studies of cinneanopl GoA reductore and cinn dechol dehydrogeness, hey enzymes of monolignal Viseyrthesis. Plant Cell 26, 3709-3727 (200-0).
- 28. Youn, R. et al. Crystal structures and catalytic mexiconism of the Andrida ciarantel deckel debydragenase ArCADG and ArCAD4. Org. Borrol. Chem. 4. 687, 1897 (2004)
- M. Achl, D. S. & Bergman, T. Meilium, and shart dasin dehydrogenese/reductore gene and protein families. The role of zinc for alcohol dehydrogeness structure
- and function. Coll. Mol. Lefe Sri 45, 3941–3970 (2004).
 Filterst, H. & Ramonarry, S. Mirilian: and shart shain delysingenese/ reductase gene and postein families. Three-dimensional structures of NDR. 11.
- nizohol deltychogennes. Czł. Mol. Lefe Sci. 65, 2907–3917 (2004). 12. Sawikigs, J., Herrodreids, T., Harfer, G., Heinstein, P. & Bernard i.v
- Steric course of hydrogen transfer during enzymatic fermation of 3x-hatmoyahimbine alministic Disobertarity 22, 3448–3452 (1987).
 Knundes, J. R. & Jendos, W. P. The intrinsic pite values of functional groups in
- enzymen: Improper disfinitions from the ph-dependence of steady-state parameter. Crit. Rev. Stochem. 4, 165–173 (1976).
 Environment, G. et al. Strictosidine activations in Apacpurature transmis. a "unclear
- time beenb'? BMC Hart Biol. 10, 182 (2000).

- 35. Liacombe, D. K. & O'Connor, S. E. A virus-induced gene cliencing approach to entanding a old metabolism in Cathorenthus resear. Note 1964-1977 (2011).
- Brown, S., Clastre, M., Courdavasit, V. & O'Connot, S. E. De news production of fee plant-cleatived allocioid strictonidine in yeast. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 113, 3308-3210 (2015).
- Konno, K., Einsyama, C., Yasui, H. & Nakamara, M. Enzymetic activation of oterropete: A protein constitutor naed in a drematical defense in the privet tree.
- Proc. Netl Acad. Sci. USA 99, 9139–9164 (1999).
 36. Paralasion, H., Banchmann, T. & Muller, C. Role of plant beta-placesidases in five datal defense system of indeed glycosides and their hydrolyzing. enipares in Phonings homeoletis and Phonings amples. Phylochemistry 94, 99–107
- 39. Feilin, O. et al. A directed-overflow and charage-control N-glyconidase in
- abalasin biosynfacts. Booleen, J. 486, 137–142 (2013).
 44. Qu, Y. et al. Completion of the seven-step pathway from tabesonine to the anticoncer drug procursor vindoline and its ascerbiy in yout, Proc. Natl Aand,
- USA 102, 6124–6129 (2015).
 Ierros, N. S. et al. A vesatile lighton-independent cloning method suitable fur high-throughput expression acrossing applications. Nucleic Actile Res. 35, e45
- CHOTA, W. 3056. Anna Chynallegy, D Bail, Chynallegy, Bé, 125-132 (2016).
 Kubach, W. 3056. Anna Chynallegy, D Bail, Chynallegy, Bé, 125-132 (2016).
 Franz, P. R. & Manihadaw, G. N. Stollag and nonconcent of data quality. Acta Capabelly, D Sub Copeting, 69, 1391–1311 (2016).
 Winner, G. Xiali, an expert system for macromolecular crystallography data.
- Wines, G. & McAnlay, N. E. Astonando Guita collection for macromolecular control of a first McAnlay, N. E. Astonando Guita collection for macromolecular crystalography. Michwell 55, 81–85 (2011).
 Stellerich, G. M. A short biology of SHELX. Acta Cystalling: Soct. A 64,
- 113-122 (1808).
- 47. Delageniere, S. et al. 25792: an information management system for synchrotron
- man neurol er ohne usystellingsuphy. Rassylvesantus 32, 1126 (111).
 Rahar, S. J., Lavile, K. E., Williama, M. A., Azhtura, A. W. & Mickuley, K. E. Synch/Welt: a madern interface for 1379/E. J. Appl. Crystallogy. 48, 927–932. (1015)
- 48. Cowine, K. The Baco new officers for automated o es and development
- gootnin chaina. Acta Crystallegr. Soct. D 62, 1002–1011 (2008).Sii, Fandey, P., Lobhamp, R., Soutt, W. G. & Concton, K. Festmers and a of Caset. Acta Crystallegr. D Biol. Drystallegr. 66, 466–501 (2008).
- Winn, M. D., Mersheniev, G. N. & Popin, M. Z. Murromolocolar T18 influencest in RTFMAC at modeute resolutions. Methods Factoral 374, 506-321 (1803).
- McCoy, A. I. et al. Planer crystellagraphic software. J. Appl. Crystellagr. 40, 658–654 (1907).
- 53. Solley, L. A., Maxin, S., Yates, C. M., Wass, M. N. & Stemburg, M. J. The Phyrett web partial for protein modeling, prediction and analysis. Nat. Proto. 10, 845–858 (2015).
- 54. Painter, J. & Merritt, E. A. 7L5MD web server for the generation of raditi-group TLS models, J. Appl. Crystollagy 39, 109-113 (2006). 55, Chen, V. B. et al. MolProbity: all-storn structure validation for rat
- crystalography. Acta Oystallagy. D Biol. Dystallagy. 66, 12–31 (2010).
 McNadodas, S., Pottertan, E., Wilson, K. S. & Noble, M. E. Presenting your structures: the CCPving tradecular-graphics software. Acta Oystallagy. D Biol.
- Crystellogr. 67, 388-394 (2011).
- Sun, J., Schen, A. & Chen, P. Profiling the induite alkalands in yohimabe back with ultra-performance liquid chromotography coupled with ion mobility quadrepole tirat- of-flight mass spectrometry. Jupid Commun. Mass Spectrom, 25, 2591–2603 (2011).
- 58. Guirimand, G. et al. Optimization of the transient transformation of Catheraethus researcells by particle bombardment and its application to the subcellular invalization of hydraxymethylluteryl 4 diphosphate synthese and
- sumiol 10-hydroxylass. Plant Cell Rep. 28, 1215-1234 (1809). Östrimmed, C. et al. Spatial argumention of the vindedire biosynthesis: pathway in Goldanasthas reveau. J. Phys. Rev. Physiol. 168, 519–537 (2011).
- 68. Waadt, R. et al. Multiculer binacleoslar fluorescence complementation reveals virtualizations formation of abstractive CEL/CIPK completions in plants. Plant J. So, Su5 316 (2008).
- 62. Gen-Rame, F. et al. An alternative soute to cyclic torpenes by reductive
- cyclitation. Nation 492, 134-142 (2012). Tenno, M. et al. Genericus. Radio An integra ted and extendable dedatapa platform for the organization and analysis of sequence data. Religiowattic 29, 1647-1648 (2012). 69. Larkin, M. A. et al. Closed W and Closed X version 20. Risinformatics 24,
- 2947-2948 (2007).
- 64. Gouy, M., Guindon, S. & Gascarl, O. Service version & A multiplations graphical user interface for sequence alignment and phylogenetic tree building. Mol. Biol. Biol. 37, 121–124 (2010).

NATURE COMMUNICATIONS [73016100 t VENCIN AccommenD286] very nata re-com/instancommunications

283

- 65. Gonst, P., Robert, X. & Controllo, E. ISPript/ENDucript: extracting and Gent, V., Abbri, X. & Courton, K. Estripetatolocity: entracing and readering sequence and SD information from storade structures of proteins. *Nucleic Acids Act 41*, 2028 3924 (2009).
 Motos, N. & Nei, M. The meighbor-joining neutroit a new method for resentancing phylogenetic tases. *Mol. Biol. Trail* 4, 486–425 (1989).
 Morris, G. M. *et al.* Antodocio and autodocionolis: uncernate decking with selective serveptor fieadolity. *J. Comput. Geom.* 30, 2783–2791 (2009).

Acknowledgements

We generally acknowledge support from the EDC (311565) and a BBERC function: Strategic Programme gener (MER, BB(199000-21) to S.E.O'C. and from the Region Contro (France, ABEAL grant) to Y.C. A.S. is supported by a DEELC DIP andemable. The Discussed Light Source provided access to beamlines 103, 134, and 134 J (proposal ME9475).

Author contributions

Autoor contributions A.S. and E.C.T. and S.E.O'C. disgard the project A.S. E.C.T. and L.C. performed molecular characterization and tractane orthogonal DML assisted with crystal littation, 37-mp data acquisition and tractane orthogonal, T.C.T. and L.C. performed With R.C.T. performed NVRs strateging disascentration; R.F. and V.C. performed Mitchination separation in SEOC. imperformed the week A.S. and E.C.T. and SEOC. wester the measurement with imput from all authors.

Additional information

assact net places

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper at http://www.nature.com/ economications.

Competing financial Interests: The arthurn declare no competing financial interests. Reprints and permitation information is available online at hitp://opginature.com/

How to che this article Stavitskies, A. et al. Structural investigation of hearosychicabine alasiesi synthesis reveals active site closecute that control storeordectivity. Nat. Conserver, 712116 doi: 10.1016/bcconaux12116 (2016).



NATURE COMMUNICATIONS [7/0716 [DOI: 10.1038/ncommil2116] www.netare.com/instanceommanications

C The Asthenia 2016